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Wipro for

tomorrow

The realm of Information Technology (IT) is a fast changing one.
IT is setting the pace at which the world around us is changing.
Technology is now everywhere. This has an impact on the
society as well as businesses.
At the turn of the first decade of the 21st century, challenges and
opportunities facing the customers and consumers of IT have
become very different to what they were a decade ago or even
a year ago. The world of tomorrow is one where uncertainty

and fierce global micro-competition is going to be the norm.
Rightly so, the world is looking up to IT more than ever before.
Innovation has shifted from the core to the edge of the
enterprise. The rise of themes like analytics, mobility and cloud
as-a-service have redefined the current IT outsourcing space,
while the future will see newer technologies such as
Machine-to-Machine (M2M) and Natural User Interface (NUI)
fast becoming mainstream.
For us at Wipro, this presents opportunities galore, which we
believe, we are uniquely positioned to address. Therefore, we
are investing significantly in areas that have potential to
transform business models and operations – both on short term
and long term basis.
As IT increasingly becomes a catalyst for global economic
growth, we are also recasting our growth framework to evolve
into a leaner, simpler and nimbler Wipro – one that delivers
more value to every single stakeholder of the business.
The ‘Wipro of Tomorrow’ is being built on the pillars of:
1. Sharp customer focus: Build stronger relationships based
on our superior performance track record and the effective
use of technology to provide the business impact.
2. Driving domain and technology benefits: Provide impact
for our customers to help them optimize resource
performance and win in their markets. We have now doubled
our solution investments and linked it even more closely to
our clients’ need.
3. Employee focus: Provide enriching career opportunities
by building their soft skills and deepening their technical
capabilities. More importantly, make Wipro a fun place
to work.

Wipro Limited
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What we are today is what we dreamt of yesterday. All these
years, we have grown in size, scale, spread and even
complexity but with a firm belief that simplicity in structure
is easy to manage. Based on which we are re-organizing
ourselves to create superior business impact and stay ahead
in the value creation curve.
The fast changing world around us calls for a lean structure,
which balances the nimbleness of a flat, dynamic and
customer-centric organization with the operational efficiencies
of a large functional organization. We are transforming to
become more agile and bold yet simpler in structure and
approach.
In line with this, we introduced strategic changes in our
structure across four key dimensions – Strategic Business Units
(SBUs), Service Lines, Go-to-Market and Global Delivery
Organization in the last quarter of fiscal year 2010-11. We have

for staying ahead
of the curve.
migrated to a simplified industry-domain led structure
where Client relationship, Delivery, Revenue and Profitability
are now aligned more closely with Strategic Business Units
(SBUs). This industry-domain led structure allows the SBUs to
stay focused on the opportunities, challenges and the
emerging trends in their respective domain.

The consolidation of SBUs has been driven by considerations
around sharper definitions of industry value chain and
changes in the momentum of industry sectors. Service lines
traditionally have been our key growth engines; hence we have
created a structure which will strengthen their ability to simplify
and variabalize IT for our customers. We have re-aligned our

Wipro Limited

sales structure to the needs of the customers with the focus
on superior client mining, acquiring newer ‘must have
customers’ and supporting them with enhanced investments in
business solutions and consulting. Our delivery organizations
have been more aligned to servicing our customers more
innovatively through competency building, better supply
chain processes and increasing scale of our strategic
near-shore centers.

The change challenges the way we have been approaching
business in the past. This will encourage us to put more thought
into how we can collaborate better in order to ‘organizationally
maximize’ and not just ‘locally optimize’.
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The drivers of IT decision making are shifting drastically,
in line with trends in the global economy. IT spending is
now under a magnifying lens and the priority across the board
is towards “change the business” to be more relevant for
customers of tomorrow.
In this context, our idea of Wipro for tomorrow is to be the
`go-to-company' for the Global 2000 enterprises. With the client
at the core, we have re-designed our value proposition and
capabilities to address their needs.
We are geared to deepen our engagement with these
enterprises through a consulting-led domain approach to the
business. We are intensifying our relationship with them
through a Client Engagement Manager (CEM) model. The CEM
has single point accountability, which enables swift and
impeccable execution. The CEM structure aligns the three
pillars of each account – the Consulting Partner, Delivery

to bring
transformational results.
Manager and the Chief Architect – to be jointly oriented
around the success of our customers. This would result in
better customer satisfaction, resulting in improved revenues
and profitability.
Wipro believes in co-creating our value proposition along with
clients to bring in transformational change. This belief takes
forward our stance that the fundamental business practice in
this new millennium will be multiple entities working together
as one value chain to create superior flexibility, productivity and
financial performance.

achieve this. Among them is the 21st Century Inc model, which
comprises of technology innovation, lean optimization,
asset evaluation and next generation partnering to define
a `designed by purpose’ operating model for clients, and
Wipro’s ‘IT360’, which is a holistic framework to define,
measure and communicate the business value of IT.
Our future growth will be centered around helping clients
‘do business better’. The focus is on driving innovation, enable
newer revenue streams, variabalize cost of IT for them and
help them be more sustainable.

Keeping in line with the macro and micro changes taking
place, we have developed several business models to help

Wipro Limited
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For an organization of over 120,000 employees operating in
50 plus countries, the landscape of opportunity is diverse.
In every market segment, there are mature, emerging
and potential opportunities. In order to mine this landscape
better, we have adopted a differentiated approach to growth
and investments.
Our differentiated approach aims to take advantage of
growth hot spots across industry segments and geographies.
Accordingly, we have renewed our focus on certain under
penetrated markets that clearly have huge potential; for
example France and Germany in Europe, and certain emerging
markets where we could take a leadership position like
Asia Pacific and India, LATAM, Middle East and certain
African markets.
On the industry front, we endeavour to invest disproportionately
in growth leading segments such as Banking, Financial Services,

to mine growth
hot spots better.
Insurance, Healthcare, Energy and Utility, Retail and CPG.
Acquisitions will continue to play a key part in strengthening
our domain and technology capabilities, driving increased
market penetration and broadening the depth and breadth of
our service portfolio.

have the ability to spearhead messages and perception
across all our client touch points. We are also making
investments in sales enablement and have automated the
access to information on market segments, market intelligence,
account planning and various aspects of account operations.

We, have made several strategic investments strengthening our
sales and marketing prowess. We are taking an integrated
marketing approach. Under this approach marketing teams

Wipro Limited
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At Wipro, human capital has always been the most valuable
asset of our organization. People form the central nervous
system of Wipro and its growth and evolution is attributed
to them. Rightly then, the leadership team devotes
a substantial focus in developing and furthering the
intellectual potential of our people. With an aim to build
the best-in-class global leadership, we nurture our talent
with compassion and confidence. We provide our people
a transparent and level-playing work environment that
fosters the culture of collaborative working, meritocracy and
on-the-job career progression.
Our investments in the intellectual capital are aimed at
empowering employees to create positive customer impact.
For the journey of simplification in the organization structure
to be complete, it is critical that the customer facing employees
are empowered to enable quicker decision making.

to optimize the
human potential.
As we give shape to an empowered Wiproite, we went a
step closer to involve our people through ‘Voice of Wipro’ –
an employee perception survey – in which they were invited
to design the change they wanted. Of the major improvement
areas, as identified from the survey, each Business Unit Head
(BUH) adopted one of them. The BUHs further invited
employees to volunteer for Action Teams to design and
implement improvement plans. 74 members for these
Action Teams were chosen from over 2,000 aspirants.
The chosen members engaged a wider set of employees
in devising improvement action plans. The Action Teams
have rolled out several changes, which are showing early
signs of positive impacts.
Being in an industry that is prone to higher attrition, we
continued to nurture our talent pool during the year and
further intensified our employee engagement initiatives.
We strengthened the channels of communication and
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employees’ connect with the senior leadership team.
A slew of initiatives were also introduced towards improvement
in the induction process, re-skilling, managing performance,
seeking feedback from the employees, succession planning,
innovative recognition processes and continued employee
engagement.
We also rolled out our new Performance Management System
(PMS) during the year with an aim to provide enhanced
transparency and visibility in employee evaluation process.
The new PMS gives equal importance to the goals achieved
as well as the competencies displayed. This revision in the
PMS has led to a visible and positive differentiation in
performance levels. This will further the ‘One Wipro’ strategy
and theme to drive our growth in multiple market segments.
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At Wipro, sustainable development is integral to what we do.
Our commitment to sustainable development is reflected
in our ambitious targets to reduce consumption footprints in
energy, water and waste. Our green computing business, that
won the coveted 1st rank in Greenpeace Green Electronics
Rating for demonstrating product responsibility, reflects this
commitment. Our internal journey on sustainability helped
us incubate the eco energy business to help customers
become more sustainable.
The energy efficiency of our operations has shown a cumulative
improvement of 20% over a six-year period from 2004 to 2010.
As a result of early investments in green building design
(with LEED standards), 16 of our campuses are LEED certified
today. Our energy efficiency initiatives have helped save
15 million units of electricity in the fiscal year 2009-10 alone.
In our campuses in India, on an average, we recycle 32% of

to conserve the
ecology for tomorrow.
our freshwater consumption and have set ourselves a goal
to improve our water efficiency by 5% every year. 76% of our
waste gets recycled through our partners and our goal is that
by 2013 no more than 5% should end up in landfills.
At Wipro, we believe that the education system in India
must improve to deliver high quality equitable education to all.
As a responsible organization, we have resolved to make our
contribution by initiating educational programs which are
focused on improving the quality of education. ‘Wipro Applying
Thought in Schools’ is one such initiative that works on systemic
reform in school education. It has worked with over 700 plus
schools. It endeavors to support and help with capability
building of partner organization working in the education
sector. Our partner network today has 19 committed
organizations and we are working relentlessly to grow it further.
Our second program on improving the quality of education,
‘Mission10X’, was launched with a vision to enhance the
employability skills of engineering graduates. Over the last
3 years, we have worked with over 12,500 faculty members
in 900 plus Engineering institutions across 23 different states
in India.

support health clinics in 25 plus villages catering to the
out-patient needs of over 25,000 patients annually. Through
Parivartan, the teacher training centre run by Door Step School,
100 new teachers were trained and refresher trainings were
organized. These teachers in turn have reached out to the
90 plus schools at construction sites in Pune, Maharashtra
there by supporting 10,000 plus children of migrant laborers.
Under the Karnataka Floods Project, Wipro Cares has
undertaken construction of 600 houses in the areas affected.
Responsible Investing is an emerging trend which incorporates
environmental, social and governance factors in addition to
economic factors. On the parameter of Responsible Investing,
Wipro was rated ‘Prime’, the highest possible in the industry
segment and 2nd in the World in IT service companies
by Oekom. We were amongst only 3 companies based out
of India that made it to the Dow Jones Sustainability Index
for 2010 while on carbon footprint reduction front, we were
rated No. 1 in the Carbon Disclosure Leadership Index (India)
in 2010 by the Carbon Disclosure Project.

Wipro Cares, an initiative aimed at community development,
made operational three healthcare projects that together

Wipro Limited
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key performance
indicators
Performance for the year
Revenue (R Mn)
Profit before Depreciation, Ammortisation,
Interest and Tax (R Mn)
Profit Before Interest and Tax (R Mn)
Effective Tax rate (%)
Profit After Tax (R Mn)
Free cash flow generation (R Mn)
Return on Average Networth (%)
Return on average Capital Employed (%)
Per Share Data*
EPS - Basic (R)
EPS - Diluted (R)
Book Value (R)
Dividend Per Share (R)

Mar-11
310,987

Mar-10
271,574

Mar-09
255,338

65,879
57,668
15.4
53,321
28,226
24
21

59,675
51,844
16.8
46,116
38,367
27
22

50,248
43,300
13.4
38,860
19,353
28
23

21.74
21.61
98
6.0

18.91
18.75
80
3.6

15.99
15.90
60
2.4

Financial position
Share Capital (R Mn)
Networth (R Mn)
Total Debt (R Mn)
Property Plant & Equipment including
Intangible assets (RMn)
Cash and Investments (R Mn)
Goodwill (R Mn)
Net Current Assets (R Mn)
Capital Employed (R Mn)

4,908
240,371
52,802

2,936
196,549
62,511

2,930
147,381
56,892

58,645
114,663
54,818
122,029
293,176

57,469
105,348
53,802
103,668
259,063

53,287
69,660
56,143
68,735
204,272

Shareholding related
Shareholders (Nos.)
Market price of shares** (R) - adjusted for bonus

220,238
480

179,438
424

228,456
148

32
2.6
67
35
70

22
2.5
66
36
98

18
1.9
69
35
83

Ratios
Dividend Distribution Ratio (%)
Current Ratio (Times)
Days Sales Outstanding (Days)
Return on Invested Capital (%)
Operating Cashflow to PBIT (%)

Note: All figures above are based on IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements
* All per share data is shown adjusted to bonus
** Market price of shares is based on closing price in NSE as on March 31
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10,092

16,930

53,321

Dividend (R Mn)

6,856

38,860

271,574

255,338

46,116

Profit after Tax (R Mn)
310,987

Revenue (R Mn)

MAR-11

MAR-10

MAR-11

No. of Employees - IT Services
122,385

MAR-10

MAR-09

360

4,390

5,221
4,323

MAR-10

MAR-11

Market Capitalization (R Bn)

Revenue - IT Services ($ Mn)

MAR-09

MAR-10

108,701

MAR-09

97,180

MAR-11

1,179 ($26.4 Bn)

MAR-10

1,038

MAR-09

MAR-11

Revenue by Segments
2010-11 (R Mn)

MAR-09

PBIT by Segments
2010-11 (R Mn)

MAR-09

MAR-10

MAR-11

Average Capital Employed by Segments
2010-11 (R Mn)

3.8%
8.8%

38.8 %

-1.4%
6.0 %
2.8 %

11.9%
75.5%

7.7%

92.6 %

IT Services

234,850

IT Services

53,407

IT Products

36,910

IT Products

1,609

Consumer Care &
Lighting

27,258

Consumer Care &
Lighting

Others including
reconciling items

11,969

Others including
reconciling items

Wipro Limited

53.5 %

IT Services & Products

147,654
21,161

3,450

Consumer Care &
Lighting

107,304

-798

Others including
reconciling items

13

Wipro
in brief
What drives us:
Vision:
To be among the Top 10 Global IT and Business Process
Outsourcing (BPO) service companies.
Mission:
• Be a trusted partner to our clients by providing
transformation and System Integration (SI) services
• Achieve thought leadership in emerging technology areas
• Be perceived as a leader by relevant stakeholders
among global IT service and BPO providers
Values:

Who we are:
We are USD 7 billion Indian enterprise with a market
captilization of over USD 26 billion. Headquartered at
Bengaluru, India, we operate 50 plus offices and ‘Centers of
Excellence’ in over 54 countries across the globe. We employ
over 120,000 professionals and serve over 900 corporations
including a number of Fortune 500 customers. Our solutions
enable our clients to deploy new products faster, enter new
markets, gain better customer insight and reduce operational
costs. As a corporation with conscience, we are actively working
to uplift the quality of school education as well as the standards
of engineering education in India.

The values on which Wipro is built are called 'The Spirit of Wipro'.
These values are the guiding principles for the culture and
behavior at Wipro. They bind us together and inspire us to
achieve excellence in whatever we do. Our values are:
• Intensity to win
- Make customers successful
- Team, innovate, excel
• Act with sensitivity
- Respect for the individual
- Thoughtful and responsible
• Unyielding integrity
- Delivering on commitments
- Honesty and fairness in action

14
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What we do:
Our IT Services business offers a wide range of software
solutions, IT consulting, BPO services and outsourced research
and development services to the world’s leading companies.
We help our clients realize their business objectives. Our
delivery teams located in India and around the world develop
and integrate customized solutions for our clients.
Our IT Products business provides a range of products
encompassing computing, storage, networking, security, and
software products. Our focus is primarily on meeting the
requirements for our customers in India and the Middle East
region.

Wipro Limited

In our Consumer Care and Lighting business, we focus on niche
profitable market segments addressing the personal care and
lighting solutions needs of consumers in specific geographies
of Asia, Middle East and Africa. In India, we also service the office
solutions space for lighting and furniture.
Our other businesses include Wipro Infrastructure Engineering,
the world’s third largest manufacturer of hydraulic cylinders and
Wipro EcoEnergy which provides sustainable alternatives for
energy generation, distribution and intelligent consumption.
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Dear Stakeholders,
Information Technology (IT) continues to change at a
rapid pace. It also continues to be an important catalyst
for economic growth. This is what we have seen in all our
markets: through the global downturn and the recovery.
Underlying this phenomenon is one central unchanged fact,
that organizations increasingly use technology to innovate,
to build and to retain competitive advantage. IT has become
“embedded competitive advantage”.
We see this embedded nature of IT in transforming supply
chains and operations, in completely new business models,
in work style changes, for opening up new global markets
for expansion and in doing all the “mundane” work
dramatically better.
The IT of today is the convergence of communication, of the
new Internet, of data management, of services and of the
“original” IT. This convergence continues to help in redefining
commerce and in changing society.
I feel that IT will continue to realize unforeseen potential.
As much as IT will continue to be at the core of competitive
advantage for businesses, it will also be a force for giving the
power of information and connectedness to all. This has the
potential to help change the face of governance and outcomes
in all spheres: political, environmental, social and commercial leading to a more equitable and sustainable world.
Which is why I see IT as a global force for a better tomorrow;
and which is why I am unrelentingly optimistic about the future
of IT. It is this optimism that made us select the theme for our
Annual Report this year — Wipro for Tomorrow.

Wipro Limited

For this tomorrow, for this unfolding future, a key part of our
preparation is to continually build a leaner, quicker and more
focused Wipro. A simpler organization structure is a significant
enabler of this. Today we have a simpler Wipro, driven by some
significant structural changes, including the appointment of
T K Kurien as the CEO of our IT Business.
In the fiscal year of this Annual Report, we scaled a few
significant landmarks: we crossed $5 billion revenues in our
IT Services business and crossed R50 billion in profits. However,
given the market opportunities, I think we could have done
better on growth and profits. The current year is a year when
we are repositioning Wipro to maximize on emerging
opportunities, on a sustainable basis and for the long term.
Our energetic leadership, engaged team-members and robust
systems will enable this growth in the visibly conducive
business environment. The future is exciting; doubly so
because Wipro is prepared for it. I would like to thank each
and every one of our customers, employees, shareholders
and partners for their continued support in building
Wipro for this exciting future.

Azim H. Premji
Chairman

17

Interview
with the
CEO
(IT Business)

18

Annual Report 2010-11

What is your view on ‘Wipro for Tomorrow’?

What do you mean by an Empowered Wipro?

I see a simple, lean and focused Wipro that is both customer
centric and employee-empowered. I see employees enthused
with brilliant ideas engaged in helping our customers achieve
their goals in a quicker and more effective manner. I also
believe Wipro will be a globally responsible business that
promotes sustainability to create a better tomorrow for all
of us and our successors.

A simpler, focused and customer-centric Wipro is only an idea.
This idea can only be realized when the entire Wipro team
owns it. Every Wiproite needs to believe in this idea and
do what is good for the customer. This belief is - what will
make every Wiproite sensitive to our customers’ need, both
latent and stated. Sensitivity alone is not enough. This
sensitivity needs to be translated into action. This translation
requires every Wiproite to be empowered to act in the
customers’ interest.

Why the focus on a Simpler Wipro?
The business environment is rapidly changing. Business cycles
are becoming shorter and customers want quick response to
remain ahead of the curve. Successful partners have to realize
this and be in sync. Customers will not wait excruciating periods
of time for vendors to respond. We need to appreciate this fact
and align ourselves to the global business environment.
Creating a portfolio of proactive solutions to every customer’s
need is important. But more important is the need to quickly
respond to the customers’ requests with our solutions.
This rapid response needs a simpler Wipro that both the
customers know and our employees understand.
Why a Focused Wipro?
I expect to see divergence in growth potential across verticals
and geographies. It is important that we identify the growth
areas of tomorrow and invest with razor-sharp focus.
Our investments will be disproportionately skewed towards our
verticals and geographies with stronger growth prospects.
Our customer centric approach would lead to investments in
anticipation of changing needs of our customers. We are
focused on a strong client engagement model to deepen
our relationship with customers. Without this focus we cannot
be leaders.

Why a Sustainable Wipro?
For us in Wipro, business is a not just a profession or vocation,
it is a way of life. We have a rich heritage of six decades of
business performance. We actively promote sensitivity to
environment and enlightened human voices in our society.
This has helped us stay at the forefront of the changing tide.
We see ourselves as an active participant in society and
social issues. Given this, for us sustainability is not an add-on
business feature, but is the business itself. We believe looking at
our customers’ needs through the lens of sustainability will
help us add more value to our customer and in turn make
us more relevant to our customer in any new situation
that can emerge.

T. K. Kurien
Executive Director & CEO-IT Business

What is the change in your approach to
a Customer Centric Wipro?
I see a new Wipro emerging, where we take the responsibility
for clients' challenges rather than waiting for them to tell us
what to do. To achieve this we need to understand our
customers’ DNA, become part of their overall business strategy
and work with them in realizing their 3-5 year goal. This will
not only align us with our customer but also help us hedge
against the risks of shorter business cycles.

Wipro Limited
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Dear Stakeholders,
In the fiscal year of this Annual Report, our business
performance continued to be robust. Revenues of Wipro Ltd.
grew 15% year-on-year with the net income keeping pace.
Among segments, IT Services our largest business, grew faster
with a dollar revenue growth of 19%.
With cash net-of-debt of $1.4 billion, we have a sound liquidity
position. This is also adequate to make any investments
necessary to accelerate our growth, by creating and seizing
opportunities.
The “Wipro of Tomorrow” is being built on the platform of
decades of sustained performance and organizational learning.
If we look at this solid platform, it is satisfying to see what we
have achieved. In the last decade itself, we have grown revenues
in our IT Services business from less than $400 million to
upwards of $5 billion. Our employee base in IT Services has
increased from less than 10,000 to 120,000 in the same
decade. We have also continually strengthened the
‘internal soft-infrastructure’, our intangible assets: the corporate
governance culture, the internal control systems, the financial
discipline mindset etc. This solid platform, including the
intangible assets, is our significant leverage as we move ahead,
both for tomorrow and the next decade.

opportunities, driven by strong risk management practices.
We believe it is a good risk management system that
converts emerging opportunities into sustained profit
growth for the company. We have a system of dynamic
frameworks, models and rigorous dashboards that enable
risk identification, monitoring and mitigation across all our
business processes - from “deal-to-delivery”.
The ability to scale is the lynchpin for stable, profitable
growth. As our team grows, so does our knowledge and
creative base. We continually and rigorously capture this
organizational knowledge. This is at the heart of ability to
scale. High levels of automation help institutionalize this
organizational knowledge. We have invested in automation
to enhance this institutionalization of knowledge in all our
functions. As an example on the sales side, automation
anchored knowledge systems, increase sales productivity
by better account level planning and integration with
downstream processes like people fulfillment.
We have had an exciting journey, but looking ahead the future
looks even more exciting. We will keep ourselves nimble and
simple, to adapt to new needs of tomorrow, and we will
continue to remain focused on delivering profitable and
sustainable growth.

We continue to see growth ahead, in the immediate and the
long term future. We are focused on scalability that enhances
profitable growth in the evolving business environment.
Business models with customer viewing us as strategic partners
is what we see evolving. Our joint focus is on business outcome,
as we drive transformational engagements for our customers.
This needs “non-linearity” to scale up. There is a rapid movement
from the traditional ‘time and material’ model to models, where
“risk & reward” is shared. We are geared to address these

Wipro Limited

Suresh C. Senapaty
Executive Director & CFO
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Dear Stakeholders,
Wipro Consumer Care and Lighting had another good year in
2010-11 – despite a very challenging environment in some of
our key business categories and geographies. Today, we are
poised well for our next stage of growth. We believe that our
future will be built around the following pillars:
• Obsession for growth – both organic and through relevant
strategic acquisitions - All our acquisitions have done well viz
Glucovita glucose powder, Chandrika soap, Northwest
switches, Unza (South East Asia) and Yardley toiletries in India,
South East Asia and Middle East.
• Leadership position in defined countries and businesses - We
will seek leadership positions in personal care in India,
Malaysia and Vietnam. Similarly we seek leadership positions
in our Domestic Lighting, Institutional Lighting and Modular
Furniture businesses in India.
• Globally strong focus brands – led by innovation and
sustainability - Increased investments in Research &
Development will help us leverage technology for better
innovation and we will also be focusing on new initiatives to
make our products and practices more sustainable.
• Leveraging our diversity & team capability - We have over
6500 employees across 16 countries and multiple
nationalities. 46% of our workforce is women. We today have
in place a global mobility programme, that helps in cross
fertilization of ideas and best practices, besides meeting the
career aspirations of our employees.

Our flagship Indian household business, including personal
care and domestic lighting, had a strong year – growing 28%.
This growth was lead by our acquisition last year – Yardley which
has outperformed expectations. Despite industry-led price
drops, our toilet soap business grew, ahead of market at 13%,
led by Santoor and Chandrika brands. Our Domestic Lighting
business, which includes modular switches, incandescent light
bulbs, compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs) and luminaries, also
saw robust growth – led by CFLs (33%).
Our International personal care business – Unza focuses on
personal wash, toiletries, fragrances , deodorants, skincare and
haircare categories. Here, we grew 10%, with leading growth
from China (27%) , Middle East (27%) and Vietnam (15%). The
lead brands, we focus on in Unza are Enchanteur - a female
toiletries brand (17% up), Safi - a Halal toiletries brand (25% up)
and Romano - a male toiletries brand (15% up). Our skin care
thrust in Malaysia is performing well.
Our Office solutions business in India , which includes
Commercial Lighting, Modular Furniture and Security solutions,
gained from the improving economy – and grew 27%. Our focus
on lighting of Green buildings and on new technology like LED
paid off with 70 out of 120 certified Green Buildings in India
using Wipro Lighting. Our launches of premium designer
ranges have done well in our Modular Furniture segment
helping us enrich our portfolio of offerings as well as tide over
the cost pressures.
It has been an invigorating year in 2010-11. We look forward
to another exciting year in 2011-12!

• Speedy and effective execution
Our business has three main segments – Our Indian household
business (including personal care and domestic lighting), Unza
- our International personal care business, that spans across Asia
and Africa and the Indian Office Solutions business. Let me
share with you a snapshot of our businesses in 2010-11.

Wipro Limited

Vineet Agrawal
President- WCCLG
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Dear Stakeholders,
The year 2010-11 was a comeback year of sorts for Wipro
Infrastructure Engineering, driven by strong demand uptake in
India and a better than anticipated recovery in Europe. Looking
ahead, Asia and Latin America are clearly emerging as the
highest growth markets for hydraulic cylinders, driven by
significant investments in infrastructure development.
Our major customers are investing heavily in emerging markets
and looking for global partners who can support their growth
needs. Wipro, with presence across India, China and Europe, is
uniquely positioned to emerge as their global partner of choice.
As an endorsement of our capability, two of the largest global
manufacturers of construction equipment entered into long
term multiple location supply contracts with us during the year.
We continued our investment in a new manufacturing
architecture: a flexible, hub and spoke manufacturing model
with the lowest manufacturing cost. Our capacity
enhancement programme aims at increasing current annual
capacity from 0.9 million cylinders to 2.6 million by 2016. This
includes new capacity in geographies like Brazil as well as
capacity enhancement in existing markets. We have also
embarked on an ambitious quality journey which aims to
position us as best in class on stringent quality measures.

During the year we also made our foray into the Aerospace and
Defense (A&D) business by investing in a Special Economic
Zone near Bangalore to set up a world class actuator
manufacturing facility for one of the global aviation majors.
With India investing heavily in the A&D sector, the Offset
programme provides huge opportunities in the precision
manufacturing space.
In summary – we are on track to garner a 15% share of the global
hydraulics business by 2016. While the fundamentals are in
place, driven by our validated strategy, we need to work
extremely hard on our execution plans to drive capacity, quality
and cost competitiveness in the face of global competition.
These are exciting times for the business as we embark on our
journey to creating a truly world class manufacturing
organization out of India.

Pratik Kumar
President- Wipro Infrastructure Engineering (WIN)

The organization structure has been simplified globally on
functional lines – Sales, Engineering and Operations. Our
customers stand to benefit as they see a single face of Wipro
irrespective of where the product is originating from.
Engineering expertise has also been globalised with product
specific centers of excellence closer to the customer. This
structure is also helping us develop a globally diverse
leadership talent pool.
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Board of Directors
Azim H. Premji (Chairman)
Mr. Premji is a graduate in Electrical Engineering from Stanford University, USA, and has served previously as the Chief Executive
Officer, Chairman and Managing Director of the company. More recently, Mr. Premji, has been honored with the Padma Vibhushan
award by Govt. of India for his contribution in trade and industry.
B.C. Prabhakar (Director since February, 1997)
Mr. Prabhakar has been a practicing lawyer since April 1970 and holds a B.A. in Political Science and Sociology and a BL from Mysore
University, India. He serves as a Non-Executive Director of Automotive Axles Ltd. and 3M India Ltd.
Narayanan Vaghul (Director since June, 1997)
Mr. Vaghul holds a B.A. (Hon.) in Commerce from Madras University. Previously, he was the Chairman of the Board of ICICI Bank Ltd.
Currently he is on the Boards of Mahindra and Mahindra Ltd., Mahindra World City Developers Ltd., Piramal Healthcare Ltd., Apollo
Hospitals Enterprise Ltd, Hemogenomics Pvt. Ltd., Universal Trustees Pvt. Ltd., and IKP Trusteeship Services Ltd. His achievements
include Padma Bhushan (2009-10) and The Economic Times Lifetime Achievement Awards.
Dr. Jagdish N. Sheth (Director since January, 1999)
Dr. Sheth holds a B. Com (Hon.) from Madras University, M.B.A. and Ph.D in Behavioral Sciences from the University of Pittsburgh,
U.S.A. He has been a professor at Emory University since 1991 and is also on the Boards of Safari Industries and Manipal Acunova Ltd.
Currently, he is the Chairman of Academy of Indian Marketing Professionals.
Dr. Ashok Ganguly (Director since 1999)
Mr. Ganguly is currently the Chairman of ABP Pvt. Ltd and is also serving as a Non-Executive Director of Mahindra & Mahindra Ltd. &
Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Ltd. He is a member of the Prime Minister's Council on Trade & Industry and the India-USA CEO Council. A
Rajya Sabha member, his past achievements include: Member of the Board of British Airways Plc, Unilever Plc/NV, Chairman of
Hindustan Unilever Ltd. and on the Central Board of Directors of the Reserve Bank of India. He has been honored with the CBE (Hon.)
by the U.K. (2006), Economic Times Lifetime Achievement Award (2008), Padma Bhushan (1987) and Padma Vibhushan (2009).
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Sitting Left to Right:

Board of Directors
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Dr. Henning Kagermann – Independent Non-Executive Director
Dr. Jagdish N. Sheth - Independent Non-Executive Director
Narayanan Vaghul - Independent Non-Executive Director
Azim H. Premji – Chairman
Dr. Ashok Ganguly - Independent Non-Executive Director
William Arthur Owens - Independent Non-Executive Director

Standing Left to Right:
Priya Mohan Sinha – Independent Non-Executive Director
Shyam Saran - Independent Non-Executive Director
B. C. Prabhakar - Independent Non-Executive Director
Suresh C. Senapaty - CFO & Executive Director
T. K. Kurien - CEO - IT Business & Executive Director
Wipro Limited
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Standing from Left to Right: Martha Béjar - CEO & Chairperson - Wipro Infocrossing
Vineet Agrawal - President - Consumer Care & Lighting
Sambuddha Deb - Chief Global Delivery Officer
T. K. Kurien - CEO - IT Business & Executive Director
Azim H. Premji - Chairman
Suresh C. Senapaty - CFO & Executive Director
Pratik Kumar - Executive Vice President - HR & President - Wipro Infrastructure Engineering
Anurag Behar - Chief Sustainability Officer

Wipro Limited

30

Priya Mohan Sinha (Director since January, 2002)
Mr. Sinha holds a B.A. (Hons.) from Patna University and has attended Advanced Management Program at the Sloan School of
Management. He has served as the Chairman of Pepsi Co India Holdings Ltd. and President of Pepsi Foods Ltd. He has been on the
Executive Board of Directors of Hindustan Unilever Ltd., served as their Sales Director and has been the Chairman of Reckett Coleman
India Ltd., and Stephan Chemicals India Ltd. Currently, he is on the Boards of Bata India Ltd., Lafarge India Pvt. Ltd and on the Advisory
Board of Rieter India.
William Arthur Owens (Director since July, 2006)
Mr. Owens holds an M.B.A from George Washington University, a B.S. in Mathematics from the U.S. Naval Academy and a B.A. and M.A.
in Politics, Philosophy and Economics from Oxford University. His professional repertoire includes serving as the CEO and Vice
Chairman of Nortel Networks Corporation, Chairman & CEO of Teledesic LLC and President, CEO & Vice Chairman of Science
Applications International Corporation. Presently, he is the member of the BOD of Polycom Inc., Intelius, Flow Mobile, Unifrax and
Chairman of Century Link Inc.
Suresh C. Senapaty (Executive Director since April, 2008)
Mr. Senapaty holds a B. Com. from Utkal University, India, and is a Fellow Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.
He is currently our CFO and is also on the boards of Wipro Trademarks Holding Ltd., Wipro Chandrika Ltd., Wipro Travel Services Ltd.,
Cygnus Negri Investments Pvt. Ltd., Wipro Technology Services Ltd., Wipro Consumer Care Ltd. and Wipro GE Healthcare Pvt. Ltd.
Dr. Henning Kagermann (Director since October, 2009)
Mr. Kagermann is professor for Theoretical Physics at the Technical University Braunschweig, Germany and has received honorary
doctorate from the University of Magdeburg, Germany. He has served as CEO of SAP AG. He has been a member of SAP Executive
Board and is currently the President of Acatech (German Academy of Science & Technology) and a member of supervisory boards of
Deutsche Bank AG, Munich Re, Deutsche Post, Nokia and BMW Group in Germany.
Shyam Saran (Director since July, 2010)
Mr. Saran is a career diplomat who belongs to the 1970 batch of the Indian Foreign Service and holds a Post Graduate Degree in
Economics. He last served as the Special Envoy of the Prime Minister of India and was also named the
Indian envoy on climate change. Prior to this he was the Foreign Secretary, Govt. of India. He has served as the Ambassador of India to
Nepal, Indonesia, Myanmar and Mauritius and as the Fellow of UN's Disarmament Program in Geneva, Vienna and New York. He has
been honored with Padma Bhushan for his contribution in civil services.
T. K. Kurien (Executive Director since February, 2011)
Mr. Kurien is a Chartered Accountant and holds a Degree in Engineering. He is currently CEO - IT Business and has held various
leadership positions since February 2000. He is also a member of the Board of Wipro GE Healthcare Pvt. Ltd.
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Management
Discussion & Analysis
A. Economic Overview

B. Business Segment Overview

The global economy, post the unprecedented economic
downturn in 2008-09, has seen signs of steady recovery. While
the world output had decline by 0.6% in 2009, it grew by 5% in
2010 and is estimated to expand by 4.4% in 2011. While the
economy is not completely out of woods, there is a lot more
reason for optimism. We are increasingly seeing a bi-polar world
with subdued growth in the developed markets and
developing markets growing at a healthy pace. Coupled with
this change, we are also seeing ecological sustainability
gaining more prominence.

IT Services

Wipro is well positioned to profitably grow in this evolving
landscape. Our IT business addresses the needs of both the
developed and developing markets, as the customers look to
transform their cost and revenue in addressing their client
needs. Our Consumer Care and Infrastructure Engineering
businesses seek to benefit from the economic boom of the
emerging markets. Our new business initiative ‘EcoEnergy’ will
help businesses become eco-friendly in the way they operate.

Industry Overview
NASSCOM Strategic Review Report 2011 refers to IDC
forecast of 5.7% CAGR in worldwide IT spending for the period
2010-2014. IDC forecasts worldwide IT services spending of
approximately $684 billion by 2014, reflecting a CAGR of 4.5%
from 2010-2014. However, Forrester US and Global IT Market
Outlook Q1 2011 predicts that US IT market will grow by 8% in
2011 following a growth of 8.9% in 2010.
However, offshore IT spending is expected to grow faster. Key
factors supporting this projection are the growing impact of
technology-led innovation and the increasing demand for
global sourcing. India is a major component of the offshore
IT outsourcing.
Companies are increasingly turning to offshore technology
service providers in order to meet their need for high-quality
cost-competitive technology solutions. Technology companies
have been outsourcing software research and development
and related support functions to offshore technology service
providers to reduce cycle time for introducing new products
and services.
India is also a leading destination for IT enabled services. The
proven track record and client relationships of established
Indian IT services companies; availability of a large, high quality,
English speaking talent pool; industry moving up the value
chain to provide business and technology solutions; and a
regulatory environment more friendly to investment are
facilitating India’s emergence as a global outsourcing hub.
According to NASSCOM Strategic Review Report 2011, the
worldwide BPO market is expected to touch $201 billion
by 2014, representing a compounded annual growth rate of
6.2% in the period 2010-2014.
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Global IT & ITeS Market
IT Spends by category

($ Billion)
2010

2011 2012

2013

2014

CAGR

IT Services
574
594 621 652
684
4.5%
BPO
158
167 177 189
201
6.2%
IT Services + BPO
732 761 798 841
885
4.9%
Software
282
297 316 337
362
6.4%
Hardware
599
643 686 727
767
6.4%
Total Spend
1,614 1,702 1,800 1,904 2,014
5.7%
Engineering Spend* 1,125 1,150 NA
NA 1,200- 1.6-2.7%
1,250
Source: Nasscom Strategic Review 2011 IDC, * Booz & Company

Our IT Services business addresses the market of IT Services and
BPO spends globally which is estimated to be $885 billion in
2014. We also address the Engineering spend which is
estimated to be between $1.20 trillion to $1.25 trillion in 2014.
Wipro Credentials and Prospects
At Wipro, we are focused on creating the right kind of growth
framework in order to leapfrog into the next level and be :
• a trusted partner of choice to clients
• employer of choice in the sphere of our operations
• preferred partner of choice to our alliances
• recognized as an organization that delivers sustainable and
profitable growth to our investors
In line with achieving this goal, we are driving strategies and
initiatives aimed at profitable growth. We have 6 key elements
to enable this:
1. Differentiated approach to growth & investments: The
differentiated approach is focused on taking advantage
of growth hot spots across industry segments and
geographies. We have renewed our focus on Emerging
(momentum) markets by creating dedicated teams
covering France and Germany in Europe, ASEAN, Australia
and New Zealand in Asia Pacific, India and other geogrphies
of Canada, LATAM, Middle-East and Africa. On the industry
front, our endeavor is to invest disproportionately in growth
leading segments such as Banking, Financial Services,
Insurance, Energy & Utilities, Healthcare and Retail & CPG.
Acquisitions will continue to play a key part in
strengthening our domain and technology capabilities,
driving increased market penetration and broadening the
depth and breadth of our service portfolio.
2. Client-centricity: With the client being our central focus,
we have re-designed our proposition and capabilities to
address the needs of Global 2000 enterprises. Our endeavor
is to deepen penetration of these accounts through a
consulting-led domain approach to business. Further, we
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are pursuing the Client Engagement Manager model,
which enables swift and impeccable execution with single
point accountability with support from rest of the
organization. The number of customers from whom
we derived revenues in excess of $50 million is 22 in
fiscal year 2010-11.
3. People – The Central Nervous System: We believe that
people are the backbone of our organization; hence a large
part of the management focus is towards building and
developing employees. Our aim is to build the best in class
global leadership and provide employees unlimited
opportunities for career enhancement and growth. It is our
aim to be a truly global company that not only services
customers globally but also employs people worldwide.
We are focused on diversity with 28% of our employees
being women and 38% of our onsite employees being local.
We have a young employee base with 66% of our
employees aged less than 30 years and an average
age of the employee base at 29. We have employees of
74 nationalities on our rolls.
4. Co-creating our value proposition along with clients:
We believe that the fundamental business practice in this
new millennium will be multiple entities working together
as one value chain in order to create superior flexibility,
productivity and financial performance. Keeping in line
with macro and micro changes taking place, we have
developed a research-backed consulting-led approach
involving all stakeholders – employees, clients and
partners – to arrive at our 21st century Inc model to meet the
needs of the increasingly global enterprise. The model
comprises of core/non-core client business analysis and
rationalization, lean optimization and technology
innovation and co-creation of solutions with our strategic
alliance partners.
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5. Comprehensive and integrated capability across the
services value chain, backed by IP assets: Our ability to
provide a comprehensive `process’ to `service’ suite
uniquely positions us to be a master system integrator
and transformation partner to clients. The focus is to
develop IP assets that solve clients’ business problems
efficiently. In addition, `enablers’ or processes and programs
designed to aid people development, leadership
development and skill enhancements are ongoing efforts.
6. Innovation: For us, innovation is not just a term. It is
at the core of what we do, part of a business driven culture
imbibed in the organization. We innovate to meet changing
client needs and technology advancements besides
generating newer streams of revenue for the organization.
The innovation are in it in segments like Cloud, Mobility,
Analytics and Big Data, and Green IT or Non-linear delivery
models. Our innovation not only has the ability to drive
significantly higher productivity and efficiency in
client enterprises but also possesses the potential to
fundamentally alter underlying business models of clients.
Our strategy for growth is backed by strong investments in
delivery capabilities like:
1. Global Delivery Model
a. As the industry is moving rapidly into a commoditized
market for pure play IT services at one end and
specialized transformational capabilities at the other
end, the delivery models are morphing to align to these
changes. As pioneers of the Global Delivery Model or
GDM, we have always looked at innovative ways of
servicing customers more effectively by leveraging on
the depth of experience in the Wipro ecosystem. Several
of these differentiated services are now scaling up and
demonstrating a strong value proposition to customers
besides enabling us to open marquee accounts as well
as delivering business benefits to customers.
b. To enable the alignment of the delivery competencies
to the changing customer needs, a tiered competency
development framework with associated training and
assessment centers have been set up. A fast-track
program to create Project Management talent has been
created with talent from premier engineering colleges
being exclusively selected and groomed for this cadre.
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c. We have invested in training capabilities with
capacity to train 10,000 employees every day across
IT Services. We have 500 plus trainers across our
business. We are the only company in the world to win
the American Society of Training & Development
award for 6 successive years.
d. In line with the goal of providing world class delivery
experience to customers, we have set up competencyled centers at strategic locations including Atlanta in the
US, Chengdu in China, Romania and Philippines. The
team of over 3,000 professionals working from these
centers has the motto of “Global Reach with a local
touch”. Overall, we have more than 20,000 employees
onsite.
e. Our delivery excellence was reinforced when we were
awarded the ‘2010 Outstanding Corporate Award' for
contribution to the Embedded Systems and Very-LargeScale Integration (VLSI) industry segment by Mentor
Graphics and Silicon India. Equaterra, an independent
sourcing advisory in more than 60 countries,
ranked Wipro #1 in Client Satisfaction, Applications
Management, Infrastructure Management, Price and
Governance; underlining Wipro as a leader for client
satisfaction in its detailed UK IT service provider
performance study.
2. Non Linearity – the game changer
a. Non linearity is a concept that we have started to focus
on in the last couple of years – be it new engagement
models, way of delivery or building platforms and
automation. The company has developed non linearity
in two areas – Revenue initiatives and Delivery
initiatives. We have made strong progress with
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Non-Linearity constituting 12% of our Revenues in FY11
as against 7% in FY10
b. The focus that we have put in to build Non Linear
capability is yielding results and the benefits are being
seen both by our customer and employees. Non
linearity brings in efficiencies of deployment, tools and
accelerators and productized solutions.
c. A key investment of Wipro towards seamless global
delivery is the Flex Delivery model – an industrialized,
multi-tenanted service delivery model providing fast
startup, predictable time of delivery and reduced total
cost of operation through well defined processes, tools,
interfaces and a de-centralized scalable team. The
model comprises of pre-defined, standardized and
scalable set of services that can be delivered on demand
by the customers.
d. Flex centers have been established in most of
the service lines based on platform/technology
competencies and in multiple locations. Several of the
industry verticals have also adopted this model over the
past one year. The maturity of the centers has been
assessed and improved using proprietary frameworks
and workflow tools.
e. Solution accelerators teams within Wipro have
generated hundreds of accelerators for use in projects.
The company has run contests successfully to generate
ideas from employees to develop future accelerators as
part of this initiative.

Performance Highlights

Particulars

(Figures in R Million except otherwise stated)
Year on
Year ended March 31, Year change
2010
2010-11
2011

Revenue

234,850

202,490

16.0%

81,404

70,346

15.7%

Selling and marketing expenses (12,642)

(10,213)

23.8%

General and administrative
expenses

(15,355)

(12,446)

23.4%

53,407

47,687

12.0%

Gross profit

Operating income

General and administrative
expenses

5.4%

5.0%

As part of our non-linearity drive and focus on improving
revenue productivity, we have increased our percentage
of revenue contribution from Fixed Price Projects to 45.7%
as against 41.5% in the previous year. In FPP, we undertake to
complete project within agreed timeline for a given scope of
work. The economic gains or losses realised from completing
the project earlier or later than initially projected timelines
accrues to us.
Revenue Mix Vertical Distribution
The overall revenues were driven primarily due to
a 24% increase in revenue from energy & utilities
services, a 23% increase in revenue from financial services,
a 22% increase in revenue from retail & transportation
services and a 21% increase in revenue from telecom services.
Revenue Mix Service Line wise Distribution
We continued to expand and grow our Services portfolio.
Growth in the current year was driven by 22% increase
in revenues from Package Implementation, 20% increase
in revenues from Technology Infrastructure Services,
19% increase in revenues from Application Development and
Maintenance and 40% increase in revenues from Product
Engineering.
Growth in the current year was driven by a 23% increase
in revenues from Europe, 26% increase in revenues from
India & Middle East business and 45% increase in revenues from

Revenue Mix by Vertical Distribution
IT Services 2010-11
8%

8%

Financial Services
8%

Retail & Transportation
Manufacturing

(34)bps

27%

10%
6.5%

6.2%

(39)bps

Gross margin

34.7%

34.7%

(8)bps

Operating margin

22.7%

23.6%

(81)bps
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During the current year, we realised 51.7% of revenue from work
done in locations outside India (“Onsite”) and remaining
48.3% of revenue was realised from the work performed from
our development centers in India (“Offshore”).

9%

As a Percentage of Revenue:
Selling and marketing expenses

Our revenue from IT Services business increased by 16%
in Indian Rupee terms. In USD terms our revenue increased by
18.9% from $4,390 million to $5,221 million. This increase is
primarily on account of increase in volume by 16.8%.

Energy & Untilities
CMSP
Healthcare & Services

15%

15%

Technology
Telecom
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Revenue Mix by Service Lines
IT Services 2010-11
10% 5%

of our employees had less than 3 years of work-experience,
as compared to 43% as of March 31, 2010.
ADM

11%

Technology Infrastructure Services
Package Implementation

40%

13%

Testing Services
BPO
Product Engineering

21%

APAC and Other Emerging Markets. Increase in Revenues from
US in the current year was 13%.
We added 155 new customers in the current year, as against
121 in the previous year.
Our top customer contributed 3% of revenue, top 5 customers
11% of revenue and the top 10 customers accounted for
19.5% of the revenue. We have 3 customers contributing more
than $100 million revenues in the current year, up from
1 customer in the previous year
Revenue contributed by the customers added during the year
was at 2%, at the same level as in the previous year.
In our IT Services Business, manpower cost accounts for
approximately 50% of the Revenues. Other major costs
included Sub-contracted manpower cost, depreciation and
employee-travel cost.
The operational drivers for manpower costs are Utilisation
of employees, Onsite: Offshore composition and the
composition of experience profile of employees called
‘Bulge-mix’.

Risk Factors
Our revenues from this business are derived in major currencies
of the world while a significant portion of its costs are in
Indian rupees. The exchange rate between the rupee and
major currencies of the world has fluctuated significantly in
recent years and may continue to fluctuate in the future.
Currency fluctuations can adversely affect our revenues and
gross margins.
The market for IT services is highly competitive. Our
competitors include software companies, IT companies,
systems consulting and integration firms, other technology
companies and client in-house information services
departments. We may also face competition from IT and ITES
companies operating from emerging low cost destination like
China, Philippines, Brazil, Romania, Poland etc.
We derive approximately 55% of our IT Services revenues from
United States and 27% of our IT Services revenues from Europe.
In an economic slowdown, our clients located in these
geographies may reduce or postpone their technology
spending significantly. Reduction in spending on IT services
may lower the demand for our services and negatively affect
our revenues and profitability.
Some countries and organizations have expressed concerns
about a perceived association between offshore outsourcing
and the loss of jobs domestically. With the growth of offshore
outsourcing receiving increasing political and media attention,
there have been concerted efforts to enact new legislation to
restrict offshore outsourcing or impose disincentives on

During the current year gross Utilisation was 70% compared
to 72% an year ago. As of March 31, 2011 approximately 40%

Revenue Mix by Geography
IT Services 2010-11
2%
7%
9%

Americas
Europe
55%

27%

India & Middle East business
APAC & Other Emerging Markets
Japan
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companies which have been outsourcing jobs. This may
adversely impact our ability to do business in these jurisdictions
and could adversely affect our revenues and operating
profitability.
Our employees who work onsite at client facilities or at our
facilities in the United States on temporary or extended
assignments typically must obtain visas. If U.S. immigration
laws change and make it more difficult for us to obtain
H-1B and L-1 visas for our employees, our ability to compete
for and provide services to our clients in the United States
could be impaired.
These risks are broadly country risks. At an organizational level,
we have a well-defined business contingency plan and disaster
recovery plan to address these unforeseen events and minimize
the impact on services delivered from our development centers
based in India or abroad.

Wipro Credentials
Our IT Products business provides a range of IT products
encompassing computing, storage, networking, security, and
software products. Under this segment, we sell IT products
manufactured by us and third-party IT products.
We plan to grow in the IT Products market by focusing on:
•

-

Build enhanced solution capabilities to position
ourselves as a Value Added System Integrator



-

To offer innovative and best in class IT Products and
Solutions catering to client needs

•

Product Differentiation



-

Product Engineering to deliver value differentiation on
Wipro products

-

Focus on building brand “Ego” and evolve as lifestyle
brands within our manufactured products business

-

Strengthen server portfolio through a combination of
in-house and traded products

IT Products
Industry Overview
According to NASSCOM Strategic Review Report 2011,
IDC forecasts that worldwide hardware spending will increase
from $599 billion in 2010 to $767 billion in 2014, representing
a compounded annual growth rate, or CAGR, of 6.4%.
According to IDC, the hardware market account for 40% of the
Indian IT-BPO industry. The key components of the hardware
industry are servers, clients (desktops and laptops), storage
devices, peripherals and networking equipments. The overall
hardware growth is projected at 15.8% for the India market with
storage and networking products leading growth within this
segment in 2011. Spending in Government, BFSI and Telecom
sectors will be the key drivers for networking equipment
segment.

Wipro Limited

Positioning

•

Geo expansion - enhanced focus for addressing new
markets - Middle-East and Africa

•

Customer Engagement
-

Vertical Focus - Strengthen presence in key verticals
such as Government, Telecom and Banking

-

Mid-Market Drive - Tier 2/3 city penetration. Establish
leadership position in 10 cities through increased
coverage and marketing activities

-

Deliver customized solutions

•

Alliances - realign existing and form new alliances,
leverage alliance partnerships for joint Go-To-Market
with Wipro. Partner with emerging technology providers
to improve market address and develop new streams
of revenue

•

Operational Excellence- Sustain Green Leadership in
Wipro manufactured products. Continue to drive delivery
and operational excellence through industry standard
processes and global best practices for better customer
satisfaction (CSAT) and cost optimization.
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Our Product range includes
1. Wipro Manufactured Products: Our manufactured range
of products comprises desktops, notebooks, Net Power
servers and super computers. Wipro’s own brand of product
competes successfully with all the global brands in various
market segments. We offer form, factors and functionalities
that cater to the entire spectrum of users – from individuals
to high-end corporate entities.
2. Enterprise Platforms: Our offerings under this category
comprise of design and deployment services for enterprise
class servers, databases and Server computing resource
management software.
3. Networking Solutions: Our offerings under this category
comprise of consulting, design, deployment and audit of
enterprise wide area network (WAN), wireless LAN and
unified communication systems.
4. Software Products: Our products under this category
comprise enterprise application, data warehousing and
business intelligence software from world’s leading
software product companies.
5. Data Storage: Our products under this category comprise
network storage, secondary and near line storage, backup
and storage fabrics.
6. Contact Centre Infrastructure: Our offerings include
Switch Integration, Voice Response Solutions, Computer
Telephony Interface (CTI), Customized Agent Desktop
Application, Predictive Dialer, Customer Relationship
Management, Multiple Host Integration, Voice Logger
interface.
7. Enterprise Security: Security products include Intrusion
detection systems, firewalls and physical security
infrastructure covering surveillance and monitoring systems.
8. Emerging Technologies: We also cater to new
technologies in the market including virtualization, IP video
solutions and private cloud implementations.
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Performance Highlights

Particulars

(Figures in R Million except otherwise stated)
Year on
Year ended March 31, Year change
2011
2010
2010-11

36,910
Revenue
4,067
Gross profit
Selling and marketing expenses (1,284)
General and administrative
(1,174)
expenses
1,609
Operating income
As a Percentage of Revenue
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative
expenses
Gross margin
Operating margin

38,205
4,054
(1,275)

(3.4)%
0.3%
0.7%

(1,015)
1,764

15.7%
(8.8)%

3.5%

3.3%

(14) bps

3.2%
11.0%
4.4%

2.7%
10.6%
4.6%

(52) bps
41 bps
(26) bps

Revenues from the IT Products business decreased by
3.4% primarily due to initial hardware requirement in certain
large transformational projects during the year ended
March 31, 2010, which were in sustenance phase during the
year ended March 31, 2011. Our gross profit as a percentage of
our revenue of our IT Products business increased by 41 bps.
This increase is primarily due to an increase in the proportion
of revenues from high yield products.
Risks
IT Products revenues are impacted by seasonal changes that
affect purchasing patterns among our consumers of desktops,
notebooks, servers, communication devices and other
products.
The IT products market is a dynamic and highly competitive
market. In the marketplace, we compete with both
international and local providers. We are witnessing higher
pricing pressures due to commoditization of manufactured
products business and higher focus on Indian markets by all
leading IT companies.
Nonetheless, we are favourably positioned due to our quality
leadership, expertise in target markets and our ability to create
client loyalty by delivering value to the customer.
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Consumer Care and Lighting
Industry Overview
AC Nielsen estimates that India is amongst the fastest growing
geographies for FMCG, with a 2010 growth rate of 15% for the
non-food segment. This market is estimated to grow at a CAGR
of 12% - 15% for the period 2011-2014. The household and
personal care FMCG market in the other Asian countries in
which we operate including Malaysia, Vietnam and Indonesia,
are expected to grow at a CAGR of 8% for the period 2011-2014.
The Indian domestic market for institutional lighting and office
modular furniture is estimated at U.S. $700 million and is
expected to grow at the rate of 10% to 15% for the period
2011-2012. Key sectors contributing to the growth are expected
to be modern work spaces, IT-ITeS, Retail, Healthcare and
Government Infrastructure spending.
Wipro Credentials
Our Consumer Care and Lighting business focuses on niche
profitable market segments in personal care in specific
geographies in Asia, Middle East and Africa, as well as office
solutions in India. We successfully leverage our brands and
distribution strengths to sustain a profitable presence in the
personal care sector, including personal wash, fragrances, hair
and skin care, male toiletries and household lighting products.
Our office solutions include lighting products, modular
switches, modular furniture and security solutions. Our Santoor
brand is the third largest in India in the soap category, and
Safi brand is the largest Halal toiletries brand of Malaysia.
Our Yardley brand gives us a stronger presence in the Middle
East, and into the luxury segment of personal care. We are
amongst the top 15 players in personal care in India, and fourth
largest player in personal care in both Malaysia and Vietnam.
We sell and market our consumer care products primarily
through our distribution network in India, which has access to
5,121 distributors and 1.6 million retail outlets throughout the
country. We sell significant portion of our lighting products to
major industrial and commercial customers through our direct
sales force, from 29 sales offices located throughout India.
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In our other geographies, led by Malaysia, Vietnam, Indonesia
and Greater China, we have direct access to over 200,000 retail
outlets, with a significant presence in the fast growing modern
trade.

Performance Highlights

Particulars

(Figures in R Million except otherwise stated)
Year on
Year ended March 31, Year change
2011
2010
2010-11

Revenue
Gross profit
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative
expenses
Operating income
As a Percentage of Revenue:

27,258
12,116
(7,514)

22,584
10,779
(6,470)

20.7%
12.4%
16.1%

(1,152)
3,450

(1,207)
3,102

(4.6)%
11.2%

Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative
expenses
Gross margin
Operating margin

27.6%

28.7%

108 bps

4.2%
44.5%
12.7%

5.3%
47.7%
13.7%

111 bps
(328) bps
(108) bps

Consumer Care and Lighting revenue increased in the current
year by 20.7%. This increase is attributable to an increase
of approximately 20.9% in revenue from consumer products
excluding Yardley sold in Indian markets and an increase
of approximately 9.6% in revenue from personal care products
sold in south-east Asian markets. Further, integration of our
acquisition of Yardley has contributed an additional 5% of our
total revenue from the Consumer Care and Lighting business.
Our gross profit as a percentage of our revenues from the
Consumer Care and Lighting business decreased by 328 bps.
The reduction in gross margins is primarily due to an increase in
major input costs. This was partially offset by increase in gross
margin due to integration of our acquisition of Yardley.
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Business Composition
Consumer Care & Lighting

suppliers like Wipro in the current economic environment;
and
•

20%
Personal Care Products
Lighting & Furniture
80%

Risk Factors
Our competitors in the consumer care and lighting are located
primarily in India, and include multinational and Indian
companies. Certain competitors have recently focused on sales
strategies designed to increase sales volumes through lower
prices. Sustained price pressures by competitors may require us
to respond with similar or different pricing strategies. This may
adversely affect our gross and operating profits in future
periods.
A major share of revenue in Consumer Care and Lighting
business comes from top three brands in India and
international business. Any dilution in market share of such
brand against competition may adversely impact our revenue.
Further, price volatility in major inputs for personal care
products, could have an adverse impact on our margin.

diversification into newer segments organically and/or
inorganically.

We are also in the water solutions business, which addresses
the entire spectrum of treatment solutions, systems and plants
for water and waste water for industries.
We are also in cleantech business – Wipro EcoEnergy, which
provides intelligent, sustainable alternatives for energy
generation, distribution and consumption. We transform
analytical insights obtained from energy data into sustainable
solutions. We help customers reduce their energy footprint,
recover higher energy efficiencies from energy deployment
and replace conventional with renewable energy sources.
Risk Factors
The Infrastructure Engineering business is linked to
infrastructure spending globally. If there is an economic
slowdown, it would translate in to lower growth for our
customers and in turn reduce our growth prospects.
Performance Highlights
Revenue from our Others business, including reconciling items,
increased by 44.3%, from R8,295 million for the year ended
March 31, 2010 to R11,969 million for the year ended
March 31, 2011. The increase in revenue is attributable to
increased demand for infrastructure engineering products
in India and Europe.

Others
Our Others business includes our Infrastructure Engineering
business. We are the world’s largest third-party manufacturer
of hydraulic cylinders. It is centered on our mobile construction
equipment business and our material handling business.
We manufacture and sell cylinders and truck hydraulics, and we
also distribute hydraulic steering equipment and pumps,
motors and valves for international companies. We have
a global footprint in terms of manufacturing facilities in Europe
and India and sell to customers across the globe.
In the current financial year, we are seeing resurgent growth
specifically in the Asia segment of our business. We believe that
the fundamentals of the infrastructure engineering business
remain strong. Our strategy is to increase our global market
share through:
•
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strengthening relationship with global original equipment
manufacturers (OEMs) who are likely to seek stable
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C. Performance Review at Corporate Level
Our revenue and profit for the years ended March 31, 2011 and
2010 are provided below.
Wipro Limited and Subisidiaries

Particulars

(Figures in R Million except otherwise stated)
Year on
Year ended March 31, Year change
2011
2010
2010-11

310,987
Revenue
(212,808)
Cost of revenue
98,179
Gross profit
Selling and marketing expenses (22,172)
General and administrative
(18,339)
expenses
57,668
Operating income
Profit attributable
52,977
to equity holders

271,574
(186,299)
85,275
(18,608)

14.5%
14.2%
15.1%
19.2%

(14,823)
51,844

23.7%
11.2%

45,931

15.3%

As a Percentage of Revenue
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative
expenses
Gross margins
Operating margin

7.1%

6.9%

(28) bps

5.9%
31.6%
18.5%

5.5%
31.4%
19.1%

(44) bps
17 bps
(55) bps

Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted

21.74
21.61

18.91
18.75

Results of operations for the years ended March 31, 2011
and 2010
•

•

Our total revenues increased by 14.5%. This was driven
primarily by a 16%, 21% and 53% increase in revenue from
our IT Services, Consumer Care and Lighting and Others
business, including reconciling items, business segments
respectively. This increased revenue was partially offset by
a decline in revenue from our IT Products business segment.
Our gross profit as percentage of our total revenue
increased marginally by 17 basis points (bps). This was
primarily on account of an increase in gross profit as
a percentage of revenue from our IT Products business by
41 bps, an increase in gross profit as a percentage of revenue
from our Others business, including reconciling items by
379 bps. This increase was partially offset by a decline
in gross profit as a percentage of revenue from our IT
Services and Consumer Care and Lighting business.

by 19.2%, primarily due to an increase in the IT Services and
Consumer Care and Lighting business.
• Our general and administrative expenses as a percentage
of revenue increased from 5.5% for the year ended
March 31, 2010 to 6% for the year ended March 31, 2011.
In absolute terms general and administrative expenses
increased by 23.7%, primarily due to increased expenses
in the IT Services business and IT Products business. This
increase was partially offset by a decline in the Consumer
Care and Lighting business.
•

As a result of the foregoing factors, our operating income
increased by 11.2%, from R51,844 million for the year ended
March 31, 2010 to R57,668 million for the year ended
March 31, 2011.

• Our finance expenses, increased from R1,324 million for the
year ended March 31, 2010 to R1,933 million for the year
ended March 31, 2011. This increase is primarily due to
increase of R1,065 million in exchange loss on foreign
currency borrowings and related derivative instrument. This
is partially offset by lower interest expense by R456 million
during the year ended March 31, 2011, due to lower loans
and borrowings.
• Our finance and other income, increased from
R4,360 million for the year ended March 31, 2010 to
R6,652 million for the year ended March 31, 2011. Our
interest and dividend income increased by R2,408 million
during the year ended March 31, 2011 as compared to year
ended March 31, 2010. This was partially offset by decrease
of R116 million in the gain from sale of investments during
the same period.
• Our income taxes increased by R420 million, from
R9,294 million for the year ended March 31, 2010 to
R9,714 million for the year ended March 31, 2011. Adjusted
for tax write-backs our effective tax rate declined from

• Our selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of
revenue increased from 6.9% for the year ended
March 31, 2010 to 7.1% for the year ended March 31, 2011. In
absolute terms selling and marketing expenses increased
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17.8% for the year ended March 31, 2010 to 16.5% for the
year ended March 31, 2011. This decline is primarily due to
higher profit based deductions during the year ended
March 31, 2011.
• Our equity in earnings of affiliates for the years ended
March 31, 2010 and 2011 was R530 million and
R648 million, respectively. Equity in earnings of affiliates
primarily relates to the equity in earnings of Wipro GE.

reported as a component of other comprehensive income
in stockholder’s equity and subsequently recorded in the
income statement when the hedged transactions occur,
along with the hedged items.
•

• As a result of the foregoing factors, our profit attributable to
equity holders increased by R7,046 million, or 15.3%, from
R45,931 million for the year ended March 31, 2010 to
R 52,977 million for the year ended March 31, 2011.

Foreign exchange gains / (losses), net
Our foreign exchange gains / (losses), net for the years ended
March 31, 2010 and 2011 were R(383) million and R445 million
respectively.
Our foreign exchange gains/(losses), net, comprise:
•

•
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exchange differences arising from the translation or
settlement of transactions in foreign currency, except for
exchange differences on debt denominated in foreign
currency (which are reported within finance expense, net);
and
the changes in fair value for derivatives not designated as
hedging derivatives and ineffective portion of the hedging
instruments. For forward foreign exchange contracts which
are designated and effective as cash flow hedges, the
marked to market gains and losses are deferred and

Although our functional currency is the Indian rupee, we
transact a significant portion of our business in foreign
currencies, in particularly the U.S. dollar. The exchange rate
between the rupee and the dollar has changed
substantially in recent years and may fluctuate substantially
in the future. Consequently, the results of our operations are
affected as the rupee fluctuates against the U.S. dollar. Our
exchange rate risk primarily arises from our foreign
currency revenues, cash balances, payables and debt. We
enter into derivative instruments to primarily hedge our
forecasted cash flows denominated in certain foreign
currencies, foreign currency debt and net investment in
overseas operations. Please refer to our Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements under IFRS for
additional details on our foreign currency exposures.

Finance expense
•

Our finance expense comprise interest expense on
borrowings, impairment losses recognized on financial
assets, gains / losses on translation or settlement of foreign
currency borrowings and changes in fair value and gains /
losses on settlement of related derivative instruments
except foreign exchange gains/losses on short-term
borrowings which are considered as a natural economic
hedge for the foreign currency monetary assets which are
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classified as foreign exchange gains/losses, net within
results from operating activities. Borrowing costs are
recognized in the statement of income using the effective
interest method.

Finance and other income
•

Our finance and other income comprises interest income
on deposits, dividend income and gains on disposal of
available-for-sale financial assets. Interest income is
recognized using the effective interest method. Dividend
income is recognized when the right to receive payment is
established.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company’s cash flow from its operating, investing and
financing activities, as reflected in the Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows under IFRS, is summarized in the table below:

Particulars

(Figures in R Million except otherwise stated)
Year on
Year ended March 31, Year change
2011
2010
2010-11

Net cash provided by/(used in)
continuing operations:
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net change in cash and
cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate
changes on cash and
cash equivalent

40,437
(17,239)
(26,378)

50,998
(33,815)
(601)

(10,561)
16,576
(25,777)

(3,180)

16,582

(19,762)

523

(1,258)

1,781

As of March 31, 2011, we had cash and cash equivalent and
short-term investments of R110,423 million. Cash and cash
equivalent and short-term investments, net of debt was
R 57,621 million. In addition we have unused credit lines of
R 37,525 million. To utilize these lines of credit we require the
consent of the lender and compliance with certain financial
covenants. We have historically financed our working capital
and capital expenditure through our operating cash flows and
through bank debt, as required.
Cash provided by operating activities decreased by
R10,561 million, while profit for the year increased by
R7,205 million during the same period. The decrease in cash
provided by operating activities is primarily due to an increase
in current receivables including unbilled, attributable to an
increase in number of receivable days in the IT Services business
from 61 days in March 2010 to 70 days in March 2011 and an
increase in receivable days in the IT Products business from
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119 days in March 2010 to 131 days in March 2011. Further,
operating cash flow decreased due to increase in inventory days
for consumer care and lighting and infrastructure engineering
by 2 days and 4 days, respectively and also due to increase in
finance lease receivables by R2,808 million primarily relating to
large projects. This is partially offset by the increase in trade
payables and accrued expenses on account of better
management of payment terms. Receivable days as of a
particular reporting date is the proportion of receivables,
adjusted for unbilled and unearned revenue to the revenues for
the respective fiscal quarter multiplied by 90.
Cash used in investing activities for the year ended
March 31, 2011 was R17,239 million. Cash provided by
operating activities was utilized for the net purchase of
investments and inter-corporate deposits amounting to
R11,772 million. We also purchased property, plant and
equipment amounting to R12,211 million, which was primarily
driven by the growth strategy of the Company.
Cash used in financing activities for the year ended
March 31, 2011 was R26,378 million as against R601 million for
the year ended March 31, 2010. This increase is primarily due to
increase in net repayment of loans and borrowings amounting
to R10,122 million and payment of dividend amounting to
R15,585 million.
On April 27, 2011, our Board proposed a cash dividend of
R4 ($0.09) per equity share and ADR. The proposal is subject to
the approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to
be held on July 19, 2011, and if approved, would result in a cash
outflow of approximately R11,410 million including corporate
dividend tax thereon.
We maintain debt/borrowing level that we have established
through consideration of a number of factors including cash
flow expectations, cash required for operations and investment
plans. We continually monitor our funding requirement and
strategies are executed to maintain sufficient flexibility to
access global funding sources, as needed. Please refer to
Note 12 of our Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
under IFRS for additional details on our borrowings.
As discussed above, cash generated from operations is our
primary source of liquidity. We believe that our cash and cash

43

equivalent along with cash generated from operations will be
sufficient to meet our working capital requirements as well as
repayment obligations in respect of debt / borrowings.

Please refer to “Financial risk management” under Note 15 of
our Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements under IFRS
for more details on our treasury activities.

As of March 31, 2011, we had contractual commitments of
R2,071 ($47) million related to capital expenditures on
construction or expansion of software development facilities,
R10,265 ($230) million related to non-cancelable operating
lease obligations and R3,645 ($82) million related to other
purchase obligations. Plans to construct or expand our software
development facilities are dictated by business requirements.

Contractual obligations

In relation to our acquisitions, a portion of the purchase
consideration is payable upon achievement of specified
earnings targets in future. We expect that our cash and cash
equivalents, investments in liquid and short-term mutual funds
and the cash flows expected to be generated from our
operations in future will generally be sufficient to fund the
earn-out payments and our expansion plans.
In the normal course of business, we transfer accounts
receivables, net investment in sale-type finance receivable and
employee advances (financial assets). Please refer Note 15 of
our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under IFRS.
Our liquidity and capital requirements are affected by many
factors, some of which are based on the normal ongoing
operations of our businesses and some of which arise from
uncertainties related to global economies and the markets that
we target for our services. We cannot be certain that additional
financing, if needed, will be available on favorable terms, if at all.
As of March 31, 2011 and 2010, our cash and cash equivalent
were primarily held in Indian Rupees, U.S. Dollars, Pound
Sterling, Euro, Japanese Yen, Singapore Dollars and Saudi Riyals.

The table of future payments due under known contractual
commitments as of March 31, 2011, aggregated by type of
contractual obligation, is given below:

Particulars

(Figures in R Million except earnings per share data)
Total
contractual
payment
Payments due in
2011-12 2012-14 2014-16 2016-17
onwards

Short-term
borrowings
Long-term debt
Obligations under
capital leases
Estimated interest
(1)
payment
Capital commitments
Non-cancelable
operating lease
obligation
Purchase obligations
Other non-current
liabilities(2)

31,694 31,694
20,473 1,146

19,277

35

15

635

203

292

80

60

804
2,071

379
2,071

416
-

6
-

3
-

10,265
3,645

1,828
3,645

3,207
-

1,936
-

3,294
-

73

-

73

-

-

Our purchase obligations include all commitments to purchase
goods or services of either a fixed or minimum quantity that
meet any of the following criteria: (1) they are non-cancelable,
or (2) we would incur a penalty if the agreement was
terminated.
(1) Interest payments for long-term fixed rate debts have been
calculated based on applicable rates and payment dates.
Interest payments on floating rate debt have been
calculated based on the payment dates and implied
forward interest rates as of March 31, 2011 for each relevant
debt instrument.
(2) Other non-current liabilities and non-current tax liabilities
in the statement of financial position include R2,633 million
in respect of employee benefit obligation and
R5,021 million towards uncertain tax position, respectively.
For these amounts the extent of the amount and timing of
repayment/settlement is not reliably estimatable or
determinable at present and accordingly have not been
disclosed in the table above.
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D. Risk Management at corporate level

Importance of Acting Early in response to a given risk

Mitigation options

Ambiguity

Wipro ERM Framework
In continuation of our quest to be the “Best in Breed”, we have
benchmarked our practices with four globally recognized
standards

Number of options

Risk Management Initiatives
Risk Management at Wipro is an enterprise wide function. It is
backed by a competent and specialist team that develops
frameworks and methodologies for organization wide
deployment.

Am
big
uity
Risk Intensity

Time

(a) AS/NS 4360:2004 by AUS/NZ Standards board
(b) Orange Book by UK Government Treasury.
(c) COSO; Enterprise Risk Management – Integrated
Framework by Treadway Commission

Mitigation measures in the form of systemic fixes are deployed
and are subjected to a stress test to evaluate their robustness
and effectiveness.

Our Risk Management approach is to carry out comprehensive
vulnerability analysis and extrapolate known failure modes as
an early warning indicator.

We made a conscious decision to move to a regimen of
pro-active risk management by responding to weak signals
through program-managed mitigation mechanism as
compared to a reactive crisis management approach which is
event induced.

The risks are then subjected to detailed review mechanisms
which are tool based and norm triggered.

By acting early, we give ourselves a wider selection of options
and alternatives to respond effectively and decisively.

(d) ISO/FDIS 31000:2009 by ISO

The different streams of ERM deployment in Wipro are:

Awareness & Advocacy 7
Enhancing risk & compliance literacy
across the organization

Anti-Fraud Initiatives 6
Ensuring transparency & propriety in
commercial processes

Code of Sales Ethics 5
Training programme to sales force on
business ethics

1 ERM Framework
Alignment with global risk management standards and
automation (GRC - Governance, Risk management &
Compliance)

2 Business Risk Management
Models enabling risk identification, monitoring
controlling and reporting in all Business
processes from order to cash

3 Intellectual Property (IP)
IP protection policy to protect IP & position Wipro as the
“Best of Breed”

4
Functional Risk Management
Strengthening, simplifying and automating controls across key functions
such as finance, human resource, operations etc.
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Key Risk Management areas that we focused on
during the year:
(Listed alphabetically, not in order of Importance)
1. Alliance Risks
2. Business Continuity & Disaster Recovery
3. Climate Change & Sustainability
4. Country (Geo-Political) Risks
5. Employee Safety & Physical Security Risks
6. Emerging Technology Risks
7. Fraud Risks
8. Governance & Policy Compliance
9. Infrastructure & Operations Risks
10. Information Security & Compliance
11. Intellectual Property Risks
12. Large Programs – Order to Cash Risks
13. People Engagement & Supply Chain Risks
14. Regulatory Compliance including Employment,
Immigration and Tax laws
15. Systemic Vulnerabilities
Intellectual Property Protection
A master plan to assess & mitigate risks around Intellectual
Property rights was implemented. The Plan included
a) Comprehensive reassessment of all failure modes, b) Clear
articulation of policy c) Continuous & targeted evangelization,
d) audit & assurance and e) systemic solutions to ensure
repeatability and reproducibility.

Business Specific Risk Management Models
Specific models to address risks in business segments/
processes were rolled out such as country risk assessment,
customer credit risk assessment, deal risk assessment etc.
Employee Safety & Physical Security
Employee safety continued as a core focus with enhanced
measures for transportation process (24*7 operations). Security
measures in offshore locations enhanced with a tie up with
Central Industrial Security force of Indian government.
Proactive Anti-Fraud Initiatives
The control environment has been further strengthened during
the year with more automated controls. Failure modes were
comprehensively re-assessed and technology solutions were
explored and implemented to automate controls.
Code of Ethics for Sales Force
In addition to the generic training & annual certification on
code of business conduct and ethics for all employees, a case
study based supplementary program on code of ethics for sales
force was rolled out. 15 plus sessions were conducted globally
to cover majority of our sales force on topics including
regulations such as FCPA law, Data privacy etc.
Info Security & Business Continuity
Information Security Program at Wipro covers core areas such as
Physical Security, Data protection, Business continuity
planning, Intellectual Property, access control, regulatory
compliance and employee awareness. Focus areas for the year
included:
• Data protection reviews & compliance
•

Electronic training module launched for all employees on
information security & compliance.

•

Enhancing the Customer engagement - security
compliance by federated model of compliance

•

The Business continuity process was successfully invoked in
response to the Japan nuclear crisis

Oekom Research (Germany) ranked Wipro in the top most
position for its Information security compliance related to
management of customer data as part of its corporate
responsibility review report 2011.
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Alliance Risk Management
A Risk Management framework was deployed to assess the risks
in engagement with critical alliance partners. Key risk indicators
such as availability of alternates, financial stability, and delivery
performance were assessed and mitigated.
Awareness & Training
Role based training programs to enhance risk literacy covering
Intellectual property practices, information security
compliance, bid risk management, delivery risk management
were deployed. The coverage included training more than 90%
of our Project and Technical Managers on risk management
practices and more than 50% of all employees on information
security and compliance practices.

E. Outlook
We have followed a practice of providing only revenue
guidance for IT Services, our largest business segment. The
guidance is provided at the release of every quarterly earnings
when detailed Revenue outlook for the succeeding quarter is
shared. Over the years, the Company has performed in line with
quarterly Revenue guidance.

F. Internal Control Systems
We have presence across multiple countries, and a large
number of employees, suppliers and other partners collaborate
to provide solutions to our customer needs. Robust internal
controls and scalable processes are imperative to manage this
global scale of operations.
Our listing on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) provided us
an opportunity to get our independent auditors assess and
certify our internal controls primarily in the areas impacting
financial reporting. For the companies listed in the United
States of America, the Public Company Accounting Reform and
Investor Protection Act of 2002, more popularly known as the
Sarbanes–Oxley Act requires :
1. Management to establish, maintain, assess and report on
effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting
and;
2. Independent auditors to opine on effectiveness of internal
controls over financial reporting.

On April 27, 2011, along with our earnings release for
quarter ended March 31, 2011, we provided our most recent
quarterly guidance. Revenue from IT Services business for the
quarter ending June 30, 2011 is likely to be ranged between
USD 1,394-1,422 million*.

We adopted the COSO framework (Framework suggested by
Company of Sponsoring Trade way Organisation) for evaluating
internal controls. COSO identifies five layers of internal controls,
namely, Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control
Activity, Information and Communication and Monitoring.
Information Technology controls were documented, assessed
and tested under the COBIT framework.

* Guidance is based on the following exchange rates: GBP/USD
at 1.64, Euro/USD at 1.46, AUD/USD at 1.07, USD/INR at 44.29.

The entire evaluation of internal controls was carried out by a
central team reporting into the Chief Financial Officer.
We have obtained a clean and unqualified report from
our independent auditors on the effectiveness of our
internal controls.
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G. Human Resource

Compensation/People practices

In our IT Services and Products business, we had 122,385
employees, comprising 25,108 employees in BPO.

We have continued to develop innovative methods for
accessing and attracting skilled IT professionals. We partnered
with a leading Indian university to establish a program for on
the job training and a Masters degree in software engineering.
We believe that our ability to retain highly skilled personnel is
enhanced by our leadership position, opportunities to work
with leading edge technologies and focus on training and
compensation. Our efforts resulted in us being ranked #9 in the
Aon Hewitt India’s Best Employer Survey – the only IT company
in the Top 10 list.

Attrition for the year in our IT Services business (excluding BPO
operations, Indian IT operations and other overseas
subsidiaries) was 24.1% compared with 18.3% last year.
Voluntary attrition stood at 22.7% compared with
12.1% last year.

We have designed our compensation to attract and retain top
quality talent and motivate higher levels of performance.
Our compensation packages include a combination of salary,
stock options, pension, and health and disability insurance.
We have devised both business segment performance and
individual performance linked incentive programs that we
believe more accurately link performance to compensation for
each employee. We measure our compensation packages
against industry standards and seek to match or exceed
them. We periodically reward high performers with
ong-term incentives in the form of restricted stock units (RSU).
RSU is a powerful retention tool and aligns employees with the
long-term goals of the Company.
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Directors’
Report
Dear Shareholders,
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am happy to present the
65 th Directors’ Report of your Company along with the
Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended
March 31, 2011.
Financial Performance
Key aspects of consolidated financial performance for Wipro and
its group companies and standalone financial results for Wipro
Limited for the financial year 2010-11 are tabulated below:
(` in Mn)
Consolidated
Standalone
2010-11 2009-10 2010-11 2009-10
Sales and Other
income
Profit before Tax
Provision for Tax
Minority interest
and equity in
earnings/(losses) in
affiliates
Profit for the year*
Appropriations
Interim Dividend
Proposed Dividend
on equity shares
Corporate tax
on distributed
dividend
Transfer to General
Reserve
Balance retained
in Profit & Loss
account

316,938 276,505 269,038 237,887
62,348 55,095 57,055 56,888
9,695
9,163
8,618
7,908

271
52,924

378
46,310

48,437

48,980

4,908

-

4,908

-

9,818

8,809

9,818

8,809

2,204

1,283

2,204

1,283

4,844

36,218

4,844

38,888

31,150

-

26,663

-

* Profit for the year in standalone result is after ` 326 million
(March 2010: ` 4,534 million of gains/(losses) relating to changes
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in fair value of forward contracts designated as hedges of net
investment in non-integral foreign operations, translation
of foreign currency borrowings and changes in fair value of
related cross currency swaps together designated as hedges
of net investment in non-integral foreign operations. In the
consolidated Accounts, these are considered as hedges of
net investment in non-integral foreign operations and are
recognized directly in shareholders’ funds. (Refer note 6 on
page 112)
Global and Industry outlook
According to NASSCOM Strategic Review 2011, IT spend in
2011 is expected to grow about 4%. It is expected that in 2011,
there will be increased use of Cloud and Mobile Computing. IT
Services is expected to grow by about 3.5% in 2011 and 4.5% in
2012. Organisations will look for alternative IT models like Cloud,
On-demand Services, SaaS, etc, – in order to reduce hardware
infrastructure costs and achieve scalability on demand.
The Forrester US and Global IT market Outlook Q3, 201011 predicts that U.S. IT market will grow by 6.6% in 2011.
Companies are increasingly turning to Offshore Technology
Service providers in order to meet their needs for high quality,
cost competitive technology solutions. As a result, spending in
several IT categories is expected to expand.
Subsidiary Companies
The Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, has
granted a general exemption under section 212(8) of the
Companies Act, 1956 from the requirement to attach detailed
financial statements of each subsidiary. In compliance with
the exemption granted, we have presented in page 163 & 164
summary financial information for each subsidiary.
The detailed financial statements and audit reports of each of the
subsidiaries are available for inspection at the registered office of
the company during office hours between 11 am to 1 pm and
upon written request from a shareholder, your company will
arrange to send the financial statements of subsidiary companies
to the said shareholder.
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Corporate Governance & Corporate Social Responsibility

Our Sales for the current year grew by 15% to `. 316,938 million
and our Profit for the year was ` 52,924 million, recording an
increase of 14% over the previous year. Over the last 10 years, our
Sales and Profit after Tax have grown at a CAGR (compounded
annual growth rate) of 26% and 23% respectively.

Your company believes that Corporate Governance is the basis
of stakeholder satisfaction. Your company’s governance practices
are described separately in page 63 of this annual report. Your
company has obtained a certification from V. Sreedharan &
Associates, Company Secretaries on compliance with clause
49 of the listing agreement with Indian Stock Exchanges. This
certificate is given in page 92.

Dividend
Your Directors recommend a final Dividend of 200% (` 4/- per
equity share of ` 2/- each) to be appropriated from the profits of
the year 2010-11, subject to the approval of the shareholders at
the ensuing Annual General Meeting. The Dividend will be paid
in compliance with applicable regulations.
During the year 2010-11, unclaimed dividend of ` 1,37,605/was transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund,
as required under the Investor Education and Protection Fund
(Awareness and Protection of Investor) Rules, 2001.
Interim Dividend

With a view to strengthen the Corporate Governance
framework, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs has incorporated
certain provisions in the Companies Bill 2009. The Ministry of
Corporate Affairs has also issued a set of Voluntary Guidelines
on Corporate Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility
in December 2009 for adoption by companies. The Guidelines
broadly outline conditions for appointment of directors, guiding
principles to remunerate directors, responsibilities of the Board,
Risk Management, rotation of audit partners, audit firms and
conduct of secretarial audit and other Corporate Governance
and Corporate Social Responsibility related disclosures. Your
Company has by and large complied with various requirements
and is in the process of initiating appropriate action for other
applicable requirements.

Pursuant to the approval of Board of Directors on January 21,
2011, your company had distributed an interim dividend of
` 2/- per share, of face value of ` 2/- each, to shareholders, who
were on the Register of Members of the company as at closing
hours of January 28, 2011, being the record date fixed by the
Board of Directors for this purpose.

Corporate Governance is also related to Innovation and strategy
as the organization’s ideas of Innovation and strategies are driven
to enhance stakeholder satisfaction.

Issue of Bonus equity shares/American Depository Shares

Personnel

In terms of approval of the shareholders of the company through
Postal Ballot pursuant to Section 192 A(2) of the Companies
Act, 1956 read with the companies (Passing of the Resolutions by
Postal Ballot) on June 4, 2010, the Company had allotted Bonus
equity shares of ` 2/- each in the ratio of 2:3 (two bonus shares
for every three shares held) to the shareholders of the Company
who were on the Register of Members of the Company as on
June 16, 2010, being the Record Date fixed by the Board of the
Directors of the Company for this purpose.

The particulars of employees as required by Section 217 (2A) of
the Companies Act, 1956, read with the Companies (Particulars
of Employee) Rules, 1975 as amended have been provided as
Annexure ‘C’ to this report.

Mergers and Acquisitions
During the year, the Company re-structured a few of its
subsidiaries including overseas subsidiaries through merger/
other legal process.
Wipro Yardley Consumer Care Private Limited, a subsidiary
Company got merged with Wipro Limited w.e.f. April 1, 2010,
being the Appointed Date.
Investments in direct subsidiaries
During the year under review, your Company had invested
an aggregate of USD 34 Mn as equity in its direct subsidiaries
i.e. Wipro Cyprus Private Limited, Wipro Inc, Wipro Holdings
Mauritius Limited and Wipro Infrastructure Engineering
Machinery (Changzhou) Co., Ltd. Apart from this, your Company
had funded its subsidiaries, from time to time, as per the fund
requirements, through loans, guarantees and other means.
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Wipro Employee Stock Option Plans (WESOP) / Restricted
Stock Unit Plans
Information relating to stock options program of the Company
is provided as Annexure B of this report. The information is
being provided in compliance with Clause 12 of the Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme)
and (Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999, as
amended. No employee was issued Stock Option, during the year
equal to or exceeding 1% of the issued capital of the Company
at the time of grant.
Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgoings
During the year, your company has earned foreign exchange of
` 183,771 million and the outgoings in foreign exchange were
` 85,642 million, including outgoings on materials imported
and dividend.
Research and Development
Requirement under Rule 2 of Companies (Disclosure of particulars
in the report of Board of Directors) Rules, 1988 regarding Technical
Absorption and Research and Development in Form B is given in
Page 54 of the Annual Report, to the extent applicable.
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Conservation of Energy
The Company has taken several steps to conserve energy through
its “Eco Eye and Sustainability” initiatives disclosed separately as
part of this Annual Report. The information on Conservation
of Energy required under Section 217(1)(e) of the Companies
Act, 1956 read with Rule 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Particulars in the Report of Board of Directors) Rules, 1988 is
provided in Annexure A in page 53 of this annual report.
Directors:
(A) Appointment
1.

2.

Mr. T. K. Kurien was appointed as an Additional
Director of the Company with effect from
February 1, 2011 in accordance with Section 260 of
the Companies Act, 1956, by the Board of Directors
at its meeting held on January 21, 2011. Mr. T. K.
Kurien will hold office till the date of the Annual
General Meeting of the Company scheduled to be
held on July 19, 2011. The requisite notices together
with necessary deposits have been received from a
member pursuant to Section 257 of the Companies
Act, 1956 proposing the election of Mr. T.K. Kurien as
a Director of the Company. Accordingly, necessary
resolution has been included in the notice for calling
Annual General Meeting, for his appointment as
a Director (designated as CEO (IT Business) and
Executive Director).
Mr. M.K. Sharma was appointed as an Additional
Director of the Company in accordance with Section
260 of the Companies Act, 1956, by the Board of
Directors with effect from July 1, 2011. The Additional
Director would hold office till the date of Annual General
Meeting of the Company scheduled to be held on
July 19, 2011. The requisite notices together
with necessary deposits have been received
from a member pursuant to section 257 of the
Companies Act, 1956 proposing the election of
Mr. M. K. Sharma, as a Director.

(B) Re-appointment
Articles of Association of the Company provide that at least twothird of our Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation.
One third of these retiring Directors must retire from office at
each Annual General Meeting of the shareholders. A retiring
Director is eligible for reelection. Mr. Suresh C Senapaty, Mr
William Arthur Owens and Mr B C Prabhakar retire by rotation and
being eligible offer themselves for reappointment at the ensuing
Annual General Meeting. The Board Governance and Nomination
Committee have recommended their re-appointment for
consideration of the Shareholders.
Board of Directors vide circular resolution of June 15, 2011,
re-appointed Mr. Azim H Premji as Chairman and Managing
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Director of the Company (designated as “Chairman”) for a
further period of two years with effect from July 31, 2011. This
re-appointment is subject to the approval of the shareholders of
the Company at the ensuing Annual General Meeting.
(C) Cessation
During the year 2010-11 Mr. Girish S Paranjpe and Mr. Suresh
Vaswani resigned as Board members of the company with effect
from closure of business hours on January 31, 2011.
The Board places on record the valuable contributions of
Mr. Girish S Paranjpe and Mr. Suresh Vaswani during their tenure
as Directors of the Company.
Group
The names of the Promoters and entities comprising “group”
(and their shareholding) as defined under the Monopolies and
Restrictive Trade Practices (“MRTP”) Act, 1969 for the purposes
of Section 3(1)(e)(i) of SEBI (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and
Takeover) Regulations, 1997 include the following:
Sl.
No.
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

Name of the shareholder
Azim H Premji
Yasmeen A Premji
Rishad Azim Premji
Tariq Azim Premji
Mr. Azim Hasham Premji Partner
Representing Hasham Traders
Mr Azim Hasham Premji Partner
Representing Prazim Traders
Mr. Azim Hasham Premji Partner
Representing Zash Traders
Regal Investments & Trading Company
Pvt Ltd
Vidya Investment & Trading Company
Pvt Ltd
Napean Trading & Investment Company
Pvt Ltd
Azim Premji Foundation (I) Pvt. Ltd
Azim Premji Trust
Azim Premji Trustee Company Private
Limited
Azim Premji Foundation for
Development
Azim Premji Foundation
Azim Premji Trust Services Private
Limited
Azim Premji Safe Deposits Private
Limited
Azim Premji Custodial Services Private
Limited

No. of
shares
93,405,100
10,62,666
9,46,666
2,65,000
543,765,000
541,695,000
540,408,000
1,87,666
1,87,666
1,87,666
10,843,333
2,13,000,000
NIL
NIL
NIL
Nil
Nil
Nil
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis Report

a)

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis on Company’s
performance – industry trends and other material changes with
respect to the Company and its subsidiaries, wherever applicable,
are presented on pages 32 through 48 of this annual report.

In the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable
accounting standards have been followed and that no
material departures are made from the same;

b)

We have selected such accounting policies and applied
them consistently and made judgements and estimates
that are reasonable and prudent so as to give true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of
the financial year and of the profits of the Company for the
period;

c)

We have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance
of adequate accounting records in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 for safeguarding the
assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting
fraud and other irregularities; and

d)

We have prepared the annual accounts on a going concern
basis.

Re-appointment of Statutory Auditor
The auditors, M/s. BSR & Co., Chartered Accountants, retire at
the ensuing Annual General Meeting and have confirmed their
eligibility and willingness to accept office, if re-appointed. The
proposal for their re-appointment is included in the notice for
Annual General Meeting sent herewith.
Re-appointment of Cost Auditor
Pursuant to the direction from the Ministry of Corporate Affairs
for appointment of Cost Auditors, your Board of Directors has
re-appointed M/s. P.D. Dani & Co., Cost Accountants, as the Cost
Auditor for the year ended March 31, 2012.
The Cost Audit report for the year ended March 31, 2010 was
due on September 30, 2010 and was filed by the cost Auditor
on August 25, 2010.
Fixed Deposits
Your company has not accepted any fixed deposits. Hence, there
is no outstanding amount as on the Balance Sheet date.
Green Initiatives in Corporate Governance
Ministry of Corporate Affairs has recently permitted companies
to send electronic copies of Annual Report, notices etc., to the
e-mail IDs of shareholders. We have accordingly arranged to
send the soft copies of these documents to the e-mail IDs of
shareholders wherever applicable. In case any of the shareholder
would like to receive physical copies of these documents, the
same shall be forwarded on written request to the Registrars
M/s. Karvy Computer Share Private Limited.

Acknowledgements and Appreciation
Your Directors take this opportunity to thank the customers,
shareholders, suppliers, bankers, business partners/associates,
financial institutions and Central and State Governments for
their consistent support and encouragement to the Company.
I am sure you will join our Directors in conveying our sincere
appreciation to all employees of the Company for their hard
work and commitment. Their dedication and competence has
ensured that the Company continues be a significant and leading
player in the IT services industry.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Azim H. Premji,
Chairman

Directors’ Responsibility Statement
On behalf of the Directors I confirm that as required under
Section 217 (2AA) of the Companies Act, 1956.
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Annexure A forming part of the Directors’ Report
A.

DISCLOSURE OF PARTICULARS WITH RESPECT TO
CONSERVATION OF ENERGY
( Wipro Infrastructure Engineering Division)

ELECTRICITY
a.

2010-11

2009-10

Purchased

b.

Unit

KWH

8,528,328

5,683,709

Total Amount

`

46,194,564

30,024,982

Rate/Unit

`

5.42

5.28

Unit

KWH

1,080,430

824,978

Unit/Ltr. Of
Diesel
Cost per unit

Units

2.91

2.53

13.28

13.87

`

Ltrs.

Total Cost

`

Av. Rate

`

2009-10

3,149,110

4,546,900

102,419,666 120,679,932
32.52

26.54

741,751

697,410

Quantity

Kgs.

Total Cost

`

30,954,644

24,944,813

Av. Rate

`

41.73

35.77

108,642

107,623

H2 Gas
Quantity

CMT

Total Cost

`

3,547,283

3,670,983

Av. Rate

`

32.65

34.11

CONSUMPTION PER UNIT PRODUCTION
D.

( Wipro Infrastructure Engineering Division)
Hydraulic cylinder
2010-11
2009-10
C.

Electricity
(kwh/Cyl.)

Diesel
(Lts/Cyl.)

20.11
20.40

0.77
1.02

DISCLOSUREOF PARTICULARS WITH RESPECT TO
CONVERSATION OF ENERGY
( Wipro Consumer Care Division)

Electricity

b

Quantity FO

2010-11

LPG & Propane

Own Generation through DG

B.

a

Furnace Oil

CONSUMPTION PER UNIT PRODUCTION
( Wipro Consumer Care Division)
Liquid Diesel Oil
Vanaspati
Electricity
(KWH/ Tonne)
(Litres / Tonne)
ACT
STD

2010/11

132.38

109

NA

2009/10

130.53

109

NA

General Lighting
System

Electricity
(KWH/ 000 nos.)
ACT
STD

2010-11 2009 - 2010

Purchased
Unit

KWH

19,857,756

18,104,719

Total Amount

`

98,858,732

81,983,935

Rate/unit

`

4.98

4.53

Own generation
Through Diesel
Generator
Unit

KWH

1,961,637

1,047,006

Unit/litre of diesel

Units

3.14

3.15

Cost per unit

`

12.25

10.90

Quantity

Tones

1,843

2,594

Total Cost

`

10,184,851

12,115,327

Av. Rate

`

5,528

4,671

Liquid Diesel Oil
(Litres / 000 nos.)
ACT
STD

2010/11

14.04

16.00

0.36

-

2009/10

14.72

16.00

0.37

-

Flourescent Tube
Light

Electricity
(KWH/ 000 nos.)
ACT
STD

2010/11

107.55

129.00

5.19

-

2009/10

135.20

136.00

3.79

-

Liquid Diesel Oil
(Litres / 000 nos.)
ACT
STD

Coal
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FORM B
Wipro’s R&D Activities: 2010-11
Wipro’s R&D focus is to strengthen the portfolio of Applied
Research, Centers of Excellence (CoE), Solution Accelerators and
Software Engineering Tools & Methodologies.
Applied Research
Your Company’s activities in Applied Research are focused
around Content Analytics and E-discovery. Investment in
Applied Research has helped in collaboration with academic
institutes like Georgia Tech for Enterprise Software Infrastructure
performance in the cloud and IIIT-B in the space of social
analytics. Your Company has filed invention disclosures in the
area of query processing incubated solutions of E-discover and
made publications in ACM.
Your Company’s researchers were actively involved in
Government committees to integrate Rupee sign into ICT
environments. Rupee symbol is incorporated into personal
computers and first keyboard was created with the Indian
Rupee symbol.
Your Company has entered into a joint collaboration agreement
with Imec, a leading research institution from Belgium, world
leader in Applied Research in Semiconductor and Nano
technology in March 2011. The joint team being set up at Wipro’s
campus in Bangalore will develop IPs targeted for products and
solutions based on MEMS based smart sensors for emerging
market need.
Centers of Excellence (CoE)
The goal of a CoE is to create competencies in emerging areas of
technologies and industry domain and incubate new practices
for business growth. In order to enhance focus, few technologies
are driven centrally as Theme initiatives. For FY 2010-11, the
technology themes identified were Cloud Computing, Green
IT, Social Computing, Information Management, Mobility,
Collaboration and Open Source. Investments in Technology
Themes have resulted in creation of several new services
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like Cloud SI Services, Cloud Originator Services in areas of
Mortgage Processing and Green Consulting. We have established
partnerships with leading technology platform providers like
Microsoft, Cisco, EMC, HP, Oracle, Amazon, Salesforce, etc.
Solution Accelerators
Your Company continued to invest in Reusable IP’s/Solution
Accelerators (components, tools, frameworks) which help in
accelerating the implementation of Solutions in customer
engagements. Your Company has integrated various accelerator
assets to create integrated stacks and solution.
Sample examples of integrated stack and solutions and business
platforms are the Wipro Cloud Stack, Digital Marketing Platform
and Enterprise Grade Smart Meters, Telco in a Box, Oracle based
Clinical Trials solutions.
Software Engineering Tools & Methodologies
Your Company continued to invest in in-house development of
Software Engineering tools to improve productivity and Quality;
Examples include Wipro Style, Wipro Accelerator , Wipro Unit Test
and Wipro Code Checker and Deepcheck. These tools have been
widely deployed across projects in your Company.
Your Company continued investment in developing an approach
for Flex Shared Delivery with innovative solution for effective
queue and capacity management for reduced cost.
Your Company has developed an in-house KEDB (Known Error
Data Base) Tool that will help in faster ticket resolution in
Managed Services projects.
Patents
In FY 2010-11, your Company had filed for 7 new patents and
from the previous filings, 6 patents have been granted.
Expenditure on R&D
During the year under review, your company incurred an
expenditure of ` 1,656 million including capital expenditure in
continued development of R& D activities.
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Options/RSUs grants approved during
the year
Pricing formula

2

9

8

7

4
5
6

Options Vested during the year
Options exercised during the year
Total number of shares arising as a
result of exercise of option (as of March
31, 2011)
Options lapsed/forfeited during the
year *
Variation of terms of options upto
March 31, 2011
Money realised by exercise of options
during the year (Rs.)

Total Number of options under the
Plan

1

3

Description

Sl.
No.

Fair market
value i.e. the
market price
as defined by
the Securities
and Exchange
Board of India

23,472,000

-

-

121,606

80,000
80,000

-

-

-

Fair market value
i.e. the market
price as defined
by the Securities
and Exchange
Board of India

WESOP 2000

-

-

-

-

-

3,236,185

-

111,960

921,477
1,618,092
1,618,092

Exercise price Face value of
being not less the share
than 90% of
the market
price on the
date of grant

ADS 2000
Wipro
Stock Option Restricted
Plan
Stock Unit
Plan 2004
15,000,000
50,000,000
250,000,000
20,000,000
(Adjusted for the ADS
(Adjusted for
(Adjusted for
the issue of
issue of bonus
representing the issue of
bonus shares in shares in the
15,000,000
bonus shares
the years 2004, years 2004, 2005 underlying
of the years
2005 and 2010) and 2010)
equity shares 2004, 2005
(Adjusted for and 2010)
the issue fo
bonus shares
of the years
2004, 2005
and 2010)
1,352,480

WESOP 1999

7,728,235

-

646,488

5,519,756
3,864,118
3,864,118

Face value of
the share

1,741,244

-

233,715

1,073,312
870,622
870,622

Face value of
the share

ADS
Restricted
Stock Unit
Plan 2004
20,000,000
ADS
representing
20,000,000
underlying
equity shares
(Adjusted for
the issue of
bonus shares
of the years
2004. 2005
and 2010)
3,390,840
84,580

Wipro
Restricted
Stock Unit
Plan 2005
20,000,000
(Adjusted for
the issue of
bonus shares
of the year
2005 and
2010)

-

-

-

73,950

Face value of
the share

1,837,030

Wipro
Restricted
Stock Unit
Plan 2007
16,666,667
(Adjusted for
the issue fo
bonus shares
of the year
2010

DISCLOSURE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE CLAUSE 12 OF THE SEBI (EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION SCHEME) AND (EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE SCHEME) GUIDELINES 1999,
AS AMENDED

Annexure B
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Total number of options in options in
force at the end of the year (granted,
vested and unexercised/unvested and
unexercised
Employee wise details of options
granted to :
i. Senior Management during the year
a. Suresh Vaswani
b. Girish Paranjpe
c. T K Kurien
d. S Deb
e. Pratik Kumar
f. Vineet Agrawal
g. Martha Bejar
ii. Employees holding 5% or more
of the total number of options
granted during the year
iii. Identified employees who were
granted option, during any one
year, equal to or exceeding 1%
of the issued capital (excluding
outstanding warrants and
conversions) of the Company at
the time of grant
Diluted Earning per Share pursuant
to issue of shares on exercise of
option calculated in accordance with
Accounting Standard (AS ) 20

10

12

11

Description

Sl.
No.

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil

19.78

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil

19.78

19.78

Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

-

19.78

Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

-

ADS 2000
Wipro
Stock Option Restricted
Plan
Stock Unit
Plan 2004
3,231,032

-

-

WESOP 2000

-

WESOP 1999

19.78

Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

-

Wipro
Restricted
Stock Unit
Plan 2005
10,361,519

19.78

Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
16,600
Nil

-

ADS
Restricted
Stock Unit
Plan 2004
3,223,892

19.78

Nil

50,000
50,000
30,000
18,000
30,000
40,000
Nil
Nil

-

Wipro
Restricted
Stock Unit
Plan 2007
1,790,210
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Description

WESOP 1999

WESOP 2000

ADS 2000
Wipro
Wipro
ADS
Wipro
Stock Option Restricted
Restricted
Restricted
Restricted
Plan
Stock Unit
Stock Unit
Stock Unit
Stock Unit
Plan 2004
Plan 2005
Plan 2004
Plan 2007
13
Where the Company has calculated
Not applicable Not applicable
Since these
Since these
Since these
Not
Since these
the employees compensation cost
as there were
as there were no applicable as options were options were options were options were
using the instrinsic value of the stock
granted at
granted at
no grants
grants during
there were no granted at
granted at
opitons, the difference between
a nominal
a nominal
during the year the year under
grants during a nominal
a nominal
the employee compensation cost
exercise
exercise
under this Plan this Plan
the year
exercise
exercise
so computed and the employee
under this
price, intrinsic price, intrinsic price, intrinsic price, intrinsic
compensation cost that shall have
Plan
value on the value on the
value on the value on the
been recognised if it had used the fair
date of grant date of grant date of grant date of grant
vaule of the options. The impact of this
approximates approximates approximates approximates
difference on profits and on EPS of the
the fair value the fair value the fair value the fair value
of options
Company
of options
of options
of options
Not
Exercise price Exercise price Exercise
Exercise price
Not applicable Not applicable
14
Weighted average exercise prices
as there were
as there were no applicable as Rs. 2/- per
Rs. 2/- per
price Rs. 2/Rs. 2/- per
and weighted average fair values of
there were no option. Fair
per option.
option. Fair
grants during
option. Fair
options separately for options whose no grants
exercise price either equals or exceeds during the year the year under
grants during value Rs.
value Rs.
Fair value $
value Rs.
or is less than the market prices of the under this Plan this Plan
the year
480.20/- as
480.20/- as
14.65/- as on 480.20/- as
stock
under this
on March 31, on March 31, March 31,
on March 31,
2011
Plan
2011
2011
2011
15
A description of method and
significant assumptions used durng
the year to estimate the fiar values
of options, including the following
weighted average information:
Since these
Not applicable Not applicable
Not
Since these
Since these
Since these
(a) risk free interest rate
as there were
as there were no applicable as options were options were options were options were
(b) expected life
no grants
grants during
granted at
granted at
granted at
there were no granted at
(c ) expected volatility
a nominal
during the year the year under
grants during a nominal
a nominal
a nominal
(d) expected dividends and
exercise
exercise
(e) the price fo the underlying share under this Plan this Plan
the year
exercise
exercise
in market at the time of option
under this
price, intrinsic price, intrinsic price, intrinsic price, intrinsic
grant
value on the value on the
Plan
value on the value on the
date of grant date of grant date of grant date of grant
approximatels approximatels approximatels approximatels
the fair value the fair value the fair value the fair value
of options
of options
of options
of options
* As per the Plan, Options/RSUs lapse only on termination of the Plan. If an Option/RSU, expires or becomes unexercisable without having been exercised in full,
such options shall become available for future grant under the Plan.

Sl.
No.
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Anil Chugh
Anil K Jain

Anurag Behar

Anurag Mehrotra

Ashutosh Vaidya

Badiga L K

Bhanumurthy B M

Dayapatra Nevatia

6
7

8

9

10

11

12

13

Dr.Anurag Srivastava

Anand Sankaran

5

15

Ajoy Menon
Amitava Sharma

3
4

Deepak Jain

Achuthan Nair

2

14

Abhijit Bhaduri

Name

1

Sl.
No.

15/12/2000

21/03/1986

15/02/1993

03/09/1992

29/10/1990

17/01/1962

02/01/2001

20/05/2002

19/04/1999
10/04/1989

26/06/1989

21/02/2000
17/05/1999

29/04/1991

01/10/2009

Date of Joining

12,965,652 Senior Vice
PresidentRetail,CPG&
Distribution
6,961,224 Vice President &
Vertical Head-Energy
8,400,529 Senior Vice President
& Global Head - TIS
6,604,122 Chief Technology
Officer

15,051,737 Chief Information
Officer

9,600,301 Sr. Vice President &
Business Head
8,670,880 Sr.Vice President
8,036,391 Sr. Vice President
& Business HeadGlobal Communic
6,568,273 Chief Sustainablity
Officer
6,878,649 Vice President
and Head Client
Relationship Group
9,626,423 Head Wipro BPO

Remuneration
Designation
(`)
9,078,418 Chief Learning
Officer & Head CHRD
6,336,844 Vice - President-&
Business Head
6,072,872 Vice - President
6,054,140 Vice - President

BTech, MTech, PHD

BE

MTech, Btech

PGDM, Btech

MTech, BE

BE

BE

BE, MBA

B.Tech, MMS
BE, MBA

BE

B.A, PGDM,
MBA, BE

PGDBM, BE

MBA

Qualification

19

24

17

24

31

24

24

14

20
21

21

16
20

19

26

Experience

43

45

41

46

55

49

47

43

45
46

42

39
42

44

51

Age

Evizeon

Raba Contel .P. Ltd/

First Employment

HP GLOBALSOFT
LTD
Alghmin
Communicatin
Services, Kuwait
CMC

Wipro GE Medical
Systems
Informix
International

Gillette
Org Systems

Hindustan
Petroleum
First Employment
Pricewaterhouse
Coop
Pertech Computers

Microsoft Corp

Last Employment

Particulars of Employees forming part of the Director’s Report for the year ended March 31, 2011 Information pursuant to Section 217(2A)(b)(ii) of the Companies
Act, 1956 and the Companies (Particulars of Employees) Rules,1975.
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Gangadharaiah C P

Hariprasad Hegde

Harish J Shah

Harsh Bhatia
Harsha Lal

Hoshedar Contractor
Jagdish Ramaswamy
Kenny Kesar

Keyur Maniar

Kumudha Sridharan

Lakshminarayana K R

Madhavan S

Madhu Khatri

Manish Dugar

Moiz H Vaswadawala

Nagamani Murthy
Padmanabha K N

Pavan Kumar Goyal

Pawan Kumar S

17

18

19
20

21
22
23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31
32

33

34

Name

Sl.
No.
16

18/08/1994

04/01/1991

01/07/1991
01/08/1982

06/03/1993

01/04/2002

15/03/2005

15/09/1994

03/07/1995

31/05/1995

16/02/1970

01/02/1961
28/02/2003
27/12/2006

14/01/1966
08/01/2007

18/02/1991

01/01/2005

16/02/1995

Date of Joining

6,112,685 General Manager
and Business Head Datacenter and
7,563,872 Vice - President-PES
6,342,632 Vice President - Truck
Hydraulics
7,210,006 Vice - PresidentTechnology Vertical
6,346,483 Vice - PresidentDW & BI Practice eEnabling Grou

6,812,424 Vice - PresidentTesting Services
10,784,363 Chief Strategy
Officer-IT Business
8,949,092 Vice - PresidentSolution Definition
14,300,231 Senior Vice President
& General Counsel
9,648,978 Senior Vice President

Remuneration
Designation
(`)
10,118,669 Senior Vice
President-Testing
Services
6,267,522 VP and BU Head Wipro Water
12,242,812 Sr VP and Global
Operations Head
6,834,109 Vice President
7,263,585 Vice PresidentBusiness Head Microsoft
7,508,060 Vertical Head
7,944,667 Chief Quality Officer
6,877,467 Vice - PresidentInformation Systems
6,217,259 Vertical Head

BE

17

21

25
34

BE
MTech, BE,PUC
M.BA.,B.SC.

21

21

LLB,B.A,LLM

15

23

BTech,B.SC.

C A ,ICS ACCOUNTS
MBA
Diploma

14

24

16

22
25
19

23
23

30

27

33

Experience

B COM,ICWA,PGD

BE

BE , MBA, Diploma

B Com
BE, Diploma
BE

B.SC., SSC,
BTech, PGDM

PG Diploma, BTech,
B.SC.
Others, ICWA, B COM

BE, ME, M.Sc.

Qualification

40

44

49
59

44

38

46

46

43

46

41

50
46
41

45
49

53

50

57

Age

Beml

Texas Instruments
Bharath Electronics
ltd. Bangalore
First Employment

Tamimi Adv/
Technolo

Reckitt Benckiser

General Electric

Cmc

First Employment

Capital One
Financial
ITI Ltd.

KLM/NW Airlines
Tyco Health Care
GE Healthcare

Satyam Computer
Services Limited
National Textiles
Corpn Ltd.,
DakSH
Sun Microsystems
Inc

ITI Ltd.

Last Employment
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Pratik Kumar

Premji A H

Puneet Chandra
Rajat Mathur

Rajeev Mendiratta

Rajesh Ram Mishra

Ramakanth Desai

Ramakrishnan R

Ramesh Nagarajan

Ramit Sethi
Richa Tripathi

Rishad Premji

37

38

39
40

41

42

43

44

45

46
47

48

Sairaman Jagannathan

Prasenjit Saha

36

49

Prasanna G.K.

Name

Sl.
No.
35

29/08/2001

20/07/2007

23/10/2006
30/09/1966

24/10/2000

29/11/1990

12/08/1992

06/05/1988

23/08/2002

10/02/1962
15/11/1985

17/08/1966

04/11/1991

05/06/1997

01/10/2000

Date of Joining

5,043,997 Chief Strategy
Officer - IT Business
6,162,651 Vice PresidentBusiness Solutions
Division

8,883,987 Senior Vice
President-strategic
clients
6,912,277 Vice - PresidentHitech & Consumer
Electronics
7,695,590 COO FS and E
enabling
8,332,027 Sr. Vice President
6,558,534 TED Head

7,520,012 Vice President
8,820,188 Chief Sales and
Operations OfficerANZ & ASEAN
7,676,809 Senior Practice
Partner-Process
Excellence
7,332,626 Vice - President-PES

Remuneration
Designation
(`)
13,251,135 Senior Vice
PresidentTechnology
6,647,565 Vice - PresidentEnterprise Security
Services
16,564,467 Executive Vice
President - Human
Resources
54,639,256 Chairman - Wipro Ltd

BE

B.A,MBA

B COM,ACA,
MBA

27

12

5
19

22

24

ICWA,B COM

ME

25

25

16

27
24

44

21

18

26

Experience

Btech

BTech,Mtech

BTech

General Engineering
.Stanford.
ACA,BA ,SSC
BE,MBA

B.A, MBA

Btech

PGD,Btech

Qualification

51

33

48
45

44

46

46

47

37

49
49

65

44

40

50

Age

Mascot Systems

Not Avaliable
Dusk Valley
Technology
BAIN & CO

First Employment

EID Parry

International Sw
Ind
Tata Unisys

GE India

Promoter, First
Employment
CYGNET SYSTEMS
Horizon Mktg &
Serv

TVS Electronics
Limited

ABB Limited

Microland ltd

Last Employment

Wipro Limited
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Sambuddha Deb

Sangita Singh

Sanjeev Bhatia

Sanjiv K R

Saurabh Govil

Selvan D

Siby Abraham

Soumitro Ghosh

Srijit Rajappan
Srinivas Pallia

Srinivasan P V

Sriram Srinivasan

Subhash Khare

Subrahmanyam P

Suresh B

Suresh C Senapaty

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58
59

60

61

62

63

64

65

Name

Sl.
No.
50

10/04/1980

22/05/1989

08/11/1983

03/10/1990

10/04/1989

06/02/1997

15/10/1966
01/02/1992

26/11/1988

16/02/1987

05/09/1992

11/05/2009

16/11/1988

01/01/1964

01/08/1992

29/06/1982

Date of Joining

8,820,921 Senior Vice
President-Business
Technologies
Services
10,816,946 Senior Vice President
- Human Resources
8,251,771 Senior Vice
President-Talent
Transformation
7,212,877 Vice President &
SDH-PES
14,003,016 Senior Vice
President-Finance
Solutions
6,576,747 Vice President
6,843,017 Senior Vice
President-BTS(ES)
11,526,899 Senior Vice President
- Corporate Taxation
10,025,900 Senior Vice
President-Banking
8,519,502 Vice - PresidentTalent Engagement
& Development
9,028,106 Senior Vice
President-Telecom
7,161,511 Vice - PresidentManufacturing
23,758,693 Executive Director
& CFO

Remuneration
Designation
(`)
16,026,711 Executive Vice
President-& Chief
Global Delivery
Officer
12,463,865 Senior Vice
President-EAS
6,021,033 Vice President

23

Mtech,Btech

B Com, FCA

ME,BE

30

23

26

26

BE

MSc,MPHIL,B.SC.

24

26

21
19

MBA

CA

B Com
BTech,MTech,

27

24

PGDM,Btech

BTech,MBA

20

23

20

18

27

Experience

B Sc, PGDM-PM&IR

MMS

BA

BE

PGDM,Btech

Qualification

53

46

49

50

45

50

44
44

49

46

48

44

46

47

40

52

Age

Lovelock & Lewis

First Employment

First Employment

Telco

Sundaram
Fasteners Ltd
Reckit Coleman

Stream Tracmail
First Employment

Blue Star Ltd

First Employment

Niit Ltd

GE

Igate Global
Solutions
Dcm Daewoo

HCL Limited

First Employment

Last Employment
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Venkatesh V R

Vijayakumar I

72

73

Vice President
Joint CEO-IT Business
Vice President
Vice - PresidentTalent Aquisition
89,736,272 Joint CEO-IT Business
7,707,907 Senior Vice President
- Corporate Internal
Audit

3,631,017
88,753,331
3,232,292
5,579,670

Remuneration
Designation
(`)
8,539,026 Vice PresidentCommunication &
Media
17,928,434 CEO-IT Business
6,402,869 Vertical Head
10,057,274 Senior Vice President
- Global DeliveryInfrastucture
Services
6,627,156 Chief Marketing
Officer
10,357,028 Vice President - VLSI
/ Systems Design
12,010,279 Senior Vice
President-Product
Engineering Services
8,960,377 Chief Technology
Officer
17,857,177 President

BTech,PG Diploma
B COM,C A

PGDM
ICWA, B COM.
MBA
BE

B Tech

26
32

17
26
16
20

25

22

26

MTech,MSc,B.SC.

BE,B.SC.

24

17

28
13
30

21

Experience

MTech,BE

B Tech, MBA

BE,C A
MBA
BE

PGDBM,BE

Qualification

51
57

40
53
39
43

49

45

50

48

43

50
45
54

45

Age

Skefco
Union Carbide

Trivium Systems
Wimco Ltd
Genpact
Ramco Systems

First Employment

Indchem

Vikrant

Godrej Consumer
Care
First Employment

Compaq

GE

Rpg Cellular
Services Ltd.

Last Employment

Notes:
1. Remuneration comprises of salary, commission, peformance based paymets, allowance, medical, perquisite and company’s contribution to PF and superannuation.
2. Rishad Pemji is a relative of the Chairman and Managing Dircector as per the definition of “relative” under the Companies Act, 1956.
3. The nature of employment is contractual in all the above cases.
4. In terms of the Notification dated March 31, 2011 dated by Ministry of Corporate Affairs, employees posted and working in a country outside India, not being
Directors or their relatives have not been included in the above statement.
5. None of the employees except the Chairman holds 2% or more of the paid up equity share capital of the Company.

Suresh Vaswani
V S Padmanabhan

04/12/1985

16/07/1990

22/03/1984

31/03/1986

02/05/1985
09/11/1994

Vasudevan A

71

29/01/2010

5
6

V.Suresh

70

11/02/2000
25/07/1966
05/07/2002

04/10/2010
23/07/1990
04/10/2010
19/06/1997

T K Kurien
Tapan D Bhat
Thandava Murthy T D

67
68
69

01/03/2000

Date of Joining

74
Vineet Agrawal
Part of the year
1
Biplab Adhya
2
Girish S Paranjpe
3
Mohd Ehteshamul Haque
4
Pradeep Bhairwani

Suryanarayana Valluri

Name

Sl.
No.
66

Corporate
Governance
Report
The Spirit of Wipro represents the core values of Wipro. The three
values encapsulated in the Spirit of Wipro are:
Intensity to Win
t

.BLFDVTUPNFSTTVDDFTTGVM

t

5FBN JOOPWBUFBOEFYDFM

Act with Sensitivity

'PSUIPTFPGZPV XIPDBOOPUNBLFJUUPUIFNFFUJOH QMFBTF
SFNFNCFSUIBUZPVDBOBQQPJOUBQSPYZUPSFQSFTFOUZPVBUUIF
NFFUJOH'PSUIJTZPVOFFEUPöMMBQSPYZGPSNBOETFOEJUUPVT
5IFMBTUEBUFGPSSFDFJQUPGQSPYZGPSNTCZVTJT+VMZ  
CFGPSFQN
Annual General Meetings and other General Body meeting of
the last three years and Special Resolutions, if any.

Unyielding Integrity

'PSUIFZFBS2007-08,XFIBEPVS"OOVBM(FOFSBM.FFUJOHPO
+VMZ  BU1.5IFNFFUJOHXBTIFMEBU8JQSP$BNQVT 
$BGFUFSJB)BMM&$ (SPVOE'MPPS 0QQ5PXFS /P ,FPOJDT
&MFDUSPOJD$JUZ )PTVS3PBE #BOHBMPSFo5IFGPMMPXJOH
GPVSSFTPMVUJPOTXFSFQBTTFE MBTUPOFXBT4QFDJBM3FTPMVUJPO 

t

%FMJWFSJOHPODPNNJUNFOUT

t

t

)POFTUZBOEGBJSOFTTJOBDUJPO

"QQPJOUNFOUPG.S4VSFTI$4FOBQBUZBT%JSFDUPSPGUIF
$PNQBOZBOEQBZNFOUPGSFNVOFSBUJPO

5IJT IBT CFFO BSUJDVMBUFE UISPVHI UIF $PNQBOZT $PEF PG
#VTJOFTT$POEVDUBOE&UIJDT $PSQPSBUF(PWFSOBODFHVJEFMJOFT 
DIBSUFSTPGWBSJPVTTVCDPNNJUUFFTPGUIF#PBSEBOE$PNQBOZT
%JTDMPTVSFQPMJDJFT5IFTFQPMJDJFTTFFLUPGPDVTPOFOIBODFNFOU
PGMPOHUFSNTIBSFIPMEFSWBMVFXJUIPVUDPNQSPNJTJOHPO&UIJDBM
4UBOEBSETBOE$PSQPSBUF4PDJBM3FTQPOTJCJMJUJFT5IFTFQSBDUJDFT
GPSNBOJOUFHSBMQBSUPGUIF$PNQBOZTPQFSBUJOHQMBOT

t

"QQPJOUNFOU PG .S (JSJTI 4 1BSBOKQF BT %JSFDUPS PG UIF
$PNQBOZBOEQBZNFOUPGSFNVOFSBUJPO

t

"QQPJOUNFOU PG .S 4VSFTI7BTXBOJ BT %JSFDUPS PG UIF
$PNQBOZBOEQBZNFOUPGSFNVOFSBUJPO

t

"NFOENFOUUP"SUJDMFTPG"TTPDJBUJPOGPSJODSFBTFJOUIF
OVNCFSPGEJSFDUPST

$PSQPSBUF(PWFSOBODFQIJMPTPQIZJTQVUJOUPQSBDUJDFBU8JQSP
UISPVHIUIFGPMMPXJOHGPVSMBZFST OBNFMZ

t

3FTQFDUGPSUIFJOEJWJEVBM

t

5IPVHIUGVMBOESFTQPOTJCMF



(PWFSOBODFCZ4IBSFIPMEFST



(PWFSOBODFCZ#PBSEPG%JSFDUPST

'PSUIFZFBS2008-09 XFIBEPVS"OOVBM(FOFSBM.FFUJOHPO
+VMZ  BU1.5IFNFFUJOHXBTIFMEBU8JQSP$BNQVT 
$BGFUFSJB)BMM&$ (SPVOE'MPPS 0QQ5PXFS /P ,FPOJDT
&MFDUSPOJD$JUZ )PTVS3PBE #BOHBMPSFo5IFGPMMPXJOH
SFTPMVUJPOXBTQBTTFE



(PWFSOBODFCZ4VCDPNNJUUFFPG#PBSEPG%JSFDUPST BOE

t



(PWFSOBODFPGUIFNBOBHFNFOUQSPDFTT

3FBQQPJOUNFOU PG .S "[JN ) 1SFNKJ BT $IBJSNBO BOE
.BOBHJOH%JSFDUPSPGUIF$PNQBOZBTXFMMBTUIFQBZNFOU
PGTBMBSZ DPNNJTTJPOBOEQFSRVJTJUFT

t

0O UIF TBNF EBUF BU UIF TBNF WFOVF XF IBE B Court
Convened Extraordinary General Meeting*OUIJTNFFUJOH
UIFTDIFNFPG"NBMHBNBUJPOPG*OEJBOCSBODIPóDFTPG
8JQSP/FUXPSLT1UF-UE 4JOHBQPSFBOE8./FUTFSW-JNJUFE 
$ZQSVTXJUI8JQSP-JNJUFEXBTUBLFOVQ

FIRST LAYER: GOVERNANCE BY SHAREHOLDERS
Annual General Meeting
"OOVBM (FOFSBM NFFUJOH GPS UIF ZFBS  JT TDIFEVMFE
PO5VFTEBZ  July 19, 2011, at 4.30 PM5IF NFFUJOH XJMM CF
conducted at Wipro campus, Cafeteria Hall, EC-3, Ground
Floor, Opp. Tower 8, No.72, Keonics Electronics city, Hosur
Road, Bangalore 561 229.

Wipro Limited

'PSUIFZFBS2009-10 XFIBEPVS"OOVBM(FOFSBM.FFUJOHPO
+VMZ  BU1.5IFNFFUJOHXBTIFMEBU8JQSP$BNQVT 
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$BGFUFSJB)BMM&$ (SPVOE'MPPS 0QQ5PXFS /P ,FPOJDT
&MFDUSPOJD$JUZ )PTVS3PBE #BOHBMPSFo5IFGPMMPXJOH
SFTPMVUJPOTXFSFQBTTFE MBTUPOFCFJOHTQFDJBMSFTPMVUJPO 
t

"QQPJOUNFOUPG%S)FOOJOH,BHFSNBOOBTB%JSFDUPS

t
t

"QQPJOUNFOUPG.S4IZBN4BSBOBTB%JSFDUPS
3FBQQPJOUNFOUPG.S3JTIBE1SFNKJVOEFS4FDUJPO # 
GPSIPMEJOHPóDFPSQMBDFPGQSPöU

Financial Calendar
0VSUFOUBUJWFDBMFOEBSGPSEFDMBSBUJPOPGSFTVMUTGPSUIFöOBODJBM
ZFBSJTBTHJWFOCFMPX
Table 01: Calendar for Reporting
Quarter ending
'PS UIF RVBSUFS FOEJOH +VOF
 
'PS UIF RVBSUFS BOE IBMG ZFBS
FOEJOH4FQUFNCFS 
'PSUIFRVBSUFSBOEOJOFNPOUI
FOEJOH%FDFNCFS 
'PS UIF ZFBS FOEJOH .BSDI
 

Release of results
'PVSUIXFFLPG+VMZ
'PVSUIXFFLPG0DUPCFS
5IJSEXFFLPG+BOVBSZ
'PVSUIXFFLPG"QSJM

JJ  *O SFTQFDU PG TIBSFT IFME JO FMFDUSPOJD GPSN  UP UIPTF
iEFFNFENFNCFSTwXIPTFOBNFTBQQFBSJOUIFTUBUFNFOUT
PGCFOFöDJBMPXOFSTIJQGVSOJTIFECZ/BUJPOBM4FDVSJUJFT
%FQPTJUPSZ -JNJUFE /4%-  BOE $FOUSBM %FQPTJUPSZ
4FSWJDFT *OEJB -JNJUFE $%4- BTBUUIFPQFOJOHIPVSTPO
+VMZ 
National ECS facility
"T QFS 3#* OPUJöDBUJPO  XJUI FòFDU GSPN 0DUPCFS     UIF
SFNJUUBODF PG NPOFZ UISPVHI &$4 JT SFQMBDFE CZ /BUJPOBM
&MFDUSPOJD DMFBSJOH 4FSWJDFT /&$4  BOE CBOLT IBWF CFFO
JOTUSVDUFEUPNPWFUPUIF/&$4QMBUGPSN
/&$4FTTFOUJBMMZPQFSBUFTPOUIFOFXBOEVOJRVFCBOLBDDPVOU
OVNCFS BMMPUUFECZCBOLTQPTUJNQMFNFOUBUJPOPG$PSF#BOLJOH
4PMVUJPOT $#4 GPSDFOUSBMJ[FEQSPDFTTJOHPGJOXBSEJOTUSVDUJPOT
BOEFóDJFODZJOIBOEMJOHCVMLUSBOTBDUJPO
*OUIJTSFHBSE TIBSFIPMEFSTIPMEJOHTIBSFTJOFMFDUSPOJDGPSN
BSFSFRVFTUFEUPGVSOJTIUIFOFXEJHJU#BOL"DDPVOU/VNCFS
BMMPUUFE UP ZPV CZ ZPVS CBOL BGUFS JNQMFNFOUBUJPO PG $#4 
BMPOHXJUIQIPUPDPQZPGBDIFRVFQFSUBJOJOHUPUIFDPODFSOFE
BDDPVOU UPZPVS%FQPTJUPSZ1BSUJDJQBOU %1 1MFBTFTFOEUIFTF
EFUBJMT UP UIF $PNQBOZ3FHJTUSBST  JG UIF TIBSFT BSF IFME JO
QIZTJDBMGPSN JNNFEJBUFMZ

In addition, the Board may meet on other dates if there are
special requirements.

*G ZPVS CBOL QBSUJDVMBST IBWF DIBOHFE GPS BOZ SFBTPO  QMFBTF
BSSBOHFUPSFHJTUFSUIF/&$4XJUIUIFSFWJTFECBOLQBSUJDVMBST

Interim Dividend

5IF $PNQBOZ XJMM VTF UIF /&$4 NBOEBUF GPS SFNJUUBODF PG
EJWJEFOEFJUIFSUISPVHI/&$4PSPUIFSFMFDUSPOJDNPEFTGBJMJOH
XIJDIUIFCBOLEFUBJMTBWBJMBCMFXJUI%FQPTJUPSZ1BSUJDJQBOUXJMM
CFQSJOUFEPOUIFEJWJEFOEXBSSBOU"MMUIFBSSBOHFNFOUTBSF
TVCKFDUUP3#*HVJEFMJOFT JTTVFEGSPNUJNFUPUJNF

:PVS #PBSE PG %JSFDUPST EFDMBSFE BO *OUFSJN %JWJEFOE PG
`  QFS TIBSF PO FRVJUZ TIBSFT PG `  FBDI PO +BOVBSZ  

Record Date for Interim Dividend
5IFSFDPSEEBUFGPSUIFQVSQPTFPGQBZNFOUPG*OUFSJN%JWJEFOE
XBTöYFEBT+BOVBSZ  BOEUIF*OUFSJN%JWJEFOEXBTQBJE
UPPVSTIBSFIPMEFSTXIPXFSFPOUIF3FHJTUFSPG.FNCFSTBTBU
UIFDMPTJOHIPVSTPG+BOVBSZ 
Final Dividend
:PVS#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTIBTSFDPNNFOEFEB'JOBM%JWJEFOEPG
`QFSTIBSFPOFRVJUZTIBSFTPGGBDFWBMVFPG`FBDI
Date of Book closure
0VS 3FHJTUFS PG NFNCFST BOE TIBSF USBOTGFS CPPLT XJMM
SFNBJODMPTFEGSPN+VMZ UP+VMZ  CPUIEBZT
JODMVTJWF 
Final Dividend Payment Date
%JWJEFOEPOFRVJUZTIBSFTBTSFDPNNFOEFECZUIF%JSFDUPSTGPS
UIFZFBSFOEFE.BSDI  when declared at the meeting,
XJMMCFQBJEPO+VMZ 
J
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UPUIPTFNFNCFSTXIPTFOBNFTBQQFBSPOUIF$PNQBOZT
SFHJTUFS PG NFNCFST  BGUFS HJWJOH FGGFDU UP BMM WBMJE
TIBSF USBOTGFST JO QIZTJDBM GPSN  MPEHFE XJUI .T ,BSWZ
$PNQVUFSTIBSF 1SJWBUF -JNJUFE  3FHJTUSBS BOE 4IBSF
5SBOTGFS"HFOUPGUIF$PNQBOZPOPSCFGPSF+VMZ 

Special Resolution passed during the Financial Year 2010-11
through the Postal Ballot Procedure
5IFGPMMPXJOH4QFDJBM3FTPMVUJPOTXFSFQBTTFEUISPVHIQPTUBM
CBMMPUQSPDFEVSFPO+VOF GPSJTTVFPGCPOVTTIBSFTBOE
related resolutions.


*ODSFBTF JO "VUIPSJTFE 4IBSF $BQJUBM BOE "MUFSBUJPO PG
.FNPSBOEVNPG"TTPDJBUJPOPGUIF$PNQBOZ



"MUFSBUJPOPG"SUJDMFPG"TTPDJBUJPOPGUIF$PNQBOZ

3.

Issue of Bonus Shares.

Awards and Rating
5IF$PNQBOZIBTCFFOBXBSEFEUIFIJHIFTUSBUJOHPG4UBLFIPMEFS
7BMVFBOE$PSQPSBUF3BUJOH DBMMFE47( CZ*$3"-JNJUFE B
SBUJOHBHFODZJO*OEJBCFJOHBOBTTPDJBUFPG.PPEZT5IJTSBUJOH
JNQMJFTUIBUUIF$PNQBOZCFMPOHTUPUIF)JHIFTU$BUFHPSZPO
UIF DPNQPTJUF QBSBNFUFST PG TUBLFIPMEFS WBMVF DSFBUJPO BOE
NBOBHFNFOUBTBMTP$PSQPSBUF(PWFSOBODFQSBDUJDFT
The company has been awarded the National award for
excellence in Corporate Governance from Institute of
Company Secretaries of India during the year 2004.
5IF$PNQBOZIBTBMTPCFFOBTTJHOFE-"""SBUJOHUP8JQSPTMPOH

"OOVBM3FQPSU

UFSNDSFEJU5IJTJTUIFIJHIFTUDSFEJURVBMJUZSBUJOHBTTJHOFECZ
*$3"-JNJUFEUPMPOHUFSNJOTUSVNFOUT

UIFZBSFQSFTFOUFEUPUIF#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTGPSUIFJSBQQSPWBM
for release.

5IF $PNQBOZ XBT SBOLFE BNPOH UIF5PQ  JO (SFFOQFBDF
*OUFSOBUJPOBM3BOLJOH(VJEFBOESFHBJOFEJUTUPQQPTJUJPOBNPOH
Indian IT Brands.

News Releases, Presentations, etc"MMPVSOFXTSFMFBTFTBOE
QSFTFOUBUJPOT NBEF BU JOWFTUPS DPOGFSFODFT BOE UP BOBMZTUT
BSF QPTUFE PO UIF $PNQBOZT XFCTJUF BU www.wipro.com/
corporate/investors.

Corporate Social Responsibility and Sustainability Reporting
8JQSPT TVTUBJOBCJMJUZ SFQPSUJOH BSUJDVMBUFT PVS QFSTQFDUJWF
POUIFFNFSHJOHGPSDFTJOUIFHMPCBMTVTUBJOBCJMJUZMBOETDBQF
BOE8JQSPTSFTQPOTFPONVMUJQMFGSPOUT'PSFBDIPGUIFUISFF
EJNFOTJPOT PG FDPOPNJD  FDPMPHJDBM BOE TPDJBM TVTUBJOBCJMJUZ 
XFTUBUFUIFQPTTJCMFSJTLTBTXFMMBTUIFPQQPSUVOJUJFTUIBUXF
BSFUSZJOHUPMFWFSBHF
0VSUIJSEA4VTUBJOBCJMJUZ3FQPSUGPSJTBDPNQSFIFOTJWF
BSUJDVMBUJPO PG 8JQSPT NVMUJQMF JOJUJBUJWFT PO &OFSHZ BOE
(SFFOIPVTF(BTSFEVDUJPO 8BUFS&óDJFODZ 8BTUF.BOBHFNFOU 
%JWFSTJUZ  &NQMPZFF &OHBHFNFOU  $VTUPNFS 4UFXBSETIJQ 
&EVDBUJPO $PNNVOJUZ$BSFBOE"EWPDBDZOur report has been
rated A+ for the third successiveJOTUBODFCBTFEPOBSJHPSPVT
FYUFSOBM BVEJU CZ %/7 "4  UIF HMPCBMMZ SFOPXOFE QSPWJEFS PG
TVTUBJOBCJMJUZBTTVSBODFTFSWJDFT5IFSBUJOHSFQSFTFOUTUIFIJHIFTU
TUBOEBSETPGUSBOTQBSFODZBOEDPNQMFUFOFTTJOSFQPSUJOH
5IFUIFNFPGUIJTSFQPSUi-JWJOHUIF'VUVSFwSFøFDUTUIFVSHFODZ
PGBEWBODJOHUIFWJTJPOPGBTVTUBJOBCMFBOEJODMVTJWFXPSME5P
NBLFUIJTIBQQFO #VTJOFTT (PWFSONFOUBOE$JWJM4PDJFUZNVTU
CSFBLFYJTUJOHTJMPTBOETUBSUXPSLJOHUPHFUIFS
Your Company’s Sustainability Report for 2009-10 has been
assessed by DNV at the A+ level XIJDISFQSFTFOUTUIFIJHIFTU
MFWFMTPGUSBOTQBSFODZ DPWFSBHFBOERVBMJUZPGSFQPSUJOH:PVDBO
LOPXNPSFBCPVUPVSTVTUBJOBCJMJUZBOE4PDJBM*OJUJBUJWFTJOPVS
XFCTJUF www.wipro.com/corporate/investors/sustainabilitywipro.htm

Quarterly results0VSRVBSUFSMZSFTVMUTBSFQVCMJTIFEJOXJEFMZ
DJSDVMBUFEOBUJPOBMOFXTQBQFSTTVDIBT5IF#VTJOFTT4UBOEBSE 
UIF MPDBM EBJMZ ,BOOBEB 1SBCIB8F IBWF BMTP DPNNFODFE
JOUJNBUJOH RVBSUFSMZ SFTVMUT UP TIBSFIPMEFST CZ FNBJM GSPN
+BOVBSZPOXBSET
Website:5IF$PNQBOZTXFCTJUFDPOUBJOTBTFQBSBUFEFEJDBUFE
TFDUJPOi*OWFTUPSwXIFSFJOGPSNBUJPOTPVHIUCZTIBSFIPMEFSTJT
BWBJMBCMF5IF "OOVBM SFQPSU PG UIF $PNQBOZ  FBSOJOHT QSFTT
SFMFBTFT  4&$ GJMJOHT BOE RVBSUFSMZ SFQPSUT PG UIF $PNQBOZ
BQBSUGSPNUIFEFUBJMTBCPVUUIF$PNQBOZ #PBSEPGEJSFDUPST
BOE.BOBHFNFOU BSFBMTPBWBJMBCMFPOUIFXFCTJUFJOBVTFS
GSJFOEMZBOEEPXOMPBEBCMFGPSNBUXXXXJQSPDPNDPSQPSBUF
JOWFTUPSTJOEFYIUN
Annual Report:"OOVBM3FQPSUDPOUBJOJOHBVEJUFETUBOEBMPOF
BDDPVOUT  DPOTPMJEBUFE GJOBODJBM TUBUFNFOUT UPHFUIFS XJUI
%JSFDUPSTSFQPSU "VEJUPSTSFQPSUBOEPUIFSJNQPSUBOUJOGPSNBUJPO
BSFDJSDVMBUFEUPNFNCFSTBOEPUIFSTFOUJUMFEUIFSFUP
Table 02: Communication of Results
Means of communications
&BSOJOHT$BMMT
1VCMJDBUJPOPGSFTVMUT
"OBMZTUTNFFU

Number of times during
2010-11
4
4
2

Shareholders’ Satisfaction Survey

Listing on Stock Exchanges, Stock Codes, International
Securities Identification Number (ISIN) and Cusip Number
for ADRs

5IF$PNQBOZDPOEVDUFEB4IBSFIPMEFST4BUJTGBDUJPOTVSWFZJO+VMZ
TFFLJOHWJFXTPOWBSJPVTNBUUFSTSFMBUJOHUPJOWFTUPSTFSWJDFT

:PVSDPNQBOZTTIBSFTBSFMJTUFEJOUIFGPMMPXJOHFYDIBOHFTBT
PG.BSDI BOEUIFTUPDLDPEFTBSF

"CPVU  TIBSFIPMEFST QBSUJDJQBUFE BOE SFTQPOEFE UP UIF
TVSWFZ The analysis of the responses reflects an average
rating of about 3.6 on a scale of 1 to 4. Around 83% of the
shareholders indicated that the services rendered by the
Company were good /excellent and were satisfied.

Table 03: Stock codes

8F BSF DPOTUBOUMZ JO UIF QSPDFTT PG FOIBODJOH PVS TFSWJDF
MFWFMT UP GVSUIFS JNQSPWF UIF TBUJTGBDUJPO MFWFMT CBTFE PO UIF
GFFECBDLSFDFJWFEGSPNPVSTIBSFIPMEFST8FXPVMEXFMDPNF
BOZTVHHFTUJPOTGSPNZPVSFOEUPJNQSPWFPVSTFSWJDFT
Means of Communication with Shareholders / Analysis
8FIBWFFTUBCMJTIFEQSPDFEVSFTUPEJTTFNJOBUF JOBQMBOOFE
NBOOFS  SFMFWBOU JOGPSNBUJPO UP PVS TIBSFIPMEFST  BOBMZTUT 
FNQMPZFFTBOEUIFTPDJFUZBUMBSHF
0VS"VEJU$PNNJUUFFSFWJFXTUIFFBSOJOHTQSFTTSFMFBTFT 4&$
öMJOHTBOEBOOVBMBOERVBSUFSMZSFQPSUTPGUIF$PNQBOZ CFGPSF

Wipro Limited

Equity shares
Stock Codes
#PNCBZ4UPDL&YDIBOHF

-JNJUFE #4&
/BUJPOBM4UPDL&YDIBOHFPG Wipro
*OEJB-JNJUFE /4&
American Depository Receipts
/FX:PSL4UPDL&YDIBOHF
WIT
/:4&
Notes:
 -JTUJOHGFFTGPSUIFZFBSIBTCFFOQBJEUPUIF*OEJBO
4UPDL&YDIBOHFT
 -JTUJOHGFFTUP/:4&GPSUIFDBMFOEBSZFBSIBTCFFO
paid.
 5IFTUPDLDPEFPO3FVUFSTJT8130!*/BOEPO#MPPNCFSH
JT8*13#0


International Securities Identification Number (ISIN)

Indian custodian for ADSs

*4*/JTBOJEFOUJöDBUJPOOVNCFSGPSUSBEFETIBSFT5IJTOVNCFS
OFFET UP CF RVPUFE JO FBDI USBOTBDUJPO SFMBUJOH UP UIF
EFNBUFSJBMJ[FEFRVJUZTIBSFTPGUIF$PNQBOZ0VS*4*/OVNCFS
GPSPVSFRVJUZTIBSFTJTINE075A01022.

*OEJBTVCDVTUPEZ
+1.PSHBO$IBTF#BOL/"
+1.PSHBO5PXFST 
TU'MPPS 0ò$453PBE
,BMJOB 4BOUBDSV[ &BTU 
.VNCBJ
5FM
'BY

CUSIP Number for American Depository Shares
5IF$PNNJUUFFPO6OJGPSN4FDVSJUZ*EFOUJöDBUJPO1SPDFEVSFT
$64*1 PGUIF"NFSJDBO#BOLFST"TTPDJBUJPOIBTEFWFMPQFEB
VOJRVFOVNCFSJOHTZTUFNGPS"NFSJDBO%FQPTJUPSZ4IBSFT5IJT
OVNCFS JEFOUJöFT B TFDVSJUZ BOE JUT JTTVFS BOE JT SFDPHOJ[FE
HMPCBMMZCZPSHBOJ[BUJPOTBEIFSJOHUPTUBOEBSETJTTVFECZUIF
*OUFSOBUJPOBM 4FDVSJUJFT 0SHBOJ[BUJPO $VTJQ OVNCFS GPS PVS
"NFSJDBO%FQPTJUPSZ4DSJQJT.
Corporate Identity Number (CIN)
0VS $PSQPSBUF *EFOUJU Z /VNCFS $*/  BMMPUUFE CZ
Ministry of Company Affairs  (PWFSONFOU PG *OEJB JT
L32102KA1945PLC020800, and our $PNQBOZ 3FHJTUSBUJPO
/VNCFSJT
Registrar and Transfer Agents
5IF 1PXFS PG TIBSF USBOTGFS BOE SFMBUFE PQFSBUJPOT IBT CFFO
EFMFHBUFE UP 3FHJTUSBS BOE 4IBSF 5SBOTGFS "HFOUT ,BSWZ
$PNQVUFSTIBSF1SJWBUF-JNJUFE )ZEFSBCBE
Share Transfer System
The turnaround time for completion of transfer of shares in
QIZTJDBM GPSN JT HFOFSBMMZ MFTT UIBO  EBZT GSPN UIF EBUF PG
SFDFJQU JGUIFEPDVNFOUTBSFDMFBSJOBMMSFTQFDUT
8FIBWFBMTPJOUFSOBMMZöYFEUVSOBSPVOEUJNFTGPSDMPTJOHUIF
RVFSJFTDPNQMBJOUTSFDFJWFEGSPNUIFTIBSFIPMEFSTXJUIJOEBZT
if the documents are clear in all respects.
Address for correspondence
5IFBEESFTTPGPVS3FHJTUSBSBOE4IBSF5SBOTGFS"HFOUTJTHJWFO
CFMPX
Karvy Computershare Private Ltd.
,BSWZ)PVTF
,BSWZ$PNQVUFS4IBSF1SJWBUF-JNJUFE
6OJU8JQSP-JNJUFE
1MPUOP 7JUUBM3BP/BHBS
.BEIBQVS
)ZEFSBCBE
5FM
'BY
&NBJM JE KBZBSBNBOWL!LBSWZDPN $POUBDU QFSTPO .S7 ,
+BZBSBNBO
&NBJMJELSJTIOBOT!LBSWZDPN$POUBDUQFSTPO.S,SJTIOBO4
Overseas depository for ADSs
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank N.A.
 8BMM4USFFU
/FX:PSL /:
5FM
'BY

66

Web-based Query Redressal System
.FNCFSTNBZVUJMJ[FUIJTOFXGBDJMJUZFYUFOEFECZUIF3FHJTUSBS
5SBOTGFS"HFOUTGPSSFESFTTBMPGUIFJSRVFSJFT
1MFBTFWJTJUhttp://karisma.karvy.comBOEDMJDLPOiJOWFTUPSTw
PQUJPOGPSRVFSZSFHJTUSBUJPOUISPVHIGSFFJEFOUJUZSFHJTUSBUJPO
UPMPHPO*OWFTUPSDBOTVCNJUUIFRVFSZJOUIFi26&3*&4wPQUJPO
QSPWJEFE PO UIF XFCTJUF  XIJDI XPVME HJWF UIF HSJFWBODF
SFHJTUSBUJPOOVNCFS'PSBDDFTTJOHUIFTUBUVTSFTQPOTFUPZPVS
RVFSZ QMFBTFVTFUIFTBNFOVNCFSBUUIFPQUJPOi7*&83&1-:w
after 24 hours. The investors can continue to put additional
RVFSJFTSFMBUJOHUPUIFDBTFUJMMUIFZBSFTBUJTöFE
Shareholders can also send their correspondence to the
$PNQBOZ XJUI SFTQFDU UP UIFJS TIBSFT  EJWJEFOE  SFRVFTU GPS
BOOVBMSFQPSUTBOETIBSFIPMEFSHSJFWBODF5IFDPOUBDUEFUBJMT
BSFQSPWJEFECFMPX
.S73BNBDIBOESBO 
$PNQBOZ4FDSFUBSZ
Wipro Limited
%PEEBLBOOFMMJ
4BSKBQVS3PBE
#BOHBMPSF
.S(
,PUIBOEBSBNBO 
4FOJPS.BOBHFS
Secretarial &
$PNQMJBODF
Wipro Limited
%PEEBLBOOFMMJ
4BSKBQVS3PBE
#BOHBMPSF

1I &YUO
'BY
&NBJM
SBNBDIBOESBOWFOLBUFTBO!XJQSPDPN

1I &YUO
'BY
&NBJM
LPUIBOEBSBNBOHPQBM!XJQSPDPN

4IBSFIPMEFSHSJFWBODFDBOBMTPCFTFOUUISPVHIFNBJMUPUIF
GPMMPXJOHEFTJHOBUFEFNBJMJENBJMNBOBHFS!LBSWZDPN
"OBMZTUTDBOSFBDIPVS*OWFTUPS3FMBUJPOT5FBNGPSBOZRVFSJFTBOE
DMBSJöDBUJPOPO'JOBODJBM*OWFTUPS3FMBUJPOTSFMBUFENBUUFST
.S3BKFOESB,VNBS
Shreemal
7JDF1SFTJEFOU
$PSQPSBUF5SFBTVSFS
Wipro Limited
%PEEBLBOOFMMJ
4BSKBQVS3PBE
#BOHBMPSF

1I &YUO
'BY
&NBJM
SBKFOESBTISFFNBM!XJQSPDPN

"OOVBM3FQPSU

.S34SJEIBS
$'0*OUFSOBUJPOBM
4BMFT0QFSBUJPOT
Wipro Limited
&BTU#SVOTXJDL
5PXFS
/FX+FSTFZ
64

transferred to “6nclaimed Suspense ADDPVOUwBTQFSUIF-JTUJOH
"HSFFNFOU5IFEJTDMPTVSFBTSFRVJSFEVOEFS$MBVTF"PGUIF
-JTUJOH"HSFFNFOUJTHJWFOCFMPX

1I 
&NBJMTSJEIBSSBNBTVCCV!XJQSP
com

B

"HHSFHBUFOVNCFSPGTIBSFIPMEFSTBOEUIFPVUTUBOEJOH
TIBSFT MZJOH JO UIF 6ODMBJNFE 4VTQFOTF "DDPVOU BU UIF
CFHJOOJOHPGUIFZFBS/JM

C

/VNCFS PG TIBSFIPMEFST XIP BQQSPBDIFE UIF JTTVFS GPS
USBOTGFSPGTIBSFTGSPNUIF6ODMBJNFE4VTQFOTF"DDPVOU
EVSJOHUIFZFBS/JM

D

/VNCFSPGTIBSFIPMEFSTUPXIPNTIBSFTXFSFUSBOTGFSSFE
GSPNUIF6ODMBJNFE4VTQFOTF"DDPVOUEVSJOHUIFZFBS/JM

E

"HHSFHBUFOVNCFSPGTIBSFIPMEFSTBOEUIFPVUTUBOEJOH
TIBSFTMZJOHJOUIF6ODMBJNFE4VTQFOTF"DDPVOUBUUIFFOE
PGUIFZFBS/JM

Description of voting rights
"MMPVSTIBSFTDBSSZWPUJOHSJHIUTPOBQBSJQBTTVCBTJT
1VSTVBOUUP$MBVTF"PGUIF-JTUJOH"HSFFNFOU 4IBSFIPMEFST
IPMEJOHQIZTJDBMTIBSFTBOEOPUIBWJOHDMBJNFETIBSFDFSUJöDBUFT
IBWFCFFOTFOUSFNJOEFSMFUUFSTUPDMBJNUIFDFSUJöDBUFTGSPN
UIF $PNQBOZ  #BTFE PO UIFJS SFTQPOTF  TVDI TIBSFT XJMM CF

Table 04 Distribution of Shareholding and categories of Shareholders as per Clause 35 of the Listing Agreement as on
March 31, 2011

Category








BOE
BCPWF
Total

No of Share
holders
 
 

31-Mar-11
%age of No. of Shares
Shares



% of Total No. of Share
Equity
holders

  
  




 
 

 
434
223





  

  

  

  

  
    








 

    



31-Mar-10
%age of No. of Shares
Shares



% of
Total
Equity

  
  












  

  

  

  

  
    








 

    



8FIBWFTIBSFIPMEFSTIPMEJOHPOFTIBSFFBDIPGUIFDPNQBOZ
Table 05 Distribution of shareholding – City-wise as of March 31, 2011
Sl.
No.
1
2
3
4

6




11
12
13

CITY
").&%"#"%
#"/("-03&
$"-$655"
$)&//"*
$0$)*/
$0*.#"503&
%0.#*7"-*
'03&*(/"%%3&44&4
("/%)*/"("3
(63("0/
):%&3"#"%
*/%03&
+"*163

Wipro Limited

No. of share
Holders
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Percentage
3.63













No. of equity
shares
  
   
  
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
  
 
 

Percentage
















Sl.
No.
14

16




21
22
23
24

26





CITY

No. of share
Holders
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

,"-:"/
,"/163
-6$,/08
."/("-03&
.6.#"*
.:403&
/"(163
/"4*,
/"7*.6.#"*
/&8%&-)*
/0*%"
16/&
3"+,05
463"5
5)"/&
7"%0%"3"
05)&3$*5*&4
505"-

Percentage

No. of equity
shares
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
  
 
  
 
  
 
 
  
   










4.63



1.63
2.11




Percentage



















I)(a) Shareholding Pattern as of March 31, 2011 under Clause 35 of the Listing Agreement
Partly paid-up shares
)FMECZQSPNPUFSQSPNPUFS
HSPVQ
)FMECZQVCMJD
Total
0VUTUBOEJOHDPOWFSUJCMF
securities:
)FMECZQSPNPUFSQSPNPUFS
HSPVQ
)FMECZQVCMJD
Total
Warrants:

)FMECZQSPNPUFSQSPNPUFS
HSPVQ
)FMECZQVCMJD
Total
5PUBMQBJEVQDBQJUBMPGUIF
$PNQBOZ BTTVNJOHGVMM
DPOWFSTJPOPGXBSSBOUTBOE
DPOWFSUJCMFTFDVSJUJFT



No. of partly paid-up
shares


As a % of total no. of partly
paid-up shares


As a % of total no. of shares of
the Company




/PPGPVUTUBOEJOH
securities



As a % of total no. of
PVUTUBOEJOHDPOWFSUJCMF
securities




As a % of total no. of shares of the
$PNQBOZBTTVNJOHGVMMDPOWFSTJPO
PGUIFDPOWFSUJCMFTFDVSJUJFT




/PPGXBSSBOUT



As a % of total no. of
XBSSBOUT







As a % of total no. of shares of
UIF$PNQBOZ BTTVNJOHGVMM
DPOWFSTJPOPGXBSSBOUT









   TIBSFTPG` FBDI




"OOVBM3FQPSU

Categ-ory Category of shareholder
code (I)
(II)

(A)


Number of Total number
Number of
shareholders
of shares shares held in
(III)
dematerialized
form

Total shareholding as
a percentage of total
number of shares

As a
As a Number
As a
percentage percentage
of Percentage
of (A+B) of (A+B+C) Shares

Shareholding of Promoter
and Promoter Group
Indian

B

*OEJWJEVBMT)JOEV
6OEJWJEFE'BNJMZ

4

  

  





C

$FOUSBM(PWFSONFOU4UBUF
(PWFSONFOU T
#PEJFT$PSQPSBUF 1SPNPUFS
JOIJTDBQBDJUZBT%JSFDUPS
PG1SJWBUF-JNJUFE4FDUJPO
$PNQBOJFT

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

4

  

  





E

Financial Institutions/
#BOLT

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

F

"OZ0UIFS1BSUOFSTIJQ
öSNT 1SPNPUFSJOIJT
DBQBDJUZBTQBSUOFSPG
1BSUOFSTIJQöSNT
Trust

3    

   



66.24

D

G

Sub-Total (A)(1)

  

  





12 1,945,953,763

1,945,421,763

80.64

79.28

1

(2)

Foreign

B

*OEJWJEVBMT /PO3FTJEFOU
*OEJWJEVBMT'PSFJHO
*OEJWJEVBMT

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

C

#PEJFT$PSQPSBUF

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

D

Institutions

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

E

"OZ0UIFS TQFDJGZ

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

12 1,945,953,763

1,945,421,763

80.64

79.28

Sub-Total (A)(2)
Total Shareholding of
Promoter and Promoter
Group (A)= (A)(1)+(A)(2)
(B)

Public Shareholding

(1)

Institutions

B

.VUVBM'VOET65*

C
D



  

  





Financial Institutions/
#BOLT



  

  

1.64

1.62

$FOUSBM(PWFSONFOU4UBUF
(PWFSONFOU T

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

E

7FOUVSF$BQJUBM'VOET

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

F

*OTVSBODF$PNQBOJFT

1

  

  





G

'PSFJHO*OTUJUVUJPOBM
*OWFTUPST FYDMVTJWFPG"%3
'PSFJHO7FOUVSF$BQJUBM
Investors



  

  





/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

H
I

Shares Pledged
or otherwise
encumbered

"OZ0UIFS TQFDJGZ
Sub-Total (B)(1)

Wipro Limited

/JM

/JM

/JM

/JM

506

223,110,497

223,110,497

9.25

/JM

/JM

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

/"

/"

/"

/"

9.09



Categ-ory Category of shareholder
code (I)
(II)

(2)

Non-institutions

B

#PEJFT$PSQPSBUF

C

*OEJWJEVBMT

D

i. Individual shareholders
IPMEJOHOPNJOBMTIBSF
DBQJUBMVQUP3TMBLI
ii. Individual shareholders
IPMEJOHOPNJOBMTIBSF
DBQJUBMJOFYDFTTPG3T
MBLI
"OZ0UIFS TQFDJGZ

Number of Total number
Number of
shareholders
of shares shares held in
(III)
dematerialized
form

Total shareholding as
a percentage of total
number of shares

As a
As a Number
As a
percentage percentage
of Percentage
of (A+B) of (A+B+C) Shares
/"
/"

 

  

  





 

  

  



2.11



  

  



3.33

 

  

  





1


  
  


  









 

 







 

 







 

 





Sub-Total (B)(2)

2,19,719

244,048,200

177,102,633

10.11

9.99

Total Public Shareholding
(B)= (B)(1)+(B)(2)

220,225

467,158,697

400,213,130

19.36

19.03

TOTAL (A)+(B)

220,237 2,413,112,460

2,345,634,893

100.00

98.32

J /POSFTJEFOU*OEJBOT

Shares Pledged
or otherwise
encumbered

JJ 5SVTUT 
B 8JQSP*OD#FOFöU5SVTU
C 0UIFS5SVTU
JJJ /PO&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPST
BOE&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPST
3FMBUJWFT
JW $MFBSJOH.FNCFST
W 'PSFJHO/BUJPOBMT

(C)

Shares held by
Custodians and against
which Depository
Receipts have been issued

NA

NA

Nil

Nil

/"

/"

Nil

Nil

Promoter and Promoter
Group
Public
GRAND TOTAL (A)+(B)+(C)



  

  

220,238 2,454,409,145

2,386,931,578

1




100

"OOVBM3FQPSU

I)(b) Statement showing Shareholding of persons belonging to the category “Promoter and Promoter Group”
Sr. No. Name of the shareholder
Number of
Shares as a Shares Pledged or otherwise encumbered
shares
percentage of
total number of
shares {i.e., Grand
Total (A)+(B)+(C)
indicated in
Statement at para
(A)(1) above}
(I)
(II)
(III)
(IV)
Number
As a As a Percentage
(V) Percentage
total A+B+C of
(VI)=(V)/ sub-clause (I)(a)
(III)*100
(VIII)
1
"[JN)1SFNKJ
  

/JM
/JM
/JM
2
:BTNFFO"1SFNKJ
  

/JM
/JM
/JM
3
3JTIBE"[JN1SFNKJ
 

/JM
/JM
/JM
4
5BSJR"[JN1SFNKJ
 

/JM
/JM
/JM

.S"[JN)1SFNKJQBSUOFS
  

/JM
/JM
/JM
SFQSFTFOUJOH)BTIBN5SBEFST
6
.S"[JN)1SFNKJQBSUOFS
  

/JM
/JM
/JM
SFQSFTFOUJOH1SB[JN5SBEFST

.S"[JN)1SFNKJQBSUOFS
  

/JM
/JM
/JM
SFQSFTFOUJOH;BTI5SBEFST

3FHBM*OWFTUNFOU5SBEJOH
 

/JM
/JM
/JM
$PNQBOZ1WU-UE

7JEZB*OWFTUNFOU5SBEJOH
 

/JM
/JM
/JM
$PNQBOZ1WU-UE

/BQFBO5SBEJOH*OWFTUNFOU
 

/JM
/JM
/JM
$PNQBOZ1WU-UE
11
"[JN1SFNKJ'PVOEBUJPO * 
  

/JM
/JM
/JM
1WU-UE
12
"[JN1SFNKJ5SVTU
  

/JM
/JM
/JM
TOTAL
1,945,953,763
79.28
Nil
Nil
Nil
(I)(c) Statement showing Shareholding of persons belonging to the category “Public” and holding more than 1% of the
total number of shares.
Sr. No. Name of the shareholder
Number of Shares as a percentage of total number of shares {i.e., Grand
shares Total (A)+(B)+(C) indicated in Statement at para (I)(a) above}
1
-JGF*OTVSBODF$PSQPSBUJPOPG*OEJB
  

505"  

(I)(d) Statement showing details of locked-in-shares
Sr. No.

Name of the shareholder

1

8JQSP*OD#FOFöU5SVTU IFMEUISPVHI
USVTUFFTGPSTPMFCFOFöDJBSZPG8JQSP*OD

TOTAL

Wipro Limited

* Category of
Shareholders
(Promoters /
Public)

Number of
locked-in
shares

1VCMJD

 

Locked-in shares as a
percentage of total number
of shares {i.e., Grand Total
(A)+(B)+(C) indicated in
Statement at para (I)(a) above}


403,668

0.016



(II)(a) Statement showing details of Depository Receiot (DRs)
Sr. Type of outstanding DR (ADRs,
Number of
No. GDRs, SDRs, etc.)
outstanding DRs

1

"NFSJDBO%FQPTJUPSZ3FDFJQUT
%FQPTJUPSZ+1.PSHBO$IFBTF#BOL

Total

Number of shares
underlying
outstanding DRs

  

  

Shares underlying outstanding DRs
as a percentage of total number of
shares {i.e., Grand Total (A)+(B)+(C)
indicated in Statement at para (I)(a)
above}


41,296,685

41,296,685

0.00

(II)(b) Statement showing Holding of Depository Receipts (DRs), where underlying shares are held by promoter/
promoter group in excess of 1% of the total number of shares.
Sr.
Name of the DR Holder
Type of
Number of shares Shares underlying outstanding DRs
No.
outstanding DR
underlying
as a percentage of total number of
(ADRs, GDRs,
outstanding DRs
shares {i.e., Grand Total (A)+(B)+(C)
SDRs, etc.)
indicated in Statement at para (I)(a)
above}
1
/JM
/JM
/JM
/JM
PVUPG  FRVJUZTIBSFTTIPXOVOEFS* " D   FRVJUZTIBSFTBSFIFMECZ"[JN1SFNKJ'PVOEBUJPO * 1WU-UE
.S1SFNKJJTBMTPUIFQSPNPUFS%JSFDUPSPG"[JN1SFNKJ'PVOEBUJPO * 1WU-UE5IFTFTIBSFTBSFJODMVEFEVOEFSi1SPNPUFS$BUFHPSZw
0VUPG  TIBSFTIFMECZPUIFS5SVTUT   FRVJUZTIBSFTBSFIFMECZ8JQSP&RVJUZ3FXBSE5SVTU
5IFTIBSFIPMEJOHDPNQSJTFTPG TIBSFTIFMECZ/PO&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPSTSFMBUJWFTBOE TIBSFTIFMECZ&YFDVUJWF
%JSFDUPSTBOESFMBUJWFT5IFTFEJSFDUPSTOPUCFJOH1SPNPUFS%JSFDUPSTBOEJOBTNVDIBTUIFZEPOPUFYFSDJTFBOZTJHOJöDBOUDPOUSPM
PWFSUIFDPNQBOZ UIFZBSFDMBTTJöFEVOEFSi"OZ0UIFSwDBUFHPSZ
/PUFi1SPNPUFSTIBSFIPMEJOHwBOEi1SPNPUFS(SPVQwBOEi1VCMJDTIBSFIPMEJOHwBTQFS$MBVTF"PGUIF-JTUJOH"HSFFNFOU
5IFEFUBJMTPGPVUTUBOEJOHFNQMPZFFTUPDLPQUJPOTBTPO.BSDI BSF QSPWJEFEJO"OOFYVSF#UPUIF%JSFDUPST3FQPSU BT
QFS4&#* &401&411 (VJEFMJOFT BTBNFOEFEGSPNUJNFUPUJNF
SECOND LAYER: GOVERNANCE BY THE BOARD OF
Dematerialization of shares and liquidity
DIRECTORS
PGPVUTUBOEJOHFRVJUZTIBSFTIBWFCFFOEFNBUFSJBMJ[FE
"TPO.BSDI  XFIBEFJHIUOPOFYFDVUJWF%JSFDUPSTBOE
VQUP.BSDI 
UISFFFYFDVUJWF%JSFDUPSTPGXIJDIPOFFYFDVUJWF%JSFDUPSJTBMTP
Table 06 - List of top ten shareholders of the Company as at
$IBJSNBOPGPVS#PBSE"MMUIFFJHIUOPOFYFDVUJWFEJSFDUPSTBSF
March 31, 2011
JOEFQFOEFOUEJSFDUPSTJFJOEFQFOEFOUPGNBOBHFNFOUBOEGSFF
GSPN BOZ CVTJOFTT PS PUIFS SFMBUJPOTIJQ UIBU DPVME NBUFSJBMMZ
Sl.
Name of the shareholder
No. of
%
JOøVFODFUIFJSKVEHNFOU"MMUIFJOEFQFOEFOUEJSFDUPSTTBUJTGZ
No.
shares
UIFDSJUFSJBPGJOEFQFOEFODFBTEFöOFEVOEFSMJTUJOHBHSFFNFOU
1
.S"[JN)BTIBN1SFNKJ1BSUOFS
   
XJUI *OEJBO 4UPDL &YDIBOHFT BOE /FX:PSL 4UPDL &YDIBOHF
3FQSFTFOUJOH)BTIBN5SBEFST
$PSQPSBUF(PWFSOBODFTUBOEBSET5IFQSPöMFPGPVS%JSFDUPSTJT
2
.S"[JN)BTIBN1SFNKJ1BSUOFS
   
HJWFOCFMPXBTPG.BSDI 
3FQSFTFOUJOH1SB[JN5SBEFST
3
4

6






.S"[JN)BTIBN1SFNKJ1BSUOFS
   
3FQSFTFOUJOH;BTI5SBEFST
"[JN1SFNKJ5SVTU
   
"[JN)1SFNKJ
   
+1.PSHBO$IBTF#BOL "%3
   
%FQPTJUPSZ
-JGF*OTVSBODF$PSQPSBUJPOPG*OEJB    
.BTLBUJ*OWFTUNFOU1SJWBUF
   
Limited
"MDP$PNQBOZ1SJWBUF-JNJUFE
   
#BKBK"MMJBO[-JGF*OTVSBODF
   
$PNQBOZ-UE
"[JN1SFNKJ'PVOEBUJPO * 1WU-UE    

*ODMVEFTTIBSFTIFMEKPJOUMZXJUISFMBUJWFT


Azim H. Premji IBT TFSWFE BT PVS $IJFG &YFDVUJWF 0GGJDFS 
$IBJSNBO BOE .BOBHJOH %JSFDUPS %FTJHOBUFE BT $IBJSNBO 
TJODF4FQUFNCFS.PSFSFDFOUMZ .S"[JN1SFNKJ $IBJSNBO 
8JQSP-JNJUFEIBTCFFOIPOPVSFEXJUIUIF1BENB7JCIVTIBO
BXBSECZ(PWFSONFOUPG*OEJBGPSIJTDPOUSJCVUJPOJOUSBEFBOE
JOEVTUSZ"[JN1SFNKJJTBHSBEVBUFJO&MFDUSJDBM&OHJOFFSJOHGSPN
4UBOGPSE6OJWFSTJUZ 64"
Dr Ashok GangulyIBTTFSWFEBTB%JSFDUPSPOPVS#PBSETJODF
̓  )F JT UIF $IBJSNBO PG CPUI PVS #PBSE (PWFSOBODF 
/PNJOBUJPO$PNNJUUFFBOE$PNQFOTBUJPO$PNNJUUFF̓)FJT
DVSSFOUMZUIF$IBJSNBOPG"#11WU-UE "OBOEB#B[BS1BUSJLB
(SPVQ  %S (BOHVMZ BMTP DVSSFOUMZ TFSWFT BT B OPOFYFDVUJWF
%JSFDUPS PG .BIJOESB  .BIJOESB -JNJUFE BOE %S 3FEEZT

"OOVBM3FQPSU

-BCPSBUPSJFT-JNJUFE̓%S(BOHVMZJTUIFDIBJSNBOPG3FTFBSDI
BOE %FWFMPQNFOU $PNNJUUFF PG .BIJOESB BOE .BIJOESB
-UE  .FNCFS PG /PNJOBUJPO  (PWFSOBODF  $PNQFOTBUJPO
$PNNJUUFFBOE$IBJSNBOPG4DJFODF 5FDIOPMPHZ0QFSBUJPOT
$PNNJUUFFPG%S3FEEZT-BCPSBUPSJFT-UE̓)FJTBNFNCFSPG
UIF1SJNF.JOJTUFST$PVODJMPO5SBEFBOE*OEVTUSZBOEUIF*OEJB
64"$&0$PVODJM TFUVQCZUIF1SJNF.JOJTUFSPG*OEJBBOEUIF
1SFTJEFOUPGUIF64"̓%S(BOHVMZJTB3BKZB4BCIB.FNCFS̓)F
JTBGPSNFSNFNCFSPGUIF#PBSEPG#SJUJTI"JSXBZT1MD 
 BOE6OJMFWFS1MD/7  %S(BOHVMZXBTGPSNFSMZ
$IBJSNBOPG)JOEVTUBO6OJMFWFS-JNJUFE  ̓%S(BOHVMZ
XBTPOUIF$FOUSBM#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTPGUIF3FTFSWF#BOLPG
*OEJB  ̓̓̓*O %S(BOHVMZXBTBXBSEFEUIF$#&
)PO CZUIF6OJUFE,JOHEPN*O %S(BOHVMZSFDFJWFEUIF
&DPOPNJD5JNFT-JGFUJNF"DIJFWFNFOU"XBSE%S(BOHVMZXBT
BXBSEFE1BENB#IVTIBOCZUIF(PWFSONFOUPG*OEJBJO+BOVBSZ 
BOE1BENB7JCIVTIBOJO+BOVBSZ 
B.C. Prabhakar IBT TFSWFE BT B %JSFDUPS PO PVS #PBSE TJODF
'FCSVBSZ)FIBTCFFOBQSBDUJDJOHMBXZFSTJODF"QSJM
.S1SBCIBLBSIPMETB#"JO1PMJUJDBM4DJFODFBOE4PDJPMPHZBOE
B#-GSPN.ZTPSF6OJWFSTJUZ *OEJB.S#$1SBCIBLBSTFSWFTBTB
OPOFYFDVUJWF%JSFDUPSPG"VUPNPUJWF"YMFT-JNJUFEBOE.*OEJB
-JNJUFE)FJTBMTPBNFNCFSPGUIF"VEJU 3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF
$PNNJUUFFBOE$IBJSNBOPGUIF"ENJOJTUSBUJWFBOE4IBSFIPMEFS
*OWFTUPS(SJFWBODFT$PNNJUUFFPG8JQSP-JNJUFE
Dr. Jagdish N. ShethIBTTFSWFEBTB%JSFDUPSPOPVS#PBSETJODF
+BOVBSZ)FIBTCFFOBQSPGFTTPSBU&NPSZ6OJWFSTJUZTJODF
+VMZ%S4IFUIJTBMTPPOUIF#PBSETPG4BGBSJ*OEVTUSJFTBOE
.BOJQBM"DVOPWB-UE%S4IFUIIPMETB#$PN )POPVST GSPN
.BESBT6OJWFSTJUZ B.#"BOEB1I%JO#FIBWJPSBM4DJFODFT
GSPNUIF6OJWFSTJUZPG1JUUTCVSHI 64"%S4IFUIJTBNFNCFS
PG$PNQFOTBUJPO$PNNJUUFFPG4BGBSJ*OEVTUSJFTBOE$IBJSNBO
PG"DBEFNZPG*OEJBO.BSLFUJOH1SPGFTTJPOBMT
Narayanan Vaghul IBT TFSWFE BT B %JSFDUPS PO PVS #PBSE
TJODF +VOF  )F JT UIF $IBJSNBO PG PVS "VEJU  3JTL BOE
$PNQMJBODF $PNNJUUFF  NFNCFS PG UIF #PBSE (PWFSOBODF 
/PNJOBUJPO $PNNJUUFF BOE NFNCFS PG UIF $PNQFOTBUJPO
$PNNJUUFF̓)FXBTUIF$IBJSNBOPGUIF#PBSEPG*$*$*#BOL
-JNJUFE̓ GSPN 4FQUFNCFS  UJMM "QSJM  .S7BHIVM JT
BMTPPOUIF#PBSETPG.BIJOESBBOE.BIJOESB-UE .BIJOESB
8PSME$JUZ%FWFMPQFST-JNJUFE 1JSBNBM)FBMUIDBSF-JNJUFE BOE
"QPMMP)PTQJUBMT&OUFSQSJTF-JNJUFE.S7BHIVMJTPOUIF#PBSET
PG )FNPHFOPNJDT 1WU -UE  6OJWFSTBM5SVTUFFT 1WU -UE  BOE
*,15SVTUFFTIJQ 4FSWJDFT -JNJUFE .S7BHIVM JT UIF $IBJSNBO
PG UIF $PNQFOTBUJPO $PNNJUUFF PG .BIJOESB BOE .BIJOESB
-JNJUFE BOE 1JSBNBM )FBMUIDBSF -JNJUFE .S /7BHIVM̓ JT BMTP
UIFNFNCFSPGUIF"VEJU$PNNJUUFFJO/JDIPMBT1JSBNBM*OEJB
-JNJUFE̓̓.S7BHIVMJTBNFNCFSPGUIF3FNVOFSBUJPO$PNNJUUFF
PG.BIJOESB8PSME$JUZ%FWFMPQFST-JNJUFEBOE"QPMMP)PTQJUBMT
&OUFSQSJTF-JNJUFE.S/7BHIVMJTBMTPUIFMFBEJOEFQFOEFOU
%JSFDUPSPGPVS$PNQBOZ̓.S7BHIVMIPMET#BDIFMPS )POPVST 
EFHSFFJO$PNNFSDFGSPN.BESBT6OJWFSTJUZ .S7BHIVMXBTUIF
SFDJQJFOUPGUIFBXBSEPG1BENB#IVTIBO CZUIF(PWFSONFOU
PG*OEJBEVSJOHUIFZFBS.S7BHIVMBMTPSFDFJWFEUIF
&DPOPNJD5JNFT-JGFUJNF"DIJFWFNFOU"XBSE
Wipro Limited

Priya Mohan Sinha CFDBNF B %JSFDUPS PG PVS DPNQBOZ
PO +BOVBSZ   ̓  )F JT B NFNCFS PG PVS "VEJU  3JTL BOE
$PNQMJBODF $PNNJUUFF  #PBSE (PWFSOBODF  /PNJOBUJPO
$PNNJUUFFBOE$PNQFOTBUJPO$PNNJUUFF̓)FIBTTFSWFEBT
UIF$IBJSNBOPG1FQTJ$P*OEJB)PMEJOHT-JNJUFEBOE1SFTJEFOU
PG1FQTJ'PPET-JNJUFETJODF+VMZ'SPN0DUPCFSUP
/PWFNCFS IFXBTPOUIF&YFDVUJWF#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTPG
)JOEVTUBO-FWFS-JNJUFE DVSSFOUMZ)JOEVTUBO6OJMFWFS-JNJUFE ̓̓
'SPNUPIFBMTPTFSWFEBT4BMFT%JSFDUPSPG)JOEVTUBO
-FWFS-JNJUFE DVSSFOUMZ)JOEVTUBO6OJMFWFS-JNJUFE ̓$VSSFOUMZ 
IFJTBMTPPOUIF#PBSETPG#BUB*OEJB-JNJUFEBOE-BGBSHF*OEJB
1WU-JNJUFE̓.S4JOIBJTBMTPBNFNCFSPG"VEJU$PNNJUUFFPG
#BUB*OEJB-UE $IBJSNBOPG4IBSFIPMEFST(SJFWBODF$PNNJUUFF
PG#BUB*OEJB-UEBOE$IBJSNBOPG/PNJOBUJPO (PWFSOBODFBOE
$PNQFOTBUJPO$PNNJUUFF)FXBTBMTPUIF$IBJSNBOPG3FDLFUU
$PMFNBO *OEJB -JNJUFE BOE $IBJSNBO PG 4UFQIBO $IFNJDBMT
*OEJB -JNJUFE .S 4JOIB IPMET B #BDIFMPS PG "SUT GSPN 1BUOB
6OJWFSTJUZ BOE IF IBT BMTP BUUFOEFE "EWBODFE .BOBHFNFOU
1SPHSBN JO UIF 4MPBO 4DIPPM PG .BOBHFNFOU  .BTTBDIVTFUUT
*OTUJUVUFPG5FDIOPMPHZ.S4JOIBJTBMTPPOUIF"EWJTPSZ#PBSE
PG3JFUFS*OEJB
William Arthur OwensIBTTFSWFEBTB%JSFDUPSPOPVS#PBSE
TJODF+VMZ ̓)FJTBMTPBNFNCFSPG#PBSE(PWFSOBODF
BOE /PNJOBUJPO $PNNJUUFF̓  )F IBT IFME TFOJPS MFBEFSTIJQ
QPTJUJPOTBUMBSHFNVMUJOBUJPOBMDPSQPSBUJPOT'SPN"QSJM
UP/PWFNCFS .S0XFOTTFSWFEBT$IJFG&YFDVUJWF0óDFS
BOE7JDF$IBJSNBOPGUIF#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTPG/PSUFM/FUXPSLT
$PSQPSBUJPO  B OFUXPSLJOH DPNNVOJDBUJPOT DPNQBOZ 'SPN
"VHVTUUP"QSJM .S0XFOTTFSWFEBT$IBJSNBOPG
UIF#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTBOE$IJFG&YFDVUJWF0óDFSPG5FMFEFTJD
--$ BTBUFMMJUFDPNNVOJDBUJPOTDPNQBOZ'SPN+VOFUP
"VHVTU .S0XFOTTFSWFEBT1SFTJEFOU $IJFG0QFSBUJOH
0óDFSBOE7JDF$IBJSNBOPGUIF#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTPG4DJFODF
"QQMJDBUJPOT *OUFSOBUJPOBM $PSQPSBUJPO 4"*$  B SFTFBSDI BOE
FOHJOFFSJOHöSN1SFTFOUMZ .S0XFOTTFSWFTBTBNFNCFSPGUIF
#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTPG1PMZDPN*OD *OUFMJVT 'MPXNPCJMF 6OJGSBY
BOE $IBJSNBO PG $FOUVSZ -JOL *OD  B NFEJB DPNNVOJDBUJPOT
DPNQBOZ .S 0XFOT IPMET B .#" )POPST  EFHSFF GSPN
(FPSHF8BTIJOHUPO6OJWFSTJUZ B#4JO.BUIFNBUJDTGSPNUIF
64/BWBM"DBEFNZBOEB#"BOE."JO1PMJUJDT 1IJMPTPQIZ
BOE&DPOPNJDTGSPN0YGPSE6OJWFSTJUZ
Suresh C SenapatyIBTTFSWFEBTPVS$IJFG'JOBODJBM0óDFSBOE
&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPSTJODF"QSJMBOETFSWFEXJUIVTJOPUIFS
QPTJUJPOTTJODF"QSJM)FJTBNFNCFSPGUIF"ENJOJTUSBUJWF
4IBSFIPMEFST  *OWFTUPS (SJFWBODF $PNNJUUFF .S 4FOBQBUZ
IPMETB#$PNGSPN6ULBM6OJWFSTJUZJO*OEJB BOEJTB'FMMPX
.FNCFSPGUIF*OTUJUVUFPG$IBSUFSFE"DDPVOUBOUTPG*OEJB.S
4FOBQBUZ JT PO UIF #PBSET PG UIF GPMMPXJOH *OEJBO TVCTJEJBSZ
companies:
8JQSP5SBEFNBSLT)PMEJOH-JNJUFE 8JQSP$IBOESJLB-JNJUFE 
8JQSP5SBWFM 4FSWJDFT -JNJUFE  $ZHOVT /FHSJ *OWFTUNFOUT
1SJWBUF -JNJUFE 8JQSP5FDIOPMPHZ 4FSWJDFT -JNJUFE 8JQSP
$POTVNFS$BSF-JNJUFEBOE8JQSP(&)FBMUIDBSF1SJWBUF-JNJUFE
.S4FOBQBUZJTBMTPUIF$IBJSNBOPGUIF"VEJU$PNNJUUFFPG
8JQSP5FDIOPMPHZ4FSWJDFT-JNJUFE


T K KurienIBTTFSWFEBTPVS$IJFG&YFDVUJWF0óDFS*5#VTJOFTT
BOE&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPS 8JQSP-JNJUFETJODF'FCSVBSZBOE
TFSWFEXJUIVTJOPUIFSQPTJUJPOTTJODF'FCSVBSZ.S,VSJFO
JT B $IBSUFSFE "DDPVOUBOU BOE IPMET B #BDIFMPST %FHSFF JO
&OHJOFFSJOH.S,VSJFOJTBMTPBNFNCFSPGUIF#PBSEPG8JQSP
(&)FBMUIDBSF1SJWBUF-JNJUFE

8F TDIFEVMF NFFUJOHT PG PVS CVTJOFTT IFBET BOE GVODUJPOBM
IFBET XJUI UIF %JSFDUPST QSJPS UP UIF #PBSE NFFUJOH EBUFT
5IFTFNFFUJOHTGBDJMJUBUF%JSFDUPSTUPQSPWJEFUIFJSJOQVUTBOE
TVHHFTUJPOTPOWBSJPVTTUSBUFHJDBOEPQFSBUJPOBMNBUUFSTEJSFDUMZ
UPUIFCVTJOFTTBOEGVODUJPOBMIFBET.FFUJOHXJUIEJSFDUPST
FOUIVTFBOENPUJWBUFPVSCVTJOFTTMFBEFST

Shyam Saran CFDBNF B %JSFDUPS PG PVS DPNQBOZ PO +VMZ  
̓ )F JT B DBSFFS EJQMPNBU XIP IBT TFSWFE JO TJHOJöDBOU
QPTJUJPOT JO UIF *OEJBO HPWFSONFOU GPS PWFS UISFF EFDBEFT
)F CFMPOHT UP UIF  CBUDI PG UIF *OEJBO 'PSFJHO 4FSWJDF
)F MBTU TFSWFE BT UIF 4QFDJBM &OWPZ PG UIF 1SJNF .JOJTUFS PG
*OEJB 0DUPCFS  UP .BSDI   TQFDJBMJ[JOH JO OVDMFBS
JTTVFT  BOE IF BMTP XBT UIF *OEJBO FOWPZ PO DMJNBUF DIBOHF
1SJPS UP UIJT IF XBT UIF 'PSFJHO 4FDSFUBSZ  (PWFSONFOU PG
*OEJB  )FBMTPTFSWFEBTUIF"NCBTTBEPSPG*OEJB
UP /FQBM  *OEPOFTJB  .ZBONBS BOE .BVSJUJVT )JT EJQMPNBUJD
TUJOUT IBWF UBLFO IJN UP *OEJBO NJTTJPOT JO (FOFWB  #FJKJOH
BOE 5PLZP )F IBT CFFO B 'FMMPX PG UIF 6OJUFE /BUJPOT
%JTBSNBNFOU 1SPHSBN JO (FOFWB  7JFOOB BOE /FX :PSL
.S4BSBOIPMETB1PTU(SBEVBUFEFHSFFJO&DPOPNJDT.S4IZBN
4BSBO GPSNFSGPSFJHOTFDSFUBSZBOEUIF1SJNF.JOJTUFSTFOWPZPO
$MJNBUFDIBOHFIBTCFFOIPOPVSFEXJUIUIF1BENB#IVTIBOCZ
UIF(PWFSONFOUPG*OEJBGPSIJTDPOUSJCVUJPOJODJWJMTFSWJDFT

Board Meetings

Dr. Henning KagermannCFDBNFB%JSFDUPSPGUIF$PNQBOZ
PO0DUPCFS )FIBTTFSWFEBT$IJFG&YFDVUJWFPóDFSPG
4"1"(UJMM)FIBTCFFOBNFNCFSPG4"1&YFDVUJWF#PBSE
TJODF)FJTBMTP1SFTJEFOUPG"DBUFDI (FSNBO"DBEFNZPG
4DJFODFBOE5FDIOPMPHZ BOEDVSSFOUMZBNFNCFSPGTVQFSWJTPSZ
CPBSETPG%FVUTDIF#BOL"( .VOJDI3F %FVUTDIF1PTU /PLJB
BOE#.8(SPVQJO(FSNBOZ̓̓%S)FOOJOH,BHFSNBOOJTFYUSB
PSEJOBSZ QSPGFTTPS GPS5IFPSFUJDBM 1IZTJDT BU UIF5FDIOJDBM
6OJWFSTJUZ#SBVOTDIXFJH (FSNBOZBOEIBTSFDFJWFEIPOPSBSZ
EPDUPSBUFGSPNUIF6OJWFSTJUZPG.BHEFCVSH (FSNBOZ̓
"MMPVSEJSFDUPSTJOGPSNUIF#PBSEFWFSZZFBSBCPVUUIF#PBSE
NFNCFSTIJQBOE#PBSE$PNNJUUFFNFNCFSTIJQUIFZPDDVQZJO
PUIFSDPNQBOJFTJODMVEJOH$IBJSNBOTIJQTJO#PBSE$PNNJUUFFT
PGTVDIDPNQBOJFT5IFZOPUJGZVTPGBOZDIBOHFBTBOEXIFO
UIFZ UBLF QMBDF BMPOH XJUI UIFTF EJTDMPTVSFT BU UIF CPBSE
NFFUJOHT
Information flow to the Board Members
8FQSFTFOUPVSBOOVBM4USBUFHJD1MBOBOE0QFSBUJOH1MBOTPGPVS
CVTJOFTTFTUPUIF#PBSEGPSUIFJSSFWJFX JOQVUTBOEBQQSPWBM
-JLFXJTF PVSRVBSUFSMZöOBODJBMTUBUFNFOUTBOEBOOVBMöOBODJBM
TUBUFNFOUT BSF öSTU QSFTFOUFE UP UIF "VEJU DPNNJUUFF BOE
TVCTFRVFOUMZ UP UIF #PBSE PG %JSFDUPST GPS UIFJS BQQSPWBM *O
BEEJUJPO TQFDJöD DBTFT PG BDRVJTJUJPOT  JNQPSUBOU NBOBHFSJBM
EFDJTJPOT  NBUFSJBM QPTJUJWFOFHBUJWF EFWFMPQNFOUT BOE
TUBUVUPSZNBUUFSTBSFQSFTFOUFEUPUIF#PBSEBOE$PNNJUUFFT
of the Board for their approval.
"TBTZTUFN JONPTUDBTFTJOGPSNBUJPOUPEJSFDUPSTJTTVCNJUUFE
BMPOH XJUI UIF BHFOEB QBQFST XFMM JO BEWBODF PG UIF #PBSE
NFFUJOH*OQVUTPG#PBSENFNCFSTBSFUBLFOJOUIFQSFQBSBUJPO
PGBHFOEBBOEEPDVNFOUTGPSUIF#PBSENFFUJOH



8F EFDJEF PO UIF CPBSE NFFUJOH EBUFT JO DPOTVMUBUJPO XJUI
#PBSE (PWFSOBODF  /PNJOBUJPO $PNNJUUFF BOE BMM PVS
EJSFDUPST  DPOTJEFSJOH UIF QSBDUJDFT PG FBSMJFS ZFBST 0ODF
BQQSPWFECZUIF#PBSE(PWFSOBODF/PNJOBUJPO$PNNJUUFF 
UIF TDIFEVMF PG UIF #PBSE NFFUJOH BOE #PBSE $PNNJUUFF
NFFUJOHTJTDPNNVOJDBUFEJOBEWBODFUPUIF%JSFDUPSTUPFOBCMF
UIFNUPTDIFEVMFUIFJSNFFUJOHT
0VS#PBSENFUTFWFOUJNFTJOUIFöOBODJBMZFBS PO"QSJM
 .BZ  +VMZ "VHVTU  4FQUFNCFS 
 0DUPCFSBOE+BOVBSZ 
#PBSENFFUJOHPG"VHVTU BOE4FQUFNCFS XFSF
over telephone.
0VS#PBSENFFUJOHTBSFOPSNBMMZTDIFEVMFEGPSUXPEBZT
Post-meeting follow-up system
"GUFSUIFCPBSENFFUJOHT XFIBWFBGPSNBMTZTUFNPGGPMMPXVQ 
SFWJFXBOESFQPSUJOHPOBDUJPOTUBLFOCZUIFNBOBHFNFOUPO
UIFEFDJTJPOTPGUIF#PBSEBOETVCDPNNJUUFFTPGUIF#PBSE
Disclosure of materially significant related party
transactions
%VSJOH UIF ZFBS   OP USBOTBDUJPOT PG NBUFSJBM OBUVSF
IBECFFOFOUFSFEJOUPCZUIF$PNQBOZXJUIUIF.BOBHFNFOU
PS UIFJS SFMBUJWFT UIBU NBZ IBWF B QPUFOUJBM DPOøJDU XJUI UIF
JOUFSFTUPGUIF$PNQBOZ/POFPGUIF/PO&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPST
IBWFBOZQFDVOJBSZNBUFSJBMSFMBUJPOTIJQPSUSBOTBDUJPOTXJUI
UIF$PNQBOZGPSUIFZFBSFOEFE.BSDI  BOEIBWFHJWFO
VOEFSUBLJOHTUPUIBUFòFDU
%FUBJMT PG USBOTBDUJPOT PG B NBUFSJBM OBUVSF XJUI BOZ PG UIF
SFMBUFE QBSUJFT JODMVEJOH USBOTBDUJPOT XIFSF %JSFDUPST NBZ
IBWFBQFDVOJBSZJOUFSFTU BTTQFDJöFEJO"DDPVOUJOH4UBOEBSE
PGUIF$PNQBOJFT "DDPVOUJOH4UBOEBSET 3VMFT  IBWF
CFFOSFQPSUFEJOUIF/PUFTUPUIF"DDPVOUTBOEUIFZBSFOPUJO
DPOøJDUXJUIUIFJOUFSFTUPGUIF$PNQBOZBUMBSHF
3FHJTUFS VOEFS 4FDUJPO  PG UIF $PNQBOJFT "DU   JT
maintained and particulars of transactions are entered in the
3FHJTUFS XIFSFWFSBQQMJDBCMF
4VDIUSBOTBDUJPOTBSFQSPWJEFEUPUIF#PBSE BOEUIFJOUFSFTUFE
%JSFDUPSTOFJUIFSQBSUJDJQBUFJOUIFEJTDVTTJPO OPSEPUIFZWPUF
on such matters.
Details of non- compliance by the company, penalties, and
strictures imposed on the company by Stock Exchange or SEBI
or any statutory authority, on any matter related to capital
markets, during the last three years

"OOVBM3FQPSU

5IF$PNQBOZIBTDPNQMJFEXJUIUIFSFRVJSFNFOUTPGUIF4UPDL
&YDIBOHF PS 4&#* PO NBUUFST SFMBUFE UP $BQJUBM .BSLFUT  BT
BQQMJDBCMF
Whistle Blower policy and affirmation that no personnel
have been denied access to the Audit, Risk & Compliance
Committee
5IF$PNQBOZIBTBEPQUFEBO0NCVETQSPDFTTXIJDIJTBDIBOOFM
GPSSFDFJWJOHBOESFESFTTJOHPGFNQMPZFFTDPNQMBJOUT5IFEFUBJMT
BSFQSPWJEFEJOUIFTFDUJPOUJUMFEDPNQMJBODFXJUIOPONBOEBUPSZ
SFRVJSFNFOUTPGUIJTSFQPSU/PQFSTPOOFMPGUIF$PNQBOZXFSF
EFOJFEBDDFTTUPUIF"VEJU3JTL$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFF
Details of compliance with mandatory requirements and
adoption of the non-mandatory requirements of this clause
:PVS$PNQBOZIBTDPNQMJFEXJUIBMMUIFNBOEBUPSZSFRVJSFNFOUT
PGUIF$MBVTFPGUIF-JTUJOH"HSFFNFOU5IFEFUBJMTPGUIFTF
DPNQMJBODFT IBWF CFFO HJWFO JO UIF SFMFWBOU TFDUJPOT PG UIJT
3FQPSU5IF TUBUVT PO DPNQMJBODF XJUI UIF /PO NBOEBUPSZ
SFRVJSFNFOUTJTHJWFOBUUIFFOEPGUIF3FQPSU3FQPSUPOUIF
TUBUVT PG DPNQMJBODF VOEFS7PMVOUBSZ $PSQPSBUF (PWFSOBODF
(VJEFMJOFT BOE 7PMVOUBSZ $PSQPSBUF 4PDJBM 3FTQPOTJCJMJUZ
(VJEFMJOFTJTTVFECZ.JOJTUSZPG$PSQPSBUF"òBJSTJTBMTPQSPWJEFE
FMTFXIFSFJOUIJTSFQPSU
Lead Independent Director
5IF#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTPGUIF$PNQBOZIBTEFTJHOBUFE.S/
7BHIVMBTUIF-FBE*OEFQFOEFOU%JSFDUPS5IFSPMFPGUIF-FBE
*OEFQFOEFOU%JSFDUPSJTEFTDSJCFEJOUIF$PSQPSBUF(PWFSOBODF
HVJEFMJOFTPGZPVSDPNQBOZ
Particulars of directors proposed for re-appointment
.S4VSFTI$4FOBQBUZ .S8JMMJBN"SUIVS0XFOTBOE.S#$
1SBCIBLBS %JSFDUPST SFUJSFCZSPUBUJPOBOECFJOHFMJHJCMF PòFS
UIFNTFMWFTGPSSFBQQPJOUNFOUBUUIJT"OOVBM(FOFSBM.FFUJOH
5IF#PBSE(PWFSOBODFBOE/PNJOBUJPO$PNNJUUFF#PBSEIBWF
SFDPNNFOEFE UIFJS SFBQQPJOUNFOU GPS DPOTJEFSBUJPO PG UIF
Shareholders.
#PBSE PG %JSFDUPST WJEF DJSDVMBS SFTPMVUJPO PG +VOF   
SFBQQPJOUFE .S "[JN ) 1SFNKJ BT $IBJSNBO BOE .BOBHJOH
%JSFDUPS PG UIF $PNQBOZ EFTJHOBUFE BTi$IBJSNBOw  GPS B
GVSUIFSQFSJPEPGUXPZFBSTXJUIFòFDUGSPN+VMZ 5IJT
SFBQQPJOUNFOUJTTVCKFDUUPUIFBQQSPWBMPGUIFTIBSFIPMEFSTPG
UIF$PNQBOZBUUIFFOTVJOH"OOVBM(FOFSBM.FFUJOH
#SJFGSFTVNFPGUIF%JSFDUPSTQSPQPTFEGPSSFBQQPJOUNFOUBUUIF
FOTVJOH"OOVBM(FOFSBM.FFUJOHJTQSPWJEFEBTBO"OOFYVSFUP
UIF/PUJDFDPOWFOJOHUIF"OOVBM(FOFSBM.FFUJOH
Particulars of director proposed for appointment
.S5,,VSJFOXBTBQQPJOUFEBTBO"EEJUJPOBM%JSFDUPSPGUIF
$PNQBOZ XJUI FGGFDU GSPN 'FCSVBSZ    JO BDDPSEBODF
XJUI4FDUJPOPGUIF$PNQBOJFT"DU CZUIF#PBSEPG

Wipro Limited

%JSFDUPSTBUJUTNFFUJOHIFMEPO+BOVBSZ .S5,,VSJFO
XJMMIPMEPóDFUJMMUIFEBUFPGUIF"OOVBM(FOFSBM.FFUJOHPGUIF
$PNQBOZTDIFEVMFEUPCFIFMEPO+VMZ 5IFSFRVJTJUF
OPUJDFTUPHFUIFSXJUIOFDFTTBSZEFQPTJUTIBWFCFFOSFDFJWFE
GSPNBNFNCFSQVSTVBOUUP4FDUJPOPGUIF$PNQBOJFT"DU 
QSPQPTJOHUIFFMFDUJPOPG.S5,,VSJFOBTB%JSFDUPSPGUIF
$PNQBOZ"DDPSEJOHMZ OFDFTTBSZSFTPMVUJPOIBTCFFOJODMVEFE
JOUIFOPUJDFGPSDBMMJOH"OOVBM(FOFSBM.FFUJOH GPSBQQPJOUNFOU
PG.S5,,VSJFOBTB%JSFDUPS EFTJHOBUFEBT$&0 *5#VTJOFTT
BOE&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPS 
.S.,4IBSNBXBTBQQPJOUFEBTBO"EEJUJPOBM%JSFDUPSPGUIF
$PNQBOZ JO BDDPSEBODF XJUI 4FDUJPO  PG UIF $PNQBOJFT
"DU  CZUIF#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTXJUIFòFDUGSPN+VMZ 
5IFBEEJUJPOBM%JSFDUPSXPVMEIPMEPóDFUJMMUIFEBUFPG"OOVBM
(FOFSBM .FFUJOH PG UIF $PNQBOZ TDIFEVMFE UP CF IFME PO
+VMZ   5IF SFRVJTJUF OPUJDFT UPHFUIFS XJUI OFDFTTBSZ
EFQPTJUTIBWFCFFOSFDFJWFGSPNBNFNCFSQVSTVBOUUPTFDUJPO
 PG UIF $PNQBOJFT "DU   QSPQPTJOH UIF FMFDUJPO PG
.S.,4IBSNB BTB%JSFDUPS
Remuneration Policy and criteria of making payments to
Directors
$PNQFOTBUJPO $PNNJUUFF SFDPNNFOET UIF SFNVOFSBUJPO 
JODMVEJOH UIF DPNNJTTJPO CBTFE PO UIF OFU QSPGJUT PG UIF
$PNQBOZGPSUIF$IBJSNBOBOE.BOBHJOH%JSFDUPSBOEPUIFS
&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPST4VDISFDPNNFOEBUJPOJTUIFOBQQSPWFECZ
UIF#PBSEBOETIBSFIPMEFST1SJPSBQQSPWBMPGTIBSFIPMEFSTJTBMTP
PCUBJOFEJODBTFPGSFNVOFSBUJPOUPOPOFYFDVUJWFEJSFDUPST
5IF SFNVOFSBUJPO QBJE UP $IBJSNBO BOE .BOBHJOH %JSFDUPS
BOE &YFDVUJWF %JSFDUPST JT EFUFSNJOFE LFFQJOH JO WJFX UIF
JOEVTUSZCFODINBSL UIFSFMBUJWFQFSGPSNBODFPGUIF$PNQBOZ
UP UIF JOEVTUSZ QFSGPSNBODF  BOE NBDSP FDPOPNJD SFWJFX
PO SFNVOFSBUJPO QBDLBHFT PG $&0T PG PUIFS PSHBOJ[BUJPOT
1FSRVJTJUFTBOESFUJSFNFOUCFOFöUTBSFQBJEBDDPSEJOHUPUIF
$PNQBOZQPMJDZBTBQQMJDBCMFUPBMMFNQMPZFFT
*OEFQFOEFOU /PO&YFDVUJWF %JSFDUPST BSF BQQPJOUFE GPS UIFJS
QSPGFTTJPOBMFYQFSUJTFJOUIFJSJOEJWJEVBMDBQBDJUZBTJOEFQFOEFOU
QSPGFTTJPOBMT#VTJOFTT&YFDVUJWFT*OEFQFOEFOU/PO&YFDVUJWF
%JSFDUPSTSFDFJWFTJUUJOHGFFTGPSBUUFOEJOHUIFNFFUJOHPGUIF
#PBSEBOE#PBSE$PNNJUUFFTBOEDPNNJTTJPOBTBQQSPWFECZ
UIF #PBSE BOE TIBSFIPMEFST5IJT SFNVOFSBUJPO BQQSPWFE CZ
UIF#PBSETVCKFDUUPUIFDPOEJUJPOUIBUDVNVMBUJWFMZJUTIBMMOPU
FYDFFEPGUIFOFUQSPöUTPGUIF$PNQBOZGPSBMM*OEFQFOEFOU
/PO &YFDVUJWF %JSFDUPST JO BHHSFHBUF GPS POF öOBODJBM ZFBS
TVCKFDU UP BO JOEJWJEVBM MJNJU GPS FBDI PG UIF /PO&YFDVUJWF
%JSFDUPST
5IFSFNVOFSBUJPOCZXBZPGDPNNJTTJPOQBJEUPUIF*OEFQFOEFOU
/PO&YFDVUJWFEJSFDUPSTJTEFUFSNJOFEQFSJPEJDBMMZSFWJFXFE
CBTFEPOUIFJOEVTUSZCFODINBSLT



Details of Remuneration to all Directors
5BCMFQSPWJEFTUIFSFNVOFSBUJPOQBJEUPUIF%JSFDUPSTGPSUIFTFSWJDFTSFOEFSFEEVSJOHUIFöOBODJBMZFBS
/PTUPDLPQUJPOTXFSFHSBOUFEUPBOZPGUIF*OEFQFOEFOU/PO&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPSTEVSJOHUIFZFBS

N Vaghul

B C Prabhakar

Dr Jagdish N Sheth

Dr Ashok S Ganguly

P M Sinha

Bill Owens

Suresh C Senapaty

T.K. Kurien#

Shyam Saran

Girish S Paranjpe**

Suresh Vaswani**

Henning Kagermann

3FMBUJPOTIJQ
XJUI
directors

Azim H Premji

Table 07: Directors remuneration paid and grant of stock options during the financial year 2010-11
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'JHVSFTNFOUJPOFEJOoBTBNPVOUTQBZBCMFJO
!'JHVSFTJO`FRVJWBMFOUUPBNPVOUQBJEJOGPSFJHODVSSFODZ
$FBTFEUPCFEJSFDUPSTXJUIFòFDUGSPNDMPTFPGCVTJOFTTIPVSTPG+BOVBSZ 'JHVSFTPOBMMPXBODFTJODMVEFTFWFSBODFQBZ
"QQPJOUFEBT%JSFDUPSXJUIFòFDUGSPN'FCSVBSZ 
"MMöHVSFTPUIFSUIBOTQFDJöDBMMZTUBUFEBCPWFBSFJO*OEJBO3upees.
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%JSFDUPS*EFOUJöDBUJPOOVNCFS

N Vaghul
4

2







Yes





3



2



 

Yes





Independent Independent
/PO&YFDVUJWF /PO&YFDVUJWF
%JSFDUPS
%JSFDUPS

Bill Owens

Dr Ashok S Ganguly
4

1



1





Yes



#

1

4

3



 

Yes



2

2

2



 

Yes











&YFDVUJWF
%JSFDUPS

T.K. Kurien$
1







 

/"

/"





1

Shyam Saran$








Yes





#











Yes



Independent
Independent
/PO&YFDVUJWF /PO&YFDVUJWF
%JSFDUPS
%JSFDUPS

Henning Kagermann

%VSJOHUIFZFBSFOEFE.BSDI  .S(JSJTI41BSBOKQFBOE.S4VSFTI7BTXBOJSFTJHOFEBT%JSFDUPSTGSPNUIF#PBSEPGUIF$PNQBOZXJUIFòFDUGSPNDMPTFPGCVTJOFTTIPVSTPG+BOVBSZ 

!*ODMVEFTTIBSFTIFMEKPJOUMZXJUIJNNFEJBUFGBNJMZNFNCFST

#0OFNFFUJOHBUUFOEFEPWFSUFMFQIPOF

5XPNFFUJOHTBUUFOEFEPWFSUFMFQIPOF

/POFPGUIF%JSFDUPSTPGPVS$PNQBOZXFSFNFNCFSTJONPSFUIBODPNNJUUFFTOPSBDUFEBTDIBJSNBOPGNPSFUIBOöWFDPNNJUUFFTBDSPTTBMMDPNQBOJFTJOXIJDIUIFZXFSF%JSFDUPST5IF$PNNJUUFF
NFNCFSTIJQBOEDPNNJUUFF$IBJSNBOTIJQTIPXOBCPWFJODMVEFT"VEJU$PNNJUUFF $PNQFOTBUJPO$PNNJUUFF #PBSE(PWFSOBODF/PNJOBUJPO$PNNJUUFFBOE4IBSFIPMEFSTBOE*OWFTUPS(SJFWBODF$PNNJUUFF

 

Yes







 

&YFDVUJWF
%JSFDUPS

Suresh C Senapaty


Yes





Independent
Independent
Independent Independent
/PO&YFDVUJWF /PO&YFDVUJWF /PO&YFDVUJWF /PO
%JSFDUPS
%JSFDUPS
%JSFDUPS
&YFDVUJWF
%JSFDUPS

P M Sinha

5IJTEPFTOPUJODMVEFGPSFJHODPNQBOJFTBOEDPNQBOJFTVOEFS4FDUJPOPGUIF$PNQBOJFT"DU CVUJODMVEFTQSJWBUFDPNQBOJFT

  

/VNCFSPGTIBSFTIFMEBTPO
.BSDI !

Yes

"UUFOEBODFBUUIFMBTU"(.IFME
PO+VMZ 




.FNCFSTIJQJO$PNNJUUFFTPG
#PBSEPGPUIFSDPNQBOJFT

/PPG#PBSENFFUJOHTBUUFOEFE







1SPNPUFS
%JSFDUPS

Azim H Premji

$IBJSNBOTIJQJO$PNNJUUFFTPG
#PBSEPGPUIFSDPNQBOJFT

%JSFDUPSTIJQJOPUIFSDPNQBOJFT

%BUFPGBQQPJOUNFOU

$BUFHPSZ

Dr Jagdish N Sheth

Table 08: Key Information pertaining to directors as on March 31, 2011

B C Prabhakar

Wipro Limited



THIRD LAYER: GOVERNANCE BY THE SUB-COMMITTEE OF
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
0VS#PBSEIBTDPOTUJUVUFETVCDPNNJUUFFTUPGPDVTPOTQFDJöD
BSFBT BOE NBLF JOGPSNFE EFDJTJPOT XJUIJO UIF BVUIPSJUZ
EFMFHBUFE UP FBDI PG UIF $PNNJUUFFT &BDI $PNNJUUFF PG
UIF #PBSE JT HVJEFE CZ JUT $IBSUFS  XIJDI EFöOFT UIF TDPQF 
QPXFSTBOEDPNQPTJUJPOPGUIF$PNNJUUFF"MMEFDJTJPOTBOE
SFDPNNFOEBUJPOT PG UIF $PNNJUUFFT BSF QMBDFE CFGPSF UIF
Board either for information or approval.
8FIBWFGPVSTVCDPNNJUUFFTPGUIF#PBSEBTBU.BSDI 


"VEJU3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFF



#PBSE(PWFSOBODFBOE/PNJOBUJPO$PNNJUUFF



$PNQFOTBUJPO$PNNJUUFF



"ENJOJTUSBUJWF4IBSFIPMEFST(SJFWBODF$PNNJUUFF

0VS $'0  &YFDVUJWF %JSFDUPS BOE PUIFS $PSQPSBUF 0óDFST
NBLFQFSJPEJDQSFTFOUBUJPOTUPUIF"VEJU3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF
$PNNJUUFFPOWBSJPVTJTTVFT
5IF"VEJU3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFFJTDPNQSJTFEPGUIF
GPMMPXJOHUISFFOPOFYFDVUJWFEJSFDUPST
.S/7BHIVMo$IBJSNBO
.S1.4JOIBBOE.S#$1SBCIBLBSo.FNCFST
0VS"VEJU3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFFNFUUFOUJNFTEVSJOH
UIFöOBODJBMZFBSPOo"QSJM .BZ +VMZ "VHVTU
  4FQUFNCFS  0DUPCFS /PWFNCFS 
 +BOVBSZ "VEJU3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFF
NFFUJOHPG4FQUFNCFS XBTPWFSUFMFQIPOF
5IFDPNQPTJUJPOPGUIF"VEJU3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFF
BOEUIFJSBUUFOEBODFBSFHJWFOJOTable 09.

Audit/Risk and Compliance Committee

Name

Position

5IF "VEJU3JTL BOE $PNQMJBODF $PNNJUUFF PG UIF #PBSE PG
%JSFDUPST XIJDIXBTGPSNFEJO SFWJFX BDUTPOBOESFQPSUT
UPPVS#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTXJUISFTQFDUUPWBSJPVTBVEJUJOHBOE
BDDPVOUJOHNBUUFST 5IJT$PNNJUUFFXBTSFOBNFEBT"VEJU3JTL
BOE$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFFXJUIFòFDUGSPN"QSJM 5IF
QSJNBSJMZSFTQPOTJCJMJUJFTPGUIF$PNNJUUFF JOUFSBMJB BSF

/7BHIVM
1.4JOIB
#$1SBCIBLBS

$IBJSNBO
.FNCFS
.FNCFS

t

"VEJUJOHBOEBDDPVOUJOHNBUUFST JODMVEJOHSFDPNNFOEJOH
the appointment of our independent auditors to the
shareholders

t

$PNQMJBODFXJUIMFHBMBOETUBUVUPSZSFRVJSFNFOUT

t

*OUFHSJUZPGUIF$PNQBOZTöOBODJBMTUBUFNFOUT EJTDVTTJOH
XJUI UIF JOEFQFOEFOU BVEJUPST UIF TDPQF PG UIF BOOVBM
BVEJUT BOEGFFTUPCFQBJEUPUIFJOEFQFOEFOUBVEJUPST

t

1FSGPSNBODF PG UIF $PNQBOZT *OUFSOBM "VEJU GVODUJPO 
*OEFQFOEFOU"VEJUPSTBOEBDDPVOUJOHQSBDUJDFT

t

3FWJFXPGSFMBUFEQBSUZUSBOTBDUJPOT GVODUJPOJOHPG8IJTUMF
#MPXFSNFDIBOJTN BOE

t

*NQMFNFOUBUJPO PG UIF BQQMJDBCMF QSPWJTJPOT PG UIF
4BSCBOFT0YMFZ"DUJODMVEJOHSFWJFXPOUIFQSPHSFTT
PGJOUFSOBMDPOUSPMNFDIBOJTNUPQSFQBSFGPSDFSUJöDBUJPO
VOEFS4FDUJPOPGUIF4BSCBOFT0YMFZ"DU

5IF$IBJSNBOPGUIF"VEJU3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFFJT
QSFTFOUBUUIF"OOVBM(FOFSBM.FFUJOH5IFEFUBJMFEDIBSUFSPG
UIF$PNNJUUFFJTQPTUFEBUPVSXFCTJUFBOEBWBJMBCMFBUXXX
XJQSPDPNJOWFTUPSTDPSQPSBUFHPWFSOBODFIUN
"MMNFNCFSTPGPVS"VEJU3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFFBSF
JOEFQFOEFOUOPOFYFDVUJWFEJSFDUPSTBOEöOBODJBMMZMJUFSBUF5IF
$IBJSNBOPGPVS"VEJU3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFFIBTUIF
BDDPVOUJOHPSSFMBUFEöOBODJBMNBOBHFNFOUFYQFSUJTF
4UBUVUPSZ "VEJUPST BT XFMM BT *OUFSOBM "VEJUPST BMXBZT IBWF
JOEFQFOEFOU NFFUJOHT XJUI UIF "VEJU3JTL BOE $PNQMJBODF
$PNNJUUFFBOEBMTPQBSUJDJQBUFJOUIF"VEJU3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF
$PNNJUUFFNFFUJOHT



Number of meetings
attended




0VUPGUIFBCPWFBUUFOEFENFFUJOHTPWFSQIPOF
0VUPGUIFBCPWFBUUFOEFENFFUJOHTPWFSQIPOF
Board Governance and Nomination Committee
"MM NFNCFST PG UIF #PBSE (PWFSOBODF BOE /PNJOBUJPO
$PNNJUUFFBSFJOEFQFOEFOUOPOFYFDVUJWFEJSFDUPST
5IF QSJNBSZ SFTQPOTJCJMJUJFT PG UIF #PBSE (PWFSOBODF BOE
/PNJOBUJPO$PNNJUUFFBSF
t

%FWFMPQ BOE SFDPNNFOE UP UIF #PBSE $PSQPSBUF
(PWFSOBODF(VJEFMJOFTBQQMJDBCMFUPUIF$PNQBOZ

t

&WBMVBUJPOPGUIF#PBSEPOBDPOUJOVJOHCBTJTJODMVEJOHBO
BTTFTTNFOUPGUIFFòFDUJWFOFTTPGUIFGVMMCPBSE PQFSBUJPOT
PGUIF#PBSE$PNNJUUFFTBOE$POUSJCVUJPOTPG*OEJWJEVBM
directors.

t

-BZEPXOQPMJDJFTBOEQSPDFEVSFTUPBTTFTTUIFSFRVJSFNFOUT
GPSJODMVTJPOPGOFXNFNCFSTPOUIF#PBSE

t

*NQMFNFOU QPMJDJFT BOE QSPDFTTFT SFMBUJOH UP DPSQPSBUF
HPWFSOBODFQSJODJQMFT

t

&OTVSFUIBUBQQSPQSJBUFQSPDFEVSFTBSFJOQMBDFUPBDDFTT
#PBSENFNCFSTIJQOFFETBOE#PBSEFòFDUJWFOFTT

t

3FWJFX UIF DPNQBOZT QPMJDJFT UIBU SFMBUF UP NBUUFST PG
DPSQPSBUFTPDJBMSFTQPOTJCJMJUZ JODMVEJOHQVCMJDJTTVFTPG
TJHOJöDBODFUPUIFDPNQBOZBOEJUTTUBLFIPMEFST

t

'PSNVMBUFUIFEJTDMPTVSF1PMJDZ JUTSFWJFXBOEBQQSPWBMPG
disclosure.

5IF#PBSE(PWFSOBODFBOE/PNJOBUJPO$PNNJUUFFPGUIF#PBSE
NFU GPVS UJNFT PO o "QSJM   +VMZ   0DUPCFS    BOE
+BOVBSZ  EVSJOHUIFöOBODJBMZFBS

"OOVBM3FQPSU

Table 10 provides the composition and attendance of the
Board Governance and Nomination Committee.
Name

Position

%S"TIPL4(BOHVMZ
1.4JOIB
/7BHIVM
#JMM0XFOT

$IBJSNBO
.FNCFS
.FNCFS
.FNCFS

Number of meetings
attended
4
4
4
4

0VUPGUIFBCPWFBUUFOEFENFFUJOHPWFSQIPOF
5IFEFUBJMFEDIBSUFSPGUIJT$PNNJUUFFJTQPTUFEPOPVSXFCTJUF
BOEBWBJMBCMFBUXXXXJQSPDPNJOWFTUPSTDPSQJOGP
Compensation Committee
0VS &YFDVUJWF 7JDF 1SFTJEFOU)VNBO 3FTPVSDFT NBLFT
QFSJPEJD QSFTFOUBUJPOT UP UIF $PNQFOTBUJPO $PNNJUUFF PO
DPNQFOTBUJPO SFWJFXT5IF NFNCFST PG UIF $PNQFOTBUJPO
$PNNJUUFFBSFBTGPMMPXT
%S"TIPL(BOHVMZo$IBJSNBO
.S/7BHIVMBOE.S1.4JOIBo.FNCFST
5IFQSJNBSZSFTQPOTJCJMJUJFTPGUIF$PNQFOTBUJPO$PNNJUUFF 
JOUFSBMJBBSFUP
B %FUFSNJOFBOEBQQSPWFTBMBSJFT CFOFöUTBOETUPDLPQUJPOT
HSBOUTUP4FOJPS.BOBHFNFOUFNQMPZFFTBOE%JSFDUPSTPG
PVS$PNQBOZ
C "QQSPWF BOE FWBMVBUF UIF $PNQFOTBUJPO 1MBOT BOE
QSPHSBNTGPS8IPMFUJNFEJSFDUPST
"MMNFNCFSTPGUIF$PNQFOTBUJPO$PNNJUUFFBSFJOEFQFOEFOU
OPOFYFDVUJWFEJSFDUPST5IJT$PNNJUUFFPGUIF#PBSENFUGPVS
UJNFTPOo"QSJM +VMZ 0DUPCFS BOE+BOVBSZ 
 EVSJOHUIFöOBODJBMZFBS
Table 11 provides the composition and attendance of the
Compensation Committee.
Name

Position

%S"TIPL4(BOHVMZ
1.4JOIB
/7BHIVM

$IBJSNBO
.FNCFS
.FNCFS

Number of meetings
attended
4
4
4

0VUPGUIFBCPWFBUUFOEFENFFUJOHPWFSQIPOF
Administrative/Shareholders & Investors Grievance
Committee:
5IF NFNCFST PG UIF $PNNJUUFF BT PO .BSDI    BSF BT
under:
.S#$1SBCIBLBSo$IBJSNBO
.S4VSFTI$4FOBQBUZo.FNCFS
.S5,,VSJFOo.FNCFS
5IF "ENJOJTUSBUJWF4IBSFIPMEFST  *OWFTUPST (SJFWBODF
$PNNJUUFF JT SFTQPOTJCMF GPS SFTPMWJOH JOWFTUPST DPNQMBJOUT
QFSUBJOJOH UP TIBSF USBOTGFST  OPO SFDFJQU PG BOOVBM SFQPSUT 
%JWJEFOE QBZNFOUT  JTTVF PG EVQMJDBUF TIBSF DFSUJGJDBUFT 
Wipro Limited

USBOTNJTTJPOPGTIBSFTBOEPUIFSTIBSFIPMEFSSFMBUFERVFSJFT 
complaints etc.
*O BEEJUJPO UP BCPWF  UIJT $PNNJUUFF JT BMTP FNQPXFSFE
UP PWFSTFF BENJOJTUSBUJWF NBUUFST MJLF PQFOJOH  DMPTVSF PG
$PNQBOZT #BOL BDDPVOUT  HSBOU BOE SFWPDBUJPO PG HFOFSBM 
TQFDJöDBOECBOLJOHQPXFSTPGBUUPSOFZ DPOTJEFSBOEBQQSPWF
BMMPUNFOUPGFRVJUZTIBSFTQVSTVBOUUPFYFSDJTFPGTUPDLPQUJPOT 
TFUUJOHVQCSBODIPóDFTBOEPUIFSBENJOJTUSBUJWFNBUUFSTBT
EFMFHBUFECZ#PBSEGSPNUJNFUPUJNF
5IF$IBJSNBOPGUIF$PNNJUUFFJTBOJOEFQFOEFOUOPOFYFDVUJWF
director.
5IF"ENJOJTUSBUJWFBOE4IBSFIPMEFST(SJFWBODF$PNNJUUFFNFU
GPVSUJNFTJOUIFöOBODJBMZFBSPOo"QSJM +VMZ 0DUPCFS
   BOE +BOVBSZ    *O BEEJUJPO  UIF 4IBSFIPMEFST
(SJFWBODF$PNNJUUFF PODFJOEBZT SFWJFXTUIFSFESFTTBMPG
shareholders and investor complaints.
.S4VSFTI7BTXBOJDFBTFEUPCFBNFNCFSPGUIFDPNNJUUFF
XJUIFòFDUGSPNDMPTFPGCVTJOFTTIPVSTPG+BOVBSZ 
.S5,,VSJFOXBTBQQPJOUFEBTNFNCFSPGUIFDPNNJUUFFXJUI
FòFDUGSPN"QSJM 
Table 12 provides the composition and attendance of the
Shareholders / Investors Grievance Committee.
Table 12
Name

Position

#$1SBCIBLBS
4VSFTI$4FOBQBUZ
4VSFTI7BTXBOJ

$IBJSNBO
.FNCFS
.FNCFS

Number of meetings
attended
4
4
4

5IFTUBUVTPOUIFTIBSFIPMEFSRVFSJFTBOEDPNQMBJOUTXFSFDFJWFE 
SFTQPOTFUPUIFDPNQMBJOUTBOEUIFDVSSFOUTUBUVTPGQFOEJOH
RVFSJFTJGBOZ BTPO.BSDI JT5BCVMBUFEJO5BCMF
Table 13
Description
/POSFDFJQUPG
Securities
/POSFDFJQUPG
annual reports
$PSSFDUJPO
3FWBMJEBUJPO
0G%JWJEFOE
Warrants
4&#*4UPDL
&YDIBOHF
$PNQMBJOUT
/PO3FDFJQU
PG%JWJEFOE
Warrant
%FNBUSFRVFTU
received
0UIFST
Total

Nature
Received Replied
$PNQMBJOU



Pending


$PNQMBJOU







3FRVFTU







$PNQMBJOU







$PNQMBJOU





3

3FRVFTU

2



2

3FRVFTU


1048


1043


5



5IFSFBSFDFSUBJOQFOEJOHDBTFTSFMBUJOHUPEJTQVUFPWFSUJUMFUPTIBSFTJOXIJDIUIF$PNQBOZIBTCFFONBEFBQBSUZ)PXFWFS 
these cases are not material in nature.
.S73BNBDIBOESBO $PNQBOZ4FDSFUBSZJTPVS$PNQMJBODF0óDFSGPSUIF-JTUJOH"HSFFNFOU
Unclaimed Dividends
6OEFSUIF$PNQBOJFT"DU  %JWJEFOETUIBUBSFVODMBJNFEGPSBQFSJPEPGTFWFOZFBSTJTSFRVJSFEUPCFUSBOTGFSSFEUPUIF*OWFTUPS
&EVDBUJPOBOE1SPUFDUJPO'VOEBENJOJTUFSFECZUIF$FOUSBM(PWFSONFOU
8FHJWFCFMPXBUBCMFQSPWJEJOHUIFEBUFTPGEFDMBSBUJPOPG%JWJEFOETJODFBTPO.BSDI BOEUIFDPSSFTQPOEJOH
EBUFTXIFOVODMBJNFEEJWJEFOEBSFEVFUPCFUSBOTGFSSFEUPUIFDFOUSBMHPWFSONFOU
Table 14
Financial Year

Date of declaration of Last date for
Dividend
claiming unpaid
Dividend




 *OUFSJN%JWJEFOE
 'JOBM%JWJEFOE
 *OUFSJN%JWJEFOE 
 'JOBM%JWJEFOE
 'JOBM%JWJEFOE
 'JOBM%JWJEFOE
 *OUFSJN%JWJEFOE

+VOF 
+VMZ 
+VMZ 
.BSDI 
+VMZ 
0DUPCFS 
+VMZ 
+VMZ 
+VMZ 
+BOVBSZ 

+VOF 
+VMZ 
+VMZ 
.BSDI 
+VMZ 
0DUPCFS 
+VMZ 
+VMZ 
+VMZ 
+BOVBSZ 

4FQBSBUF MFUUFST XJMM CF TFOU UP UIF 4IBSFIPMEFST XIP BSF ZFU
UP FODBTI UIF %JWJEFOE JOEJDBUJOH UIBU %JWJEFOE ZFU UP CF
FODBTIFE CZ UIF DPODFSOFE TIBSFIPMEFS BOE UIF BNPVOU
SFNBJOJOH VOQBJE XJMM CF USBOTGFSSFE BT QFS UIF BCPWF EBUFT
.FNCFSTBSFSFRVFTUFEUPVUJMJ[FUIJTPQQPSUVOJUZBOEHFUJO
UPVDIXJUI$PNQBOZT3FHJTUSBSBOE4IBSF5SBOTGFS"HFOU .T
,BSWZ $PNQVUFSTIBSF 1WU -JNJUFE  )ZEFSBCBE GPS FODBTIJOH
UIFVODMBJNFE%JWJEFOETUBOEJOHUPUIFDSFEJUPGUIFJSBDDPVOU
"GUFSDPNQMFUJPOPGTFWFOZFBSTBTQFSUIFBCPWFUBCMF OPDMBJNT
TIBMMMJFBHBJOTUUIFTBJE'VOEPSBHBJOTUUIF$PNQBOZGPSUIF
BNPVOUTPG%JWJEFOETPUSBOTGFSSFEOPSTIBMMBOZQBZNFOUCF
made in respect of such claims.
Secretarial Audit
" RVBMJGJFE QSBDUJDJOH $PNQBOZ 4FDSFUBSZ IBT DBSSJFE PVU
TFDSFUBSJBMBVEJUFWFSZRVBSUFSUPSFDPODJMFUIFUPUBMBENJUUFE
DBQJUBM XJUI /BUJPOBM 4FDVSJUJFT %FQPTJUPSZ -JNJUFE /4%- 
BOE$FOUSBM%FQPTJUPSZ4FSWJDFT *OEJB -JNJUFE $%4- BOEUIF
UPUBMJTTVFEBOEMJTUFEDBQJUBM5IFBVEJUDPOöSNTUIBUUIFUPUBM
JTTVFEQBJEVQDBQJUBMJTJOBHSFFNFOUXJUIUIFBHHSFHBUFUPUBM
OVNCFSPGTIBSFTJOQIZTJDBMGPSN TIBSFTBMMPUUFEBEWJTFEGPS
EFNBUDSFEJUCVUQFOEJOHFYFDVUJPOBOEUIFUPUBMOVNCFSPG
EFNBUFSJBMJ[FETIBSFTIFMEXJUI/4%-BOE$%4-



Unclaimed amount
(Rs.)
(number to be
updated)
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Due date for transfer to
Investor Education and
Protection Fund
+VMZ 
"VHVTU 
"VHVTU 
"QSJM 
"VHVTU 
/PWFNCFS 
"VHVTU 
"VHVTU 
"VHVTU 
'FCSVBSZ 

Compliance
5IFDFSUJöDBUFEBUFE+VOF PCUBJOFEGSPN74SFFEIBSBO
 "TTPDJBUFT  $PNQBOZ 4FDSFUBSJFT JT HJWFO BU QBHF OP  PG
the annual report.
Subsidiary Monitoring Framework
"MM UIF TVCTJEJBSZ DPNQBOJFT PG UIF $PNQBOZ BSF NBOBHFE
XJUIUIFJS#PBSETIBWJOHUIFSJHIUTBOEPCMJHBUJPOTUPNBOBHF
UIFTF DPNQBOJFT JO UIF CFTU JOUFSFTU PG UIFJS TUBLFIPMEFST
5IF $PNQBOZ OPNJOBUFT JUT SFQSFTFOUBUJWFT PO UIF #PBSE
PG TVCTJEJBSZ DPNQBOJFT BOE NPOJUPST QFSGPSNBODF PG TVDI
DPNQBOJFT JOUFSBMJB CZ
B

'JOBODJBMTUBUFNFOUT JOQBSUJDVMBSUIFJOWFTUNFOUNBEFCZ
UIFVOMJTUFETVCTJEJBSZDPNQBOJFT TUBUFNFOUDPOUBJOJOH
BMMTJHOJöDBOUUSBOTBDUJPOTBOEBSSBOHFNFOUTFOUFSFEJOUP
CZUIFVOMJTUFETVCTJEJBSZDPNQBOJFTGPSNJOHQBSUPGUIF
öOBODJBMTCFJOHSFWJFXFECZUIF"VEJU$PNNJUUFFPGUIF
ZPVS$PNQBOZPOBRVBSUFSMZCBTJT

C

.JOVUFT PG UIF NFFUJOHT PG UIF VOMJTUFE TVCTJEJBSZ
DPNQBOJFT JGBOZ BSFQMBDFECFGPSFUIF$PNQBOZT#PBSE
SFHVMBSMZ

"OOVBM3FQPSU

FOURTH LAYER: GOVERNANCE OF THE MANAGEMENT
PROCESS
Corporate Executive Council of the Company (CEC)
5IF EBZUPEBZ NBOBHFNFOU JT WFTUFE XJUI UIF $&$ PG UIF
$PNQBOZ DPNQSJTJOH PG #VTJOFTT BOE 'VODUJPOBM IFBET XIP
XPSL VOEFS UIF PWFSBMM TVQFSJOUFOEFODF BOE DPOUSPM PG UIF
#PBSE5IF$&$JTIFBEFECZUIF$IBJSNBO .S"[JN)1SFNKJ
5IFMJTUPG$&$NFNCFSTJTHJWFOCFMPX
t
t
t
t
t
t
t
t

"[JN)1SFNKJ $IBJSNBOBOE.BOBHJOH%JSFDUPS
4VSFTI4FOBQBUZ $'0BOE&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPS
5,,VSJFO $&0 *5#VTJOFTT BOE&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPS
7JOFFU "HSBXBM  1SFTJEFOU8JQSP $POTVNFS $BSF BOE
-JHIUJOH
1SBUJL,VNBS &YFDVUJWF7JDF1SFTJEFOU)VNBO3FTPVSDFT
1SFTJEFOU8JQSP*OGSBTUSVDUVSF&OHJOFFSJOH
4%FC $IJFG(MPCBM%FMJWFSZ0óDFS 8JQSP5FDIOPMPHJFT
.BSUIB#FKBS$IBJSQFSTPO$&0*OGPDSPTTJOH*OD
"OVSBH#FIBS $IJFG4VTUBJOBCMJUZ0óDFS

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
*O XFBSUJDVMBUFEA8JQSP#FMJFGTDPOTJTUJOHPGTJYTUBUFNFOUT
"UUIFDPSFPGCFMJFGTXBTJOUFHSJUZBSUJDVMBUFEBT
t

0VSJOEJWJEVBMBOE$PNQBOZSFMBUJPOTIJQTIPVMECFHPWFSOFE
CZUIFIJHIFTUTUBOEBSEPGDPOEVDUBOEJOUFHSJUZ

0WFSZFBST UIJTBSUJDVMBUJPOIBTFWPMWFEJOGPSNCVUSFNBJOFE
DPOTUBOUJOTVCTUBODF5PEBZXFBSUJDVMBUFJUBT$PEFPG#VTJOFTT
$POEVDUBOE&UIJDT
*OPVSDPNQBOZ UIF#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTBOEBMMFNQMPZFFTIBWF
BSFTQPOTJCJMJUZUPVOEFSTUBOEBOEGPMMPXUIF$PEFPG#VTJOFTT
$POEVDU "MM FNQMPZFFT BSF FYQFDUFE UP QFSGPSN UIFJS XPSL
XJUIIPOFTUZBOEJOUFHSJUZ8JQSPT$PEFPG#VTJOFTT$POEVDU
SFøFDUTHFOFSBMQSJODJQMFTUPHVJEFFNQMPZFFTJONBLJOHFUIJDBM
EFDJTJPOT5IJT DPEF JT BMTP BQQMJDBCMF UP PVS SFQSFTFOUBUJWFT
5IF$PEFPVUMJOFTGVOEBNFOUBMFUIJDBMDPOTJEFSBUJPOTBTXFMM
BT TQFDJGJD DPOTJEFSBUJPOT UIBU OFFE UP CF NBJOUBJOFE GPS
QSPGFTTJPOBM DPOEVDU5IJT $PEF IBT CFFO EJTQMBZFE PO UIF
$PNQBOZT XFCTJUF XXXXJQSPDPNDPSQPSBUFJOWFTUPST
DPSQPSBUFHPWFSOBODFIUN
5IF$IBJSNBOIBTBóSNFEUPUIF#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTUIBUUIJT
$PEFPG#VTJOFTT$POEVDUBOE&UIJDTIBTCFFODPNQMJFECZUIF
#PBSENFNCFSTBOE4FOJPS.BOBHFNFOU
Ombudsmen process
8FIBWFBEPQUFEBO0NCVETNFOQSPDFTTXIJDIJTUIFDIBOOFM
GPSSFDFJWJOHBOESFESFTTJOHFNQMPZFFTDPNQMBJOUT6OEFSUIJT
QPMJDZ XFFODPVSBHFPVSFNQMPZFFTUPSFQPSUBOZSFQPSUJOHPG
GSBVEVMFOUöOBODJBM PS PUIFS JOGPSNBUJPO UP UIF TUBLFIPMEFST 
BOZDPOEVDUUIBUSFTVMUTJOWJPMBUJPOPGUIF$PNQBOZT$PEFPG
#VTJOFTT$POEVDUBOE&UIJDT UPNBOBHFNFOU POBOBOPOZNPVT
CBTJT JGFNQMPZFFTTPEFTJSF 

Wipro Limited

-JLFXJTF VOEFSUIJTQPMJDZ XFIBWFQSPIJCJUFEEJTDSJNJOBUJPO 
SFUBMJBUJPO PS IBSBTTNFOU PG BOZ LJOE BHBJOTU BOZ FNQMPZFFT
XIP  CBTFE PO UIF FNQMPZFFT SFBTPOBCMF CFMJFG UIBU TVDI
DPOEVDU PS QSBDUJDF IBWF PDDVSSFE PS BSF PDDVSSJOH  SFQPSUT
UIBU JOGPSNBUJPO PS QBSUJDJQBUFT JO UIF TBJE JOWFTUJHBUJPO /P
JOEJWJEVBMJOUIF$PNQBOZIBTCFFOEFOJFEBDDFTTUPUIF"VEJU
3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFFPSJUT$IBJSNBO
.FDIBOJTNGPMMPXFEVOEFS0NCVETNFOQSPDFTTJTBQQSPQSJBUFMZ
DPNNVOJDBUFE XJUIJO UIF $PNQBOZ BDSPTT BMM MFWFMT BOE IBT
CFFOEJTQMBZFEPO8JQSPTJOUSBOFUBOEPO8JQSPTXFCTJUFBU
XXXXJQSPDPN
5IF"VEJU3JTLBOE$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFFQFSJPEJDBMMZSFWJFXT
UIFGVODUJPOJOHPGUIJTNFDIBOJTN
Compliance Committee
8F IBWF B $PNQMJBODF $PNNJUUFF XIJDI DPOTJEFST NBUUFST
SFMBUJOHUP8JQSPT$PEFPG#VTJOFTT$POEVDU 0NCVETQSPDFTT 
$PEF GPS 1SFWFOUJPO PG *OTJEFS5SBEJOH BOE PUIFS BQQMJDBCMF
TUBUVUPSZ NBUUFST5IF $PNQMJBODF $PNNJUUFF DPOTJTUT PG
$IBJSNBO $'0&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPS $&0*5#VTJOFTT &YFDVUJWF
7JDF 1SFTJEFOU)VNBO 3FTPVSDFT 7JDF 1SFTJEFOU-FHBM BOE
(FOFSBM$PVOTFM $IJFG3JTL0óDFSBOE7JDF1SFTJEFOU*OUFSOBM
"VEJU %VSJOH UIF GJOBODJBM ZFBS   UIF $PNQMJBODF
$PNNJUUFFNFUGPVSUJNFTBOETVCNJUUFEJUTSFQPSUUPUIF"VEJU
$PNNJUUFFGPSJUTSFWJFXBOEDPOTJEFSBUJPO
Compliance with adoption of mandatory requirements
:PVS$PNQBOZIBTDPNQMJFEXJUIBMMUIFNBOEBUPSZSFRVJSFNFOUT
PG$MBVTFPGUIF-JTUJOH"HSFFNFOU
Non Compliance on matters related to capital markets
:PVS $PNQBOZ IBT DPNQMJFE XJUI UIF SFRVJSFNFOUT PG UIF
4UPDL&YDIBOHFPS4&#*PONBUUFSTSFMBUFEUP$BQJUBM.BSLFUT 
BTBQQMJDBCMF
Compliance report on Non-mandatory requirements under
Clause 49
1.

The Board – Chairman’s Office & Tenure of Directors

5IF$IBJSNBOPG8JQSPJTBO&YFDVUJWF%JSFDUPSBOEUIJTQSPWJTJPO
JTOPUBQQMJDBCMFUP8JQSP4PNFPGPVSJOEFQFOEFOUEJSFDUPST
IBWFDPNQMFUFEBUFOVSFFYDFFEJOHBQFSJPEPGOJOFZFBSTPO
UIF#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTPGUIF$PNQBOZ
2.

Remuneration Committee

5IF#PBSEPG%JSFDUPSTDPOTUJUVUFEB$PNQFOTBUJPO$PNNJUUFF 
XIJDI JT FOUJSFMZ DPNQPTFE PG JOEFQFOEFOU EJSFDUPST5IF
$PNNJUUFF BMTP EJTDIBSHFT UIF EVUJFT BOE SFTQPOTJCJMJUJFT BT
EFTDSJCFEVOEFSOPONBOEBUPSZSFRVJSFNFOUTPG$MBVTF5IF
EFUBJMT PG UIF $PNQFOTBUJPO $PNNJUUFF BOE JUT QPXFST IBWF
CFFOEJTDVTTFEJOUIJTTFDUJPOPGUIF"OOVBM3FQPSU
3.

Shareholders rights

8FEJTQMBZPVSRVBSUFSMZBOEIBMGZFBSMZSFTVMUTPOPVSXFCTJUF 
XXXXJQSPDPNBOEBMTPQVCMJTIPVSSFTVMUTJOXJEFMZDJSDVMBUFE



OFXTQBQFST8FIBWFTFOURVBSUFSMZSFTVMUTCZFNBJMUPUIPTF
TIBSFIPMEFSTXIPIBWFQSPWJEFEUIFJSFNBJMJETXJUIFíFDUGSPN
%FDFNCFSRVBSUFSPOXBSET8FIBWFBMTPDPNNVOJDBUFE
UIFQBZNFOUPGEJWJEFOECZFNBJMUPTIBSFIPMEFSTJOBEEJUJPO
to despatch of letters to all shareholders.
4.

Audit Qualifications

5IF"VEJUPSTIBWFOPURVBMJñFEUIFñOBODJBMTUBUFNFOUTPGUIF
$PNQBOZ
5.

Training of Board Members

5IF CPBSE PG EJSFDUPST JT SFTQPOTJCMF GPS TVQFSWJTJPO PG UIF
$PNQBOZ5P BDIJFWF UIJT  CPBSE VOEFSUBLFT QFSJPEJD SFWJFX
PG WBSJPVT NBUUFST JODMVEJOH CVTJOFTT XJTF QFSGPSNBODF  SJTL
NBOBHFNFOU CPSSPXJOHT JOUFSOBMBVEJUFYUFSOBMBVEJUSFQPSUT
FUD *O PSEFS UP FOBCMF UIF EJSFDUPST UP GVMñMM UIF HPWFSOBODF
SPMF  DPNQSFIFOTJWF QSFTFOUBUJPOT BSF NBEF PO UIF WBSJPVT
CVTJOFTTFT CVTJOFTTNPEFMT SJTLNJOJNJ[BUJPOQSPDFEVSFTBOE
OFXJOJUJBUJWFTPGUIF$PNQBOZ$IBOHFTJOEPNFTUJDPWFSTFBT
DPSQPSBUF BOE JOEVTUSZ TDFOBSJP JODMVEJOH UIFJS FíFDU PO UIF
DPNQBOZ TUBUVUPSZNBUUFSTBSFBMTPQSFTFOUFEUPUIFEJSFDUPST
POBQFSJPEJDCBTJT
6.

Mechanism for evaluation: Independent Board members

*OMJOFXJUIPVSDPSQPSBUFHPWFSOBODFHVJEFMJOFT FWBMVBUJPOPG
BMM#PBSENFNCFSTJTEPOFPOBOBOOVBMCBTJT5IJTFWBMVBUJPOJT
MFBECZUIF$IBJSNBOPGUIF#PBSE(PWFSOBODFBOE/PNJOBUJPO
$PNNJUUFFXJUITQFDJñDGPDVTPOUIFQFSGPSNBODFBOEFíFDUJWF
GVODUJPOJOHPGUIF#PBSE $PNNJUUFFTPGUIF#PBSEBOESFQPSU
the recommendation to the Board. The evaluation process also
DPOTJEFSTUIFUJNFTQFOUCZFBDIPGUIF#PBSENFNCFST DPSF
DPNQFUFODJFT  QFSTPOBM DIBSBDUFSJTUJDT  BDDPNQMJTINFOU PG
TQFDJñDSFTQPOTJCJMJUJFTBOEFYQFSUJTF

7.

Whistle Blower Policy

5IFEFUBJMTPGUIF0NCVETNFOQSPDFTTBOEJUTGVODUJPOTIBWF
CFFOEJTDVTTFEFBSMJFSJOUIJTTFDUJPO
Disclosures by the Management
%VSJOH UIF ZFBS   UIFSF IBWF CFFO OP USBOTBDUJPOT
PG NBUFSJBM OBUVSF FOUFSFE JOUP CZ UIF $PNQBOZ XJUI UIF
.BOBHFNFOUPSUIFJSSFMBUJWFTUIBUNBZIBWFBQPUFOUJBMDPOóJDU
XJUI JOUFSFTU PG UIF $PNQBOZ /POF PG UIF /PO&YFDVUJWF
%JSFDUPSTIBWFBOZQFDVOJBSZNBUFSJBMSFMBUJPOTIJQPSNBUFSJBM
USBOTBDUJPOXJUIUIF$PNQBOZGPSUIFZFBSFOEFE.BSDI 
BOEIBTHJWFOVOEFSUBLJOHTUPUIBUFíFDU
Code for prevention of Insider Trading
8F IBWF DPNQSFIFOTJWF HVJEFMJOFT PO QSFWFOUJOH JOTJEFS
USBEJOH 0VS HVJEFMJOFT BSF JO DPNQMJBODF XJUI UIF 4&#*
HVJEFMJOFTPOQSFWFOUJPOPG*OTJEFS5SBEJOH
NYSE Corporate Governance Listing Standards
5IF$PNQBOZIBTNBEFUIJTEJTDMPTVSFPGDPNQMJBODFXJUIUIF
/:4&-JTUJOH4UBOEBSETJOJUTXFCTJUFXXXXJQSPDPNJOWFTUPST
DPSQHPWFSOBODFIUNBOEIBTñMFEUIFTBNFXJUIUIF/FX:PSL
4UPDL&YDIBOHF /:4& 
Declaration as required under Clause 49 (I)(D)(ii) of the Stock
Exchange Listing Agreement
"MM%JSFDUPSTBOETFOJPSNBOBHFNFOUQFSTPOOFMPGUIF$PNQBOZ
IBWFBîSNFEDPNQMJBODFXJUI8JQSPT$PEFPG#VTJOFTT$POEVDU
BOE&UIJDTGPSUIFñOBODJBMZFBSFOEFE.BSDI 








%BUF+VOF 









4E

Azim H Premji
$IBJSNBO

"OOVBM3FQPSU

Share Data
5IFQFSGPSNBODFPGPVSTUPDLJOUIFöOBODJBMZFBSJTUBCVMBUFEJO5BCMF
Table 15: Monthly high and low price points and volume in National Stock Exchange and New York Stock Exchange is
provided below (Figures adjusted for Bonus shares issued in June 2010 in the ratio of 2:3):
Month

April

7PMVNF
USBEFE/4&

May

June

July

August September

              

October November December

January

February

March
2011

                    

Price in NSE during each Month :
)JHI

422.4















%BUF

"QS .BZ +VO



+VM

"VH

4FQ

0DU /PW %FD

+BO

'FC

.BS

7PMVNF
traded on
that date
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Wipro Price Movement vis-à-vis Previous
Month High/Low (%) :
)JHI





1.6%



2.1%

3.4%





12.3%







-PX











1.3%

4.2%











S&P CNX Nifty Index Movement vis-à-vis
Previous Month High/Low %
)JHI

1.3%





2.1%

1.3%















-PX

4.6%



3.6%



2.4%













3.3%

Graph : 01 Wipro share price movements in NSE compared with S&P CNX Nifty
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Table 16 : ADS Share Price during financial year 2010-11 ( ADS price adjusted for Bonus shares issued in June 2010 in ratio of 2:3)
April
.BZ
+VOF
+VMZ
"VHVTU 4FQUFNCFS 0DUPCFS /PWFNCFS %FDFNCFS +BOVBSZ 'FCSVBSZ





14.46




13.16
8JQSP"%4
price in
/:4&EVSJOH
FBDI.POUI
DMPTJOH   
/:4&5.5
         
   
 
     
*OEFYEVSJOH
each month
DMPTJOH 
Wipro



13.3%




 

"%41SJDF
.PWFNFOU
 7JTBWJT
1SFWJPVT
month
$MPTJOH 
/:4&5.5










2.4%
*OEFY
.PWFNFOU
 7JTBWJT
1SFWJPVT
month
$MPTJOH

.BSDI


 

11.3%



Graph 02: Wipro Share price movements in NYSE compared with TMT index
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Graph 03: Wipro ADS premium over Equity share price in NSE during the year 2010-11
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Other Information
a.

Table 17 Share Capital History

)JTUPSZPG*101SJWBUF1MBDFNFOU#POVT*TTVFT4UPDL4QMJU"MMPUNFOUPG4IBSFTQVSTVBOUUP&YFSDJTFPG4UPDL0QUJPOT
Type Of Issue

*10
Bonus issue
Bonus issue
Bonus issue
Issue of shares
UP8JQSP&RVJUZ
3FXBSE5SVTU
Bonus issue
4UPDLTQMJU
Bonus issue
Bonus issue
Issue of shares
pursuant to
NFSHFSPG
Wipro Infotech
Limited and
8JQSP4ZTUFNT
-JNJUFEXJUIUIF
$PNQBOZ
Bonus issue
Bonus issue
4UPDLTQMJU
"%3
Allotment of
FRVJUZTIBSFT
pursuant to
FYFSDJTFPGTUPDL
options
Bonus
Allotment of
FRVJUZTIBSFT
pursuant to
FYFSDJTFPGTUPDL
options
Allotment of
FRVJUZTIBSFT
pursuant to
FYFSDJTFPGTUPDL
options
Bonus
Allotment of
FRVJUZTIBSFT
pursuant to
FYFSDJTFPGTUPDL
options



Year Of Issue







Bonus
shares/
Stock
split ratio
1:3
1:1
1:1

Face
Value Of
Shares (`)












1:1

1:1
1:1











0OWBSJPVTEBUFT
6QUPUIFSFDPSE
date for issue of
CPOVTTIBSFTJOUIF
ZFBS

0OWBSJPVTEBUFT
6QUP.BSDI 


1:1
2:1

1:1







0OWBSJPVTEBUFT
6QUPUIFSFDPSE
date for issue of
CPOVTTIBSFTJOUIF
ZFBS

0OWBSJPVTEBUFT
6QUP.BSDI 


2:1

Number
Nominal Value
 
  
 
 
 
  
 
  
 
  

No. of
Shares
Total

Total Paid
Up Capital
(`)

 
 
 
 
 

  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

 

  

  
  
 

  
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

  
 

   

  

  
  

     
     

  

      



1:1

Shares Allotted

  |

   


  

           
          

"OOVBM3FQPSU

Type Of Issue

Allotment of
&RVJUZ4IBSFT
pursuant to
FYFSDJTFPG4UPDL
0QUJPOT
Allotment of
&RVJUZ4IBSFT
pursuant to
FYFSDJTFPG4UPDL
0QUJPOT
Allotment of
FRVJUZTIBSFT
to shareholders
PGTVCTJEJBSZ
companies
BSJTJOHGSPN
NFSHFS
Allotment of
&RVJUZ4IBSFT
pursuant to
FYFSDJTFPG4UPDL
0QUJPOT
Allotment of
&RVJUZ4IBSFT
pursuant to
FYFSDJTFPG4UPDL
0QUJPOT
Bonus issue
Allotment of
&RVJUZ4IBSFT
pursuant to
FYFSDJTFPG4UPDL
0QUJPOT

Year Of Issue

Bonus
shares/
Stock
split ratio

Face
Value Of
Shares (`)

Shares Allotted

No. of
Shares
Total

Total Paid
Up Capital
(`)

Number
Nominal Value
  
          

0OWBSJPVTEBUFT
VQUP.BSDI 




0OWBSJPVTEBUFT
VQUP.BSDI
 



  

          

.BSDI 



 

          

0OWBSJPVTEBUFT
VQUP.BSDI
 



  

          

0OWBSJPVTEBUFT
VQUP.BSDI
 



  

          

   

  

           
          


0OWBSJPVTEBUFT
VQUP.BSDI 


2:3

History of Bonus issues and stock split
Year














Wipro Limited

Ratio
 #POVT
 #POVT
 #POVT
 #POVT
 TUPDLTQMJU
 #POVT
 #POVT
 #POVT
 #POVT
 TUPDLTQMJU
 #POVT
 #POVT
 #POVT



History of Dividend declared for the last thirteen years
Financial Year









 *OUFSJN%JWJEFOE
 'JOBM%JWJEFOE
 *OUFSJN%JWJEFOE 
̓ 'JOBM%JWJEFOE


 *OUFSJN%JWJEFOE
 öOBMEJWJEFOE

Dividend amount per share and rate (%)
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 
` QFS4IBSF 'BDF7BMVF`  
` 1FS4IBSF 'BDFWBMVF` 

Percentage


















Table 18: Mergers and Demergers
4JODFUIFNJET $PNQBOZTHSPXUIIBTCFFOCPUIPSHBOJDBOEUISPVHINFSHFSTBOEEFNFSHFST5IFUBCMFCFMPXHJWFTUIF
SFMFWBOUEBUBPOTVDINFSHFSTEFNFSHFSTGSPNUIFZFBSPOXBSET
Merging Company
Wipro Infotech Limited
8JQSP4ZTUFNT-JNJUFE
8JQSP$PNQVUFST-JNJUFE
8JQSP/FU-JNJUFE
8JQSP#104PMVUJPOT-JNJUFE
4QFDUSBNJOE-JNJUFE #FSNVEB
4QFDUSBNJOE-JNJUFE .BVSJUJVT
8JQSP*OGSBTUSVDUVSF&OHJOFFSJOH-JNJUFE
8JQSP)FBMUI$BSF*5-JNJUFE
2VBOUFDI(MPCBM4FSWJDFT-JNJUFE
.1"$55FDIOPMPHZ4FSWJDFT1SJWBUF-JNJUFE
N1PXFS4PGUXBSF4FSWJDFT *OEJB 1SJWBUF-JNJUFE
$.BOHP*OEJB1SJWBUF-JNJUFE
*OEJBO#SBODIFTPG8JQSP/FUXPSLT1UF-JNJUFEBOE8./&54&37-JNJUFE
8JQSP:BSEMFZ$POTVNFS$BSF1SJWBUF-JNJUFE



Merger/Demerger
.FSHFS
.FSHFS
.FSHFS
%FNFSHFS
.FSHFS
.FSHFS
.FSHFS
.FSHFS
.FSHFS
.FSHFS
.FSHFS
.FSHFS
.FSHFS
.FSHFS
.FSHFS

Appointed Date
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 
"QSJM 

"OOVBM3FQPSU

Table No.19: Plant locations
Sl.
No.

Address

City/Country

1

SE UI UIBOEUI'MPPS 4#5PXFST  .(3PBE

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB

2

/P UI.BJO TU̓#MPDL  , ,PSBNBOHBMB

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB

3

 4SJ$IBNVOEJ$PNQMFY  . #PNNBOBIBMMJ )PTVS.BJO3PBE

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB

4

/P   BOE 4VSWFZ/P$  . . .BEJWBMB )PTVS.BJO3PBE

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB



/P   BOE 4VSWFZ/P$  . 3FTFBSDIBOE%FWFMPQNFOU .BEJWBMB )PTVS.BJO3PBE 

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB

6

/P  "EFB#VJMEJOH #PNBOBIBMMJ )PTVS.BJO3PBE

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB



OE SE UI'MPPS 4JHNB5FDI1BSL #FUB5PXFST /P8IJUFöFME.BJO3PBE

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB



&MFDUSPOJDT$JUZ1IBTF    ,FPOJDT&MFDUSPOJD$JUZ )PTVS3PBE

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB



8JQSP̓4&; %PEEBUIPHVS7JMMBHF #FHVS)PCMJ&MFDUSPOJD$JUZ

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB



SE'MPPS "INFE1MB[B /P #FSUFOOB"HSBIBSB )PTVS.BJO3PBE

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB

11

1SJUFDI1BSL4&; &$04QBDF 0VUFS3JOH3E #FMBOEVS7JMMBHF

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB

12

8JSQP 4&; %PEEBLBOOFMMJ7JMMBHF 7BSUIVS)PCMJ 4BSKBQVS3PBE

#BOHBMPSF *OEJB

13

 .FUUBHBMMJ*OEVTUSJBM"SFB .FUUBHBMMJ

.ZTPSF *OEJB

14

  $%$ .PVOU3PBE (VJOEZ

$IFOOBJ *OEJB



  4UFSMJOH#VJMEJOH .PVOU3PBE (VJOEZ

$IFOOBJ *OEJB

16

" 4IPMMJOHBOBMMVS 0ME.BIBCBMJQVSBN3PBE $%$

$IFOOBJ *OEJB



" 4IPMMJOHBOBMMVS 0ME.BIBCBMJQVSBN3PBE 8#10

$IFOOBJ *OEJB



&-$054&; 4Z/P 4IPMJOHBOBMMVS7JMMBHF

$IFOOBJ *OEJB



.BIJOESB8PSME$JUZ4&; ,BODIFQVSBN%JTUSJDU

$IFOOBJ *OEJB



"TDFOEBT*51BSL 5BSBNBOJ3PBE

$IFOOBJ *OEJB

21

*OGPQBSL4&; ,VTVNBHJSJ1P ,BLBOBE

,PDIJ *OEJB

22

 -BLTINJ#VJMEJOHT 413PBE #FHVNQFU

)ZEFSBCBE *OEJB

23

4VSWFZ/PT 4FSJMJOHBNQBMJ.BOEBM .BEIBQVS

)ZEFSBCBE *OEJB

24

8JQSP4&; 4/P .BOJLPOEB+BHJS7JMMBHF 3BKFOESBOBHBS.BOEBM 33%JTUSJDU

)ZEFSBCBE̓ *OEJB



4/P .BOJLPOEB+BHJS7JMMBHF 3BKFOESBOBHBS.BOEBM 33%JTUSJDU

)ZEFSBCBE *OEJB

26

8JQSP4&; *51BSL (PQBOBQBMMZ 33%JTUSJDU

)ZEFSBCBE̓ *OEJB



1MPU/P .*%$ 3BKFFW(BOEIJ*OGPUFDI1BSL )JOKFXBEJ

1VOF *OEJB



1MPU/P .*%$ 3BKFFW(BOEIJ*OGPUFDI1BSL )JOHFXBEJ 8#10

1VOF *OEJB



8JQSP4&; 1MPU/P .*%$ 3BKFFW(BOEIJ*OGPUFDI1BSL )JOHFXBEJ

1VOF *OEJB



OE SE UI'MPPS 4QFDUSB#VJMEJOH )JSBOBOEBOJ(BSEFSOT 1PXBJ 8#10

.VNCBJ *OEJB

31

SE'MPPS$*%$0#VJMEJOH #FMBQVS3BJMXBZTUBUJPO$PNQMFY 8#10

/BWJ.VNCBJ *OEJB

32

)JSBOBOEBOJ4&; )JSBOBOEBOJ(BSEFSOT 1PXBJ

.VNCBJ *OEJB

33

4FSFOF1SPQFSUJFT1WU -UE 4&; .JOETQBDF "JSPMJ

.VNCBJ *OEJB

34

8JQSP-UE 4&; 1MPU/P   #MPDL%. ̓4FDUPS7 4BMUMBLF ̓

,PMLBUB *OEJB



#MPDL$/7 ̓4FDUPS7 4BMUMBLF ̓

,PMLBUB *OEJB

36

1MPU/P 1 *%$0*OGP$JUZ *OEVTUSJBM&TUBUF$IBOEBLB

#IVCBOFTXBS *OEJB



 BOE0LIMB*OEVTUSJBM&TUBUF 1IBTF***̓ 8#10

/FX%FMIJ̓ *OEJB



0NBYF4RVJSF 1MPU +BTPMB

/FX%FMIJ̓ *OEJB

Wipro Limited



Sl.
No.

Address

City/Country



8JQSP4&; 1MPU/P  ,OPXMFEHF1BSL (SFBUFS/PJEB 61

(SFBUFS/PJEB *OEJB



/P ̓6EZPH7JIBS ̓̓1IBTF*** (VSHPBO

)BSZBOB *OEJB

41

-PU #MPDL $PSOFS"SDI#JTIPQ3FZFT4USFFUBOE.JOEBOBP4U$&#6#VTJOFTT1BSL $&#6*55PXFS

$FCV$JUZ 1IJMJQQJOFT

42

 $ZCFS1PE$FOUSJT &UPO$FOUSJT #BSBOHBZ1JOBIBO 2VF[PO$JUZ .BOJMB

1IJMJQQJOFT

43

5BJOGV4PGUXBSF1BSL 5BJOGV"WFOVF  )J5FDI;POF $IFOHEV

$IJOB

44

6OJU #VJMEJOH 4IBOHIBJ1VEPOH4PGUXBSF1BSL 4IBOHIBJ

$IJOB



6OJU" *OGPSNBUJPO$FOUFS ;IPOHHVBODVO4PGUXBSF1BSL )BJ%JBO%JTUSJDU #FJKJOH

$IJOB

46

:PLPIBNB-BOENBSL5PXFS'" .JOBUP.JSBJ /JTIJLV :PLPIBNB ,BOBHBXB

+BQBO



 ,JOHT$PVSU ,JOHT3PBE 3FBEJOH3(&9

6OJUFE,JOHEPN



( 44$PMVNCJB)PVTF $PMVNCJB%SJWF 8PSUIJOH#/)%

6OJUFE,JOHEPN



6OJU $IBSUFS1PJOU "TICZ#VTJOFTT1BSL "TICZEFMB;PVDI-FJDFTUFSTIJSF-&+'

6OJUFE,JOHEPN



"TIUPO)PVTF #JSDIXPPE1BSL 8BSSJOHUPO3PBE #JSDIXPPE 8BSSJOHUPO 8""&

6OJUFE,JOHEPN



 3VF.BSJF#FSIBVU *NNFVCMF$BQ/PSE" 3&//&4

France



8FC$BNQVT ,BJTUSBTTF ,JFM

(FSNBOZ



.VOJDI0óDF (FSNBOZ 8JMMZ#SBOEU"MMFF %.VODIFO .VOJDI

(FSNBOZ



i#àSP)BVTBVGEFNIBHFO@DBNQVT 3JDINPETUS
,PFMO $PMPHOF

(FSNBOZ



5FDIOPMPHZ$FOUSF 7BISFOXBMEFS4USBTTF )BOOPWFS

(FSNBOZ



1PMBSJTBWFOVF +))PPGEEPSQ

/FUIFSMBOET



8BTTFOBBSTXFH $)%FO)BBH

/FUIFSMBOET



1BSUOFS1PSU "MUSPUUTUSBTTF 8BMMEPSG

(FSNBOZ



5FDIOPQPMJT #VTJOFTTJE &MFLUSPOJJLLBUJF '*/ 0VMV

Finland



.JMMFOOJVN1BSL "-VTUFOBV "VTUSJB

Austria

61

53645$03103"5*0/4" 4QMBJVM*OEFQFOEFOUFJ OS$ 4FDUPS #VDIBSFTU 3PNBOJBUFM 


3PNBOJB

62

$#SFEJDFBOV /S $JUZ#VTJOFTT$FOUFS#VJMEJOH$ 5JNJTPBSB 1IPOF  5JNJTPSF

3PNBOJB

63

8JQSP-JNJUFE *OGPQBSLo#VJMEJOH%#VEBQFTU
(ÈCPS%ÏOFTVUDB

)VOHBSZ

64

'SZLEBMTCBDLFO 4UPDLIPMN

4XFEFO



3VB&OH'SFEFSJDP6MSJDI  &EJGÓDJP8*130 .PSFJSB .BJB 1PSUP

1PSUVHBM

66

$FOUSP&NQSFTBSJBMEF#SBHB -VHBSEB7FOUPTB 'FSSFJSPT #SBHB

1PSUVHBM



)JPNPUJF 1JUÊKÊONÊLJ )FMTJOLJ

Finland



,PZ&MFLUSPDJUZ 5ZLJTUÚLBUVUIøPPS BQBSUNFOU 5VSLV

Finland



%VTTFMEPSGFSTUS# .FFSCVTDI (FSNBOZ

(FSNBOZ



-FWFM  (FPSHF4USFFU 1BSBNBUUB

/48 "VTUSBMJB



-FWFMTBOE (SFOGFMM4USFFU "EFMBJEF 4"

"EFMBJEF "VTUSBMJB



-FWFM %PSDBT4USFFU 4PVUI.FMCPVSOF 7JDUPSJBo

.FMCPVSOF "VTUSBMJB



$ISZTMFS#VJMEJOH UI'MPPS 3JWFSTJEF%SJWF8FTU 8*/%4030//",

$BOBEB



-FWFM (FPSHF4U 1BSSBNBUUB /48 

Australia



"OOVBM3FQPSU

Sl.
No.

Address

City/Country



-FWFM %PSDBT4USFFU 4PVUI.FMCPVSOF 7JDUPSJB

Australia



-FWFMTBOE (SFOGFMM4USFFU "EFMBJEF 4"

Australia



 $IBOHJ#VJOFTT1BSL $SFTDFOU 4JOHBQPSF

4JOHBQPSF



4VJUF( $FOUVSZ4RVBSF +BMBO6TBIBXBO $ZCFS $ZCFSKBZB 4FMBOHPS%BSVM&ITBO

.BMBZTJB



UI'MPPS %BNBD&YFDVUJWF)FJHIUT %VCBJ̓6"& 10

%VCBJ



# (SPVOE'MPPS 4NBSU7JMMBHF (J[B $BJSP "SBC3FQVCMJDPG&HZQU

&HZQU



1JFENPOU3PBE/& #VJMEJOH4VJUFT"UMBOUB ("̓

64



1JFENPOU3PBE/& #VJMEJOH4VJUF"UMBOUB ("

64



1JFENPOU3PBE/& #VJMEJOH4VJUF"UMBOUB ("

64



4FBUUMF#FMMFWVF 8BTIJOHUPOUI"WFOVF /& 4VJUF#FMMFWVF 8"̓

64



5SPZ .JDIJHBO8#JH#FBWFS3PBE 4VJUF5SPZ .*̓

64



#FOUPOWJMMF "SLBOTBT4&+4USFFU 4VJUF#FOUPOWJMMF "3̓

64



#SFB $BMJGPSOJB&BTU#JSDI4USFFU#SFB $"̓

64



+FòFSTPO$JUZ .JTTPVSJ8FBUIFSFE3PDL3PBE+FòFSTPO$JUZ .0̓

64



-FPOJB /FX+FSTFZ$ISJTUJF)FJHIUT4USFFU-FPOJB /+̓

64



/PSDSPTT (FPSHJB#BZ$JSDMF%SJWF/PSDSPTT ("̓

64



0NBIB /FCSBTLB.JSBDMF)JMMT%SJWF0NBIB /&̓

64



5FNQF "SJ[POB&5FDIOPMPHZ$JSDMF5FNQF ";̓

64



0ME3VB"MFYBOESF%VNBT 4*$IÈDBSB4BOUP"OUPOJP4BP1BVMP 41#SB[JM

#SB[JM



+PÍP .BSDIFTJOJ 4USFFU  OVNCFS   UI BOE UI øPPS 1PTU $PEF  $VSJUJCB1BSBOB  #SB[JM
#SB[JM



$BSMPT1FMMFHSJOJ  1JTP $BQJUBM'FEFSBM #VFOPT"JSFTo"SHFOUJOB

"SHFOUJOB



&(BS[B4BEB"WFOVF-PDBM$PM"MUBWJTUB.POUFSSFZ /- .ÏYJDP$1

.FYJDP



/PSUI1PJOU1LXZ"MQIBSFUUB ("64"

64



"WFOJEB.BSJB$PFMIP"HVJBS  "OEBSEP#MPDP#EP$FOUSP&NQSFTBSJBMEF4ÍP1BVMP
41$&1#SB[JM

#SB[JM

The Company’s manufacturing facilities are located at:
Sl. No
1
2
3
4

6




Address
10#PY/P %JTU+BMHBPO
- .*%$ 8BMVK
 )PPUBHBMMJ*OEVTUSJBM"SFB
" 5IBUUBODIBWBEZ*OEVTUSJBM&TUBUF
 7FMMBODIFSJ 
1MPU/P "OUISBTBOBIBMMJ*OEVTUSJBM"SFB
"# 1FFOZB*OEVTUSJBM"SFB
1MPUOP$% *OEVTUSJBM%FWFMPQNFOU"SFB "1**$ )JOEVQVSo "OEISB1SBEFTI
1MPU$ 4*1$05*OEVTUSJBM1BSL *SSVOHBUUVLPUUBJ 4SJQFSVNCBEVS5BMVL 


11

#BEEJ*OEVTUSJBM"SFB #BEEJ )JNBDIBM1SBEFTI
1MPU/P 4FDUPS" **& 4*%$6- )BSJEXBS

Wipro Limited

City/ State
"NBMOFS
"VSBOHBCBE
.ZTPSF
1POEJDIFSSZ
(VEVWBODIFSZ
5VNLVS
#BOHBMPSF
)JOEVQVSo
,BODIFFQVSBN %JTU
5BNJM/BEV
)JNBDIBM1SBEFTI
6UUBSBLIBOE



Corporate Governance Compliance Certificate
Corporate Identity No. : L32102KA1945PLC020800
Nominal Capital Rs. 555 crores
To the Members of Wipro Limited
8FIBWFFYBNJOFEBMMUIFSFMFWBOUSFDPSETPG8JQSP-JNJUFEGPSUIFQVSQPTFPGDFSUJGZJOHDPNQMJBODFPGUIFDPOEJUJPOTPGUIF
$PSQPSBUF(PWFSOBODFVOEFS$MBVTFPGUIF-JTUJOH"HSFFNFOUXJUIUIF4UPDL&YDIBOHFTGPSUIFöOBODJBMZFBSFOEFE.BSDI 
8FIBWFPCUBJOFEBMMUIFJOGPSNBUJPOBOEFYQMBOBUJPOTXIJDIUPUIFCFTUPGPVSLOPXMFEHFBOECFMJFGXFSFOFDFTTBSZGPS
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Auditors’ Report
To the Members of WIPRO LIMITED
We have audited the attached balance sheet of Wipro Limited (“the Company”) as at March 31, 2011, the profit and loss account
and the cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, annexed thereto. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
1.

As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003, as amended (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government
of India in terms of Section 227(4A) of the Companies Act, 1956 (“the Act”), we enclose in the Annexure a statement on the
matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

2.

Further to our comments in paragraph 1 above, we report that:
a)

we have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary
for the purposes of our audit;

b)

in our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as appears from our
examination of those books;

c)

the balance sheet, profit and loss account and cash flow statement dealt with by this report are in agreement with the
books of account;

d)

in our opinion, the balance sheet, profit and loss account and cash flow statement dealt with by this report comply with
the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) of Section 211 of the Act ;

e)

on the basis of written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2011 and taken on record by the
Board of Directors, we report that none of the directors is disqualified as at March 31, 2011 from being appointed as a
director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of Section 274 of the Act; and

f)

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the said accounts give
the information required by the Act, in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the
accounting principles generally accepted in India:
1)

in the case of the balance sheet, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2011;

2)

in the case of the profit and loss account, of the profit of the Company for the year ended on that date; and

3)

in the case of the cash flow statement, of the cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date.

for BSR & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna
Partner
Membership No. 032815
Bangalore
April 27, 2011
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Annexure to the Auditors’ Report

Annexure referred to in paragraph 1 of our report to the members of Wipro Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended March 31, 2011
(i)

(a)

The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars including quantitative details and situation of fixed
assets.

(b)

The Company has a regular programme of physical verification of its fixed assets by which all fixed assets are verified in a
phased manner over a period of three years. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification is reasonable having
regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. As informed to us, no material discrepancies were noticed
on such verification.

(c)

Fixed assets disposed of during the year were not substantial, and therefore, do not affect the going concern
assumption.

(a)

The inventory (including stocks lying with third parties), except goods-in-transit, has been physically verified by the
management during the year. In our opinion, the frequency of such verification is reasonable.

(b)

The procedures for the physical verification of inventories followed by the management are reasonable and adequate
in relation to the size of the Company and the nature of its business.

(c)

The Company is maintaining proper records of inventory. As informed to us, the discrepancies noticed on verification
between the physical stocks and the book records were not material.

(iii) (a)

The Company has granted loans to wholly owned subsidiaries covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of
the Companies Act, 1956 (“Act”). The maximum amount outstanding during the year and the year-end balance of such
loans are as follows:
(`in million)

(ii)

Name of the entity
Wipro Cyprus Private Limited
Wipro Singapore Pte. Limited
Wipro Holdings (Mauritius) Limited
Wipro Inc

Maximum amount
outstanding during the year
1,577
22
3
2,007

Year-end balance
1,577
22
3
2,007

(b)

In our opinion, the rate of interest, where applicable and other terms and conditions on which loans have been granted
to companies, firms or other parties covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act are not, prima facie,
prejudicial to the interest of the Company.

(c)

The principal amounts and interest, where applicable, are being repaid regularly in accordance with the agreed contractual
terms. Accordingly, paragraph 4(iii) (d) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(d)

The Company has not taken any loans, secured or unsecured, from companies, firms or other parties covered in the
register maintained under Section 301 of the Act. Accordingly, paragraphs 4 (iii) (e) to (g) of the Order are not applicable
to the Company.

(iv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, there is an adequate internal control system
commensurate with the size of the Company and the nature of its business with regard to purchase of inventories and fixed
assets and with regard to sale of goods and services. We have not observed any major weakness in the internal control system
during the course of the audit.
(v)

(a)

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the particulars of contracts or arrangements
referred to in Section 301 of the Act have been entered in the register required to be maintained under that Section.

(b)

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the transactions made in pursuance of
contracts and arrangements referred to in (a) above and exceeding the value of ` 5 lakh with each party during the year
have been made at prices which are reasonable having regard to the prevailing market prices at the relevant time except
for purchase of certain services which are for the Company’s specialised requirements and similarly for sale of certain
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goods and services for the specialised requirements of the buyers and for which suitable alternative sources are not
available to obtain comparable quotations. However, on the basis of information and explanations provided, the same
appear reasonable.
(vi) The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public.
(vii) In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its business.
(viii) We have broadly reviewed the books of account maintained by the Company pursuant to the rules prescribed by the Central
Government of India for maintenance of cost records under section 209(1)(d) of the Act, in respect of vanaspati, toilet soaps,
lighting products and mini computers/microprocessor based system and data communication system and are of the opinion
that, prima facie, the prescribed accounts and records have been made and maintained. However, we have not made a detailed
examination of the records.
(ix) (a)

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the records of the
Company, amounts deducted/accrued in the books of account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including Provident
Fund, Service tax, Employees’ State Insurance, Income-tax, Sales-tax, Wealth tax, Customs duty, Excise duty, Investor
Education and Protection Fund and other material statutory dues have been generally regularly deposited during the
year by the Company with the appropriate authorities.
There are no dues on account of Cess under Section 441A of the Act since the date from which the aforesaid Section
comes into force has not yet been notified by the Central Government of India.
According to the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Income-tax,
Sales-tax, Wealth tax, Service tax, Customs duty, Excise duty and other material statutory dues were in arrears as at March
31, 2011 for a period of more than six months from the date they became payable.

(b)

According to the information and explanation given to us, the following dues of Income tax, Excise duty, Customs duty,
Sales tax and Service tax have not been deposited by the Company on account of disputes:
Name of the Statute

Nature of the dues

Income Tax Act, 1961

Income tax and interest
demanded

The Central Excise Act, 1944

Excise duty demanded

Customs Act, 1962

Customs duty, interest and
penalty demanded

Customs Act, 1962

Customs duty demanded

State Sales Tax/VAT and CST (pertaining to
various states)

Sales tax, interest and penalty
demanded

State Sales Tax/VAT and CST (pertaining to Kerala Sales tax and penalty demanded
and Karnataka)
Entry Tax (Karnataka)

Entry tax demanded

Finance Act, 1994 - Service tax

Service tax and interest
demanded

Amount
unpaid *
(` mn)

Period to which
the amount relates
(Assessment year)

3,235 2006-2007

Forum where dispute is
pending
Income tax Appellate Tribunal

47 1997-98 to 2008-09

Appellate Authority /CESTAT

579 1991-92 to 2008-09

Appellate Authority /CESTAT

44 1990-98 and 2005-06
1,128 1986-87 to 2009-10
25 1999-00 to 2006-07
6 2005-09
520 2001-02 to 2008-09

Supreme court / High court
Appellate Authority/Appellate
Tribunal
Supreme court / High court
Appellate Tribunal
Appellate Authority /CESTAT

*The amounts paid under protest have been reduced from the amounts demanded in arriving at the aforesaid disclosure.
(x)

The Company does not have any accumulated losses at the end of the financial year and has not incurred cash losses during
the financial year and in the immediately preceding financial year.

(xi) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of
dues to its bankers or to any financial institutions. The Company did not have any outstanding debentures during the year.
(xii) The Company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of pledge of shares, debentures and
other securities.
(xiii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not a chit fund / nidhi / mutual
benefit fund/ society.
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(xiv) According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not dealing or trading in shares, securities,
debentures and other investments.
(xv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the terms and conditions on which the Company
has given guarantees for loans taken by others from banks or financial institutions are not prejudicial to the interest of the
Company.
(xvi) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the term loans taken by the Company have
been applied for the purposes for which they were raised.
(xvii) According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination of the balance sheet of the Company,
we are of the opinion that the funds raised on short-term basis have not been used for long-term investment.
(xviii) The Company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to companies/firms/parties covered in the register maintained
under Section 301 of the Act.
(xix) The Company did not have any outstanding debentures during the year.
(xx) The Company has not raised any money by public issues during the year.
(xxi) According to the information and explanations given to us, no fraud on or by the Company has been noticed or reported
during the course of our audit.

for BSR & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna
Partner
Membership No. 032815
Bangalore
April 27, 2011
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Schedule
SOURCES OF FUNDS
Shareholders’ Funds
Share capital
Share application money pending allotment
Reserves and surplus

1

4,908
7
208,294
213,209

2,936
18
173,968
176,922

3

47,441
47,441
260,650

55,302
55,302
232,224

4

77,793
35,423
42,370
6,031
48,401
108,134
108

67,613
31,050
36,563
9,911
46,474
89,665
348

6
7
8
9

7,249
57,813
52,033
67,460
184,555

6,069
50,164
56,643
53,911
166,787

10
11

52,900
27,648
80,548
104,007
260,650

48,742
22,308
71,050
95,737
232,224

2

Loan Funds
Unsecured loans

APPLICATION OF FUNDS
Fixed Assets
Gross block
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortisation
Net block
Capital work-in-progress and advances
Investments
Deferred Tax Asset (Net)
Current Assets, Loans and Advances
Inventories
Sundry debtors
Cash and bank balances
Loans and advances

5
18(24)

Less: Current Liabilities and Provisions
Current liabilities
Provisions
Net Current Assets
Notes to accounts
The schedules referred to above form an integral part of the balance sheet
As per our report attached

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

for BSR & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration number: 101248W

Azim Premji
Chairman

Natrajh Ramakrishna
Partner
Membership No. 032815
Bangalore
April 27, 2011
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(` in Million)
As of March 31,
2011
2010

18

B. C. Prabhakar
Director

T. K. Kurien
CEO, IT Business
& Executive Director

Suresh C. Senapaty
Chief Financial Officer
& Director

V. Ramachandran
Company Secretary

Dr. Jagdish N. Sheth
Director
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Schedule

(` in Million except share data)
Year ended March 31,
2011
2010

INCOME
Gross sales and services

264,012

230,063

1,007

843

263,005

229,220

6,033

8,667

269,038

237,887

179,807

154,436

Less: Excise duty
Net sales and services
Other income, net

12

EXPENDITURE
Cost of sales and services

13

Selling and marketing expenses

14

16,420

14,022

General and administrative expenses

15

15,170

11,543

Interest

16

586

998

211,983

180,999

57,055

56,888

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Provision for taxation including deferred tax

18(24)

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION

8,618

7,908

48,437

48,980

Appropriations
Interim dividend

4,908

-

Proposed dividend

9,818

8,809

Tax on dividend

2,204

1,283

Amount transferred to General reserve

4,844

38,888

26,663

-

Basic (in `)

19.88

20.16

Diluted (in `)

19.78

20.03

Basic

2,436,440,633

2,429,036,656

Diluted

2,449,297,479

2,445,450,341

BALANCE CARRIED TO BALANCE SHEET
EARNINGS PER SHARE - EPS[Refer Note 18(15)]
Equity shares of par value ` 2/- each

Number of shares for calculating EPS

Notes to accounts

18

The schedules referred to above form an integral part of the profit and loss account

As per our report attached

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

for BSR & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration number: 101248W

Azim Premji
Chairman

Natrajh Ramakrishna
Partner
Membership No. 032815
Bangalore
April 27, 2011
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B. C. Prabhakar
Director

T. K. Kurien
CEO, IT Business
& Executive Director

Suresh C. Senapaty
Chief Financial Officer
& Director

V. Ramachandran
Company Secretary

Dr. Jagdish N. Sheth
Director
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Cash Flow Statement
(` in Million)
Year ended March 31,
2011
2010
A.

B.

C.

Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit before tax
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortisation
Amortisation of stock compensation
Exchange differences, net
Impact of cash flow hedges
Interest on borrowings
Dividend/interest, net
Profit on sale of investments
Gain on sale of fixed assets
Working capital changes :
Sundry debtors and unbilled revenue
Loans and advances
Inventories
Current liabilities & provisions
Net cash generated from operations
Direct taxes (paid)/refund, net
Net cash generated by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of fixed assets (including capital advances)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale/maturity of investments
Purchase of intercorporate deposits
Refund of intercorporate deposits
Payment for acquisition/merger of businesses
Investment in subsidiaries
Dividend/interest income received
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options
Share application money pending allotment
Interest paid on borrowings
Dividends paid (including distribution tax)
Repayment of borrowings/loans
Proceeds of borrowings/loans
Net cash used in financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents during the period
Cash acquired upon Merger
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash balance
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period (Refer Schedule 8)

As per our report attached

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

for BSR & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration number: 101248W

Azim Premji
Chairman

Natrajh Ramakrishna
Partner
Membership No. 032815
Bangalore
April 27, 2011
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57,055

56,888

6,001
1,311
804
4,251
586
(6,234)
(171)
(130)

5,796
1,224
(5,528)
5,858
998
(3,979)
(308)
(22)

(14,675)
(6,540)
(1,133)
4,021
45,146
(8,041)
37,105

(9,244)
(778)
(1,385)
1,920
51,440
(6,666)
44,774

(8,689)
431
(468,165)
451,328
(14,290)
20,100
(1,577)
6,122
(14,740)

(8,219)
300
(337,926)
323,482
(10,750)
4,950
(52)
(6,096)
3,665
(30,646)

36
(11)
(615)
(15,585)
71,371
(82,522)
(27,326)
(4,961)
28
56,643
323
52,033

7
3
(1,046)
(6,858)
(52,690)
59,622
(962)
13,166
256
44,092
(871)
56,643

B. C. Prabhakar
Director

T. K. Kurien
CEO, IT Business
& Executive Director

Suresh C. Senapaty
Chief Financial Officer
& Director

V. Ramachandran
Company Secretary

Dr. Jagdish N. Sheth
Director
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Schedules to Balance Sheet

SCHEDULE 1 SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised capital
2,650,000,000 (2010: 1,650,000,000) equity shares of ` 2 each
25,000,000 (2010: 25,000,000) 10.25 % redeemable cumulative preference shares of ` 10
each

(` in Million except share data)
As of March 31,
2011
2010
5,300
250

3,300
250

5,550

3,550

4,908
4,908

2,936
2,936

1,144
1,144

1,144
1,144

29,188
2,895
1,960
30,123

27,279
1,909
29,188

3,791
3,507
284

4,366
2,643
1,723

147,012
4,743
151,755

108,327
38,685
147,012

Hedging reserve [Refer note 18(7)]
Balance brought forward from previous year
Movement during the year
Loss on cash flow hedging derivatives, net

(5,099)
3,424
(1,675)

(16,859)
11,760
(5,099)

Profit and Loss Account

26,663

-

173,968
34,326
208,294

122,204
51,764
173,968

18,861
27,754

16,844
37,555

37
789
47,441

37
866
55,302

Issued, subscribed and paid-up capital
2,454,409,145 (2010: 1,468,211,189) equity shares of ` 2 each [Refer note 18(4)]

SCHEDULE 2 RESERVES AND SURPLUS
Capital reserve
Balance brought forward from previous year
Additions during the year
Securities premium account
Balance brought forward from previous year
Add: Exercise of stock options by employees
Less : Amount utilised for bonus shares
Restricted stock units reserve [Refer note 18(13)]
Employee stock options outstanding
Less: Deferred employee compensation expense
General reserve
Balance brought forward from previous year
Transferred from Profit and Loss account [Refer note 18 (5) (ii)]

Summary of reserves and surplus
Balance brought forward from previous year
Movement during the year

SCHEDULE 3 UNSECURED LOANS
From banks
External commercial borrowings[Refer note 18(19)]
Other short term loans (repayable within one year )
Other loans
Interest free loan from State Government
Others(repayable within one year ` 334 million (2010: ` 263 million))

Wipro Limited

101

102

910
3,275
6,604
1,252
26
35
7

3,910
16,074
34,455
8,801
2,700
447
55
1,171

3
-

44
955
490
437
447
87
1,178

4,820
19,305
40,104
9,563
2,289

As of Additions Deductions/
As of
April 1,
adjustments
March
2010#
31, 2011

GROSS BLOCK***

46
275

97
908
23,277
4,726
1,721
3
64

7
323
4,138
1,045
421
1
-

36
870
386
335

48
339

104
1,195
26,545
5,385
1,807

447
39
839

4,716
18,110
13,559
4,178
482

447
9
896

3,813
15,166
11,178
4,075
979

(` in Million)
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION/
NET BLOCK
AMORTISATION
As of Depreciation Deductions /
As of
As of
As of
April 1, for the year adjustments
March
March March 31,
2010
31, 2011 31, 2011
2010

1,929
77,793
31,050
6,001
1,628
35,423
42,370
36,563
67,613
12,109
Previous year - 2010
57,433
10,897
717
67,613
25,637
5,796
383
31,050
36,563
@Includes Gross block of ` 1,270 million (2010: ` 1,270 million) and Accumulated amortisation of ` 105 million (2010: ` 98 million) being leasehold land.
*Plant & machinery includes computers and computer software.
**Includes Gross block of ` 37 million and Accumulated depreciation of ` 17 million on account of merger.
#Includes Plant & Machinery of ` 20 million (2010: ` 17 million) and Furniture,fixtures & equipment of ` 5 million (2010: ` 4 million) for research and development
assets.
***Interest capitalised aggregated to ` 66 million and ` 95 million for the year ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 respectively.

(a) Tangible fixed assets**
Land @
Buildings
Plant & machinery *
Furniture, fixture and equipments
Vehicles
(b) Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill
Technical know-how
Brands, patents, trade marks and
rights

PARTICULARS

SCHEDULE 4 FIXED ASSETS
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(` in Million)
As of March 31,
2011
2010
SCHEDULE 5 INVESTMENTS
Long term investments - (at cost)
Unquoted
Investments in subsidiary companies
Equity shares[Refer note 18(20)]
Preference shares
Investment in associates - Non trade
Wipro GE Healthcare Private Limited1
Current investments - Non trade
Quoted
Investments in Indian money market mutual funds [Refer note 18(21)]
Unquoted
Certificates of deposit
Others [Refer note 18(20)]
Less: Provision for diminution in value of long term investments
Aggregate market value of quoted investments and mutual funds

60,065
-

58,565
57

227

227

23,877

18,548

23,282
791
108,242
108
108,134
23,923

11,568
808
89,773
108
89,665
18,558

1,126
2,206
3,084
833
7,249

1,001
1,467
3,058
543
6,069

7,087
2,028
9,115

6,070
1,841
7,911

50,726
65
50,791
2,093
57,813

44,094
10
44,104
1,851
50,164

969

531

2,916
28,691
19,457
52,033

3,601
37,260
15,251
56,643

1

Equity investments in this company carry certain restrictions on transfer of shares as provided for in
the shareholders’ agreements

SCHEDULE 6 INVENTORIES
Stores and spares
Raw materials
Finished goods
Stock in process
SCHEDULE 7 SUNDRY DEBTORS
Unsecured
Debts outstanding for a period exceeding six months
Considered good*
Considered doubtful
Other debts
Considered good*
Considered doubtful
Less: Provision for doubtful debts
* Refer to Note 18(23) for debts due from companies under the same management as defined under
Section 370 (1-B) of the Companies Act, 1956.

SCHEDULE 8 CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Cash and cheques on hand
Balances with scheduled banks
In current accounts#
In deposit accounts
Balances with other banks in current account**
**Bankwise breakup and the maximum balances are given in note 18(18)
#Includes balance in unclaimed dividend account amounting to ` 20 million (2010: ` 17 million)

Wipro Limited
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(` in Million)
As of March 31,
2011
2010
SCHEDULE 9 LOANS AND ADVANCES
Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated
Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received
Considered good
- Prepaid expenses
- Employee travel & other advances
- Advance to suppliers
- Others
Considered doubtful
Less: Provision for doubtful advances
Loans to subsidiaries*
Other deposits
Derivative asset
Finance lease receivables
Advance income tax less provision for tax
Inter corporate deposit
Inter corporate deposit with subsidiary*
Balances with excise and customs
Unbilled revenue

4,039
1,417
630
2,910
8,996
568
9,564
568
8,996
3,585
1,978
5,108
7,250
13,442
4,240
273
786
21,802
67,460

3,040
1,462
409
2,501
7,412
297
7,709
297
7,412
1,596
1,530
3,903
4,442
9,520
10,050
273
690
14,495
53,911

1
19,147
17,140
3,288
6,188
798
1,905
4,400
20
13
52,900

5
14,952
16,164
3,397
7,215
903
1,682
4,385
17
22
48,742

11,634
9,818
1,593
2,293
452
1,858
27,648

7,375
8,809
1,283
2,546
532
1,763
22,308

* Refer Note 18(22) for loans given to subsidiaries and inter corporate deposit with subsidiary

SCHEDULE 10 CURRENT LIABILITIES
Sundry creditors
-dues to micro and small enterprises[Refer note 18(17)]
-dues to other than micro and small enterprises
Accrued expenses
Statutory liabilities
Unearned revenue
Advances from customers
Payables to subsidiaries
Derivative liabilities
Unclaimed dividends
Interest accrued but not due
SCHEDULE 11 PROVISIONS
Provision for tax less advance tax
Proposed dividend
Tax on proposed dividend
Employee retirement benefits
Warranty
Others
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Schedules to Profit and Loss Account
(` in Million)
Year ended March 31,
2011
2010
SCHEDULE 12 OTHER INCOME
Income from current investments
- Dividend on mutual fund units(non-trade quoted)
- Profit/ (loss) on sale of investments,net
Interest on debt instruments and others*
Exchange fluctuations on foreign currency borrowings, net
Other exchange differences, net
Miscellaneous income

2,288
171
3,946
(774)
13
389
6,033

1,442
308
2,537
1,824
2,193
363
8,667

88,897
1,936
1,434
37,513
26,151
6,513
5,704
155
1,336
1,603
1,997
1,064
227
390
44
4,843
179,807

74,350
1,589
1,235
36,194
19,839
4,972
5,471
163
1,415
1,484
1,414
1,003
384
332
226
4,365
154,436

8,936
126
223
2,479
927
1,202
446
270
380
164
26
32
1,209
16,420

7,539
82
173
2,499
687
928
354
387
338
195
53
36
751
14,022

*Tax deducted at source on interest received ` 201 million (2010 : ` 303 million)
SCHEDULE 13 COST OF SALES AND SERVICES
Employee compensation
Contribution to provident and other funds
Workmen and staff welfare
Raw materials, finished and process stocks consumed (Refer schedule 17)
Sub contracting / technical fees / third party application
Travel
Depreciation and amortisation
Repairs to building
Repairs to machinery
Communication
Power and fuel
Rent
Stores and spares
Insurance
Rates and taxes
Miscellaneous expenses

SCHEDULE 14 SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES
Employee compensation
Contribution to provident and other funds
Staff welfare
Advertisement and sales promotion
Travel
Carriage and freight
Sales commission
Rent
Communication
Depreciation and amortisation
Insurance
Rates and taxes
Miscellaneous expenses

Wipro Limited
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Schedules to Profit and Loss Account
(` in Million)
Year ended March 31,
2011
2010
SCHEDULE 15 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Employee compensation
Contribution to provident and other funds
Staff welfare
Travel
Legal and professional
Provision for doubtful debts
Staff recruitment
Communication
Manpower outside services
Depreciation and amortisation
Rates and taxes
Insurance
Rent
Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fees
For certification including tax audit
Out of pocket expenses
Repairs and mantainance
Miscellaneous expenses
SCHEDULE 16 INTEREST
Cash credit and others

SCHEDULE 17 RAW MATERIALS, FINISHED AND PROCESSED STOCKS
Consumption of raw materials and bought out components:
Opening stock
Add: Purchases
Less: Closing stock
Purchase of finished products for sale
(Increase) / Decrease in finished and process stocks :
Opening stock
In process
Finished products
Stock taken over on merger
In process
Finished products
Less: Closing stock
In process
Finished products
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6,400
410
1,012
1,123
1,245
241
1,211
177
315
133
302
32
514

4,505
272
883
1,039
1,218
453
473
244
199
130
95
53
393

10
2
1
15
2,027
15,170

10
2
1
10
1,563
11,543

586
586

998
998

1,467
11,596
2,206
10,857
26,972

1,446
9,913
1,467
9,892
27,412

543
3,058

425
1,978

3,601

6
82
2,491

833
3,084
(316)
37,513

543
3,058
(1,110)
36,194
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SCHEDULE 18 – NOTES TO ACCOUNTS

vi.

Company overview
Wipro Limited (Wipro or the Company), is a leading India based
provider of IT Services, including Business Process Outsourcing
(BPO) services, globally. Further, Wipro has other businesses such
as IT Products, Consumer Care and Lighting and Infrastructure
engineering. Wipro is headquartered in Bangalore, India.
1.

Significant accounting policies

i.

Basis of preparation of financial statements
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with
Indian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)
under the historical cost convention on the accrual basis,
except for certain financial instruments which are measured
on a fair value basis. GAAP comprises Accounting Standards
specified in the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules,
2006, Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) and other generally
accepted accounting principles in India.

ii.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses. Estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting
estimate is recognised in the period in which the estimates
are revised and in any future period affected.

iii.

Goodwill
The goodwill arising on acquisition of a group of assets is
not amortised and is tested for impairment if indicators of
impairment exist.

iv.

Inventories are valued at lower of cost and net realizable
value, including necessary provision for obsolescence. Cost
is determined using the weighted average method. Cost of
work-in-progress and finished goods include material cost
and appropriate share of manufacturing overheads.
vii.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a
present obligation as a result of past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of obligation.
A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is
a possible obligation or a present obligation that may, but
probably will not, require an outflow of resources. Where
there is a possible obligation or a present obligation in
respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is
remote, no provision or disclosure is made.
The Company recognizes provision for onerous contracts
based on the estimate of excess of unavoidable costs of
meeting obligations under the contracts over the expected
economic benefits.

viii. Revenue recognition
Services:
The Company recognizes revenue when the significant
terms of the arrangement are enforceable, services have
been delivered and the collectability is reasonably assured.
The method for recognizing revenues and costs depends
on the nature of the services rendered:
A.

Intangible assets are stated at the consideration paid for
acquisition less accumulated amortization.
Advances paid towards the acquisition of fixed assets
outstanding as of each balance sheet date and the cost of
fixed assets not ready for use before such date are disclosed
under capital work-in-progress.
Investments
Long term investments are stated at cost less other than
temporary decline in the value of such investments, if
any. Current investments are valued at lower of cost and
fair value determined by category of investment. The fair
value is determined using quoted market price/market
observable information adjusted for cost of disposal.
Wipro Limited

Time and materials contracts
Revenues and costs relating to time and materials
contracts are recognized as the related services are
rendered.

Fixed assets, intangible assets and work-in-progress
Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation. Costs include expenditure directly attributable
to the acquisition of the asset. Borrowing costs directly
attributable to the construction or production of qualifying
assets are capitalized as part of the cost.

v.

Inventories

B.

Fixed-price contracts
Revenues from fixed-price contracts, including
systems development and integration contracts are
recognized using the “percentage-of-completion”
method. Percentage of completion is determined
based on project costs incurred to date as a percentage
of total estimated project costs required to complete
the project. When total cost estimates exceed
revenues in an arrangement, the estimated losses are
recognized in the statement of income in the period
in which such losses become probable based on the
current contract estimates.
‘Unbilled revenues’ included in loans and advances
represent cost and earnings in excess of billings as at
the balance sheet date. ‘Unearned revenues’ included
in current liabilities represent billing in excess of
revenue recognized.
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C.

Maintenance contracts

x.

The Company is exposed to currency fluctuations on foreign
currency transactions. Foreign currency transactions are
accounted in the books of accounts at the average rate for
the month.

Revenue from maintenance contracts is recognized
ratably over the period of the contract using the
percentage of completion method. When services are
performed through an indefinite number of repetitive
acts over a specified period of time, revenue is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the specified
period unless some other method better represents
the stage of completion.

Transaction:
The difference between the rate at which foreign currency
transactions are accounted and the rate at which they are
realized is recognized in the profit and loss account.

Products:

Translation:

Revenue from sale of products is recognized when the product
has been delivered, in accordance with the sales contract.
Revenue from product sales are shown as net of excise duty,
sales tax separately charged and applicable discounts.

Monetary foreign currency assets and liabilities at period-end
are restated at the closing rate. The difference arising from the
restatement is recognized in the profit and loss account.
In March 2009, Ministry of Corporate affairs issued a
notification amending AS 11, ‘The effects of changes in
foreign exchange rates’. Before the amendment, AS 11
required the exchange gains/losses on long term foreign
currency monetary assets/liabilities to be recorded in the
profit and loss account.

Other income:
Agency commission is accrued when shipment of
consignment is dispatched by the principal.
Profit on sale of investments is recorded upon transfer of
title by the Company. It is determined as the difference
between the sales price and carrying amount of the related
investment.

The amended AS 11 provides an irrevocable option to the
Company to amortise exchange rate fluctuation on long
term foreign currency monetary asset/liability over the
life of the asset/liability or March 31, 2011, whichever is
earlier. The amendment is applicable retroactively from the
financial year beginning on or after December 7, 2006.

Interest is recognized using the time-proportion method,
based on rates implicit in the transaction.
Dividend income is recognized where the Company’s right
to receive dividend is established.
ix.

Leases
Leases of assets, where the Company assumes substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lower
of the fair value of the leased assets at inception and the
present value of minimum lease payments. Lease payments
are apportioned between the finance charge and the
outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to
periods during the lease term at a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases.
Lease rentals in respect of assets taken under operating
leases are charged to profit and loss account on a straight
line basis over the lease term.
In certain arrangements, the Company recognizes revenue
from the sale of products given under finance leases. The
Company records gross finance receivables, unearned
income and the estimated residual value of the leased
equipment on consummation of such leases. Unearned
income represents the excess of the gross finance lease
receivable plus the estimated residual value over the sales
price of the equipment. The Company recognises unearned
income as financing revenue over the lease term using the
effective interest method.
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Foreign currency transactions

The Company did not elect to exercise this option.
xi.

Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are recognised when the Company
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
Derivative instruments and Hedge accounting:
The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations
on foreign currency assets, liabilities, net investment in a
non-integral foreign operation and forecasted cash flows
denominated in foreign currency. The Company limits the
effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations by following
established risk management policies including the use of
derivatives. The Company enters into derivative financial
instruments, where the counterparty is a bank.
The Company has adopted Accounting Standard 30,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (AS
30) issued by ICAI except to the extent the adoption of AS
30 does not conflict with existing accounting standards
prescribed by Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules,
2006 and other authoritative pronouncements.
In accordance with the recognition and measurement
principles set out in AS 30, changes in fair value of derivative
financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges are
recognised directly in shareholders’ funds and reclassified
into the profit and loss account upon the occurrence of the
hedged transaction.
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The fair value of derivative financial instruments is
determined based on observable market inputs including
currency spot and forward rates, yield curves, currency
volatility etc.
Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets of the
Company mainly include cash and bank balances, sundry
debtors, unbilled revenues, finance lease receivables,
employee travel and other advances, other loans and
advances and derivative financial instruments with a
positive fair value. Financial liabilities of the Company
mainly comprise secured and unsecured loans, sundry
creditors, accrued expenses and derivative financial
instruments with a negative fair value. Financial assets
are derecognized when all of risks and rewards of the
ownership of the financial asset have been transferred. In
cases where substantial risk and rewards of ownership of
the financial assets are neither transferred not retained,
financial assets are derecognized only when the Company
has not retained control over the financial asset.
The Company measures the financial assets and liabilities,
except for derivative financial assets and liabilities at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.
The Company measures the short-term payables and
receivables with no stated rate of interest at original invoice
amount, if the effect of discounting is immaterial. Noninterest-bearing deposits are discounted to their present
value.
xii.

Depreciation and amortization
The Company has provided for depreciation using straight
line method, at the rates specified in Schedule XIV to the
Companies Act, 1956, except in cases of the following
assets, which are depreciated based on estimated useful
life, which is higher than the rates specified in Schedule
XIV.
Class of Asset
Computer and Computer Software
Furniture and fixtures
Electrical installations
Office equipment
Vehicles

Estimated
useful life
2-7 years
5-6 years
5 years
5 years
4 years

Fixed assets individually costing ` 5,000/- or less are
depreciated at 100%.
Assets under capital lease are amortised over their
estimated useful life or the lease term, whichever is lower.
Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful
life on a straight line basis. For various brands acquired by
the Company, estimated useful life has been determined
ranging between 20 to 25 years. The Company believes
this based on number of factors including the competitive
Wipro Limited

environment, market share, brand history, product life
cycles, operating plan, no restrictions on title and the
macroeconomic environment of the countries in which
the brands operate. Accordingly, such intangible assets are
being amortised over the determined useful life. Payments
for leasehold land are amortised over the period of lease.
xiii. Impairment of assets
Financial assets:
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group
of financial assets is impaired. If any such indication exists,
the Company estimates the amount of impairment loss.
The amount of loss for short-term receivables is measured
as the difference between the assets carrying amount and
undiscounted amount of future cash flows. Reduction, if
any, is recognised in the profit and loss account. If at the
balance sheet date there is any indication that a previously
assessed impairment loss no longer exists, the recognised
impairment loss is reversed, subject to maximum of initial
carrying amount of the short-term receivable.
Other than financial assets:
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is any indication that a non-financial asset including
goodwill may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the
Company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.
If such recoverable amount of the asset or the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs to is less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. The reduction
is treated as an impairment loss and is recognised in the
profit and loss account. If at the balance sheet date there
is an indication that a previously assessed impairment loss
no longer exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed and
the asset is reflected at the recoverable amount subject
to a maximum of depreciated historical cost. In respect of
goodwill, the impairment loss will be reversed only when
it was caused by specific external events of an exceptional
nature that is not expected to recur and their effects have
been reversed by subsequent external events.
xiv. Employee benefits
Provident fund:
Employees receive benefits from a provident fund. The
employee and employer each make monthly contributions
to the plan equal to 12% of the covered employee’s salary.
A portion of the contribution is made to the provident fund
trust managed by the Company, while the remainder of
the contribution is made to the Government’s provident
fund.
Compensated absences:
The employees of the Company are entitled to compensated
absence. The employees can carry-forward a portion of
the unutilized accrued compensated absence and utilize
it in future periods or receive cash compensation at
109

Standalone Financial Statements

retirement or termination of employment for the unutilized
accrued compensated absence. The Company records an
obligation for compensated absences in the period in
which the employee renders the services that increase
this entitlement. The Company measures the expected
cost of compensated absence as the additional amount
that the Company expects to pay as a result of the unused
entitlement that has accumulated at the balance sheet
date. Long term compensated absences is accrued based
on actuarial valuation at the balance sheet date carried out
by an independent actuary.
Gratuity:
In accordance with the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972, the
Company provides for a lump sum payment to eligible
employees, at retirement or termination of employment
based on the last drawn salary and years of employment
with the Company. The gratuity fund is managed by the
Life Insurance Corporation of India (LIC), HDFC Standard
Life, TATA AIG and Birla Sun-life. The Company’s obligation
in respect of the gratuity plan, which is a defined benefit
plan, is provided for based on actuarial valuation carried
out by an independent actuary using the projected unit
credit method. The Company recognizes actuarial gains
and losses immediately in the profit and loss account.
Superannuation:
The employees of the Company also participate in a
defined contribution plan maintained by the Company.
This plan is administered by the LIC and ICICI Prudential
Insurance Company Limited. The Company makes annual
contributions based on a specified percentage of each
covered employee’s salary.
xv.

Employee stock options
The Company determines the compensation cost based
on the intrinsic value method. The compensation cost
is amortised on a straight line basis over the vesting
period.

xvi. Taxes
Income tax:
The current charge for income taxes is calculated in
accordance with the relevant tax regulations.
Deferred tax:
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for the
future tax consequences attributable to timing differences
that result between the profit offered for income taxes and
the profit as per the financial statements of each entity in
the Company.
Deferred taxes are recognised in respect of timing
differences which originate during the tax holiday period
but reverse after the tax holiday period. For this purpose,
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reversal of timing difference is determined using first in
first out method.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The effect
on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates
is recognised in the period that includes the enactment/
substantive enactment date.
Deferred tax assets on timing differences are recognised
only if there is a reasonable certainty that sufficient future
taxable income will be available against which such deferred
tax assets can be realized. However, deferred tax assets on
the timing differences when unabsorbed depreciation
and losses carried forward exist, are recognised only to
the extent that there is virtual certainty that sufficient
future taxable income will be available against which such
deferred tax assets can be realized.
Deferred tax assets are reassessed for the appropriateness
of their respective carrying amounts at each balance sheet
date.
The Company offsets, on a year on year basis, the current
tax assets and liabilities, where it has a legally enforceable
right and where it intends to settle such assets and liabilities
on a net basis.
xvii. Earnings per share
Basic:
The number of equity shares used in computing basic
earnings per share is the weighted average number of
shares outstanding during the period excluding equity
shares held by controlled trust.
Diluted:
The number of equity shares used in computing diluted
earnings per share comprises the weighted average equity
shares considered for deriving basic earnings per share, and
also the weighted average number of equity shares that
could have been issued on the conversion of all dilutive
potential equity shares.
Dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted
as of the beginning of the period, unless issued at a later
date. The number of equity shares and potentially dilutive
equity shares are adjusted for any stock splits and bonus
shares issued.
xviii. Cash flow statement
Cash flows are reported using the indirect method,
whereby net profits before tax is adjusted for the effects
of transactions of a non-cash nature and any deferrals or
accruals of past or future cash receipts or payments. The
cash flows from regular revenue generating, investing and
financing activities of the Company are segregated.
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NOTES TO ACCOUNTS
2.

upheld the claims of the Company for the years ended
March 31, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004.

Capital commitments

In December 2008, the Company received, on similar
grounds, an additional tax demand of ` 5,388 million
(including interest of ` 1,615 million) for the financial year
ended March 31, 2005. The appeal filed before the first
appellate authority against the said order has been allowed
in favour of the Company thus deleting substantial demand
raised by the Income tax authorities.

The estimated amount of contracts remaining to be
executed on Capital account and not provided for, net of
advances is ` 1,682 million(2010 : ` 2,648 million).
3.

Contingent Liabilities
Contingent liabilities in respect of
(` in Million)

Particulars
a)

b)

c)

Disputed demands for excise
duty, customs duty, income tax,
sales tax and other matters
Per formance and financial
guarantees given by banks on
behalf of the Company
Guarantees given by the Company
on behalf of subsidiaries

In December 2009, the Company received the draft
assessment order, on similar grounds, with a demand of `
6,757 million (including interest of ` 2,050 million) for the
financial year ended March 31, 2006. The Company had filed
its objections against the said demand before the Dispute
Resolution Panel, which later issued directions confirming
the position of the assessing officer. Subsequently, the
assessing officer passed the final assessment order in
October 2010 raising a tax demand of ` 7,218 million
(including interest of ` 2,510 million). The Company has
filed an appeal against the said order before the tribunal
within the time limit permitted under the statute.

As at March 31,
2011
2010
1,472
1,384

9,706

13,760

3,919

3,748

The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims
which have arisen in the ordinary course of its business. The
resolution of these legal proceedings is not likely to have
a material and adverse effect on the financial statements
of the Company.

In December 2010, the Company received the draft
assessment order, on similar grounds, with a demand of
` 7,747 million (including interest of ` 2,307 million) for
the financial year ended March 31, 2007. The Company
has filed an objection against the said demand before the
Dispute Resolution Panel, within the time limit permitted
under the statute.

The Company’s Indian operations have been established as
a Software Technology Park Unit under a plan formulated
by the Government of India. As per the plan, the Company’s
India operations have export obligations to the extent of
1.5 times the employee costs for the year on an annual
basis and 5 times the amount of foreign exchange released
for capital goods imported, over a five year period. The
consequence of not meeting this commitment in the future
would be a retroactive levy of import duties on certain
computer hardware previously imported duty free. As at
March 31, 2011, the Company has met all commitments
required under the plan.

Considering the facts and nature of disallowance and the
order of the appellate authority upholding the claims of the
Company for earlier years, the Company believes that the
final outcome of the above disputes should be in favour of
the Company and there should not be any material impact
on the standalone financial statements.
The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims
which have arisen in the ordinary course of its business. The
resolution of these legal proceedings is not likely to have
a material and adverse effect on the results of operations
or the financial position of the Company.

Tax Demands:
The Company had received tax demands from the Indian
income tax authorities for the financial years ended
March 31, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004 aggregating to `
11,127 million (including interest of ` 1,503 million). The
tax demands were primarily on account of the Indian
income tax authority’s denial of deductions claimed by the
Company under Section 10A of the Income Tax Act 1961, in
respect of profits earned by the Company’s undertakings in
Software Technology Park at Bangalore. The appeals filed
by the Company for the above years to the first appellate
authority were allowed in favor of the Company, thus
deleting a substantial portion of the demands raised by
the Income tax authorities. On further appeal filed by the
income tax authorities, the second appellate authority

Wipro Limited

4.

Share Capital
The following are the details for 2,454,409,145 (2010:
1,468,211,189) equity shares as of March 31, 2011.

No. of shares Description
2,379,120,783 Equity shares / American Depository Receipts
(ADRs) (2010:1,399,355,659) have been
allotted as fully paid bonus shares / ADRs by
capitalization of Securities premium account
and Capital redemption reserve
1,325,525
Equity shares (2010: 1,325,525) have been
allotted as fully paid-up, pursuant to scheme
of amalgamation, without payment being
received in cash.
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No. of shares
968,803

3,162,500

69,831,534

Description
Equity shares ( 2010: 968,803) allotted to the
Wipro Inc Benefit Trust, the sole beneficiary of
which is Wipro Inc, wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, without payment being
received in cash, in consideration of acquisition
of inter-company investments.
Equity shares (2010: 3,162,500) representing
American Depository Receipts issued during
2000-2001 pursuant to American Depository
offering by the Company
Equity shares (2010: 63,398,702) issued
pursuant to Employee Stock Option Plan

5.

Note on Reserves:

i)

Restricted stock units reserve includes Deferred Employee
Compensation, which represents future charge to the profit
and loss account and employee stock options outstanding
to be treated as securities premium at the time of allotment
of shares.

ii)

Additions to General Reserve include:
(` in Million)

Particulars

Transfer from Profit and Loss Account
Additional dividend
Adjustment on account of merger
Others
6.

For the year ended
March 31,
2011
2010
4,844
38,888
19
(3)
(74)
(199)
(46)
(1)
4,743
38,685

Adoption of AS 30
The Company has adopted Accounting Standard 30, issued
by ICAI except to the extent the adoption of AS 30 does not
conflict with existing accounting standards prescribed by
Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 and other
authoritative pronouncements.
The Company has designated USD 262 million (2010: USD
262 million) and Euro 40 million (2010: Euro 40 million)
of forward contracts as hedges of its net investments in
non integral foreign operations. The Company has also
designated a yen-denominated foreign currency borrowing
amounting to JPY 16.5 billion (2010: JPY 18 billion), along
with a floating for floating Cross-Currency Interest Rate
Swap (CCIRS), as a hedging instrument to hedge its net
investment in a non-integral foreign operation. Further,
the Company has also designated yen-denominated
foreign currency borrowing amounting to JPY 8 billion
(2010: JPY 8 billion) along with floating for fixed CCIRS as
cash flow hedge of the yen- denominated borrowing and
also as a hedge of net investment in a non-integral foreign
operation. As equity investments in non integral foreign
subsidiaries/operations are stated at historical cost, in
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these standalone financial statements, the changes in fair
value of forward contracts, the yen- denominated foreign
currency borrowing and the related CCIRS amounting to
gain/ (loss) of ` 326 million for the year ended March 31,
2011 has been recorded in the profit and loss account as
part of other income (2010: ` 4,378 million).
7.

Derivatives
As of March 31, 2011 the Company has recognised losses of
` 1,675 million (2010: ` 5,099 million) relating to derivative
financial instruments (comprising of foreign currency
forward contract and option contracts) that are designated
as effective cash flow hedges in the shareholders’ fund.
The following table presents the aggregate contracted
principal amounts of the Company’s derivative contracts
outstanding as at:
(` In Million)

Particulars
Designated derivative instruments
Sell

Buy
Non designated derivative
instruments
Cross currency swaps
Sell

Buy
8.

As at March 31,
2011
2010
$901
£21
¥3,026
AUD 4
€2
CHF 6
-

$1,518
£31
¥4,578
AUD 7
-

¥31,511
$788
AUD 13
£40
€88
$617

¥33,014
$307
£38
€69
$492

Merger and Acquisitions
Pursuant to the scheme of amalgamation approved by
the Honourable High Courts of Karnataka and Bombay,
Wipro Yardley Consumer Care Private Limited has been
merged with the Company with retrospective effect from
April 1, 2010, the Appointed Date. The amalgamation
has been accounted as ‘amalgamation in the nature of
merger’ in accordance with the terms of the Order. The
excess of purchase consideration over the net assets of the
undertaking amounting to ` 0.08 million has been adjusted
against capital reserve of the Company. The merger order
was received subsequent to March 31, 2011 but prior to
the issuance of the financial statements, therefore the
financial results of the above undertaking for the period
April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011 have been included in the
year ended March 31, 2011 of the Company.
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9.

Sale of financial assets

Present value of minimum lease receivables are as follows:

From time to time, in the normal course of business, the
Company transfers accounts receivables, net investment in
finance lease receivables and employee advances (financials
assets) to banks. Under the terms of the arrangements,
the Company surrenders control over the financial assets
and are without recourse. Accordingly, such transfers are
recorded as sale of financial assets. Gains and losses on
sale of financial assets without recourse are recorded at
the time of sale based on the carrying value of the financial
assets and fair value of servicing liability. In certain cases,
transfer of financial assets may be with recourse. Under
arrangements with recourse, the Company is obligated to
repurchase the uncollected financial assets, subject to limits
specified in the agreement with the banks. Accordingly, in
such cases the amount received are recorded as borrowings
in the balance sheet and cash flows from financing activities.
Additionally, the Company retains servicing responsibility
for the transferred financial assets.
During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company
transferred financial assets of ` 1,369 million (2010: ` 1, 666
million), under such arrangements. Proceeds from transfer
of receivables on non recourse basis are included in the net
cash provided by operating activities in the statements
of cash flows. Proceeds from transfer of receivables on
recourse basis are included in the net cash provided by
financing activities. This transfer resulted in a net gain /
(loss) of ` (7) million for the year ended March 31, 2011
(2010: ` (21) million). As at March 31, 2011, the maximum
amounts of recourse obligation in respect of the transferred
financial assets are Nil (March 31, 2010: Nil).
10. Finance lease receivables
The Company provides lease financing for the traded and
manufactured products primarily through finance leases.
The finance lease portfolio contains only the normal
collection risk with no important uncertainties with
respect to future costs. These receivables are generally
due in monthly, quarterly or semi-annual installments over
periods ranging from 3 to 5 years.
The components of finance lease receivables are as follows:
(` in Million)
Particulars

As of March 31,
2011

2010

8,851

5,616

Not later than one year

2,523

774

Later than one year and not later
than five years

6,128

4,652

Gross investment in lease for the
period

Unguaranteed residual values
Unearned finance income
Net investment in finance receivables

Wipro Limited

(` in Million)
Particulars
Present value of minimum lease
payments receivables
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later
than five years
Unguaranteed residual value

200

190
(1,174)

7,250

4,442

2,350
4,723

608
3,675

177

159

11. Assets taken on lease
Finance leases:
The following is a schedule of present value of future
minimum lease payments under capital leases, together
with the value of the minimum lease payments as of March
31, 2011
(` in Million)
Particulars
Present value of minimum lease
payments
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later
than five years
Thereafter
Total present value of minimum lease
payments
Add: Amount representing interest
Total value of minimum lease
payments

As of March 31,
2011
2010

67
96

-

163

-

25
188

-

Operating leases:
The Company leases office and residential facilities under
cancelable and non-cancelable operating lease agreements
that are renewable on a periodic basis at the option of both
the lessor and the lessee. Rental payments under such
leases are ` 1,848 million and ` 1,783 million during the
years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Details of contractual payments under non-cancelable
leases are given below:
(` in Million)
Particulars

(1,601)

As of March 31,
2011
2010
7,250
4,442

As of March 31,
2011

Not later than one year

2010

717

666

Later than one year and not later than
five years

2,237

1,770

Thereafter

1,464

520

Total

4,418

2,956
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12. Employee benefit plans
Gratuity: In accordance with applicable Indian laws, the
Company provides for gratuity, a defined benefit retirement
plan (Gratuity Plan) covering certain categories of employees.
The Gratuity Plan provides a lump sum payment to vested
employees, at retirement or termination of employment,
an amount based on the respective employee’s last drawn
salary and the years of employment with the Company.
The Company provides the gratuity benefit through annual
contributions to a fund managed by the Life Insurance
Corporation of India (LIC), HDFC Standard Life, Tata AIG
and Birla Sun Life (Insurer). Under this plan, the settlement
obligation remains with the Company, although the Insurer
administers the plan and determines the contribution
premium required to be paid by the Company.
(` in Million)
Change in the benefit obligation

As of March 31,
2011

2010

2,023

1,820

Service cost

628

313

Interest cost

158

132

Benefits paid

(229)

(212)

Actuarial loss/(gain)

(132)

(30)

PBO at the end of the year

2,448

2,023

Projected benefit obligation (PBO) at
the beginning of the year

(` in Million)
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at the
beginning of the year
Expected return on plan assets
Employer contributions

As of March 31,
2011

2010

1,932

1,394

160

121

463

611

(229)

(212)

13

18

Fair value of plan assets at the end of
the year

2,339

1,932

Present value of unfunded obligation

(109)

(91)

Recognised liability

(109)

(91)

Benefits paid
Actuarial gain/(loss)

The Company has invested the plan assets with the insurer
managed funds. The expected rate of return on plan asset
is based on expectation of the average long term rate of
return expected on investments of the fund during the
estimated term of the obligation. Expected contribution
to the fund during the year ending March 31, 2012 is ` 379
million.
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Net gratuity cost for the year ended March 31, 2011 and
2010 are as follows:
(` in Million)
Particulars

For the year ended
March 31,
2011
2010
628
313
158
132
(160)
(121)
(145)
(48)
481
276

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial loss/(gain)
Net gratuity cost

The weighted average actuarial assumptions used to
determine benefit obligations and net periodic gratuity
cost are:
Assumptions

As of March 31,
2011
2010
7.95%
7.15%
5%
5%

Discount rate
Rate of increase in compensation
levels
Rate of return on plan assets

8%

8%

As at March 31, 2011 and 2010, 100% of the plan assets
were invested in the insurer managed funds.
(` in Million)
Particulars

As of March 31,
2010
2011

2009

Experience adjustments:
On Plan liabilities
On Plan assets
Present value of benefit
obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Excess of (obligations over
plan assets)/
plan assets over
obligations

(55)
15

84
18

(59)
26

2,448
2,339
(109)

2,023
1,932
(91)

1,802
1,380
(422)

The Company assesses these assumptions with its
projected long-term plans of growth and prevalent
industry standards. The estimates of future salary increase,
considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation,
seniority, promotion and other relevant factors such as
supply and demand factors in the employment market.
Superannuation: Apart from being covered under
the gratuity plan, the employees of the Company also
participate in a defined contribution plan maintained
by the Company. This plan is administered by the Life
Insurance Corporation of India and ICICI Prudential
Insurance Company Limited. The Company makes annual
contributions based on a specified percentage of each
covered employee’s salary.
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For the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company
contributed ` 168 million (2010: ` 246 million) to
superannuation fund.
Provident fund (PF): In addition to the above, all employees
receive benefits from a provident fund. The employee
and employer each make monthly contributions to the
plan equal to 12% of the covered employee’s salary. A
portion of the contribution is made to the provident fund
trust established by the Company, while the remainder of
the contribution is made to the Government’s provident
fund.
The interest rate payable by the trust to the beneficiaries is
regulated by the statutory authorities. The Company has an
obligation to make good the shortfall, if any, between the
returns from its investments and the administered rate.
The Guidance on implementing AS 15, Employee Benefits
issued by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) provides
that exempt provident funds which require employers to
meet the interest shortfall are in effect defined benefit plans.
The Company believes that it is not practicable to reliably
determine the interest shortfall obligation. Accordingly, the
computation of liability and disclosure in accordance with
the provisions of AS 15 cannot be implemented.
For the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company
contributed ` 1,824 million (2010: ` 1,422 million) to PF.
13. Employee stock option
i)

Employees covered under Stock Option Plans and Restricted
Stock Unit (RSU) Option Plans are granted an option to
purchase shares of the Company at the respective exercise
prices, subject to requirements of vesting conditions. These
options generally vest over a period of five years from the
date of grant. Upon vesting, the employees can acquire one
equity share for every option. The maximum contractual
term for these stock option plans is generally 10 years.

ii)

The stock compensation cost is computed under the intrinsic
value method and amortised on a straight line basis over the
total vesting period of five years. For the year ended March
31, 2011, the Company has recorded stock compensation
expense of ` 1,310 million, (2010: ` 1,224 million).

iii)

The compensation committee of the board evaluates the
performance and other criteria of employees and approves
the grant of options. These options vest with employees
over a specified period subject to fulfillment of certain
conditions. Upon vesting, employees are eligible to apply
and secure allotment of Company’s shares at a price
determined on the date of grant of options. The particulars
of options granted under various plans are tabulated below.
(The numbers of shares in the table below are adjusted for
any stock splits and bonus shares issues).

Activity under stock option plans
Particulars

Year Ended
Year Ended
March 31, 2011
March 31, 2010
Shares
Wt. Shares
Wt.
average
average
exercise
exercise
price
price
Outstanding at the 201,606*
293.4 122,746
484
beginning of the
year
Granted
Exercised
80,000
293.4
Forfeited and lapsed 121,606
293.4
1,140
254
Outstanding at the
- 121,606
485
end of the year
1,606
212
Exercisable at the
end of the year
Activity under Restricted Stock Option plans
Particulars

Year Ended March
Year Ended March
31, 2011
31, 2010
Shares
Wt.
Shares
Wt.
average
average
exercise
exercise
price
price
Outstanding at 20,046,267*
2 16,270,226
2
the beginning
of the year
Granted
6,664,930
2
142,100
2
Exercised
6,352,832
2 3,230,443
2
Forfeited and
1,751,712
2 1,154,123
2
lapsed
Outstanding at 18,606,653
2 12,027,760
2
the end of the
year
8,681,374
2 5,365,080
2
Exercisable at
the end of the
year
The following table provides details in respect of range of
exercise price and weighted average remaining contractual life
(in months) for the options outstanding as at March 31, 2011.
Range of
exercise
price

Year Ended
Year Ended
March 31, 2011
March 31, 2010
Shares
Wt.
Shares
Wt.
average
average
remaining
remaining
life
life
`2
18,606,653
36.89 12,027,760
37.98
` 489
120,000
49
$ 3.46 – 5.01
1,606
1
*Includes units on account of bonus issue.
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The movement in Restricted stock unit reserve is
summarized below:
(` in Million)
Particulars

For the year ended
March 31,
2011
2010
Opening balance
1,723
2,313
Less: Amount transferred to share
2,872
1,909
premium
Add: Amortisation**
1,433
1,319
Closing balance
284
1,723
**Includes amortization expense relating to options granted to
employees of the Company’s subsidiaries, amounting to ` 112
million (2010: ` 95 million). This expense has been debited to
respective subsidiaries
14. Provisions
Provision for warranty represents cost associated with
providing sales support services which are accrued at
the time of recognition of revenues and are expected to
be utilized over a period of 1 to 2 year. Other provisions
primarily include provisions for tax related contingencies
and litigations. The timing of cash outflows in respect of
such provision cannot be reasonably determined. The
activity in the provision balance is summarized below:
(` in Million)
Particulars

Provision at the
beginning of the
year
Additions during
the year, net
Utilised during the
year
Provision at the end
of the year

For the year
For the year ended
ended March 31,
March 31, 2010
2011
Provision Others Provision Others
for
for
Warranty
Warranty
532
1,763
685
1,387

482

149

469

394

(562)

(54)

(622)

(18)

452

1,858

532

1,763

15. Earnings per share
The computation of equity shares used in calculating basic
and diluted earnings per share is set out below:
Particulars

Weighted average equity
shares outstanding
Share held by a controlled trust
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For the year ended
March 31,
2011
2010
2,451,354,673 2,443,920,928
(14,914,040)

(14,884,272)

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31,
2011
2010
Weighted average equity shares 2,436,440,633 2,429,036,656
for computing basic EPS
12,856,846
16,413,685
Dilutive impact of employee
stock options
Weighted average equity shares 2,449,297,479 2,445,450,341
for computing diluted EPS
48,437
48,980
Net income considered for
computing diluted EPS (` in
Million)
Earnings per share and number of share outstanding for
the year ended March 31, 2010 has been adjusted for the
two equity shares for every three equity shares bonus issue
approved by the shareholders on June 4, 2010.
16. Managerial remuneration
Computation of net profit in accordance with section 198
read with section 349 of the Companies Act, 1956 for the
purpose of managerial remuneration is given below:
(` in Million)
Particulars

For the year
ended March 31,
2011
2010
Profit before taxation
57,055 56,888
Add: Depreciation as per accounts
6,001
5,797
Managerial Remuneration *
270
163
Provision for doubtful debts/advances
344
453
Less: Depreciation as per Section 350 of
6,001
5,797
the Companies Act, 1956
Bad debts written off
97
Profit on sale of investment/ fixed assets
302
330
Net profit under Section 198 of the
57,367 57,077
Companies Act, 1956
Commission payable to:
Azim Premji, Chairman
0.88
65
Managerial remuneration comprises of :
Salaries and allowances
203
61
Commission to chairman
1
65
Pension contribution
3
6
Contribution to provident fund
2
2
Perquisites
61
29
Total
270
163
Maximum allowable to wholetime/
5,737
5,708
managing directors (10%)
Commission payable to non whole time
25
19
directors
Maximum allowed as per Companies
574
571
Act, 1956
* The managerial remuneration includes remuneration payable
to Mr Girish S Paranjpe, Mr Suresh Vaswani, Mr Suresh C Senapaty
who were appointed as directors with effect from April 18, 2008
and Mr. T.K. Kurien who was appointed as director with effect
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from February 01, 2011. The above remuneration of Mr Girish S
Paranjpe and Mr Suresh Vaswani for the current year was for the
period April 01, 2010 to January 31, 2011.
Managerial remuneration does not include provision for
compensated absences and gratuity, as the same are
actuarially determined for the Company as a whole and
separate figures are not available.
The managerial remuneration is based on the terms
approved by the shareholders in the Annual General
meeting held on July 22, 2010. The commission to Chairman
is 0.3% of the incremental net profits over the previous year
further adjusted as per the method approved by the Board
of Governance and Compensation Committee.
17. The Management has identified enterprises which have
provided goods and services to the Company and which
qualify under the definition of micro and small enterprises,
as defined under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises
Development Act, 2006. Accordingly, the disclosure in
respect of the amounts payable to such enterprises as
at March 31, 2011 has been made in the annual financial
statements based on information received and available
with the Company. The Company has not received any
claim for interest from any supplier under the said Act.
(` in Million)
Particulars

For the year
ended March 31,
2011
2010
The principal amount remaining unpaid
3
to any supplier as at the end of each
accounting year;
The interest due remaining unpaid to any
1
2
supplier as at the end of each accounting
year;
The amount of interest paid by the
Company along with the amounts of the
payment made to the supplier beyond the
appointed day during the year;
- Interest
2
- Principal
88
111
The amount of interest due and payable
for the period of delay in making payment
(which have been paid but beyond the
appointed day during the year) but without
adding the interest specified under this
Act;
The amount of interest accrued and
1
2
remaining unpaid at the end of the year
The amount of further interest remaining
due and payable even in the succeeding
years, until such date when the interest
dues as above are actually paid to the
small enterprise.
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18. The list of balances with other banks in current account is
given below.
(` in Million)
Name of the Bank

Wells Fargo
HSBC
Bank of America
Bank of Montreal
Saudi British Bank
Standard Chartered Bank
RABO Bank
Dresdner Bank
Citi Bank
Standard Bank
Bahrain Saudi Bank
Caja Madrid Bank
Merill Lynch
US Bank
UniCredit Banca
Mitsubishi, Tokyo
Shinhan Bank
Total

Balances as at
March 31,
2011
2010
16,439
13,603
2,010
784
319
197
76
96
63
64
310
89
100
222
7
3
1
136
29
12
36
21
4
5
9
7
7
2
4
44
9
19,457
15,251

Maximum balances during the year are given below.
(` in Million)
Name of the Bank

Wells Fargo
HSBC
Standard Chartered Bank
Bank of America
Bank of Montreal
US Bank
Saudi British Bank
RABO Bank
UniCredit Banca
Bahrain Saudi Bank
Citi Bank
Merill Lynch
Dresdner Bank
Caja Madrid Bank
Standard Bank
Mitsubishi, Tokyo
Shinhan Bank

Maximum balance
during the year
ending March 31,
2011
2010
16,439
13,648
3,466
2,486
1,097
120
406
487
99
153
25
44
69
69
451
510
3
8
38
27
151
176
77
31
33
30
41
26
29
12
44
19
-
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19. Borrowings
The Company entered into an arrangement with a consortium of banks to obtain External Commercial Borrowings (ECB)
during the year ended March 31, 2008. Pursuant to this arrangement, the Company has availed ECB of approximately 35 billion
Yen repayable in full in March 2013. The ECB is an unsecured borrowing and the Company is subject to certain customary
restrictions on additional borrowings and quantum of payments for acquisitions in a financial year.
20. Investment in subsidiaries and other investments
The details of investment in subsidiaries and other investments are given below.
Preference Shares (Fully paid up)
Name of the subsidiary
9% cumulative redeemable preference shares
held in Wipro Trademarks Holding Limited
Wipro Yardley Consumer Care Private
Limited

No. of shares
2011
2010
1,800
1,800
-

5,720,764

Currency

Face value

`

10

`

10

(` in Million)
As at March 31,
2011
2010
-

57

-

57

Equity shares (Fully paid up)
Name of the subsidiary
Wipro Consumer Care Limited
Wipro Chandrika Limited
Wipro Trademarks Holding Limited
Wipro Travel Services Limited
Wipro Technology Services Limited.
Wipro Holdings (Mauritius) Limited
Wipro Australia Pty Limited
Wipro Inc
Wipro Japan KK
Wipro Shanghai Limited
Wipro Cyprus Private Limited
3D Networks Pte Limited
Planet PSG Pte Limited
Cmango Pte Limited
WMNETSERV Limited
Wipro Chengdu Limited
Wipro Airport IT Services Limited
Lornamead Personal Care Private Limited
Wipro Infrastructure Engineering Machinery
(Changzhou) Company Limited

No. of shares
2011
2010
50,000
50,000
900,000
900,000
94,000
93,250
66,171
66,171
39,284,680 39,284,680
44,448,318 30,448,318
25,000
25,000
156,378
150,378
650
650
not applicable
148,910
148,319
28,126,108 28,126,108
1,472,279
1,472,279
2
2
24,000
24,000
not applicable
3,700,000
3,700,000
7,706,090
not applicable

Currency Face value
`
`
`
`
`
USD
AUD
USD
JPY

10
10
10
10
10
1
1
2,500
50,000

Euro
Sing $
Sing $
USD
USD

1
1
1
1
1

`
`
USD

10
10
1

(` in Million)
As at March 31,
2011
2010
1
1
7
7
22
22
1
1
6,205
6,205
2,023
1,391
1
1
16,802
16,101
10
10
9
9
33,355
33,215
1,271
1,271
94
94
16
16
83
83
24
24
37
37
77
104
60,065

118

58,565

Annual Report 2010-11

Standalone Financial Statements

Investment in associates (Fully paid up)
Particulars
Wipro GE Healthcare Private Limited

No. of shares
2011
2010
5,150,597
5,150,597

Currency

Face value

`

10

(` in Million)
As at March 31,
2011
2010
227
227

Other Investments – unquoted (Fully paid up)
Particulars
Debentures in Citicorp Finance (India)
Limited
Debentures in Morgan Stanley
Others

No. of shares/units
2011
2010
2,500
2,500
500

500

Currency

Face value

`

100,000

`

1,000,000

(` in Million)
As at March 31,
2011
2010
241
241
481
69
791

481
86
808

21. The details of Quoted- Current investments in money market mutual funds are given below.
A)

Closing position

Fund House
Birla Sunlife Mutual Fund
DWS Mutual Fund

Number of Units as at March 31,
2011
2010

(` in Million)
Balances as at March 31,
2011
2010

281,936,542

150,477,088

3,709

1,524

-

56,560,196

-

567

DSP BlackRock Mutual Fund

50,003,369

-

500

-

Kotak Mahindra Mutual Fund

100,461,481

94,007,724

1,335

943

-

812,696,841

-

11,196

239,954,367

1,497,039

6,025

158

-

74,066,833

-

793

IDFC Mutual Fund

163,254,234

283,951,663

2,752

2,841

Tata Mutual Fund

184,569,350

-

2,703

-

Franklin Templeton Mutual Fund

238,800,422

517,125

3,676

521

UTI AMC Mutual Fund

28,632,720

4,085

1,065

5

JP Morgan AMC

15,000,000

-

150

-

Religare Aegon AMC Mutual Fund

30,009,000

-

300

-

LIC Mutual Fund
ICICI Prudential AMC Mutual Fund
Reliance Mutual Fund

SBI Mutual Fund
Total

Wipro Limited

129,999,183

-

1,662

-

1,462,620,668

1,473,778,594

23,877

18,548
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B)

Fund-wise details of units purchased and sold during the year

Fund House

Purchased/Dividend reinvested
Redeemed
2011
2010
2011
2010
100,166,649
300,366,144
100,166,649
300,366,144
100,000
6,583,566,938
2,125,282,052
6,452,107,484
2,111,510,336
59,274,863
59,274,863
10,000,000
118,380,459
334,293,147
174,940,655
297,732,952
376,025,881
326,022,512
20,000,000
15,000,000
1,203,502,639
2,834,429,983
1,203,502,639
3,037,534,008
30,000,000
17,000,000
88
18,388
1,081,473,692
80,668,938
1,066,473,692
80,668,938
2,660,511,259
1,609,283,936
2,654,057,502
1,557,149,765
2,747,588,963
4,366,563,455
3,560,285,804
3,566,048,218
15,000,000
15,000,000
714,737,107
149,062,198
684,728,107
149,062,198
15,000,985
2,707,593,387
5,954,564,798
2,469,136,059
6,318,886,480
2,606,256,659
2,981,569,371
2,680,323,492
3,027,639,358
3,269,611,278
3,139,612,095
3,557,380,350
1,078,183,112
3,678,077,779
832,027,904
5,005,952
1,014,769,044
125,058,296
830,199,694
145,058,296
1,757,810,399
1,318,500,362
1,519,527,102
1,411,200,792
345,146,562
28,275,807
316,517,927
126,097,261
30,918,796,129
23,286,101,687 30,929,954,055
23,073,107,975

Fortis Mutual Fund (ABN)
AIG Mutual Fund
Birla Sunlife Mutual Fund
DBS Cholamandalam Mutual Fund
DWS Mutual Fund
DSP BlackRock Mutual Fund
Fidelity Mutual Fund
HDFC Mutual Fund
HSBC Mutual Fund
ING Mutual Fund
J M Mutual Fund
JP Morgan AMC
Kotak Mahindra Mutual Fund
LIC Mutual Fund
L&T
Religare Aegon AMC Mutual Fund
Principal PNB
ICICI Prudential AMC
Reliance Mutual Fund
SBI Mutual Fund
IDFC Mutual Fund
Sundaram BNP Paribas Mutual Fund
Tata Mutual Fund
Franklin Templeton Mutual Fund
UTI AMC Mutual Fund
Total
22. Related party relationships and transactions

List of subsidiaries as of March 31, 2011 are provided in the table below.
Direct Subsidiaries

Step Subsidiaries

Country of
Incorporation
U.S.
U.S.
U.S.
U.S.
Singapore
Japan
China
India
India

Wipro Inc.
Wipro Gallagher Solutions Inc
Enthink Inc.
Infocrossing Inc.
cMango Pte Limited
Wipro Japan KK
Wipro Shanghai Limited
Wipro Trademarks Holding Limited
Cygnus Negri Investments
Private Limited
Wipro Travel Services Limited
Wipro Consumer Care Limited
Wipro Holdings (Mauritius) Limited
Wipro Holdings UK Limited
Wipro Technologies UK Limited
Wipro Holding Austria GmbH(A)
3D Networks (UK) Limited
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India
India
Mauritius
U.K.
U.K.
Austria
U.K.
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Direct Subsidiaries

Step Subsidiaries

Country of
Incorporation
Cyprus
Mexico
Philippines
Hungary

Wipro Cyprus Private Limited
Wipro Technologies S.A DE C. V
Wipro BPO Philippines LTD. Inc
Wipro Holdings Hungary
Korlátolt Felelősségű Társaság
Wipro Technologies Argentina SA
Wipro Information Technology
Egypt SAE
Wipro Arabia Limited*
Wipro Poland Sp Zoo
Wipro Outsourcing Services UK
Limited
Wipro Technologies (South
Africa) Proprietary Limited
Wipro Information Technology
Netherlands BV
(formerly RetailBox BV)

Argentina
Egypt
Saudi Arabia
Poland
U.K.
South Africa
Netherland
Wipro Portugal S.A.(A) (Formerly
Enabler Informatica SA)
Wipro Technologies Limited,
Russia

Wipro Technologies Oy
Wipro Infrastructure
Engineering AB

Wipro Technologies SRL
Wipro Singapore Pte Limited
PT WT Indonesia
Wipro Unza Holdings Limited (A)
Wipro Technocentre (Singapore)
Pte Limited
Wipro (Thailand) Co Limited
Wipro Bahrain Limited WLL
Wipro Yardley FZE

Planet PSG SDN BHD
Wipro Chengdu Limited
Wipro Chandrika Limited*
WMNETSERV Limited
WMNETSERV (U.K.) Limited.
WMNETSERV INC
Wipro Technology Services Limited
Wipro Airport IT Services Limited*
Wipro Infrastructure Engineering
Machinery (Changzhou) Co., Ltd.

Russia
Finland
Sweden

Wipro Infrastructure Engineering
Oy
Hydrauto Celka San ve Tic

Wipro Australia Pty Limited
Wipro Networks Pte Limited (formerly 3D
Networks Pte Limited)
Planet PSG Pte Limited

Portugal

Finland
Turkey
Romania
Singapore
Indonesia
Singapore
Singapore
Thailand
Bahrain
Dubai
Australia
Singapore
Singapore
Malaysia
China
India
Cyprus
U.K.
U.S.
India
India
China

*All the above direct subsidiaries are 100% held by the Company except that the Company hold 66.67% of the equity securities of
Wipro Arabia Limited, 90% of the equity securities of Wipro Chandrika Limited and 74% of the equity securities of Wipro Airport
IT Services Limited.
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(A)

Step Subsidiary details of Wipro Unza Holdings Limited, Wipro Holding Austria GmbH and Wipro Portugal S.A, are as follows :

Step Subsidiaries

Step Subsidiaries

Country of
Incorporation
Singapore
Singapore
Vietnam

Wipro Unza Singapore Pte Limited
Wipro Unza Indochina Pte Limited
Wi p r o U n z a Vi e t n a m C o. ,
Limited
Wipro Unza Cathay Limited
Wipro Unza (China) Limited

Hong Kong
Hong Kong
China

Wi p r o U n z a (G u a n g d o n g )
Consumer Products Limited.
PT Unza Vitalis
Wipro Unza (Thailand) Limited
Unza Overseas Limited
Unzafrica Limited
Wipro Unza Middle East Limited
Unza International Limited
Unza Nusantara Sdn Bhd
Unza Holdings Sdn Bhd
Unza (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd
UAA (M) Sdn Bhd
Manufacturing Services Sdn
Bhd
Shubido Pacific Sdn Bhd(a)
Gervas Corporation Sdn Bhd
Gervas (B) Sdn Bhd
Formapac Sdn Bhd
Wipro Holding Austria GmbH
New Logic Technologies GmbH
New Logic Technologies SARL

Indonesia
Thailand
British virgin
islands
Nigeria
British virgin
islands
British virgin
islands
Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia
Austria
Austria
France

Wipro Portugal S.A.
SAS Wipro France
(formerly Enabler France SAS)
Wipro Retail UK Limited
(formerly Enabler UK Limited)
Wipro do Brasil Technologia Ltda
(formerly Enabler Brazil Ltda)
Wipro Technologies Gmbh
(formerly Enabler & Retail Consult
GmbH)
a)

U.K.
Brazil
Germany

All the above subsidiaries are 100% held by the Company except Shubido Pacific Sdn Bhd in which the Company holds 62.55%
of the equity securities

Name of other related parties

Nature

Wipro Equity Reward Trust
Wipro Inc Trust
Wipro GE Healthcare Private Limited
Azim Premji Foundation
Hasham Premji (partnership firm)
Prazim Traders (partnership firm)
Zash Traders (partnership firm)
Regal Investment & Trading Company Private Limited

Trust
Trust
Associate
Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director
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% of holding

Country of
Incorporation
Fully controlled trust India
Fully controlled trust USA
49%
India
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Vidya Investment & Trading Company Private Limited
Napean Trading & Investment Company Private Limited

Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director

Key management personnel
Azim Premji
Suresh C Senapaty
Suresh Vaswani
Girish S Paranjpe
T K Kurien

Chairman and Managing Director
Chief Financial Officer & Director
Jt CEO, IT Business & Director1
Jt CEO, IT Business & Director1
CEO, IT Business & Director2

Relative of key management personnel
Rishad Premji
1

Upto January 31, 2011
w.e.f February 1, 2011
The Company has the following related party transactions:
2

Transaction / Balances

Sales of services
Sale of goods
Purchase of services
Purchase of goods
Dividend received
Dividend payable
Interest income
Others
Balances as on March 31,
Receivables
Payables

Subsidiaries/ Trusts

Associates

2011
6,481
5,563
64
5
60#
30
97

2010
4,967
3,541
35
5
33#
27
94

2011
5
13
-

2010
7
33

11,715*
1,965

9,948
1,714

7
-

1
-

Entities controlled
by Directors
2011
2010
1
7,401
6,661
7,401

(` in Million)
Key Management
Personnel@
2011
2010
383
344
-

6,663

391

388

# Represents dividend payable to Wipro Inc Trust and Wipro Equity Reward Trust.
@ Including relative of key management personnel.
Remuneration to key management personnel and relative of key management personnel is summarized below:
Name
Azim Premji
Suresh Senapaty
Girish Paranjpe
Suresh Vaswani
T K Kurien
Rishad Premji

(` in Million)
For the year ended March, 31
2011
2010
28
81
43
31
89
20
102
31
8
5
4

* Includes the following balances being in the nature of loans given to subsidiaries of the Company including interest accrued,
where applicable and intercorporate deposits with subsidiary
(` in Million)
Name of the entity
Balance as at
Maximum amount due
March 31,
during the year
2011
2010
2011
2010
Wipro Cyprus Private Limited
1,577
1,569
1,577
1,569
Wipro Chandrika Limited
273
273
273
273
Wipro Singapore Pte Limited
22
22
22
Wipro Holdings (Mauritius) Limited
3
3
3
Wipro Consumer Care Limited
1
2
2
2
Wipro Inc
2,007
2,007
-
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The following are the significant transactions during the year ended March 31, 2011 and 2010:
(` in Million)
Name of the entity
Wipro Inc
Infocrossing Inc
Wipro Japan KK
Wipro Shanghai Limited
Unza Holdings Limited
Wipro Portugal S. A.
New Logic Technologies GmbH
Wipro Technologies S.A DE C.V
Wipro Information Technology, Netherlands BV
Wipro Technologies Limited, Russia
Wipro Technologies OY
Wipro Gallagher Solutions Inc
Wipro Holdings UK Limited
Wipro Poland Sp Zoo
Wipro Technologies SRL-BPO
Wipro Infrastructure Engineering Machinery
(Changzhou) Company Limited
Wipro Retail UK Limited
SAS Wipro France
Wipro do Brasil Technologia Ltda
Wipro (Australia)Pty Ltd
Wipro Airport IT Services-Products division

Sale of services
2011
2010
4,144
3,519
491
6
65
108
498
536
286
97
71
68
175
136
32
23
51
65
116
60
226
222
52
194

11
-

Purchase of services
2011
2010
383
254
839
237
373
186
204
112
783
1,369
40
77
107
37
635
297
20
15
193
937
150
228
710
16
7
-

-

Purchase of goods
2011
2010
61
35
-

-

23. Debts due from companies under the same management
(` in Million)
Companies
Wipro Inc
Inforcorssing Inc
Wipro Arabia Limited
Wipro Technology services Limited
Wipro Holding Austria Gmbh
Wipro Technologies S.A DE C.V
Wipro Japan KK
Wipro Shanghai Limited
Wipro Holdings UK Limited
Wipro Infrastructure Engineering AB
Wipro Technologies Limited Russia
Wipro Unza Holdings Limited
Wipro Chandrika Limited
Wipro Technologies Gmbh
Wipro (Thailand) Co Limited
Wipro Australia Pty Limited
Wipro Gallagher Solutions Inc
Wipro Information Technology Netherlands BV
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As of March 31,
2011
2,249
1,309
1,040
449
338
334
311
301
283
197
175
120
110
108
102
89
53
51

2010
3,801
1,174
824
280
102
226
243
199
160
135
117
75
93
139
75
25
31
108
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Companies

As of March 31,
2011
51
49
40
25
17
16
16
11
8
3
2
7,857

Wipro Poland Sp Zoo
Wipro Information Technology Egypt SAE
Wipro Airport IT Services Limited
Wipro Chengdu Limited
Wipro Technologies SRL
Wipro Bahrain Limited WLL
Wipro Technocentre (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Wipro Technologies Argentina SA
Wipro Singapore Pte Limited
Wipro Holdings (Mauritius) Limited
Wipro Yardley FZE
Enthink Inc
Wipro Yardley Consumer Care Private Ltd
ii)

24. Income Tax
The provision for taxation includes tax liability in India
on the company’s worldwide income. The tax has been
computed on the worldwide income as reduced by the
various deductions and exemptions provided by the
Income tax Act in India (Act) and the tax credit in India for
the tax liabilities payable in foreign countries.
Most of the Company’s operations are through units in
Software Technology Parks (‘STPs’). Income from STPs is
eligible for 100% deduction upto March 31, 2011. The
Company also has operations in Special Economic Zones
(SEZ’s). Income from SEZ’s are eligible for 100% deduction
for the first 5 years, 50% deduction for the next 5 years and
50% deduction for another 5 years subject to fulfilling certain
conditions.
Pursuant to the amendments in the Act, the Company has
calculated its tax liability after considering the provisions of
law relating to Minimum Alternative Tax (MAT). As per the
Act, any excess of MAT paid over the normal tax payable
can be carried forward and set off against the future tax
liabilities. Accordingly an amount of ` 126 million (2010: `
195 million) is included under ‘Loans and Advances’ in the
balance sheet as of March 31, 2011.
i)

2010
134
37
22
12
46
21
8,079

The components of the net deferred tax asset are as follows :
(` in Million)

Particulars
Fixed assets
Accrued expenses and
liabilities
Allowances for doubtful
debts
Net deferred tax assets

As of March 31,
2011
(1,059)

2010
(549)

525

644

642

253

108

348

25. The Company publishes standalone financial statements
along with the consolidated financial statements in the
annual report. In accordance with Accounting Standard
17, Segment Reporting, the Company has disclosed
the segment information in the consolidated financial
statements.
26. Corresponding figures for previous year presented have
been regrouped, where necessary, to conform to the
current year classification.
27. Additional Information Schedule VI

Provision for tax has been allocated as follows:
(` in Million)

Particulars
Net current tax*
Deferred tax
Total income taxes

For the year ended March 31,
2011
2010
8,378
7,679
240
229
8,618
7,908

* Current tax provision includes reversal of tax provision in
respect of earlier periods no longer required amounting to `
590 million for the year ended March 31, 2011 (2010: ` 476
million).
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION PURSUANT TO SCHEDULE VI
i)

Licensed/registered/installed capacities

Particulars

Licensed Capacity**
March 31,
March 31,
2011
2010
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA

Installed capacity @
March 31,
March 31,
2011
2010
45,000
45,000
134,026
128,430
750
750
78,450
68,650
1,650
1,000
110,305
110,305
27,097
27,097
23,355
14,595

Vanaspati / Hydrogenated oils
TPA*
Toilet Soaps
TPA*
Leather shoe uppers
000s
Fatty acids
TPA*
Glycerine
TPA*
General lighting systems lamps
000s
Fluorescent tube lights
000s
Compact flourescent lamps
000s
Mini computers / micro processor based systems and data
NPA #
communication systems
691,200
Hydraulic and Pneumatic tubes
NPA #
NA
NA
831,140
Tipping Gear systems
NPA #
NA
NA
50,000
@ Installed capacities are as per certificate given by management on which auditors have relied.
* TPA indicates tons per annum
# NPA indicates nos. per annum
** The company is exempt from the licensing provisions of the Industries (Development Regulation) Act, 1951.

691,200
649,320
35,000

ii) Production
Particulars

Mini computers/micro processor based systems and data communication systems
Toilet soaps
Vanaspati / hydrogenated oils
Shoe uppers
Fluorescent tube lights
Fatty acids
Glycerine
Hydraulic and pneumatic tubes
Tipping Gear systems
Water Treatment Skids

126

Unit
Nos.
Tons
Tons
000s
000s
Tons
Tons
Nos.
Nos.
Nos.

March 31,
2011
Quantity
217,016
71,471
5,909
161
5,836
44,359
1,355
454,602
23,276
26

March 31,
2010
Quantity
224,744
64,486
4,714
97
6,084
41,788
1,309
301,323
14,532
-
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iii)

Sales

Particulars
Software services
Mini computers/micro processor based systems and data
communication systems
IT enabled services
Toilets soaps (a)
Vanaspati/hydrogenated oils
Shoe uppers
Glycerine
Lighting products (b)
Hydraulic and Pneumatic equipment
Tipping Gear Systems
Spares/components for Tippers/cylinders
Water Treatment Skids(c)
Others (b)
Total
Less: Excise Duty
Total

Unit
Nos

Tons
Tons
000s
Tons

March 31, 2011
Quantity
` in Mn
194,139
217431
28,581
71,668
5,981
162
145
455,152
23,276
-

18,021
8,404
350
69
7
2,075
6,186
122
55
344
5,659
264,012
1,007
263,005

March 31, 2010
Quantity
` in Mn
176,740
224,886
18,496
63,376
4,767
97
321
305,348
14,532
-

16,836
7,479
235
38
11
1,570
3,761
290
4,607
230,063
843
229,220

(a)

Includes samples and shortages
It is not practicable to give quantitative information in the absence of common expressible unit.
(c)
Water treatment skids are the identifiable units for water business. The rest are all part of project revenue
(b)

iv)

Closing stocks

Particulars
Mini computers/micro processor based systems and data
communication systems *
Toilets soaps
Lighting products *
Hydraulic and Pneumatic equipment
Solar thin film and other ecoenergy related products
Others (b)
Closing stock of traded goods
Total

Unit
Nos.
Tons
Nos.
Nos.

March 31, 2011
Quantity
` in Mn
2,813
2,012
1,946
11,288
43,814
-

210
191
113
127
43
2,696
388
3,084

March 31, 2010
Quantity
` in Mn
3,228
2,269
2,452
11,838
-

135
207
70
52
2,733
325
3,058

* Includes traded products; bifurcation between manufactured and traded products not practicable.
It is not practicable to give quantitative information in the absence of common expressible unit.

(b)
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v)

Purchases for trading

Particulars

March 31, 2011
Quantity
` in Mn
22,241
935
85
141
3,570
26,972

Computer units/printers/software products*
Lighting products *
Spares/ components/seal kits for cylinders and tippers *
Solar thin film and other ecoenergy related products
Others *

March 31, 2010
Quantity
` in Mn
23,909
580
97
2,826
27,412

*It is not practicable to give quantitative information in the absence of common expressible unit.
vi)

Raw Material consumed

Particulars
Peripherals/components for computers*
Oil and fats
Tubes
Rounds and rods
Casting and forging
Bearings, seals and wipers
Water Treatment Skids *
Others *

Unit
Tons
Mts
Tons
Nos
Nos
Nos

March 31, 2011
Quantity
` in Mn
1,287
62,084
2,903
389,884
660
9,395
428
207,809
144
15,416,303
480
268
4,687
10,857

March 31, 2010
Quantity
` in Mn
3,052
53,871
1,870
276,936
470
7,548
323
190,306
102
9,032,671
183
3,892
9,892

*It is not practicable to give quantitative information in the absence of common expressible unit.
vii) Value of imported and indigenous materials consumed
Particulars
Raw Materials
Imported
Indigenous
Stores and Spares
Imported
Indigenous

March 31, 2011
%
` In Mn

March 31, 2010
%
` In Mn

35
65
100

3,837
7,020
10,857

37
63
100

3,644
6,248
9,892

7
93
100

17
210
227

4
96
100

16
368
384

viii) Value of imports on CIF basis
Particulars
(Does not include value of imported items locally purchased)
Raw materials, components and peripherals
Stores and spares
Capital goods
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(` in Million)
March 31,
2011
2010
27,358
40
231
27,629

17,484
43
715
18,242

Annual Report 2010-11

Standalone Financial Statements

ix)

Activities in foreign currency

Particulars
a)

b)

Expenditures
Traveling and onsite allowance
Interest
Royalty
Professional fees
Subcontracting charges
Dividend
Others
Earnings
Export of goods on F.O.B basis
Services
Agency commission

Dividend remitted in foreign currencies:
Final Dividend
Particulars
Net amount remitted (in ` Million)
Number of shares held by non-resident shareholders
No of foreign shareholders
Financial year to which final dividend relates
Dividend remitted in foreign currencies:
Interim Dividend
Particulars
Net amount remitted (in ` Million)
Number of shares held by non-resident shareholders
No of foreign shareholders
Financial year to which final dividend relates

Wipro Limited

(` in Million)
March 31,
2011
2010
57,855
114
307
7,843
9,390
0.11
10,133
85,642.11

49,093
853
518
6,458
5,858
0.06
8,864
71,644.06

6,291
177,192
288
183,771

4,186
163,390
353
167,929

March 31,
2011
2010
0.04
0.06
6,978
16,166
2
9
2009-10
2008-09

March 31,
2011
0.07
34,810
8
2010-11

2010
-
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF PART IV OF SCHEDULE VI TO THE COMPANIES ACT, 1956
BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT AND THE COMPANY’S GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE
I.

Registration Details
CIN

L32102KA1945PLC020800

Registration No.

20800

Balance Sheet Date
II.

State Code

08

1,960

31st March 2011

Capital raised during the year

(` in million)

Public issue

Nil

Bonus Issue

Rights issue

Nil

Private Placement

-

Issue of shares on exercise of
Employee Stock Options

12

American Depository Offering
III.

Nil

Position of mobilisation of and
deployment of funds

(` in million)

Total Liabilities

260,650

Sources of funds
4,908

Share application money pending
allotment
Secured Loans
Unsecured Loans

Goodwill
Net Fixed Assets

7

Reserves and Surplus

V.

260,650

Application of Funds

Paid-up capital

IV.

Total Assets

Investments

447
48,401
108,134

208,294

Deferred tax assets

108

-

Net Current Assets

104,007

47,441

Performance of the Company

(` in million)

Turnover

269,038

Total Expenditure

211,983

Profit before Tax

57,055

Profit after Tax

48,437

Earnings per share (basic)

19.88

Dividend

200%

Generic names of three principal products/services of the Company (as per monetary terms)
i)
ii)
iii)

Item code no (ITC Code)

84713010

Product description

Personal Computer

Item code no (ITC Code)

85249113

Product description

I.T Software

Item code no (ITC Code)

15162011

Product description

Vegetable fats and oils (Edible Grade)
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Azim Premji
Chairman

Bangalore
April 27, 2011
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Director

T. K. Kurien
CEO, IT Business
& Executive Director

Suresh C. Senapaty
Chief Financial Officer
& Director

V. Ramachandran
Company Secretary

Dr. Jagdish N. Sheth
Director
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Auditors’ Report
AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF WIPRO LIMITED
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
We have audited the attached consolidated balance sheet of Wipro Limited (‘the Company’) and subsidiaries (collectively called ‘the
Wipro Group’) as at March 31, 2011, the consolidated profit and loss account and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
ended on that date, annexed thereto. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in India. Those Standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
We report that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Company’s management in accordance with the
requirements of Accounting Standard 21, Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting Standard 23, Accounting for Investments
in Associates in Consolidated Financial Statements, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’).
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 4 of the Notes to Accounts that describes the early adoption by the
Company of Accounting Standard (AS) 30, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurements, along with limited revisions to
other accounting standards, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. AS 30, along with limited revisions to the
other accounting standards, have not currently been notified by the National Advisory Council for Accounting Standards (NACAS)
pursuant to the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 as per Section 211(3C) of the Companies Act, 1956. Had the Company
not early adopted AS 30 and the related limited revisions, profit after taxation for the year ended March 31, 2011 would have been
higher by ` 447 million.
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:
(a)

in the case of the consolidated balance sheet, of the state of affairs of the Wipro Group as at March 31, 2011;

(b)

in the case of the consolidated profit and loss account, of the profit of the Wipro Group for the year ended on that date; and

(c)

in the case of the consolidated cash flow statement, of the cash flows of the Wipro Group for the year ended on that date.

for BSR & Co.
Chartered Accountants
Firm registration number: 101248W

Natrajh Ramakrishna
Partner
Membership No. 032815
Bangalore
June 17, 2011
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Schedule
SOURCES OF FUNDS
Shareholders’ Funds
Share capital
Share application money pending allotment
Reserves and surplus

2

Loan Funds
Secured loans
Unsecured loans

3
4

1

4,906
7
219,964
224,877

2,934
18
179,491
182,443

1,904
50,898
52,802
691
278,370

2,119
60,394
62,513
437
245,393

54,266

53,346

99,324
48,706
50,618
7,246
57,864
52,406
38

86,253
42,314
43,939
12,355
56,294
34,060
254

7
8
9
10

9,707
61,773
61,141
71,005
203,626

7,926
51,150
64,878
58,175
182,129

11
12

61,020
28,810
89,830
113,796
278,370

57,342
23,348
80,690
101,439
245,393

Minority interest
APPLICATION OF FUNDS
Goodwill
Fixed Assets and Intangible Assets
Gross block
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortisation
Net block
Capital work-in-progress and advances

5

Investments
Deferred Tax Asset (Net)
Current Assets, Loans and Advances
Inventories
Sundry debtors
Cash and bank balances
Loans and advances

6
18(13)

Less: Current Liabilities and Provisions
Current liabilities
Provisions

(` in Million)
As of March 31,
2011
2010

Net Current Assets
Notes to accounts
18
The schedules referred to above form an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet
As per our report attached

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

for BSR & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration number: 101248W

Azim Premji
Chairman

Natrajh Ramakrishna
Partner
Membership No. 032815
Bangalore
June 17, 2011
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& Executive Director
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Chief Financial Officer
& Director
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Company Secretary
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

Schedule
INCOME
Gross sales and services
Less: Excise duty
Net sales and services
Other income, net

13

EXPENDITURE
Cost of sales and services
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Interest

14
15
16
17

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Provision for taxation
Profit before minority interest / share in earnings of associates
Minority interest
Share in earnings of associates
PROFIT AFTER TAXATION
Appropriations
Interim dividend
Proposed dividend
Tax on dividend
Amount transferred to General reserve
BALANCE CARRIED TO BALANCE SHEET

18(13)

(` in Million except share data)
Year ended March 31,
2011
2010
311,392
1,007
310,385
6,553
316,938

272,972
843
272,129
4,376
276,505

211,943
22,757
19,114
776
254,590

185,649
19,147
15,382
1,232
221,410

62,348
9,695
52,653
(344)
615
52,924

55,095
9,163
45,932
(185)
563
46,310

4,908
9,818
2,204
4,844
31,150

8,809
1,283
36,218
-

EARNINGS PER SHARE - EPS
18(16)
Equity shares of par value ` 2/- each
Basic (in `)
21.72
Diluted (in `)
21.61
Number of shares for calculating EPS
Basic
2,436,440,633
Diluted
2,449,297,479
Notes to accounts
18
The schedules referred to above form an integral part of the consolidated profit and loss account
As per our report attached

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

for BSR & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration number: 101248W

Azim Premji
Chairman

Natrajh Ramakrishna
Partner
Membership No. 032815
Bangalore
June 17, 2011
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18.94
2,429,036,656
2,445,450,341

B. C. Prabhakar
Director

T. K. Kurien
CEO, IT Business
& Executive Director

Suresh C. Senapaty
Chief Financial Officer
& Director

V. Ramachandran
Company Secretary
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
(` in Million)
Year ended March 31,
2011
2010
A.

Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit before tax
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortisation
Amortisation of stock compensation
Exchange differences, net
Impact of cash flow hedges
Interest on borrowings
Dividend / interest income
Profit on sale of investments
Gain on sale of fixed assets
Working capital changes :
Sundry debtors and unbilled revenues
Loans and advances
Inventories
Current liabilities and provisions
Net cash generated from operations
Direct taxes (paid)/refund, net
Net cash generated by operating activities
B.
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of fixed assets (including capital advances)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Advance/lease transactions
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale/maturity of investments
Investment in Intercorporate deposits
Refund of Intercorporate deposits
Payment for acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Dividend/interest income received
Net cash used in investing activities
C.
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options
Share application money pending allotment
Interest paid on borrowings
Dividends paid (including distribution tax)
Repayment of borrowings/loans
Proceeds from borrowings/loans
Proceeds from issuance of shares by subsidiary
Net cash used in financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents during the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash balance
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Refer Schedule 9)
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
As per our report attached
for BSR & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration number: 101248W
Natrajh Ramakrishna
Partner
Membership No. 032815
Bangalore
June 17, 2011
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Azim Premji
Chairman

62,348

55,095

7,891
1,433
822
4,389
776
(6,460)
(192)
(131)

7,543
1,317
(1,394)
6,017
1,232
(4,052)
(308)
(43)

(17,816)
(5,234)
(1,781)
3,685
49,730
(9,293)
40,437

(4,724)
(2,203)
(218)
650
58,912
(7,914)
50,998

(12,211)
521
(474,476)
456,894
(14,290)
20,100
(140)
6,363
(17,239)

(11,029)
397
(1,950)
(340,891)
325,770
(10,750)
4,950
(4,051)
3,739
(33,815)

36
(11)
(696)
(15,585)
(83,798)
72,596
(27,458)

7
3
(1,194)
(6,823)
(55,664)
63,430
77
(164)

(4,260)
64,878
523
61,141

17,019
49,117
(1,258)
64,878

B. C. Prabhakar
Director

T. K. Kurien
CEO, IT Business
& Executive Director

Suresh C. Senapaty
Chief Financial Officer
& Director

V. Ramachandran
Company Secretary
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Schedules to Consolidated Balance Sheet

SCHEDULE 1 SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised capital
2,650,000,000 (2010: 1,650,000,000) equity shares of ` 2 each
25,000,000 (2010: 25,000,000) 10.25 % redeemable cumulative preference shares of `10
each
Issued, subscribed and paid-up capital [Refer note 18 (2)]
2,454,409,145 (2010: 1,468,211,189) equity shares of ` 2 each
Less: 968,803 (2010: 968,803) equity shares issued to controlled trust

SCHEDULE 2 RESERVES AND SURPLUS
Capital reserve
Balance brought forward from previous year
Addition during the year
Securities premium account
Balance brought forward from previous year
Add: Exercise of stock options by employees
Less: Shares issued to controlled trust [Refer note 18(2)]
Less: Issue of Bonus Shares
Translation reserve
Balance brought forward from previous year
Movement during the year
Restricted stock units reserve [Refer note 18(12)]
Employee stock options outstanding
Less: Deferred employee compensation expense
General reserve
Balance brought forward from previous year
Transferred from Profit and loss account [Refer note 18 (3) (ii)]
Hedging reserve [Refer note 18(5)]
Balance brought forward from previous year
Movement during the year
Profit and Loss Account
Summary of reserves and surplus
Balance brought forward from previous year
Movement during the year

Wipro Limited

(` in Million except share data)
As of March 31,
2011
2010
5,300
250

3,300
250

5,550

3,550

4,908
(2)
4,906

2,936
(2)
2,934

1,144
1,144

1,144
1,144

29,188
2,895
32,083
(540)
(1,960)
29,583

27,279
1,909
29,188
(540)
28,648

218
1,267
1,485

1,233
(1,015)
218

3,791
3,507
284

4,366
2,643
1,723

152,712
4,832
157,544

118,813
33,899
152,712

(4,954)
3,728
(1,226)

(16,886)
11,932
(4,954)

31,150

-

179,491
40,473
219,964

133,356
46,135
179,491
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Schedules to Consolidated Balance Sheet
(` in Million)
As of March 31,
2011
2010
SCHEDULE 3 SECURED LOANS
Term loans1
Cash credit1
Finance lease obligation2

107
1,325
472
1,904

164
1,243
712
2,119

18,861
29,740
2,297
50,898

16,844
40,595
2,955
60,394

1

Term loans and cash credit facility are secured by hypothecation of stock-in-trade, book debts,
immovable/movable properties and other assets.
2
Secured by underlying assets.

SCHEDULE 4 UNSECURED LOANS
External commercial borrowings
Borrowing from banks
Others
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2,941

Vehicles

Technical know-how

13,594

14,847

86,253
75,353

1

2,744

91

117

(1,491)

462

(109)

19

11

68

337

117

19

Effect of
Translation*

(1,203)

(2,238)
86,253

99,324

484
2,636

-

-

2,611

11,030

54,558

22,823

5,182

As of March
31, 2011

(3)

(458)

(591)

(1,145)

(41)

-

Deductions/
Adjustments

36,342

42,314

830

355

2,019

5,543

31,437

2,015

115

As of April 1,
2010

7,543

7,891

139

20

455

1,253

5,493

489

42

Depreciation
and
amortisation
for the period

(855)

296

(61)

18

13

45

230

50

1

Effect of
Translation*

(716)

(1,795)

-

50

(354)

(375)

(1,077)

(39)

-

Deductions/
adjustments

42,314

48,706

908

443

2,133

6,466

36,083

2,515

158

As of March
31, 2011

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

@ Includes Gross Block of ` 1,426 million (2010: ` 1,314 million) and Accumulated amortisation of ` 158 million (2010: ` 115 million) being leasehold land.
* Represents translation of fixed assets of non-integral operations into Indian Rupee.
# Plant & machinery includes computers and computer software.
** Brands include ` 348 million related to Yardley acquisition made during the year ended March 31, 2010.
*** Interest capitalized was ` 66 million and ` 95 million for the year ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 respectively.

Previous year - 2010

Brands, patents, trade marks and
rights**

377

9,861

(b) Intangible fixed assets

8,360

47,006

Plant & machinery #

Furniture, fixture and equipments

1,692

3,533

4,110
19,214

1,053

Additions

Land (including leasehold)@

As of April 1,
2010

GROSS BLOCK***

Buildings

(a) Tangible fixed assets

PARTICULARS

SCHEDULE 5 FIXED ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Schedules to Consolidated Balance Sheet

(` in Million)

43,939

50,618

1,728

41

478

4,564

18,475

20,308

5,024

As of March
31, 2011

43,939

1,914

22

922

4,318

15,569

17,199

3,995

As of March
31, 2010

NET BLOCK

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Schedules to Consolidated Balance Sheet
( ` in Million)
As of March 31,
2011
2010
SCHEDULE 6 INVESTMENTS
Long term - unquoted
Investment in associates [Refer note 18(6)]
Wipro GE Healthcare Private Limited 1
Current investments - quoted [Refer note 18(22)]
Investments in Indian money market mutual funds
Current investments - unquoted [Refer note 18(22)]
Certificates of deposit
Commercial Papers
Other investments [Refer note 18(22)]

Aggregate market value of quoted investments and mutual funds

2,993
2,993

2,378
2,378

25,200

19,147

11,966
7,416
4,831
49,413
52,406
25,246

11,088
1,447
31,682
34,060
19,156

4,256
3,217
1,108
1,126
9,707

3,937
2,212
776
1,001
7,926

8,043
2,489
10,532

6,858
2,283
9,141

53,730
105
64,367
2,594
61,773

44,292
44
53,477
2,327
51,150

1

Equity investments in this company carry certain restrictions on transfer of shares as provided for in
the shareholders’ agreements.

SCHEDULE 7 INVENTORIES
Finished goods
Raw materials
Stock in process
Stores and spares

SCHEDULE 8 SUNDRY DEBTORS
Unsecured
Debts outstanding for a period exceeding six months
Considered good
Considered doubtful
Other debts
Considered good
Considered doubtful
Less: Provision for doubtful debts

SCHEDULE 9 CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Balances with bank [Refer note 18(21)]
In current accounts*
In deposit accounts
Cash and cheques on hand

26,674

23,608

33,514
953
61,141

40,723
547
64,878

Includes balance in unclaimed dividend account amounting to ` 20 million (2010: ` 17 million).

*
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Schedules to Consolidated Balance Sheet
( ` in Million)
As of March 31,
2011
2010
SCHEDULE 10 LOANS AND ADVANCES
Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated
Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received
Considered good
- Prepaid expenses
- Advance to suppliers
- Employee travel & other advances
- Others
Considered doubtful
Less: Provision for doubtful advances
Other deposits
Derivative assets
Finance lease receivables
Advance income taxes less provision for tax
Inter corporate deposits
Balances with excise and customs
Unbilled revenues

SCHEDULE 11 CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued expenses
Statutory liabilities
Sundry creditors
Unearned revenues
Advances from customers
Derivative liabilities
Unclaimed dividends
Others

SCHEDULE 12 PROVISIONS
Employee retirement benefits
Warranty
Provision for tax less advance tax
Proposed dividend
Tax on proposed dividend
Others

Wipro Limited

5,855
760
1,500
3,646
11,761
568
12,329
568
11,761
2,283
5,108
7,250
14,644
4,240
1,570
24,149
71,005

4,781
584
1,524
3,103
9,992
297
10,289
297
9,992
1,780
3,903
4,442
10,383
10,050
917
16,708
58,175

19,950
4,046
24,222
6,595
1,025
4,400
20
762
61,020

19,615
4,001
19,133
7,462
1,786
4,385
17
943
57,342

2,633
548
12,361
9,818
1,593
1,857
28,810

2,967
611
7,915
8,809
1,283
1,763
23,348
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Schedules to Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
(` in Million)
Year ended March 31,
2011
2010
SCHEDULE 13 OTHER INCOME, NET
Income from current investments
- Dividend on mutual fund units
- Profit on sale of investments, net
Interest on debt instruments and others
Exchange differences, net
Exchange fluctuations on foreign currency borrowings, net
Miscellaneous income

SCHEDULE 14 COST OF SALES AND SERVICES
Employee compensation
Raw materials, finished and process stocks consumed
Sub contracting / technical fees / third party application
Travel
Depreciation and amortisation
Repairs
Communication
Power and fuel
Rent
Stores and spares
Insurance
Rates and taxes
Miscellaneous expenses

140

2,402
152

1,442
308

4,064
445
(1,156)
646
6,553

2,610
(382)
(160)
558
4,376

106,372
48,261
26,121
7,563
7,327
4,272
3,035
2,427
2,114
801
707
58
2,885
211,943

90,356
45,698
22,193
5,830
6,935
3,844
2,779
1,797
2,033
709
356
276
2,843
185,649
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Schedules to Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
( ` in Million)
Year ended March 31,
2011

2010

10,964

9,130

Advertisement and sales promotion

5,337

4,831

SCHEDULE 15 SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES
Employee compensation
Travel

1,145

858

Carriage and freight

1,359

1,083

Sales commission

1,121

885

Rent

383

466

Communication

457

378

Conveyance

189

144

Depreciation and amortisation

252

265

Repairs

136

109

29

54

Insurance
Rates and taxes

49

38

1,336

906

22,757

19,147

Employee compensation

9,874

7,759

Travel

1,259

1,232

Legal and professional charges

1,629

1,593

Repairs and mantainance

847

900

Provision for doubtful debts

267

566

1,228

485

Manpower outside services

360

232

Depreciation and amortisation

312

343

Rates and taxes

353

160

Insurance

141

148

Rent

733

563

30

26

Miscellaneous expenses

SCHEDULE 16 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Staff recruitment

Auditors’ remuneration
Miscellaneous expenses

SCHEDULE 17 INTEREST
Cash credit and others

Wipro Limited

2,081

1,375

19,114

15,382

776
776

1,232
1,232
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SCHEDULE 18 – NOTES TO ACCOUNTS

Advances paid towards the acquisition of fixed assets
outstanding as of each balance sheet date and the cost of
fixed assets not ready for use before such date are disclosed
under capital work-in-progress.

Company overview
Wipro Limited (Wipro or the Parent), together with its subsidiaries
and associates (collectively, the Company or the group) is a
leading India based provider of IT Services, including Business
Process Outsourcing (BPO) services, globally. Further, Wipro
has other businesses such as IT Products, Consumer Care and
Lighting and Infrastructure engineering. Wipro is headquartered
in Bangalore, India.
1.

Significant accounting policies

i.

Basis of preparation of financial statements
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with Indian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP) under the historical cost convention and
on the accrual basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are measured on a fair value basis. GAAP comprises
Accounting Standards (AS), issued by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) and other generally
accepted accounting principles in India.

ii.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of Wipro and all its subsidiaries, which are more
than 50% owned or controlled.
The financial statements of the parent company and
its majority owned / controlled subsidiaries have been
combined on a line by line basis by adding together the
book values of all items of assets, liabilities, incomes and
expenses after eliminating all inter-company balances /
transactions and resulting unrealized gain / loss.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared using
uniform accounting policies for similar transactions and
other events in similar circumstances.

iii.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses. Estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting
estimate is recognised in the period in which the estimates
are revised and in any future period affected.

iv.

Fixed assets, intangible assets and capital work-in-progress
Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation. Costs include expenditure directly attributable
to the acquisition of the asset. Borrowing costs directly
attributable to the construction or production of qualifying
assets are capitalized as part of the cost.
Intangible assets are stated at the consideration paid for
acquisition less accumulated amortization.

Wipro Limited

v.

Investments
Long term investments (other than investment in associate)
are stated at cost less other than temporary decline in the
value of such investments, if any. Current investments
are valued at lower of cost and fair value determined by
category of investment. The fair value is determined using
quoted market prices/market observable information
adjusted for cost of disposal.
Investment in associate is accounted under the equity
method.

vi.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at lower of cost and net realizable
value, including necessary provision for obsolescence. Cost
is determined using the weighted average method. Cost of
work-in-progress and finished goods include material cost
and appropriate share of manufacturing overheads.

vii.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a
present obligation as a result of past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of obligation.
A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is
a possible obligation or a present obligation that may, but
probably will not, require an outflow of resources. Where
there is a possible obligation or a present obligation in
respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is
remote, no provision or disclosure is made.
The Company recognizes provision for onerous contracts
based on the estimate of excess of unavoidable costs of
meeting obligations under the contracts over the expected
economic benefits.

viii. Revenue recognition
Services:
The Company recognizes revenue when the significant
terms of the arrangement are enforceable, services have
been delivered and the collectability is reasonably assured.
The method for recognizing revenues and costs depends
on the nature of the services rendered:
A.

Time and materials contracts
Revenues and costs relating to time and materials
contracts are recognized as the related services are
rendered.

B.

Fixed-price contracts
Revenues from fixed-price contracts, including
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systems development and integration contracts are
recognized using the “percentage-of-completion”
method. Percentage of completion is determined
based on project costs incurred to date as a percentage
of total estimated project costs required to complete
the project. When total cost estimates exceed
revenues in an arrangement, the estimated losses are
recognized in the statement of income in the period
in which such losses become probable based on the
current contract estimates.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases.
Lease rentals in respect of assets taken under operating
leases are charged to profit and loss account on a straight
line basis over the lease term.
In certain arrangements, the Company recognizes revenue
from the sale of products given under finance leases. The
Company records gross finance receivables, unearned
income and the estimated residual value of the leased
equipment on consummation of such leases. Unearned
income represents the excess of the gross finance lease
receivable plus the estimated residual value over the sales
price of the equipment. The Company recognises unearned
income as financing revenue over the lease term using the
effective interest method.

‘Unbilled revenues’ included in loans and advances
represent cost and earnings in excess of billings as at
the balance sheet date. ‘Unearned revenues’ included
in current liabilities represent billing in excess of
revenue recognized.
C.

Maintenance contract
Revenue from maintenance contracts is recognized
ratably over the period of the contract using the
percentage of completion method. When services are
performed through an indefinite number of repetitive
acts over a specified period of time, revenue is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the specified
period unless some other method better represents
the stage of completion.

Products:
Revenue from sale of products is recognised when the
product has been delivered, in accordance with the sales
contract. Revenues from product sales are shown as net
of excise duty, sales tax separately charged and applicable
discounts.
Other income:
Agency commission is accrued when shipment of
consignment is dispatched by the principal.
Profit on sale of investments is recorded upon transfer of
title by the Company. It is determined as the difference
between the sales price and carrying amount of the related
investment.
Interest is recognised using the time-proportion method,
based on rates implicit in the transaction.
Dividend income is recognised where the Company’s right
to receive dividend is established.
ix.

Leases
Leases of assets, where the Company assumes substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lower
of the fair value of the leased assets at inception and the
present value of minimum lease payments. Lease payments
are apportioned between the finance charge and the
outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to
periods during the lease term at a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
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x.

Foreign currency transactions
Transaction:
Foreign currency transactions are accounted in the books
of accounts at the average rate for the month.
The difference between the rate at which foreign currency
transactions are accounted and the rate at which they are
realized is recognised in the profit and loss account.
Translation:
Monetary foreign currency assets and liabilities at periodend are translated at the closing rate. The difference
arising from the translation is recognised in the profit and
loss account, except for the exchange difference arising
on monetary items that qualify as hedging instruments
in a cash flow hedge or hedge of a net investment in a
non-integral foreign operation. In such cases the exchange
difference is initially recognised in hedging reserve or
translation reserve, respectively. Such exchange differences
are subsequently recognised in the profit and loss account
on occurrence of the underlying hedged transaction
or on disposal of the investment, respectively. Further,
foreign currency differences arising from translation of
inter company receivables or payables relating to foreign
operations, the settlement of which is neither planned nor
likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part
of net investment in foreign operation and are recognised
in Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (FCTR).
Integral operations:
Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the
exchange rate prevailing at the date of the balance sheet.
Non-monetary items are translated at the historical rate.
The items in the profit and loss account are translated at the
average exchange rate during the period. The differences
arising out of the translation are recognised in the profit
and loss account.
Non-integral operations:
Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate
prevailing at the date of the balance sheet. The items in
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the profit and loss account are translated at the average
exchange rate during the period. The differences arising out
of the translation are transferred to translation reserve.
xi.

Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets of the
Company mainly include cash and bank balances, sundry
debtors, unbilled revenues, finance lease receivables,
employee travel and other advances, other loans and
advances and derivative financial instruments with a
positive fair value. Financial liabilities of the Company
mainly comprise secured and unsecured loans, sundry
creditors, accrued expenses and derivative financial
instruments with a negative fair value. Financial assets
are derecognised when substantial risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset have been transferred. In
cases where substantial risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial assets are neither transferred nor retained,
financial assets are derecognised only when the Company
has not retained control over the financial asset.

Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are recognised when the Company
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
Derivative instruments and Hedge accounting:
The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations
on foreign currency assets, liabilities, net investment in
non-integral foreign operations and forecasted cash flows
denominated in foreign currency. The Company limits the
effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations by following
established risk management policies including the use of
derivatives. The Company enters into derivative financial
instruments, where the counterparty is a bank.
The Company early adopted Accounting Standard 30,
Financial Instuments: Recognition and Measurement (AS
30) and the limited revisions to other accounting standards
which come into effect upon adoption of AS 30 from April
1, 2008 except to the extent the provisions of AS 30 are
in conflict with particular sections of other accounting
standards; AS 4, Contingencies and Events Occurring
after Balance sheet date, to the extent it deals with
contingencies, AS 11(revised 2003), The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates, to the extent it deals with the
‘forward exchange contracts’ and AS 13 Accounting for
Investments, except to the extent it relates to accounting
for investment properties.
Accordingly, the Company continues to comply with the
guidance under these accounting standards; AS 4- relating
to Contingencies, AS 11- relating to Forward Contracts and
AS 13- relating to Investments.
In accordance with the recognition and measurement
principles set out in AS 30, changes in fair value of
derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow
hedges are recognised directly in shareholders’ funds
and reclassified into the profit and loss account upon the
occurrence of the hedged transaction. The Company also
designates derivative financial instruments as hedges
of net investment in non-integral foreign operation. The
portion of the changes in fair value of derivative financial
instruments determined to be an effective hedge are
recognised in the shareholders’ funds and would be
recognised in the profit and loss account upon sale or
disposal of related non-integral foreign operation. Changes
in fair value relating to the ineffective portion of the hedges
and derivatives not designated as hedges are recognised
in the profit and loss account as they arise.
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is
determined based on observable market inputs including
currency spot and forward rates, yield curves, currency
volatility etc.

Wipro Limited

The Company measures the financial assets and liabilities,
except for derivative financial assets and liabilities at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.
The Company measures the short-term payables and
receivables with no stated rate of interest at original invoice
amount, if the effect of discounting is immaterial. Noninterest-bearing deposits are discounted to their present
value.
xii.

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation is provided on straight line method based
on the estimated useful life of the asset. Management
estimates the useful life of various assets as follows:
Nature of asset
Building ................................................
Plant and machinery .......................
Office equipment .............................
Vehicles ................................................
Furniture and fixtures .....................
Computer and software .................

Life of asset
30 – 60 years
5 – 21 years
3 - 10 years
4 years
3 - 10 years
2 – 7 years

Fixed assets individually costing ` 5,000/- or less are
depreciated at 100%.
Assets under capital lease are amortised over their estimated
useful life or the lease term, whichever is lower. Intangible
assets are amortized over their estimated useful life on
a straight line basis. For various brands acquired by the
Company, the estimated useful life has been determined
ranging between 20 to 25 years. The Company believes
this based on number of factors including the competitive
environment, market share, brand history, product life
cycles, operating plan, no restrictions on title and the
macroeconomic environment of the countries in which
the brands operate. Accordingly, such intangible assets are
being amortised over the determined useful life. Payments
for leasehold land are amortised over the period of lease.

145

Consolidated Financial Statements

xiii. Impairment of assets

that the Company expects to pay as a result of the unused
entitlement that has accumulated at the balance sheet
date. Long term compensated absences is accrued based
on actuarial valuation at the balance sheet date carried out
by an independent actuary.

Financial assets:
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group
of financial assets is impaired. If any such indication exists,
the Company estimates the amount of impairment loss.
The amount of loss for short-term receivables is measured
as the difference between the assets carrying amount and
undiscounted amount of future cash flows. Reduction, if
any, is recognised in the profit and loss account. If at the
balance sheet date there is any indication that a previously
assessed impairment loss no longer exists, the recognised
impairment loss is reversed, subject to maximum of initial
carrying amount of the short-term receivable.

Gratuity:
In accordance with the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972, the
Company provides for a lump sum payment to eligible
employees, at retirement or termination of employment
based on the last drawn salary and years of employment
with the Company. The gratuity fund is managed by the
Life Insurance Corporation of India (LIC), HDFC Standard
Life, TATA AIG and Birla Sun-life. The Company’s obligation
in respect of the gratuity plan, which is a defined benefit
plan, is provided for based on actuarial valuation carried
out by an independent actuary using the projected unit
credit method. The Company recognizes actuarial gains
and losses immediately in the profit and loss account.

Other than financial assets:
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is any indication that a non-financial asset including
goodwill may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the
Company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.
If such recoverable amount of the asset or the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs to is less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. The reduction
is treated as an impairment loss and is recognised in the
profit and loss account. If at the balance sheet date there
is an indication that a previously assessed impairment loss
no longer exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed and
the asset is reflected at the recoverable amount subject
to a maximum of depreciated historical cost. In respect of
goodwill, the impairment loss will be reversed only when
it was caused by specific external events of an exceptional
nature that is not expected to recur and their effects have
been reversed by subsequent external events.
xiv. Employee benefits
Provident fund:
Employees receive benefits from a provident fund. The
employee and employer each make monthly contributions
to the plan equal to 12% of the covered employee's salary.
A portion of the contribution is made to the provident fund
trust managed by the Company, while the remainder of
the contribution is made to the Government's provident
fund.
Compensated absences:
The employees of the Company are entitled to compensated
absence. The employees can carry-forward a portion of
the unutilized accrued compensated absence and utilize
it in future periods or receive cash compensation at
retirement or termination of employment for the unutilized
accrued compensated absence. The Company records an
obligation for compensated absences in the period in
which the employee renders the services that increase
this entitlement. The Company measures the expected
cost of compensated absence as the additional amount
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Superannuation:
The employees of the Company also participate in a
defined contribution plan maintained by the Company.
This plan is administered by the LIC and ICICI Prudential
Insurance Company Limited. The Company makes annual
contributions based on a specified percentage of each
covered employee's salary.
xv.

Employee stock options
The Company determines the compensation cost based
on the intrinsic value method. The compensation cost
is amortised on a straight line basis over the vesting
period.

xvi. Taxes
Income tax:
The current charge for income taxes is calculated in
accordance with the relevant tax regulations.
Deferred tax:
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for the
future tax consequences attributable to timing differences
that result between the profit offered for income taxes and
the profit as per the financial statements of each entity in
the Group.
Deferred taxes are recognised in respect of timing
differences which originate during the tax holiday period
but reverse after the tax holiday period. For this purpose,
reversal of timing difference is determined using first in
first out method.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The effect
on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates
is recognised in the period that includes the enactment/
substantive enactment date.

Annual Report 2010-11

Consolidated Financial Statements

Deferred tax assets on timing differences are recognised
only if there is a reasonable certainty that sufficient future
taxable income will be available against which such deferred
tax assets can be realized. However, deferred tax assets on
the timing differences when unabsorbed depreciation
and losses carried forward exist, are recognised only to
the extent that there is virtual certainty that sufficient
future taxable income will be available against which such
deferred tax assets can be realized.
Deferred tax assets are reassessed for the appropriateness
of their respective carrying amounts at each balance sheet
date.
The Company offsets, on a year on year basis, the current
tax assets and liabilities, where it has a legally enforceable
right and where it intends to settle such assets and liabilities
on a net basis.
xvii. Earnings per share
Basic:

No. of shares Description
Equity shares (2010: 1,325,525) have been
allotted as fully paid-up, pursuant to scheme
of amalgamation, without payment being
1,325,525
received in cash.
Equity shares ( 2010: 968,803) allotted to the
Wipro Inc Benefit Trust, the sole beneficiary of
which is Wipro Inc, wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, without payment being received
in cash, in consideration of acquisition of inter968,803
company investments.
Equity shares (2010: 3,162,500) representing
American Depository Receipts issued during
2000-2001 pursuant to American Depository
3,162,500
offering by the Company
Equity shares (2010: 63,398,702) issued
69,831,534
pursuant to Employee Stock Option Plan
3.

The number of equity shares used in computing basic
earnings per share is the weighted average number of
shares outstanding during the period excluding equity
shares held by controlled trust.

Note on reserves
i)

Restricted stock units reserve includes Deferred
Employee Compensation, which represents future
charge to the profit and loss account and employee
stock options outstanding to be treated as securities
premium at the time of allotment of shares.

ii)

Additions to General Reserve include:

Diluted:
The number of equity shares used in computing diluted
earnings per share comprises the weighted average equity
shares considered for deriving basic earnings per share, and
also the weighted average number of equity shares that
could have been issued on the conversion of all dilutive
potential equity shares.
Dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted
as of the beginning of the period, unless issued at a later
date. The number of equity shares and potentially dilutive
equity shares are adjusted for any stock splits and bonus
shares issued.
xviii. Cash flow statement
Cash flows are reported using the indirect method,
whereby net profits before tax is adjusted for the effects
of transactions of a non-cash nature and any deferrals or
accruals of past or future cash receipts or payments. The
cash flows from regular revenue generating, investing and
financing activities of the Company are segregated.
2.

Share capital
The following are the details for 2,454,409,145 (2010:
1,468,211,189) equity shares as of March 31, 2011.

No. of shares Description
Equity shares / American Depository Receipts
(ADRs) (2010:1,399,355,659) have been
allotted as fully paid bonus shares / ADRs by
capitalization of Securities premium account
2,379,120,783 and Capital redemption reserve

Wipro Limited

(` in Million)
Particulars

Transfer from Profit and loss account
Adjustment on account of merger
[refer note 18(7)(i)]
Additional purchase consideration
[refer note 18(7)(ii)]
Excess provision for Dividend/Dividend
Distribution Tax written back
Dividend paid to Wipro Equity Reward
Trust and Wipro Inc Trust
Others
4.

For the year ended
March 31,
2011
2010
4,844
36,218
(64)

-

(54)

(2,385)

19

-

74
13
4,832

67
(1)
33,899

The Company has adopted AS 30 and the limited revisions
to other accounting standards except to the extent the
provisions of AS 30 are in conflict with particular sections
of other accounting standards; AS 4, Contingencies and
Events Occurring after Balance sheet Date, to the extent it
deals with contingencies, AS 11 (revised 2003), The Effects
of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, to the extent it
deals with the ‘forward exchange contracts’ and AS 13,
Accounting for Investments, except to the extent it relates
to accounting for investment properties.
Accordingly, the Company continues to comply with the
guidance under these accounting standards; AS 4 – relating
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to Contingencies, AS 11 – relating to Forward Contracts
and AS 13 – relating to Investments until AS 30 becomes
mandatory.
i)

ii)

iii)

5.

As permitted by AS 30 and the consequent limited
revisions to other accounting standards, the Company
has designated a yen-denominated foreign currency
borrowing amounting to JPY 16.5 billion (2010: JPY
18 billion) along with a floating for floating CrossCurrency Interest Rate Swap (CCIRS), as a hedging
instrument to hedge its net investment in a nonintegral foreign operation. In addition, the Company
has also designated yen-denominated foreign
currency borrowing amounting to JPY 8 billion (2010:
JPY 8 billion) along with floating for fixed CCIRS as
cash flow hedge of the yen- denominated borrowing
and also as a hedge of net investment in non-integral
foreign operation.
Accordingly, the translation gain/ (loss) on the
foreign currency borrowings and portion of
the changes in fair value of CCIRS which are
determined to be effective hedge of net investment
in non-integral operation and cash flow hedge
of yen-denominated borrowings aggregating to
` 447 million for the year ended March 31, 2011 (2010:
` 1,736 million) was recognised in translation reserve
/ hedging reserve in shareholders’ funds. The amount
of gain/ (loss) of ` 142 million for the year ended
March 31, 2011 (2010: ` 1,564 million) recognised in
translation reserve would be transferred to profit and
loss account upon sale or disposal of the non-integral
foreign operation and the amount of gain / (loss) of
` 305 million for year ended March 31, 2011 (2010: `
172 million) recognised in the hedging reserve would
be transferred to profit and loss upon occurrence of
the hedged transaction.
In accordance with AS 11, if the Company had
continued to recognize translation (losses)/ gains
on foreign currency borrowing in the profit and loss
account, the foreign currency borrowing would not
have been eligible to be combined with CCIRS for
hedge accounting. Consequently, the CCIRS also
would not have qualified for hedge accounting
and changes in fair value of CCIRS would have to
be recognised in the profit and loss account. As a
result profit after tax would have been higher by `
447 million for the year ended March 31, 2011 (2010:
` 1,736 million).

Derivatives
As of March 31, 2011, the Company has recognised losses of
` 1,226 million (2010: ` 4,954 million) relating to derivative
financial instruments (comprising of foreign currency
forward contract, option contracts and floating to fixed
CCIRS) that are designated as effective cash flow hedges
in the shareholders’ funds.
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In addition to the derivative instruments discussed above
in Note 4, the Company has also designated certain foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge its net investment
in non-integral foreign operations. The Company has
recognized gain/ (loss) of ` (122) million for the year
ended March 31, 2011 (2010: ` 2,642 million) relating to
the derivative financial instruments in translation reserve
in the shareholders’ funds.
The following table presents the aggregate contracted
principal amounts of the Company’s derivative contracts
outstanding as at:
(In Million)
Particulars
Designated cash flow hedging
derivative instruments
Sell

Net investment hedges in foreign
operations
Cross currency swaps
Others
Non designated derivative
instruments
Sell

Buy
Cross currency swaps
6.

As at March 31
2011
2010

$901

$1,518

£21

£31

¥3,026

¥4,578

AUD 4

AUD 7

CHF 6

-

€2

-

¥ 24,511
$262
€40

¥ 26,014
$262
€40

$526
£40
€48
AUD 13
$617
¥7,000

$45
£38
€29
$492
¥7,000

The Company has a 49% equity interest in Wipro GE
Healthcare Private Limited (Wipro GE), an entity in which
General Electric, USA holds the majority equity interest.
The shareholders agreement provides specific rights to the
two shareholders. Management believes that these specific
rights do not confer joint control as defined in Accounting
Standard 27 “Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint
Ventures”. Consequently, Wipro GE is not considered as a
joint venture and consolidation of financial statements is
carried out as per the equity method in terms of Accounting
Standard 23 “Accounting for Investments in Associates in
Consolidated interim financial statements”.
Wipro GE had received tax demands from the Indian income
tax authorities for the financial years ended March 31,
2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004 aggregating to ` 903 million,
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including interest. The tax demands were primarily on
account of transfer pricing adjustments and the denial of
export benefits and tax holiday benefits claimed by Wipro GE
under the Indian Income Tax Act, 1961 (the “Act”). Wipro GE
appealed against the said demands before the first appellate
authority. The first appellate authority has vacated the tax
demands for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002, 2003
and 2004. The income tax authorities have filed an appeal
for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004.
In December 2008, Wipro GE received, on similar grounds,
additional tax demand of ` 552 million (including interest)
for the financial year ended March 31, 2005. Wipro GE had
filed an appeal against the said demand and in the month of
February 2011, the appellate order has been received, setting
aside the entire TP adjustment and reducing the overall
demand of ` 552 million (including interest) to ` 220 million
(including interest). Wipro GE would be seeking further relief
in this regard.

(ii)

(iii) The Company has merged its fully owned subsidiary
Infocrossing LLC into Infocrossing Inc with effect from
December 31, 2010.
8.

In certain cases, transfer of financial assets may be with
recourse. Under arrangements with recourse, the Company
is obligated to repurchase the uncollected financial assets,
subject to limits specified in the agreement with the
banks. Accordingly, in such cases the amounts received
are recorded as borrowings in the statement of financial
position and cash flows from financing activities. As
at March 31, 2010 and 2011, the maximum amount of
recourse obligation in respect of the transferred financial
assets (recorded as borrowings) are ` 657 million and
` 1,085 million respectively.

In February 2011, Wipro GE received an assessment
order, on similar grounds, with a demand of ` 843 million
(including interest) for the financial year ended March 31,
2007. In this regard, Wipro GE has filed an appeal with the
first appellate authority against the said demand within
the time limit permitted under the statute

7.

Merger and Acquisition
(i)

Pursuant to the scheme of amalgamation approved by
the Honourable High Courts of Karnataka and Bombay,
Wipro Yardley Consumer Care Private Limited has
been merged with the Company with retrospective
effect from April 1, 2010, the Appointed date. The
amalgamation has been accounted as ‘amalgamation
in the nature of merger’ in accordance with the terms
of the Order. The excess of purchase consideration
over the net assets of the undertaking amounting to `
0.08 Million has been adjusted against capital reserve
in the standalone financial statements of Wipro
Limited. Accordingly, in the consolidated financial
statements, the goodwill arising on consolidation
of the amalgamated company amounting to ` 64
million has been adjusted against general reserves,
consequent to the merger.

Wipro Limited

Sale of financial assets
From time to time, in the normal course of business, the
Company transfers accounts receivables, net investment in
finance lease receivables and employee advances (financials
assets) to banks. Under the terms of the arrangements, the
Company surrenders control over the financial assets and
transfer is without recourse. Accordingly, such transfers are
recorded as sale of financial assets. Gains and losses on sale
of financial assets without recourse are recorded at the time
of sale based on the carrying value of the financial assets
and fair value of servicing liability.

In December 2009, Wipro GE received a draft assessment
order, on similar grounds, with a demand of ` 317 million
(including interest) for the financial year ended March 31,
2006. The final assessment order was issued in this regard
demanding the same amount, plus interest and Wipro
GE has filed an appeal against the said demand before
the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal within the time limit
permitted under the statute.

Considering the facts and nature of disallowance and the
order of the appellate authority upholding the claims of
Wipro GE, Wipro GE believes that the final outcome of the
disputes should be in favour of Wipro GE and will not have
any material adverse effect on its financial position and
results of operations.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the
Company determined that ` 54 Million, of additional
consideration is payable for certain entities acquired
during the year ended March 31, 2007 and merged
with other entities of Wipro Group subsequently.
Pursuant to the merger of acquired entities, this
additional consideration has been adjusted through
reserves during the year ended March 31, 2011
consistent with the previous accounting for merger.

9.

Finance lease receivables
The Company provides lease financing for the traded and
manufactured products primarily through finance leases.
The finance lease portfolio contains only the normal
collection risk with no important uncertainties with
respect to future costs. These receivables are generally
due in monthly, quarterly or semi-annual installments over
periods ranging from 3 to 5 years.
The components of finance lease receivables are as
follows:

Particulars
Gross investment in lease
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later
than five years
Unguaranteed residual values
Unearned finance income
Net investment in finance receivables

(` in Million)
As of March 31,
2011
2010
8,851
5,616
2,522
774
6,129
200
(1,601)
7,250

4,652
190
(1,174)
4,442
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Present value of minimum lease receivables are as follows:
(` in Million)
Particulars
Present value of minimum lease
payments receivables
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later
than five years
Unguaranteed residual value

As of March 31,
2011
2010
7,250
2,350

4,442
608

4,723
177

3,675
159

10. Assets taken on lease
Finance leases:
The following is a schedule of present value of future
minimum lease payments under capital leases, together
with the value of the minimum lease payments as of March
31, 2011
(` in Million)
Particulars
Present value of minimum lease
payments
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later
than five years
Thereafter
Total present value of minimum lease
payments
Add: Amount representing interest
Total value of minimum lease
payments

As of March 31,
2011
2010

203

228

372
60

425
59

635
66

712
68

701

780

The Company leases office and residential facilities under
cancelable and non-cancelable operating lease agreements
that are renewable on a periodic basis at the option of both
the lessor and the lessee. Rental payments under such
leases are ` 3,230 million and ` 3,062 million during the
years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 respectively.
Details of contractual payments under non-cancelable
leases are given below:
(` in Million)

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than
five years
Thereafter
Total
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Gratuity: In accordance with applicable Indian laws,
the Company provides for gratuity,a defined benefit
retirement plan (Gratuity Plan) covering certain categories
of employees. The Gratuity Plan provides a lump sum
payment to vested employees, at retirement or termination
of employment, an amount based on the respective
employee’s last drawn salary and the years of employment
with the Company. The Company provides the gratuity
benefit through annual contributions to a fund managed
by the Life Insurance Corporation of India (LIC), HDFC
Standard Life, TATA AIG and Birla Sunlife (‘Insurer’). Under
this plan, the settlement obligation remains with the
Company, although the Insurer administers the plan and
determines the contribution premium required to be paid
by the Company.
(` in Million)
Change in the benefit obligation
Projected Benefit Obligation (PBO) at
the beginning of the year
Acquisitions
Service Cost
Interest Cost
Benefits paid
Actuarial loss/(gain)
PBO at the end of the year

As of March 31,
2011
2010
2,060
640
161
(230)
(155)
2,476

1,858
328
133
(214)
(45)
2,060
(` in Million)

Operating leases:

Particulars

11. Employee Benefit Plan

As of March 31,
2011
2010
1,828
1,396
5,143
3,294
10,265

4,319
2,554
8,269

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at the
beginning of the year
Acquisitions
Expected return on plan assets
Employer contribution
Benefits paid
Actuarial (loss)/gain
Fair value of the plan assets at the end
of the year
Present value of unfunded obligation/
Recognised Liability

As of March 31,
2011
2010
1,967
164
473
(230)
13

1,416
122
625
(214)
18

2,387

1,967

(89)

(93)

The Company has invested the plan assets with the insurer
managed funds. The expected return on plan assets is
based on expectation of the average long term rate of
return expected on investments of the fund during the
estimated term of the obligations. Expected contribution
to the fund during the year ending March 31, 2012 is ` 379
million.
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Net gratuity cost for the year ended March 31, 2011 and
2010 are as follows:
(` in Million)
Particulars

For the year ended
March 31,
2011
2010
640
328
161
133
(164)
(122)
(168)
(63)
469
276

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial loss/(gain)
Net gratuity cost

The weighted average actuarial assumptions used to
determine benefit obligations and net periodic gratuity
cost are:
Assumptions
Discount rate
Rate of Increase in compensation
levels
Rate of return on plan assets

As of March 31,
2011
2010
7.95%
7.15%
5%
8%

5%
8%

As at March 31, 2011 and 2010, 100% of the plan assets
were invested in the insurer managed funds.
(` in Million)
Particulars

Experience Adjustments:
On Plan Liabilities
On Plan Assets
Present value of benefit
obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Excess of (obligations over
plan assets)/plan assets
over obligations

The interest rate payable by the trust to the beneficiaries is
regulated by the statutory authorities. The Company has an
obligation to make good the shortfall, if any, between the
returns from its investments and the administered rate.
The Guidance on implementing AS 15, Employee Benefits
issued by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) provides
that exempt provident funds which require employers to
meet the interest shortfall are in effect defined benefit
plans. The Company believes that it is not practicable
to reliably determine the interest shortfall obligation.
Accordingly, the computation of liability and disclosure
in accordance with the provisions of AS 15 cannot be
implemented.
For the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company
contributed ` 2,276 million to PF (2010: ` 1,732 million).
12. Employee stock option
i)

Employees covered under Stock Option Plans and
Restricted Stock Unit (RSU) Option Plans are granted
an option to purchase shares of the Company at the
respective exercise prices, subject to requirements
of vesting conditions. These options generally vest
in tranches over a period of five years from the date
of grant. Upon vesting, the employees can acquire
one equity share for every option. The maximum
contractual term for aforementioned stock option
plans is generally 10 years.

ii)

The stock compensation cost is computed under the
intrinsic value method and amortised on a straight
line basis over the total vesting period of five years.
For the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company
has recorded stock compensation expense of
` 1,431million (2010: ` 1,317 million).

iii)

The compensation committee of the board evaluates
the performance and other criteria of employees
and approves the grant of options. These options
vest with employees over a specified period subject
to fulfillment of certain conditions. Upon vesting,
employees are eligible to apply and secure allotment
of Company’s shares at a price determined on the
date of grant of options. The particulars of options
granted under various plans are tabulated below. (The
numbers of shares in the table below are adjusted for
any stock splits and bonus shares issues).

As of March 31,
2011

2010

2009

(32)
15

84
18

(53)
26

2,476
2,387

2,060
1,967

1,858
1,416

(89)

(93)

(442)

The Company assesses these assumptions with its
projected long-term plans of growth and prevalent
industry standards. The estimates of future salary increase,
considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation,
seniority, promotion and other relevant factors such as
supply and demand factors in the employment market.
Superannuation: Apart from being covered under
the gratuity plan, the employees of the Company also
participate in a defined contribution plan maintained by
the Company. This plan is administered by the LIC & ICICI.
The Company makes annual contributions based on a
specified percentage of each covered employee’s salary. For
the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company contributed `
631 million to superannuation fund (2010: ` 726 million).

Wipro Limited

Provident Fund (PF): In addition to the above, all
employees receive benefits from a provident fund. The
employee and employer each make monthly contributions
to the plan equal to 12% of the covered employee’s salary.
A portion of the contribution is made to the provident fund
trust established by the Company, while the remainder of
the contribution is made to the Government’s provident
fund.

151

Consolidated Financial Statements

Activity under Stock Options plans

13. Income tax
The provision for taxation includes tax liability in India
on the company’s worldwide income. The tax has been
computed on the worldwide income as reduced by the
various deductions and exemptions provided by the
Income tax act in India (Act) and the tax credit in India for
the tax liabilities payable in foreign countries.

Particulars

Year Ended March Year Ended March
31, 2011
31, 2010
Shares
Wt. Shares
Wt.
average
average
exercise
exercise
price
price
Outstanding at the 201,606*
293.4 122,746
484
beginning of the
year
Granted
80,000
293.4
Exercised
293.4
1,140
254
Forfeited and lapsed 121,606
- 121,606
485
Outstanding at the
end of the year
1,606
223
Exercisable at the
end of the year

Most of the company’s operations are through units in
Software Technology Parks (‘STPs’) and Special Economic
Zones(SEZ’s). Income from STPs is eligible for 100%
deduction upto March 31, 2011. The Company also has
operations in Special Economic Zones (SEZ’s). Income from
SEZ’s are eligible for 100% deduction for the first 5 years,
50% deduction for the next 5 years and 50% deduction for
another 5 years subject to fulfilling certain conditions.
Pursuant to the amendments in the Act, the company has
calculated its tax liability after considering the provisions
of law relating to Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT). As per the
Act, any excess of MAT paid over the normal tax payable
can be carried forward and set off against the future tax
liabilities. Accordingly an amount of ` 488 million (2010:
` 363 million) is included under ‘Loans and Advances’ in
the balance sheet as of March 31, 2011.

Activity under Restricted Stock Unit Option plans
Particulars

Year Ended March 31, Year Ended March
2011
31, 2010
Shares
Wt.
Shares
Wt.
average
average
exercise
exercise
price
price
Outstanding at 20,046,267*
2 16,270,226
2
the beginning
of the year
6,664,930
2
142,100
2
Granted
6,352,832
2 3,230,443
2
Exercised
1,751,712
2 1,154,123
2
Forfeited and
lapsed
2 12,027,760
2
Outstanding at 18,606,653
the end of the
year
8,681,374
2 5,365,080
2
Exercisable at
the end of the
year
The following table provides details in respect of range of
exercise price and weighted average remaining contractual
life (in months) for the options outstanding as at period end:
Range of
exercise
price

Year Ended March 31, Year Ended March 31,
2011
2010
Shares
Wt.
Shares
Wt.
average
average
remaining
remaining
life
life
`2
18,606,653
36.89 12,027,760
37.98
120,000
49
` 489
1,606
1
$ 3.46 – 5.01
*Includes units on account of bonus issue.
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(i)

Provision for tax has been allocated as follows:
(` in Million)

Particulars

Net current tax *
Deferred tax
Total income taxes

Year Ended
March 31,
2011
2010
9,469
8,665
226
498
9,695
9,163

* Current tax provision includes reversal / (charge) of tax
provision in respect of earlier periods no longer required
amounting to ` 590 million for the year ended March 31, 2011
(2010: ` 476 million).
(ii)

The components of the net deferred tax asset are as follows:
(` in Million)

Particulars
Fixed assets and intangibles –
depreciation
Accrued expenses and liabilities
Provision for doubtful debts
Amortisable goodwill
Carry – forward business losses
Others
Net deferred tax assets

As of March 31,
2011
2010
(1318)
520
716
(141)
90
171
38

(747)
482
268
(177)
399
29
254

Deferred tax asset on carry forward business losses is
recognised to the extent of deferred tax liabilities, that
are virtually certain of realization in accordance with AS
22 – Accounting for Taxes on Income.
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14. The Company had received tax demands from
the Indian income tax authorities for the financial
years ended March 31, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004
aggregating to ` 11,127 million (including interest of
` 1,503 million). The tax demand was primarily on account
of denial of deduction claimed by the Company under
Section 10A of the Income Tax Act 1961, in respect of profits
earned by its undertakings in Software Technology Park at
Bangalore. The appeals filed by the Company for the above
years to the first appellate authority were allowed in favour
of the Company, thus deleting substantial portion of the
demand raised by the Income tax authorities. On further
appeal filed by the income tax authorities, the second
appellate authority upheld the claim of the Company for
the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004. In
December 2008, the Company received, on similar grounds,
an additional tax demand of ` 5,388 million (including
interest of ` 1,615 million) for the financial year ended
March 31, 2005.
The appeal filed before the first appellate authority against
the said order has been allowed in favour of the Company
thus deleting substantial demand raised by the Income tax
authorities.
During December 2009, the Company received the draft
assessment order, on similar grounds, with a demand of
` 6,757 million (including interest of ` 2,050 million) for the
financial year ended March 31, 2006. The Company had filed
its objections against the said demand before the Dispute
Resolution Panel which later issued directions confirming
the position of the assessing officer. Subsequently, the
assessing officer passed the final assessment order in
October 2010 raising a tax demand of ` 7,218 million
(including interest of ` 2,510 million). The Company has
filed an appeal against the said order before the tribunal
within the time limit permitted under the statute.
During December 2010, the Company received the draft
assessment order, on similar grounds, with a demand of
` 7,747 million (including interest of ` 2,307 million) for
the financial year ended March 31, 2007. The Company
has filed an objection against the said demand before the
Dispute Resolution Panel and the Assessing officer within
the time limits permitted under the statute.
Considering the facts and nature of disallowance and
the order of the first appellate authority upholding
Company’s claims for earlier years, the Company expects
the final outcome of the above disputes in its favour of the
Company and there should not be any material impact on
the financial statements.
The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims
which have arisen in the ordinary course of its business. The
resolution of these legal proceedings is not likely to have
a material and adverse effect on the results of operations
or the financial position of the Company.
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15. Provisions
Provision for warranty represents cost associated with
providing sales support services which are accrued at
the time of recognition of revenues and are expected to
be utilized over a period of 1 to 2 year. Other provisions
primarily include provisions for tax related contingencies
and litigations. The timing of cash outflows in respect of
such provision cannot be reasonably determined. The
activity in provision balance is summarized below:
(` in Million)
Particulars

Provision at the
beginning of the
year
Additions during
the year
Utilised during the
year
Provision at the
end of the year

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2011
March 31, 2010
Provision Others Provision Others
for
for
Warranty
Warranty
611
1,763
768
1,387

532

149

477

394

(595)

(55)

(634)

(18)

548

1,857

611

1,763

16. The computation of equity shares used in calculating basic
and diluted earnings per share is set out below:
Particulars

For the year ended
March 31,
2010
2011
Weighted average equity 2,451,354,673 2,443,920,928
shares outstanding
(14,914,040) (14,884,272)
Shares held by a controlled
trust
Weighted average equity shares 2,436,440,633 2,429,036,656
for computing basic EPS
12,856,846
16,413,685
Dilutive impact of employee
stock options
Weighted average equity shares 2,449,297,479 2,445,450,341
for computing diluted EPS
Net Income considered for
computing diluted EPS (` in
Million)

52,924

46,310

Earnings per share and number of shares outstanding for the
year ended March 31, 2010, has been adjusted for two equity
shares for every three equity shares bonus issue approved by
the shareholders on June 4, 2010.
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17. The list of subsidiaries as of March 31, 2011 is as follows:
Direct Subsidiaries

Step Subsidiaries

Country of
Incorporation

Wipro Inc.

U.S.
Wipro Gallagher Solutions Inc

U.S.

Enthink Inc.

U.S.

Infocrossing Inc.

U.S.

cMango Pte Limited

Singapore

Wipro Japan KK

Japan

Wipro Shanghai Limited

China

Wipro Trademarks Holding Limited

India
Cygnus Negri Investments Private
Limited

India

Wipro Travel Services Limited

India

Wipro Consumer Care Limited

India

Wipro Holdings (Mauritius) Limited

Mauritius
Wipro Holdings UK Limited

U.K.
Wipro Technologies UK Limited
Wipro Holding Austria GmbH

(A)

3D Networks (UK) Limited

U.K.
Austria
U.K.

Wipro Cyprus Private Limited

Cyprus
Wipro Technologies S.A DE C. V

Mexico

Wipro BPO Philippines LTD. Inc

Philippines

Wipro Holdings Hungary Korlátolt
Felelősségű Társaság

Hungary

Wipro Technologies Argentina SA

Argentina

Wipro Information Technology Egypt
SAE

Egypt

Wipro Arabia Limited*

Saudi Arabia

Wipro Poland Sp Zoo

Poland

Wipro Outsourcing Services UK
Limited

U.K.

Wipro Technologies (South Africa)
Proprietary Limited

South Africa

Wipro Information Technology
Netherlands BV

Netherland

(formerly RetailBox BV)

Wipro Technologies Oy
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Wipro Portugal S.A.(A) (Formerly
Enabler Informatica SA)

Portugal

Wipro Technologies Limited,
Russia

Russia
Finland
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Direct Subsidiaries

Step Subsidiaries

Country of
Incorporation

Wipro Infrastructure Engineering AB

Sweden
Wipro Infrastructure Engineering Finland
Oy
Hydrauto Celka San ve Tic

Turkey

Wipro Technologies SRL

Romania

Wipro Singapore Pte Limited

Singapore
PT WT Indonesia
Wipro Unza Holdings Limited

Wipro Yardley FZE

Indonesia
(A)

Singapore

Wipro Technocentre (Singapore)
Pte Limited

Singapore

Wipro (Thailand) Co Limited

Thailand

Wipro Bahrain Limited WLL

Bahrain
Dubai

Wipro Australia Pty Limited

Australia

Wipro Networks Pte Limited
(formerly 3D Networks Pte Limited)

Singapore

Planet PSG Pte Limited

Singapore
Planet PSG SDN BHD

Malaysia

Wipro Chengdu Limited

China

Wipro Chandrika Limited*

India

WMNETSERV Limited

Cyprus

Wipro Technology Services Limited

WMNETSERV (U.K.) Limited.

U.K.

WMNETSERV INC

U.S.
India

Wipro Airport IT Services Limited*

India

Wipro Infrastructure Engineering
Machinery (Changzhou) Co., Ltd.

China

*All the above direct subsidiaries are 100% held by the Company except that the Company hold 66.67% of the equity securities of
Wipro Arabia Limited, 90% of the equity securities of Wipro Chandrika Limited and 74% of the equity securities of Wipro Airport
IT Services Limited.
As of March 31, 2011, the Company also held 49% of the equity securities of Wipro GE Medical Systems Private Limited that is
accounted for as an equity method investment.
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(A)

Step Subsidiary details of Wipro Unza Holdings Limited, Wipro Holding Austria GmbH and Wipro Portugal S.A, are as follows :

Step Subsidiaries

Step Subsidiaries

Country of
Incorporation

Wipro Unza Singapore Pte Limited

Singapore

Wipro Unza Indochina Pte Limited

Singapore
Wipro Unza Vietnam Co., Limited

Vietnam

Wipro Unza Cathay Limited

Hong Kong

Wipro Unza (China) Limited

Hong Kong
Wipro Unza (Guangdong) Consumer
Products Limited.

China

PT Unza Vitalis

Indonesia

Wipro Unza (Thailand) Limited

Thailand

Unza Overseas Limited

British virgin
islands

Unzafrica Limited

Nigeria

Wipro Unza Middle East Limited

British virgin
islands

Unza International Limited

British virgin
islands

Unza Nusantara Sdn Bhd

Malaysia
Unza Holdings Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

Unza (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Malaysia
UAA (M) Sdn Bhd

Manufacturing Services Sdn Bhd
Shubido Pacific Sdn Bhd(a)
Gervas Corporation Sdn Bhd
Formapac Sdn Bhd

Malaysia
Malaysia

Gervas (B) Sdn Bhd
Wipro Holding Austria GmbH

Malaysia
Malaysia

Malaysia
Malaysia
Austria

New Logic Technologies GmbH

Austria

New Logic Technologies SARL

France

SAS Wipro France
(formerly Enabler France SAS)

France

Wipro Retail UK Limited
(formerly Enabler UK Limited)

U.K.

Wipro do Brasil Technologia Ltda
(formerly Enabler Brazil Ltda)

Brazil

Wipro Technologies Gmbh (formerly
Enabler & Retail Consult GmbH)

Germany

Wipro Portugal S.A.
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(a)

All the above subsidiaries are 100% held by the Company except Shubido Pacific Sdn Bhd in which the Company holds 62.55%
of the equity securities
The list of controlled trusts are :

Name of entity

Nature

Country of
Incorporation

Wipro Equity Reward Trust

Trust

India

Wipro Inc Trust

Trust

USA

18. Related party relationships and transactions
The related parties are:
Name of other related parties

Nature

% of holding Country of
Incorporation

Wipro GE Healthcare Private Limited

Associate

49%

Azim Premji Foundation

Entity controlled by Director

Hasham Premji (partnership firm)

Entity controlled by Director

Prazim Traders (partnership firm)

Entity controlled by Director

Zash Traders (partnership firm)

Entity controlled by Director

Regal Investment & Trading Company Private Limited

Entity controlled by Director

Vidya Investment & Trading Company Private Limited

Entity controlled by Director

India

Napean Trading & Investment Company Private Limited Entity controlled by Director
Key management personnel
Azim Premji

Chairman and Managing Director

Suresh C Senapaty

Chief Financial Officer & Director

Suresh Vaswani

Jt CEO, IT Business & Director1

Girish S Paranjpe

Jt CEO, IT Business & Director1

T K Kurien

CEO, IT Business & Director2

Relative of key management personnel
Rishad Premji
1
2

Relative of the director

Upto January 31st 2011
w.e.f February 1st,2011

The Company has the following related party transactions:
(` in Million)
Transaction / Balances

Sales of services
Sale of goods
Dividend payable
Others
Balances as on March 31,
Receivables
Payables

Associates
2011
5
13
-

2010
7
33

7
-

1
-

Entities controlled by
Directors
2011
2010
1
7,401
6,661
7,401

6,663

Key Management
Personnel@
2011
2010
383
344
391

388

@ Including relative of key management personnel.
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Remuneration to key management personnel and relative of key
management personnel is summarized below:
(` in Million)
Name

Azim Premji
Suresh Senapaty
Girish Paranjpe
Suresh Vaswani
T K Kurien
Rishad Premji

For the year ended
March, 31
2011
2010
28
81
43
31
89
20
102
31
8
5
4

19. Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed
on capital accounts and contingent liabilities
(` in Million)
Particulars
Estimated amount of contracts
remaining to be executed on Capital
account and not provided for
Contingent liabilities in respect of:
(a)

(b)

Disputed demands for excise
duty, custom duty, income tax,
sales tax and other matters
Per formance and financial
guarantee given by the banks on
behalf of the Company

As at March 31,
2011
2010
2,071
2,782

1,472

1,384

19,841

14,526

The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims
which have arisen in the ordinary course of its business. The
resolution of these legal proceedings is not likely to have a
material and adverse effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Company.
The Company’s Indian operations have been established as
a Software Technology Park Unit under a plan formulated
by the Government of India. As per the plan, the Company’s
India operations have export obligations to the extent of
1.5 times the employee costs for the year on an annual
basis and 5 times the amount of foreign exchange released
for capital goods imported, over a five year period. The
consequence of not meeting this commitment in the future
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would be a retroactive levy of import duties on certain
computer hardware previously imported duty free. As at
March 31, 2011, the Company has met all commitments
required under the plan.
20. The Company is currently organized by business segments,
comprising IT Services, IT Products, Consumer Care and
Lighting and Others. Business segments have been
determined based on system of internal financial reporting
to the board of directors and chief executive officer and
are considered to be primary segments. The secondary
segment is identified based on the geographic location
of the customer.
IT Services: The IT Services segment provides IT and
IT enabled services to customers. Key service offering
includes software application development, application
maintenance, research and development services for
hardware and software design, data center outsourcing
services and business process outsourcing services.
IT Products: The IT Products segment sells a range of
Wipro personal desktop computers, Wipro servers and
Wipro notebooks. The Company is also a value added
reseller of desktops, servers, notebooks, storage products,
networking solutions and packaged software for leading
international brands. In certain total outsourcing contracts
of the IT Services segment, the Company delivers hardware,
software products and other related deliverables. Revenue
relating to these items is reported as revenue from the sale
of IT Products.
Consumer care and lighting: The Consumer Care and
Lighting segment manufactures, distributes and sells
personal care products, baby care products, lighting
products and hydrogenated cooking oils in the Indian and
Asian markets.
The Others’ segment consists of business segments that
do not meet the requirements individually for a reportable
segment as defined in AS 17 Segment Reporting and
includes corporate and treasury.
Segment Revenue, Segment Results, Segment Assets
and Segment Liabilities include the respective amounts
identifiable to each of the segment. Segment revenue
resulting from business with other business segments are
on the basis of market determined prices and common
costs are apportioned on a reasonable basis.
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The segment information for the year ended March 31, 2011 is as follows:
(` in Million)
Particulars

Year ended March 31,
2011

2010

Variance (%)

234,760

202,469

16%

Revenues
IT Services
IT Products

36,995

38,322

(3%)

Consumer Care and Lighting

28,436

23,774

20%

Others

11,209

7,589

Eliminations
TOTAL

(570)

(407)

310,830

271,747

14%

Profit before Interest and Tax - PBIT
IT Services

53,457

47,749

12%

IT Products

1,627

1,752

(7%)
11%

Consumer Care and Lighting

3,426

3,100

Others

(849)

(474)

TOTAL

57,661

52,127

4,687

2,968

Profit before tax

62,348

55,095

Income Tax expense including Fringe Benefit Tax

(9,695)

(9,163)

Profit before Share in earnings of associates and minority interest

52,653

45,932

615

563

Interest and Other Income, Net

Share in earnings of associates
Minority interest

(344)

(185)

52,924

46,310

IT Services

22.8%

23.6%

IT Products

4.4%

4.6%

Consumer Care and Lighting

12.0%

13.0%

TOTAL

18.6%

19.2%

157,141

133,489

22,139

20,003

PROFIT AFTER TAX

11%
13%
15%

14%

Operating Margin

CAPITAL EMPLOYED AS AT PERIOD END
IT Services and Products
Consumer Care and Lighting
Others

99,090

91,901

TOTAL

278,370

245,393

56%

54%

8%

8%

CAPITAL EMPLOYED COMPOSITION AS AT PERIOD END
IT Services and Products
Consumer Care and Lighting
Others

36%

38%

TOTAL

100%

100%

IT Services and Products

38%

40%

Consumer Care and Lighting

16%

16%

TOTAL

22%

24%

RETURN ON AVERAGE CAPITAL EMPLOYED
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Notes to Segment Report
a)

The segment report of Wipro Limited and its consolidated subsidiaries and associates has been prepared in accordance with
the AS 17 “Segment Reporting” issued pursuant to the Companies (Accounting Standard) Rules, 2006 and by The Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India.

b)

Segment wise depreciation is as follows:
(` in Million)

Particulars

Year ended March 31,
2011
2010
6,994
6,711
65
75
483
444
349
313
7,891
7,543

IT Services
IT Products
Consumer Care & Lighting
Others

c)

Segment PBIT includes ` 645 million for the year ended March 31, 2011, (2010: ` 558 million) of certain operating other income
/ (loss) which is reflected in other income in the profit and loss account.

d)

Segment assets and liabilities are as follows:
(` in Million)
Particulars

As of March 31, 2010

Segment Assets

Segment Liabilities

214,287

56,395

189,288

55,085

27,645

5,505

25,098

5,096

Others

127,045

28,098

112,723

20,994

Total

368,977

89,998

327,109

81,175

IT Services and Products
Consumer Care & Lighting

e)

As of March 31, 2011

Segment Assets Segment Liabilities

The Company has four geographic segments: India, USA, Europe and Rest of the World. Significant portion of the segment
assets are in India. Revenue from geographic segments based on domicile of the customers is outlined below:
(` in Million)
Particulars
India
United States of America
Europe
Rest of the world

Year ended March 31,
2011

%

2010

%

67,234

22

61,897

23

129,286

41

119,921

44

68,159

22

56,780

21

46,150

15

33,149

12

310,829

100

271,747

100

f)

The Company generally offers multi-year payment terms in certain total outsourcing contracts. These payment terms primarily
relate to IT hardware, software and certain transformation services in Outsourcing contracts. Corporate Treasury provides
internal financing to the business units offering multi-year payment terms and accordingly such receivables are reflected in
Capital Employed of “Others”. As of March 31, 2011, Capital Employed of Others includes ` 12,255 million (2010: ` 8,516 million)
of such receivables on extended collection terms.

g)

For the purpose of reporting, business segments are considered as primary segments and geographic segments are considered
as secondary segments.
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21. Cash and Bank
Details of balances with banks as of March 31, 2011 are as follows:
(` in Million)
Bank Name

In Current Account

In Deposit Account

Total

16,943

-

16,943

3,997

332

4,329

Citi Bank

1,645

1,201

2,846

HDFC Bank

1,078

490

1,568

Standard Chartered Bank

691

75

766

Bank of America

326

-

326

ING Vysya Bank

309

-

309

Saudi British Bank

211

952

1,163

State Bank of India

117

120

237

Wells Fargo Bank
HSBC Bank

Vijaya Bank

20

3,940

3,960

Yes Bank

14

1,000

1,014

-

13,670

13,670

Oriental Bank of Commerce

-

3,250

3,250

Corporation Bank

1

2,370

2,371

Axis Bank

-

1,570

1,570

Allahabad Bank

-

1,320

1,320

Karur Vysya Bank

-

920

920

Canara Bank

Bank of Maharashtra

-

820

820

South Indian Bank

-

750

750

2,275

734

3,009

27,627

33,514

61,141

Others including cash and cheques on hand
Total
22. Investments
(a)

Investments in Indian money market mutual funds as on March 31, 2011:
(` in Million)
Fund House
ICICI Prudential AMC
Birla Sunlife
Franklin Templeton
IDFC Ltd
TATA
State Bank of India
Kotak Mahindra
UTI AMC
DSP Black Rock
Religare Aegon AMC
JP Morgan AMC
HDFC
Reliance
Others
Total

Wipro Limited

As of March 31, 2011
6,131
3,883
3,777
3,153
2,705
1,699
1,695
1,065
500
300
150
73
67
2
25,200
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(b)

Investment in Certificates of Deposit as on March 31, 2011:
(` in Million)
Particulars
Axis Bank
Bank of Baroda
ICICI
Corporation Bank
Bank of India
Kotak Bank
Federal Bank
Union Bank
HDFC Bank
State Bank of india
ING Vyasa Bank
Indian Overseas Bank
State Bank of Hyderabad
State Bank of Patiala
IDBI Bank
State Bank of Travancore
Andhra Bank
Vijaya Bank
Others
Total

(c)

As of March 31, 2011
2,592
1,166
961
935
233
720
717
713
479
480
488
477
471
465
237
240
242
239
111
11,966

Investment in Commercial Papers as on March 31, 2011:
(` in Million)
Particulars

(d)

As of March 31, 2011

IDFC
IL & FS Ltd
L&T Infra Finance
LIC Housing Finance
NABARD
NHB
Sundaram BNP Paribas Housing Finance

1,426
1,891
715
1,800
230
1,116
238

Total

7,416

Investment in Others as on March 31, 2011:
(` in Million)
Particulars

As of March 31, 2011

NCD-CiticorpFinance
NCD-Morgan Stanley
NCD-IDFC Ltd
NCD-LIC
NCD-NHB
NCD-SIDBI
Others

241
481
607
2,263
891
251
97

Total

4,831

23. Corresponding figures for previous year presented have been regrouped, where necessary, to conform to the current year
classification.
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34
35
36
37

33

32

30
31

23
24
25
26
27
28
29

22

21

20

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

Sr.
No.

(1)
Wipro Inc.
Enthink Inc.(a)
Wipro Japan KK
Wipro Chandrika Limited
Wipro Trademarks Holding Limited
Wipro Travel Services Limited
Wipro Holdings (Mauritius) Limited
Wipro Holdings (UK) Limited (b)
Wipro Technologies UK Limited (c)
Wipro Consumer Care Limited
Cygnus Negri Investments Private Limited (d)
Wipro Shanghai Limited
Wipro Holding Austria GmbH
New Logic Technologies GmbH
NewLogic Technologies SARL
cMango Pte Limited
Wipro Cyprus Private Limited
Wipro Technologies SRL (e)
Wipro Information Technology Netherlands BV
(Formely Retail Box BV)
Wipro Portugal S.A. ( Formerly Enabler Informatics
S.A.) (e)
Wipro do Brasil Technologia Ltda (formerly Enabler
Brasil LTDA)(e)
Wipro Technologies Gmbh.(formely Enabler & Retail
Consult Gmbh)
SAS Wipro France ( formerly Enabler France SAS )
Wipro Retail UK Limited ( formerly Enabler UK Ltd. )
WMNETSERV Limited
WMNETSERV (UK) Ltd. UK
Wipro Technologies OY
3D Networks (UK) Limited
Wipro Networks Pte Limited (formerly 3D Networks
Pte Limited)
Planet PSG Pte Limited
Wipro Technologies SDN BHD (formerly Planet PSG
SDN BHD)
Wipro Infrastructure Engineering Oy (formerly
Hydrauto Oy Ab Pernion)
Wipro Infrastructure Engineering AB (formerly
Hydrauto Group Ab)
Infocrossing Inc
Unza Holding Ltd
Unza Company Pte Ltd
Unza Indochina Pte Ltd

Name of the Subsidiary

USD
SGD
SGD
SGD

SEK

EUR

SGD
MYR

EUR
GBP
USD
USD
EUR
GBP
SGD

44.59
35.34
35.34
35.34

7.10

63.28

35.34
14.71

63.28
71.67
44.59
44.59
63.28
71.67
35.34

63.28

27.53

BRL
EUR

63.28

(3)
44.59
44.59
0.54
1.00
1.00
1.00
44.59
44.59
44.59
1.00
1.00
6.82
63.28
63.28
63.28
35.34
63.28
15.39
63.28

EUR

(2)
USD
USD
JPY
INR
INR
INR
USD
USD
USD
INR
INR
RMB
EUR
EUR
EUR
SGD
EUR
RON
EUR

Reporting Exchange
Currency rate as on
March, 31
2011

1,901
57
86

1,873

88

42
-

2
1
9
4
7
807

56

10

3

(4)
16,801
105
10
10
1
2,023
2,012
132
1
1
9
606
1,778
9
169
4

4,882
3,488
(33)
287

(996)

104

(18)
(7)

(75)
(103)
65
17
(108)
(6)
12

(13)

237

2,070

(5)
(7,969)
(93)
(389)
(208)
35
45
(3)
(44)
(126)
(2)
2
(47)
1,125
(1,879)
(501)
11
34,165
111
341

Share Reserves &
Capital
Surplus

10,125
5,400
109
388

3,115

1,062

50
12

26
705
68
38
444
4
1,259

784

858

2,707

(6)
28,644
12
241
187
36
223
2,023
2,777
344
5
424
1,748
835
21
13
36,879
732
411

Total
Assets

(` in Million)

5,243
11
85
15

2,238

870

26
19

99
808
2
12
548
3
440

741

611

634

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

7,130
2,851
343
333

3,319

1,648

18
2

54
1,309
702
1,125

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

672

1,467

2,831

100%

100%

100%

137
2,744
(6)
60

(374)

79

-

4
20
(1)
(1)
68
(3)
(37)

(130)

43

756

18
7
-

-

-

-

-

(5)

53

246

119
2,737
(6)
60

(374)

79

-

4
20
(1)
(1)
68
(3)
(37)

(125)

(10)

510

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total
Investments- % of
Sales &
Profit
Provision Profit after Proposed
Liabilities other than in Holding Other
before
for
taxation Dividend
[excl. (4) & subsidiaries
Income taxation taxation
(incl.
(5)]
dividend
tax)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
20,352
540
100%
6,139
(456)
87
(543)
100%
620
100%
472
(201)
(201)
385
90%
(31)
(31)
100%
178
100%
54
31
10
21
3
100%
2
1
1
809
100%
286
8
2
6
338
100%
1
(14)
(14)
1
100%
2
100%
462
100%
653
31
44
(13)
17
100%
(5)
1
(6)
939
3
100%
1,168
27
27
522
100%
9
(11)
(11)
2
100%
2,705
100%
659
607
10
597
5
452
100%
1,314
248
44
204
66
100%
194
16
8
8
-

Information relating to Subsidiaries as at March 31, 2011

Pursuant to the exemption by the Ministry of Company affairs, Government of India, the Company is presenting summary financial information about individual subsidiaries as at March 31, 2011. The detailed
financial statements, directors’ report and auditors’ report of the individual subsidiaries are available for inspection at the registered office of the Company. Upon written request from a shareholder we will arrange
to deliver copies of the financial statement, directors’ report and auditors’ report for the individual subsidiaries.
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a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

80

77
78
79

62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76

38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61

Sr.
No.

Reporting Exchange
Currency rate as on
March, 31
2011

Share Reserves &
Capital
Surplus

Total
Assets

-

-

-

Total
Investments- % of
Sales &
Profit
Provision Profit after Proposed
Liabilities other than in Holding Other
before
for
taxation Dividend
[excl. (4) & subsidiaries
Income taxation taxation
(incl.
(5)]
dividend
tax)
264
100%
1,761
157
50
107
60
196
100%
536
4
1
3
14
100%
(1)
(1)
299
100%
1,217
(2)
(7)
5
660
100%
1,278
(60)
29
(89)
99
100%
41
(4)
(4)
164
100%
305
25
25
2
100%
454
100%
840
58
58
271
100%
579
538
50
488
1,877
100%
76
(347)
2
(349)
100%
1
(2,715)
(2,715)
589
100%
5,224
377
97
280
38
917
100%
4,259
22
7
15
526
100%
2,806
110
20
90
41
- 62.55%
235
42
10
32
30
2
100%
4
4
100%
106
100%
672
26
7
19
486
100%
279
(14)
28
(42)
29
100%
1
95
100%
67
6
1
5
2,733
- 66.67%
7,035
926
(117)
1,043
524
84
440
371
306
100%
527

Unza Vietnam Company Limited
VND 0.002338
84
177
525
Unza Cathay Limited
HKD
5.72
56
35
287
Unza China Limited
HKD
5.72
114
18
146
Dongguan Unza Consumer Products Ltd
RMB
6.82
329
(182)
446
PT Unza Vitalis
IDR
0.01
239
66
965
Unza (Thailand) Limited
THB
1.47
34
(111)
22
Unza Overseas Ltd
USD
44.59
71
235
Unza Africa Limited
USD
44.59
4
6
Unza Middle East Ltd
USD
44.59
46
500
Unza International Limited
USD
44.59
441
1,265
1,977
Unza Nusantra Sdn Bhd
MYR
14.71
1,192
512
3,581
Unza Holdings Sdn Bhd
MYR
14.71
Unza Malaysia Sdn Bhd
MYR
14.71
55
995
1,639
UAA Sdn Bhd
MYR
14.71
2
279
1,198
Manufacturing Services Sendirian Berhad
MYR
14.71
4
422
952
Shubido Pacific Sdn Bhd
MYR
14.71
46
45
132
Gervas Corporation Sdn Bhd
MYR
14.71
36
20
58
Gervas (B) Sdn Bhd
BND
119.18
Formapac Sdn Bhd
MYR
14.71
36
203
345
Wipro Technologies S.A DE C. V
MXN
3.79
2
(58)
430
Wipro Singapore Pte. Ltd.
SGD
35.34
10,926
(5)
10,950
Wipro Australia Pty Limited
AUD
46.06
1
7
103
Wipro Arabia Limited
SAR
11.90
358
1,763
4,854
Wipro Holdings Hungary Korlatolt Felel.sseg.
HUF
0.24
17,118
17,424
Tarsasag
Wipro Technocentre (Singapore) Pte Limited
SGD
35.34
54
(66)
24
36
100%
44
(89)
1
(90)
Wipro BPO Philippines Ltd. Inc
USD
44.59
180
147
878
551
100%
848
151
28
123
Wipro Technologies Limited- Russia
RUB
1.57
110
320
210
100%
113
58
12
46
Wipro Gallagher Solutions Inc
USD
44.59
75
84
293
246
112
100%
695
58
58
Wipro Technologies Argentina SA
ARS
11.19
(53)
54
107
100%
38
(39)
(39)
Wipro Poland Sp Zoo
PLN
15.95
1
65
154
88
100%
435
7
1
6
Wipro Information Technology Egypt SAE
EGP
7.58
7
(38)
54
85
100%
69
(31)
(31)
Wipro (Thailand) Co Limited
THB
1.47
154
123
467
190
100%
185
48
10
38
Wipro Technlogies Services Limited
INR
1.00
393
4,775
4,644
688
1,212
100%
3,695
1,413
59
1,354
Wipro Chengdu Limited
RMB
6.82
24
(100)
137
213
100%
267
(45)
(45)
Wipro Yardley FZE
USD
44.59
13
357
620
250
100%
1,066
117
117
Wipro Bahrain Limited WLL
BHD
118.93
6
9
46
31
100%
93
10
10
Wipro Airport IT Services Limited
INR
1.00
50
5
704
753
104
74%
566
7
1
6
PT WT Indonesia
IDR
0.01
11
(1)
11
1
100%
(1)
(1)
Wipro Infrastructure Engineering Machinery
RMB
6.82
105
(12)
97
4
100%
(11)
(11)
(Changzhou) Co., Ltd.
Hydrauto Celka San ve Tic (g)
100%
WMNETSERV Inc (g)
100%
Wipro Technologies (South Africa) Proprietary
Limited (f )
Wipro Outsourcing Services UK Limited (f )
Majority owned by Wipro Inc.
Fully owned by Wipro Holdings (Mauritius) Limited
Fully owned by Wipro Holdings (UK) Limited
Fully owned by Wipro Trademarks Holding Limited
The financial results are as of and for the year ended March, 31 2011.
Wipro Technologies (South Africa) Proprietary Limited and Wipro Outsourcing Services UK Limited are yet to commence operations
Hydrauto Celka San ve Tic and WMNETSERV Inc are not operative and hence not included above
During the year 2010-11, Infocrossing LLC was merged with Infocrossing Inc., Wipro Yardley Consumer Care Private Limited was merged with Wipro Limited and Positive Equity SDN BHD was liquidated

Name of the Subsidiary
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Consolidated Financial Statements Under IFRS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Equity holders
Wipro Limited:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Wipro Limited and subsidiaries (“the Company”)
as of March 31, 2010 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2011. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of March 31, 2010 and 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended March 31, 2011, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.
We have also audited, in accordance with the Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated
June 16, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG
Bangalore, India
June 16, 2011
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WIPRO LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(` in millions, except share and per share data, unless otherwise stated)
As at March 31,
Notes
2010
2011

2011
Convenience
Translation into
US $ in millions
(Unaudited) Refer
note 2(iv)

Assets
Goodwill ...........................................................................................
5
53,802
54,818
Intangible assets ...........................................................................
5
4,011
3,551
Property, plant and equipment ...............................................
4
53,458
55,094
Investment in equity accounted investees .........................
16
2,345
2,993
Derivative assets ...........................................................................
15
1,201
2,984
Deferred tax assets .......................................................................
18
1,686
1,467
Non-current tax assets ................................................................
3,464
9,239
Other non-current assets ...........................................................
11
8,784
8,983
Total non-current assets...............................................................
128,751
139,129
Inventories ......................................................................................
9
7,926
9,707
Trade receivables ..........................................................................
8
50,928
61,627
Other current assets ....................................................................
11
21,106
19,744
Unbilled revenues ........................................................................
16,708
24,149
Available for sale investments..................................................
7
30,420
49,282
Current tax assets .........................................................................
6,596
4,955
Derivative assets ...........................................................................
15
2,615
1,709
Cash and cash equivalents ........................................................
10
64,878
61,141
Total current assets ........................................................................
201,177
232,314
TOTAL ASSETS......................................................................................
329,928
371,443
Equity
Share capital ...................................................................................
2,936
4,908
Share premium ..............................................................................
29,188
30,124
Retained earnings.........................................................................
165,789
203,250
Share based payment reserve..................................................
3,140
1,360
Other components of equity ....................................................
(4,399)
580
Shares held by controlled trust................................................
(542)
(542)
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company
196,112
239,680
Non-controlling interest.............................................................
437
691
TOTAL EQUITY ....................................................................................
196,549
240,371
Liabilities
Loans and borrowings ................................................................
12
18,107
19,759
Derivative liabilities......................................................................
15
2,882
2,586
Deferred tax liabilities .................................................................
18
380
301
Non-current tax liabilities ..........................................................
3,065
5,021
Other non-current liabilities .....................................................
14
3,233
2,706
Provisions.........................................................................................
14
100
81
Total non-current liabilities .........................................................
27,767
30,454
Loans and borrowings and bank overdraft .........................
12
44,404
33,043
Trade payables and accrued expenses .................................
13
38,748
44,052
Unearned revenues......................................................................
7,462
6,595
Current tax liabilities....................................................................
4,850
7,340
Derivative liabilities......................................................................
15
1,375
1,358
Other current liabilities ...............................................................
14
6,499
5,906
Provisions.........................................................................................
14
2,274
2,324
Total current liabilities ..................................................................
105,612
100,618
133,379
131,072
TOTAL LIABILITIES .............................................................................
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES .................................................
329,928
371,443
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1,231
80
1,237
67
67
33
207
202
3,124
218
1,384
443
542
1,106
111
38
1,373
5,216
8,340
110
676
4,563
31
13
(12)
5,381
16
5,397
444
58
7
113
61
2
684
742
989
148
165
30
133
52
2,259
2,943
8,340
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WIPRO LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(` in millions, except share and per share data, unless otherwise stated)
Year ended March 31,
Notes

2009

2010

2011

2011
Convenience
Translation
into US $
in millions
(Unaudited)
Refer note 2(iv)

Revenues..................................................................

21

256,891

271,957

310,542

6,972

Cost of revenues....................................................

22

(180,215)

(186,299)

(212,808)

(4,778)

76,676

85,658

97,734

2,194

Gross profit ..................................................................
Selling and marketing expenses .....................

22

(17,313)

(18,608)

(22,172)

(498)

General and administrative expenses ...........

22

(14,510)

(14,823)

(18,339)

(412)

Foreign exchange gains / (losses), net ..........

(1,553)

(383)

445

10

Results from operating activities ......................

43,300

51,844

57,668

1,295

Finance expense ..................................................

23

(3,824)

(1,324)

(1,933)

(43)

Finance and other income.................................

24

5,057

4,360

6,652

149

Share of profits of equity accounted ............
investees ..................................................................

16

362

530

648

15

44,895

55,410

63,035

1,415

(6,035)

(9,294)

(9,714)

(218)

38,860

46,116

53,321

1,197

Equity holders of the Company .......................

38,761

45,931

52,977

1,189

Non-controlling interest.....................................

99

185

344

8

Profit for the year ...............................................

38,860

46,116

53,321

1,197

Basic ..........................................................................

15.99

18.91

21.74

0.49

Diluted ......................................................................

15.90

18.75

21.61

0.49

Basic ...........................................................................

2,423,558,482

2,429,025,243

2,436,440,633

2,436,440,633

Diluted ......................................................................

2,437,464,403

2,449,658,532

2,451,154,154

2,451,154,154

Profit before tax .........................................................
Income tax expense .............................................

18

Profit for the year .......................................................
Attributable to:

Earnings per equity share:

25

Weighted-average number of equity shares used
in computing earnings per equity share:

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WIPRO LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(` in millions, except share and per share data, unless otherwise stated)
Year ended March 31,
Notes

2009

2010

2011

2011
Convenience
Translation
into US $
in millions
(Unaudited)
Refer note
2(iv)

Profit for the year ...................................................................

38,860

46,116

53,321

1,197

Other comprehensive income, net of taxes:
Foreign currency translation differences:
Translation difference relating to foreign
operations.................................................................

17

8,992

(5,522)

1,222

27

Net change in fair value of hedges of net
investment in foreign operations.....................

17

(7,427)

4,202

20

-

15, 18

(13,436)

9,841

3,684

83

Net change in fair value of available for sale 7, 18
investments .....................................................................

(320)

(50)

29

1

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges ......

Total other comprehensive income, net of taxes ......

(12,191)

8,471

4,955

111

Total comprehensive income for the year ....................

26,669

54,587

58,276

1,308

Equity holders of the Company ................................

26,548

54,447

57,956

1,301

Non-controlling interest..............................................

121

140

320

7

26,669

54,587

58,276

1,308

Attributable to:

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1,468,211,189

As at March 31, 2010 ...............................................................................

-

Profit for the year ......................................................................................

-

3,230,443

Issue of equity shares on exercise of options. ................................

Compensation cost related to employee share based
payment.......................................................................................................

-

-

1,464,980,746

As at April 1, 2009 .....................................................................................

Cash dividend paid (including dividend tax thereon..................

-

1,464,980,746

As at March 31, 2009 ...............................................................................

Other comprehensive income .............................................................

-

Compensation cost related to employee share based
payment.......................................................................................................

Infusion of capital, ...................................................................................

-

-

Profit for the year ......................................................................................
968,803

2,558,623

Issue of equity shares on exercise of options.................................

Shares issued and held by controlled trust.....................................

-

Other comprehensive income .............................................................

1,461,453,320

As at April 1, 2008 .....................................................................................

Cash dividend paid (including dividend tax thereon) ................

No. of shares

2,936

-

-

-

-

6

-

2,930

2,930

-

2

-

-

5

-

2,923

29,188

-

-

-

-

1,908

-

27,280

27,280

-

540

-

-

1,367

-

25,373

165,789

-

-

-

45,931

(6,788)

126,646

126,646

-

-

-

38,761

-

(6,842)

94,728

Share
Share
Retained
capital premium earnings

3,140

1,302

-

-

-

(1,908)

-

3,745

3,745

1,868

-

-

-

(1,272)

-

3,149

258

-

-

(1,275)

-

-

-

1,533

1,533

-

-

1,543

-

-

-

(10)

(4,692)

-

-

9,841

-

-

-

(14,533)

(14,533)

-

-

(13,436)

-

-

-

(1,097)

35

-

-

(50)

-

-

-

85

85

-

-

(320)

-

-

-

404

(542)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(542)

(542)

-

(542)

-

-

-

-

-

196,112

1,302

-

8,516

45,931

6

(6,788)

147,144

147,144

1,868

-

(12,213)

38,761

100

(6,842)

125,469

437

-

60

(45)

185

-

-

237

237

-

-

22

99

-

-

116

Share
Foreign
Cash
Other
Shares
Equity
Nonbased
currency
flow
reserve held by
attributable controlling
payment translation hedging
controlled to the equity interest
reserve
reserve
reserve
Trust
holders
of the
Company

Other components of equity

WIPRO LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(` in millions, except share and per share data, unless otherwise stated)

196,549

1,302

60

8,471

46,116

6

(6,788)

147,381

147,381

1,868

-

(12,191)

38,860

100

(6,842)

125,585

Total
equity
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170
4,908

2,454,409,145
110

676

30,124

-

-

-

2,896

(1,960)

-

29,188

165,789

4,563

203,250

-

-

52,977

-

-

(15,516)

Other components of equity

31

1,360

1,092

-

-

(2,872)

-

-

3,140

34

1,524

-

1,266

-

-

-

-

258

(23)

(1,008)

-

3,684

-

-

-

-

(4,692)

1

64

-

29

-

-

-

-

35

(12)

(542)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(542)

5,381

239,680

1,092

4,979

52,977

36

-

(15,516)

196,112

16

691

-

(24)

344

-

-

(66)

437

Share
Foreign
Cash
Other
Shares
Equity
Nonbased
currency
flow
reserve held by
attributable controlling
payment translation hedging
controlled to the equity
interest
reserve
reserve
reserve
Trust
holders
of the
Company

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Convenience translation into US $ in millions (Unaudited)
Refer note 2(iv)

As at March 31, 2011 ..........................................................................

-

-

Compensation cost related to employee share based
payment..................................................................................................

-

-

12

1,960

-

6,432,832
-

979,765,124

Issue of shares in form of stock dividend....................................

Issue of equity shares on exercise of options............................

-

2,936

Profit for the year .................................................................................

-

Share
Share
Retained
capital premium earnings

Other comprehensive income ........................................................

1,468,211,189

As at April 1, 2010 ................................................................................

Cash dividend paid (including dividend tax thereon.............

No. of shares

WIPRO LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(` in millions, except share and per share data, unless otherwise stated)

5,397

240,371

1,092

4,955

53,321

36

-

(15,582)

196,549

Total
equity

Consolidated Financial Statements Under IFRS
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WIPRO LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(` in millions, except share and per share date, unless otherwise stated)
Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011

Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit for the year ..................................................................................
38,860
46,116
53,321
Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash
generated from operating activities:
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment.................
(28)
(43)
(131)
Depreciation and amortization................................................
6,948
7,831
8,211
Exchange (gain) / loss ..................................................................
3,728
(1,462)
1,036
Impact of cash flow/net investment hedging activities .
(12,196)
6,017
4,389
Gain on sale of investments ......................................................
(681)
(308)
(192)
Share based compensation .......................................................
1,868
1,302
1,092
Income tax expense .....................................................................
6,035
9,294
9,714
Share of profits of equity accounted investees ..................
(362)
(530)
(648)
Dividend and interest (income)/expenses, net ..................
(1,331)
(2,820)
(5,684)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: ............................
Trade receivables ...................................................................
(8,024)
(2,150)
(10,699)
Unbilled revenues .................................................................
(5,594)
(2,600)
(7,441)
Inventories ...............................................................................
(922)
(218)
(1,781)
Other assets .............................................................................
(1,663)
(2,203)
(5,451)
Trade payables and accrued expenses ..........................
12,260
(66)
5,840
Unearned revenues ..............................................................
2,465
(1,272)
(867)
Other liabilities and provisions .........................................
1,986
2,024
(979)
Cash generated from operating activities before taxes..........
43,349
58,912
49,730
Income taxes paid, net ................................................................
(7,250)
(7,914)
(9,293)
Net cash generated from operating activities............................
36,099
50,998
40,437
Cash flows from investing activities:
Expenditure on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets ............................................................................
(16,746)
(12,631)
(12,211)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment ...
358
397
521
Purchase of available for sale investments ..........................
(342,717)
(340,891)
(474,476)
Proceeds from sale of available for sale investments.......
341,687
325,770
456,894
Investment in inter-corporate deposits ................................
(3,750)
(10,750)
(14,290)
Refund of inter-corporate deposits ........................................
4,950
20,100
Payment for business acquisitions, net of cash acquired ..
(6,679)
(4,399)
(140)
Interest received ............................................................................
1,398
2,297
3,960
Dividend received .........................................................................
2,266
1,442
2,403
Net cash used in investing activities ..............................................
(24,183)
(33,815)
(17,239)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of equity shares .............................
100
6
25
Proceeds from issuance of equity shares by a subsidiary...
60
Repayment of loans and borrowings.....................................
(80,251)
(55,661)
(82,718)
Proceeds from loans and borrowings ....................................
86,121
63,011
72,596
Interest paid on loans and borrowings .................................
(2,400)
(1,194)
(696)
Payment of cash dividend (including dividend tax .........
thereon) ............................................................................................
(6,829)
(6,823)
(15,585)
Net cash used in financing activities .............................................
(3,259)
(601)
(26,378)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the
year............................................................................................................................
8,657
16,582
(3,180)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ...
663
(1,258)
523
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year .......
38,912
48,232
63,556
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Note 10) ...
48,232
63,556
60,899
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
Wipro Limited

2011
Convenience
Translation into
US $ in millions
(Unaudited) Refer
note 2(iv)
1,197
(3)
184
23
99
(4)
25
218
(15)
(128)
(240)
(167)
(40)
(122)
131
(19)
(22)
1,117
(209)
908
(274)
12
(10,653)
10,258
(321)
451
(3)
89
54
(387)
1
(1,857)
1,630
(16)
(350)
(592)
(71)
12
1,427
1,367
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WIPRO LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(` in millions, except share and per share date, unless otherwise stated)
1.

The Company overview:

Wipro Limited (“Wipro” or the ”Parent Company”), together with
its subsidiaries and equity accounted investees (collectively,
“the Company” or the “Group”) is a leading India based provider
of IT Services, including Business Process Outsourcing (“BPO”)
services, globally. Further, Wipro has other businesses such as
IT Products, Consumer Care and Lighting and Infrastructure
engineering.
Wipro is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled
in India. The address of its registered office is Wipro Limited,
Doddakannelli, Sarjapur Road, Bangalore - 560 035, Karnataka,
India. Wipro has its primary listing with Bombay Stock Exchange
and National Stock Exchange in India. The Company’s American
Depository Shares representing equity shares are also listed
on the New York Stock Exchange. These consolidated financial
statements were authorized for issue by Audit Committee on
June 16, 2011.
2.

Basis of preparation of financial statements

(i)

Statement of compliance:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and its interpretations (“IFRS”), as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
(ii)

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IFRS).
Accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements correspond to the
classification provisions contained in IAS 1(revised), “Presentation
of Financial Statements”. For clarity, various items are aggregated
in the statements of income and statements of financial position.
These items are disaggregated separately in the Notes to
the consolidated financial statements, where applicable. The
accounting policies have been consistently applied to all periods
presented in these consolidated financial statements.
All amounts included in the consolidated financial statements
are reported in millions of Indian rupees (` in millions) except
share and per share data, unless otherwise stated. Due to
rounding off, the numbers presented throughout the document
may not add up precisely to the totals and percentages may not
precisely reflect the absolute figures.
(iii) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost convention and on an accrual basis, except for the
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following material items that have been measured at fair value
as required by relevant IFRS:a.

Derivative financial instruments; and

b.

Available-for-sale financial assets;

(iv) Convenience translation (unaudited)
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been
prepared and reported in Indian rupees, the national currency of
India. Solely for the convenience of the readers, the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2011,
have been translated into United States dollars at the certified
foreign exchange rate of $ 1 = ` 44.54, as published by Federal
Reserve Board of New York on March 31, 2011. No representation
is made that the Indian rupee amounts have been, could have
been or could be converted into United States dollars at such a
rate or any other rate.
(v)

Use of estimates and judgment

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
those estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on a
periodic basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future
periods affected. In particular, information about significant
areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgments in
applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial
statements is included in the following notes:
a) Revenue recognition: The Company uses the percentage of
completion method using the input (cost expended) method to
measure progress towards completion in respect of fixed price
contracts. Percentage of completion method accounting relies
on estimates of total expected contract revenue and costs. This
method is followed when reasonably dependable estimates
of the revenues and costs applicable to various elements of
the contract can be made. Key factors that are reviewed in
estimating the future costs to complete include estimates of
future labor costs and productivity efficiencies. Because the
financial reporting of these contracts depends on estimates
that are assessed continually during the term of these contracts,
recognized revenue and profit are subject to revisions as the
contract progresses to completion. When estimates indicate that
a loss will be incurred, the loss is provided for in the period in
which the loss becomes probable. To date, the Company has not
incurred a material loss on any fixed-price and fixed-timeframe
contract.
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b) Goodwill: Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually
and when events occur or changes in circumstances indicate that
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than
its carrying value. The recoverable amount of cash generating
units is determined based on higher of value-in-use and fair
value less cost to sell. The calculation involves use of significant
estimates and assumptions which includes revenue growth rates
and operating margins used to calculate projected future cash
flows, risk-adjusted discount rate, future economic and market
conditions.
c) Income taxes: The major tax jurisdictions for the Company
are India and the United States of America. Significant judgments
are involved in determining the provision for income taxes
including judgment on whether tax positions are probable of
being sustained in tax assessments. A tax assessment can involve
complex issues, which can only be resolved over extended
time periods. Though, the Company considers all these issues
in estimating income taxes, there could be an unfavorable
resolution of such issues.
d) Deferred taxes: Deferred tax is recorded on temporary
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts, at the rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted. The ultimate realization of deferred tax
assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable profits
during the periods in which those temporary differences and tax
loss carry-forwards become deductible. The Company considers
the expected reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected
future taxable income in making this assessment. The amount of
the deferred income tax assets considered realizable, however,
could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable
income during the carry-forward period are reduced.
e) Business combination: In accounting for business
combination, judgment is required in identifying whether an
identifiable intangible asset is to be recorded separately from
goodwill. Additionally, estimating the acquisition date fair
value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
involves management judgment. These measurements are
based on information available at the acquisition date and are
based on expectations and assumptions that have been deemed
reasonable by management. Changes in these judgments,
estimates, and assumptions can materially affect the results of
operations.
f)
Other estimates: The preparation of financial statements
involves estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amount of assets, liabilities, disclosure of contingent liabilities
at the date of financial statements and the reported amount of
revenues and expenses for the reporting period. Specifically, the
Company estimates the uncollectability of accounts receivable by
analyzing historical payment patterns, customer concentrations,
customer credit-worthiness and current economic trends. If
the financial condition of a customer deteriorates, additional
allowances may be required. Similarly, the Company provides
for inventory obsolescence, excess inventory and inventories
with carrying values in excess of net realizable value based
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on assessment of the future demand, market conditions and
specific inventory management initiatives. If market conditions
and actual demands are less favorable than the Company’s
estimates, additional inventory provisions may be required. In all
cases inventory is carried at the lower of historical cost and net
realizable value. The stock compensation expense is determined
based on the Company’s estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest.
3.

Significant accounting policies:

(i)

Basis of consolidation:

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Parent Company and entities controlled by the
Parent Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that currently are
exercisable are taken into account.
All intra-company balances, transactions, income and expenses
including unrealized income or expenses are eliminated in full
on consolidation.
Equity accounted investees
Equity accounted investees are entities in respect of which, the
Company has significant influence, but not control, over the
financial and operating policies. Generally, a Company has a
significant influence if it holds between 20 and 50 percent of
the voting power of another entity. Investments in such entities
are accounted for using the equity method (equity accounted
investees) and are initially recognized at cost.
(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of each
of the Company’s subsidiaries and equity accounted investees
are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which these entities operate (i.e. the “functional
currency”). These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Indian Rupee, the national currency of India, which
is the functional currency of Wipro Limited and its domestic
subsidiaries and equity accounted investees.
(iii) Foreign currency transactions and translation
a)

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currency are translated into the respective
functional currencies using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at the exchange rates prevailing at reporting date of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognized in the statement of income and reported within
foreign exchange gains/(losses), net within results of operating
activities. Gains/losses relating to translation or settlement
of borrowings denominated in foreign currency are reported
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within finance expense except foreign exchange gains/losses
on short-term borrowings, which are considered as a natural
economic hedge for the foreign currency monetary assets are
classified and reported within foreign exchange gains/(losses),
net within results from operating activities. Non monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and measured
at historical cost are translated at the exchange rate prevalent
at the date of transaction.
b)

Foreign operations

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign operations that
have local functional currency are translated into Indian Rupee
using exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Income
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognized
in other comprehensive income and held in foreign currency
translation reserve (FCTR), a component of equity. When a
foreign operation is disposed of, the relevant amount recognized
in FCTR is transferred to the statement of income as part of the
profit or loss on disposal. Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date.
c)

Others

Foreign currency differences arising on the translation or
settlement of a financial liability designated as a hedge of a
net investment in a foreign operation are recognized in other
comprehensive income and presented within equity in the FCTR
to the extent the hedge is effective. To the extent the hedge
is ineffective, such difference are recognized in statement of
income. When the hedged part of a net investment is disposed
of, the relevant amount recognized in FCTR is transferred
to the statement of income as part of the profit or loss on
disposal. Foreign currency differences arising from translation
of intercompany receivables or payables relating to foreign
operations, the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely
in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of net
investment in foreign operation and are recognized in FCTR.
(iv) Financial Instruments
a)

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non derivative financial instruments consist of:
-

-

financial assets, which include cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, unbilled revenues, finance lease
receivables, employee and other advances, investments
in equity and debt securities and eligible current and noncurrent assets;
financial liabilities, which include long and short-term loans
and borrowings, bank overdrafts, trade payable, eligible
current liabilities and non-current liabilities.

Non derivative financial instruments are recognized initially at
fair value including any directly attributable transaction costs.
Financial assets are derecognized when substantial risks and
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rewards of ownership of the financial asset have been transferred.
In cases where substantial risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets are neither transferred nor retained, financial
assets are derecognized only when the Company has not
retained control over the financial asset.
Subsequent to initial recognition, non derivative financial
instruments are measured as described below:
A.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company’s cash and cash equivalent consist of cash on
hand and in banks and demand deposits with banks, which
can be withdrawn at anytime, without prior notice or penalty
on the principal.
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, in banks and demand deposits
with banks, net of outstanding bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and are considered part of the Company’s cash
management system.
B.

Available-for-sale financial assets

The Company has classified investments in liquid mutual funds,
equity securities, other than equity accounted investees and
certain debt securities (primarily certificate of deposits with
banks) as available-for-sale financial assets. These investments
are measured at fair value and changes therein are recognized
in other comprehensive income and presented within equity.
The impairment losses, if any, are reclassified from equity into
statement of income. When an available-for-sale financial asset
is derecognized, the related cumulative gain or loss in equity is
transferred to statement of income.
C.

Others

Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment losses.
b)

Derivative financial instruments

The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations on
foreign currency assets, liabilities, net investment in foreign
operations and forecasted cash flows denominated in foreign
currency.
The Company limits the effect of foreign exchange rate
fluctuations by following established risk management policies
including the use of derivatives. The Company enters into
derivative financial instruments where the counterparty is a
bank.
Derivatives are recognized and measured at fair value.
Attributable transaction cost are recognized in statement of
income as cost.
A.

Cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument
designated as a cash flow hedge are recognized in other
comprehensive income and held in cash flow hedging reserve,
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a component of equity to the extent that the hedge is effective.
To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, changes in fair value
are recognized in the statement of income. If the hedging
instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, then hedge
accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain
or loss previously recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve is
transferred to the statement of income upon the occurrence of
the related forecasted transaction. If the forecasted transaction
is no longer expected to occur, such cumulative balance is
immediately recognized in the statement of income.
B.

Hedges of net investment in foreign operations

The Company designates derivative financial instruments as
hedges of net investments in foreign operations. The Company has
also designated a combination of foreign currency denominated
borrowings and related cross-currency swaps as a hedge of net
investment in foreign operations. Changes in the fair value of the
derivative hedging instruments and gains/losses on translation
or settlement of foreign currency denominated borrowings
designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations are
recognized in other comprehensive income and within equity in
the FCTR to the extent that the hedge is effective.
C.

Others

Changes in fair value of foreign currency derivative instruments
not designated as cash flow hedges or hedges of net investment
in foreign operations and the ineffective portion of cash flow
hedges are recognized in the statement of income and reported
within foreign exchange gains/(losses), net within results from
operating activities.
Changes in fair value and gains/(losses) on settlement of foreign
currency derivative instruments relating to borrowings, which
have not been designated as hedges are recorded in finance
expense.
(v)

Equity and share capital

a)

Share capital and share premium

The Company has only one class of equity shares. The authorized
share capital of the Company is 2,650,000,000 equity shares, par
value ` 2 per share. Par value of the equity shares is recorded as
share capital and the amount received in excess of par value is
classified as share premium.

c)

Retained earnings

Retained earnings comprises of the Company’s prior years’
undistributed earnings after taxes. A portion of these earnings
amounting to ` 1,144 is not freely available for distribution.
d)

Share based payment reserve

The share based payment reserve is used to record the value
of equity-settled share based payment transactions with
employees. The amounts recorded in share based payment
reserve are transferred to share premium upon exercise of stock
options by employees.
e)

Cash flow hedging reserve

Changes in fair value of derivative hedging instruments
designated and effective as a cash flow hedge are recognized
in other comprehensive income (net of taxes), and presented
within equity in the cash flow hedging reserve.
f)

Foreign currency translation reserve

The exchange difference arising from the translation of financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries, differences arising from
translation of intercompany receivables or payables relating
to foreign operations, changes in fair value of the derivative
hedging instruments and gains/losses on translation or
settlement of foreign currency denominated borrowings
designated as hedge of net investment in foreign operations
are recognized in other comprehensive income, and presented
within equity in the FCTR.
g)

Other reserve

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is
recognized in other comprehensive income (net of taxes), and
presented within equity in other reserve.
h)

Dividend

A final dividend, including tax thereon, on common stock is
recorded as a liability on the date of approval by the shareholders.
An interim dividend, including tax thereon, is recorded as a
liability on the date of declaration by the board of directors.
(vi) Property, plant and equipment:
a)

Recognition and measurement

Every holder of the equity shares, as reflected in the records of the
Company as of the date of the shareholder meeting shall have
one vote in respect of each share held for all matters submitted
to vote in the shareholder meeting.

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Cost
includes expenditures directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset. Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized
as part of the cost.

b)

b)

Shares held by controlled trust (Treasury shares):

The Company’s equity shares held by the controlled trust, which
is consolidated as a part of the Group are classified as Treasury
Shares. The Company has 8,930,563 and 14,884,272 treasury
shares as of March 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively. Treasury
shares are recorded at acquisition cost.
Wipro Limited

Depreciation

The Company depreciates property, plant and equipment over
the estimated useful life on a straight-line basis from the date
the assets are available for use. Assets acquired under finance
lease and leasehold improvements are amortized over the
shorter of estimated useful life of the asset or the related lease

175

Consolidated Financial Statements Under IFRS

term. The estimated useful life of assets are reviewed and where
appropriate are adjusted, annually. The estimated useful lives of
assets for the current and comparative period are as follows:
Category
Buildings
Plant and machinery
Computer equipment and software
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Vehicles

Useful life
30 to 60 years
2 to 21 years
2 to 6 years
3 to 10 years
4 years

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and
equipment is capitalized only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with these will flow to the
Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Deposits and advances paid towards the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment outstanding as of each reporting date
and the cost of property, plant and equipment not available
for use before such date are disclosed under capital work- inprogress.
(vii) Business combination, Goodwill and Intangible assets:
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase
(acquisition) method. The cost of an acquisition is measured
as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. The
cost of acquisition also includes the fair value of any contingent
consideration. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at fair value at the date of acquisition.
Transaction costs incurred in connection with a business
combination are expensed as incurred.
a)

Goodwill

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share in
the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities is recognized as goodwill. If the excess is
negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in
the statement of income.
b)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost of
acquisition. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are measured at fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following
initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any
accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any.
The amortization of an intangible asset with a finite useful life
reflects the manner in which the economic benefit is expected
to be generated and consumed. Intangible assets with indefinite
lives comprising of brands are not amortized, but instead
tested for impairment at least annually and written down to the
recoverable amount as required.
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The estimated useful life of finite useful life intangibles are
reviewed and where appropriate are adjusted, annually. The
estimated useful lives of the amortizable intangible assets for
the current and comparative periods are as follows:
Category

Useful life

Customer-related intangibles

2 to 11 years

Marketing related intangibles

20 to 30 years

(viii) Leases
a)

Arrangements where the Company is the lessee

Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Company
assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the
lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present
value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are
apportioned between the finance charge and the outstanding
liability. The finance charge is allocated to periods during the
lease term at a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases are recognized in the statement of
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
b)

Arrangements where the Company is the lessor

In certain arrangements, the Company recognizes revenue
from the sale of products given under finance leases. The
Company records gross finance receivables, unearned income
and the estimated residual value of the leased equipment on
consummation of such leases. Unearned income represents the
excess of the gross finance lease receivable plus the estimated
residual value over the sales price of the equipment. The
Company recognises unearned income as financing revenue
over the lease term using the effective interest method.
(ix) Inventories
Inventories are valued at lower of cost and net realizable
value, including necessary provision for obsolescence. Cost is
determined using the weighted average method.
(x)

Impairment

a)

Financial assets:

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there
is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. If any such indication exists, the
Company estimates the amount of impairment loss.
A.

Loans and receivables

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables are recognized
using separate allowance accounts. Refer Note 2 (v) for further
information regarding the determination of impairment.
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B.

Available for sale financial asset

When the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets declines
below acquisition cost and there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that has been recognized
in other comprehensive income, a component of equity in other
reserve is transferred to the statement of income. An impairment
loss may be reversed in subsequent periods, if the indicators for
the impairment no longer exist. Such reversals are recognized
in other comprehensive income.
b)

Non financial assets

The Company assesses long-lived assets, such as property,
plant, equipment and acquired intangible assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets may not
be recoverable. If any such indication exists, the Company
estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. The recoverable
amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the higher of its
fair value less cost to sell (FVLCTS) and its value-in-use (VIU). If
the recoverable amount of the asset or the recoverable amount
of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its
recoverable amount. The reduction is treated as an impairment
loss and is recognized in the statement of income. If at the
reporting date there is an indication that a previously assessed
impairment loss no longer exists, the recoverable amount is
reassessed and the impairment losses previously recognized
are reversed such that the asset is recognized at its recoverable
amount but not exceeding written down value which would
have been reported if the impairment losses had not been
recognized initially.
Intangible assets with indefinite lives comprising of brands
are not amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least
annually at the same time and written down to the recoverable
amount as required.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually at the same
time and when events occur or changes in circumstances
indicate that the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit is less than its carrying value. The goodwill impairment test
is performed at the level of cash-generating unit or groups of
cash-generating units which represent the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. An
impairment in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
(xi) Employee Benefit
a)

Post-employment and pension plans

The Group participates in various employee benefit plans.
Pensions and other post-employment benefits are classified as
either defined contribution plans or defined benefit plans. Under
a defined contribution plan, the Company’s only obligation
is to pay a fixed amount with no obligation to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employee benefits. The related actuarial and investment risks
fall on the employee. The expenditure for defined contribution
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plans is recognized as expense during the period when the
employee provides service. Under a defined benefit plan, it is
the Company’s obligation to provide agreed benefits to the
employees. The related actuarial and investment risks fall on the
Company. The present value of the defined benefit obligations
is calculated using the projected unit credit method.
The company has the following employee benefit plans:
A.

Provident fund

Employees receive benefits from a provident fund. The employer
and employees each make periodic contributions to the plan. A
portion of the contribution is made to the approved provident
fund trust managed by the Company; while the remainder of the
contribution is made to the government administered pension
fund. The Company is generally liable for any shortfall in the
fund assets based on the government specified minimum rates
of return or pension and recognizes such shortfall, if any, as an
expense in the year it is incurred.
B.

Superannuation

Superannuation plan, a defined contribution scheme is
administered by Life Insurance Corporation of India and ICICI
Prudential Insurance Company Limited. The Company makes
annual contributions based on a specified percentage of each
eligible employee’s salary.
C.

Gratuity

In accordance with the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972, the
Company provides for a lump sum payment to eligible
employees, at retirement or termination of employment based
on the last drawn salary and years of employment with the
Company. The gratuity fund is managed by the Life Insurance
Corporation of India (LIC), HDFC Standard Life, TATA AIG and
Birla Sun-life. The Company’s obligation in respect of the gratuity
plan, which is a defined benefit plan, is provided for based on
actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method. The
Company recognizes actuarial gains and losses immediately in
the statement of income.
b)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when
the Company is demonstrably committed, without realistic
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate
employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide
termination benefit as a result of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy.
c)

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are recorded as expense as the related
service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount
expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profitsharing plans, if the Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided
by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
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d)

Compensated absences

The employees of the Company are entitled to compensated
absences. The employees can carry forward a portion of the
unutilised accumulating compensated absences and utilise it
in future periods or receive cash at retirement or termination
of employment. The Company records an obligation for
compensated absences in the period in which the employee
renders the services that increases this entitlement. The Company
measures the expected cost of compensated absences as the
additional amount that the Company expects to pay as a result
of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the end of
the reporting period. The Company recognizes accumulated
compensated absences based on actuarial valuation. Nonaccumulating compensated absences are recognized in the period
in which the absences occur. The Company recognizes actuarial
gains and losses immediately in the statement of income.
(xii) Share based payment transaction
Employees of the Company receive remuneration in the form of
equity settled instruments, for rendering services over a defined
vesting period. Equity instruments granted are measured
by reference to the fair value of the instrument at the date
of grant. In cases, where equity instruments are granted at a
nominal exercise price, the intrinsic value on the date of grant
approximates the fair value. The expense is recognized in the
statement of income with a corresponding increase to the share
based payment reserve, a component of equity.
The equity instruments generally vest in a graded manner over
the vesting period. The fair value determined at the grant date is
expensed over the vesting period of the respective tranches of
such grants (accelerated amortization). The stock compensation
expense is determined based on the Company’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest.
(xiii) Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the
receivable is recognized as an asset, if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.
Provisions for onerous contracts are recognized when the
expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract
are lower than the unavoidable costs of meeting the future
obligations under the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts

178

are measured at the present value of lower of the expected
net cost of fulfilling the contract and the expected cost of
terminating the contract.
(xiv) Revenue
The Company derives revenue primarily from software
development and related services, BPO services, sale of IT and
other products.
a)

Services

The Company recognizes revenue when the significant terms of
the arrangement are enforceable, services have been delivered
and the collectability is reasonably assured. The method for
recognizing revenues and costs depends on the nature of the
services rendered:
A.

Time and materials contracts

Revenues and costs relating to time and materials contracts are
recognized as the related services are rendered.
B.

Fixed-price contracts

Revenues from fixed-price contracts, including systems
development and integration contracts are recognized using
the “percentage-of-completion” method. Percentage of
completion is determined based on project costs incurred to
date as a percentage of total estimated project costs required
to complete the project. The cost expended (or input) method
has been used to measure progress towards completion as
there is a direct relationship between input and productivity.
If the Company does not have a sufficient basis to measure
the progress of completion or to estimate the total contract
revenues and costs, revenue is recognized only to the extent
of contract cost incurred for which recoverability is probable.
When total cost estimates exceed revenues in an arrangement,
the estimated losses are recognized in the statement of income
in the period in which such losses become probable based on
the current contract estimates.
‘Unbilled revenues’ represent cost and earnings in excess of
billings as at the end of the reporting period. ‘Unearned revenues’
represent billing in excess of revenue recognized. Advance
payments received from customers for which no services are
rendered are presented as ‘Advance from customers’.
C.

Maintenance contracts

Revenue from maintenance contracts is recognized ratably over
the period of the contract using the percentage of completion
method. When services are performed through an indefinite
number of repetitive acts over a specified period of time,
revenue is recognized on a straight line basis over the specified
period under some other method better represents the stage
of completion.
b)

Products

Revenue from products are recognized when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the buyer,
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continuing managerial involvement usually associated with
ownership and effective control have ceased, the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that economic
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company
and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.
c)

Multiple element arrangements

Revenue from contracts with multiple-element arrangements
are recognized using the guidance in IAS 18, Revenue. The
Company allocates the arrangement consideration to separately
identifiable components based on their relative fair values
or on the residual method. Fair values are determined based
on sale prices for the components when it is regularly sold
separately, third-party prices for similar components or cost
plus, an appropriate business-specific profit margin related to
the relevant component.
d)

Others

The Company accounts for volume discounts and pricing
incentives to customers by reducing the amount of revenue
recognized at the time of sale.
Revenues are shown net of sales tax, value added tax, service
tax and applicable discounts and allowances. Revenue includes
excise duty.
The Company accrues the estimated cost of warranties at the
time when the revenue is recognized. The accruals are based
on the Company’s historical experience of material usage and
service delivery costs.
(xv) Finance expense
Finance expense comprise interest cost on borrowings,
impairment losses recognized on financial assets, gains / losses
on translation or settlement of foreign currency borrowings and
changes in fair value and gains / losses on settlement of related
derivative instruments except foreign exchange gains/(losses),
net on short-term borrowings which are considered as a natural
economic hedge for the foreign currency monetary assets which
are classified as foreign exchange gains/(losses), net within
results from operating activities. Borrowing costs that are not
directly attributable to a qualifying asset are recognized in the
statement of income using the effective interest method.
(xvi) Finance and other income
Finance and other income comprises interest income on deposits,
dividend income and gains / losses on disposal of available-forsale financial assets. Interest income is recognized using the
effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized when
the right to receive payment is established.
(xvii) Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
expense is recognized in the statement of income except to
the extent it relates to a business combination, or items directly

Wipro Limited

recognized in equity or in other comprehensive income.
a)

Current income tax

Current income tax for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities based on the taxable income
for the period. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the
current tax amount are those that are enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date and applicable for the period. The
Company offsets current tax assets and current tax liabilities,
where it has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized
amounts and where it intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realize the asset and liability simultaneously.
b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognized using the balance sheet
approach. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for deductible and taxable temporary differences
arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amount in financial statements, except when
the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable
profits or loss at the time of the transaction.
Deferred income tax asset are recognized to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable
temporary differences except in respect of taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and foreign branches where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at
each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset
is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.
(xviii) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is computed using the weighted average
number of equity shares outstanding during the period adjusted
for treasury shares held. Diluted earnings per share is computed
using the weighted-average number of equity and dilutive
equivalent shares outstanding during the period, using the
treasury stock method for options and warrants, except where
the results would be anti-dilutive.
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New Accounting standards adopted by the Company:
The Company adopted IFRS 3, “Business Combinations” (“IFRS
3,( 2008)”) and IAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements” (“IAS 27, (2008)”) effective April 1, 2010. The
revisions result in several changes in the accounting for business
combinations. Major changes relate to the measurement of noncontrolling interests, the accounting for business combinations
achieved in stages as well as the treatment of contingent
consideration and acquisition-related costs. Based on the new
standard, non- controlling interests may be measured at their
fair value (full-goodwill-methodology) or at the proportional
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. In respect of
business combinations achieved in stages, any previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to its acquisition
date fair value. Any changes to contingent consideration
classified as a liability at the acquisition date are recognized in
the statement of income. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
in the period incurred. Adoption of IFRS 3 (2008) and IAS 27,
(2008), did not have a material effect on these consolidated
financial statements.
The Company adopted an amendment to IAS 39, “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: Eligible Hedged
Items” (“amendment to IAS 39”) effective April 1, 2010. The
amendment addresses the designation of a one-sided risk in a
hedged item in particular situations. The amendment applies to
hedging relationships within the scope of IAS 39. Adoption of this
amendment did not have a material effect on these consolidated
financial statements.
New Accounting standards not yet adopted by the Company:
In November 2009, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 24
(revised 2009) “Related Party Disclosures” (“IAS 24”). The purpose
of the revision is to simplify the definition of a related party,
clarifying its intended meaning and eliminating inconsistencies
from the definition. The revision is effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Earlier application
is permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact, these
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amendments will have on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments
on the classification and measurement of financial assets”. The
new standard represents the first part of a three-part project
to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement (IAS 39) with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9).
IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial
asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the
many different rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based
on how an entity manages its financial instruments (its business
model) and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets. IFRS 9 is effective for fiscal years beginning on
or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted. The
Company is evaluating the impact, these amendments will have
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In October 2010, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 7
“Disclosures – Transfers of financial assets”. The purpose of the
amendment is to enhance the existing disclosures in IFRS 7 when
an asset is transferred but is not derecognized and introduce
new disclosures for assets that are derecognized but the entity
continues to have a continuing exposure to the asset after the
sale. The amendment is effective for fiscal years beginning on or
after July 1, 2011. Earlier application is permitted. The Company
is evaluating the impact, these amendment will have on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In May 2010, the IASB issued “Improvements to IFRSs (2010
Improvements)” — a collection of eleven amendments to
six International Financial Reporting Standards and to one
interpretation — as part of its program of annual improvements
to its standards, which is intended to make necessary, but nonurgent, amendments to standards that will not be included
as part of another major project. The amendments resulting
from this standard are mainly applicable to the Company from
fiscal year beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Company
is evaluating the impact, these amendments will have on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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4.

Property, plant and equipment
Land

Gross carrying value:
As at April 1, 2009
Translation adjustment
Additions
Acquisition through business combination
Disposal / adjustments
As at March 31, 2010
Accumulated depreciation/impairment:
As at April 1, 2009
Translation adjustment
Depreciation
Disposal / adjustments
As at March 31, 2010
Capital work-in-progress
Net carrying value as at March 31, 2010
Gross carrying value:
As at April 1, 2010
Translation adjustment
Additions
Disposal / adjustments
As at March 31, 2011
Accumulated depreciation/impairment:
As at April 1, 2010
Translation adjustment
Depreciation
Disposal / adjustments
As at March 31, 2011
Capital work-in-progress
Net carrying value as at March 31, 2011

Buildings

Plant and
Furniture
machinery* fixtures and
equipment

Vehicles

Total

` 2,740
(6)
60
` 2,794

` 15,384
(130)
4,160
(55)
` 19,359

` 41,623
(1,126)
6,744
6
(590)
` 46,657

` 8,113
(49)
1,959
9
(177)
` 9,855

` 2,853
(4)
459
2
(381)
` 2,929

` 70,713
(1,315)
13,382
17
(1,203)
` 81,594

``-

` 1,631
(58)
426
(1)
` 1,998

` 26,728
(716)
5,329
(346)
` 30,995

` 4,539
(30)
1,106
(118)
` 5,497

` 1,748
7
512
(263)
` 2,004

` 34,646
(797)
7,373
(728)
` 40,494
12,358
` 53,458

` 2,794
17
943
` 3,754

` 19,359
117
3,533
(41)
` 22,968

` 46,657
337
8,360
(1,145)
` 54,209

` 9,855
68
1,692
(591)
` 11,024

` 2,929
11
117
(458)
` 2,599

` 81,594
550
14,645
(2,235)
` 94,554

``-

` 1,998
50
493
(39)
` 2,502

` 30,995
231
5,500
(1,077)
` 35,649

` 5,497
45
1,271
(375)
` 6,438

` 2,004
14
455
(354)
` 2,119

` 40,494
340
7,719
(1,845)
` 46,708
7,248
` 55,094

*Including net carrying value of computer equipment and software amounting to ` 2,928 and ` 4,397 as at March 31, 2010 and
2011, respectively.
Goodwill as at March 31, 2010 and 2011 has been allocated to
Interest capitalized by the Company was ` 95 and ` 66 for
the following reportable segments:
the year ended March 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively. The
capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing
Segment
As at March 31,
cost capitalized for the year ended March 31, 2010 and 2011 are
2010
2011
4.32% and 4.23%, respectively.
IT Services
` 39,056 ` 39,098
5. Goodwill and Intangible assets
IT Products
476
472
Consumer Care and Lighting
12,670
13,475
The movement in goodwill balance is given below
Others
1,600
1,773
Year ended March 31,
Total
` 53,802 ` 54,818
2010
2011
Balance at the beginning of the year
` 56,143 ` 53,802
The goodwill held in the Infocrossing, Healthcare and Unza cash
Translation adjustment
(4,917)
962
generating units (CGU) are considered significant in comparison
Acquisition through business
2,576
54
to the total carrying amount of goodwill as at March 31, 2011.
combination, net
The goodwill held in these CGUs are as follows:
Balance at the end of the year
` 53,802 ` 54,818
The Company has recognized additional goodwill on account of
earn-out consideration (contingent consideration) amounting
to ` 1,624 and ` 54 during the year ended March 31, 2010 and
2011, respectively.

Wipro Limited

CGUs
Infocrossing
Healthcare
Unza

As at March 31, 2011
`
11,592
9,959
12,492
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The movement in intangible assets is given below:
Intangible assets
Customer related Marketing related
Gross carrying value:
As at April 1, 2009
Translation Adjustment
Acquisition through business combination
Additions
As at March 31, 2010
Accumulated amortization and impairment:
As at April 1, 2009
Translation adjustment
Amortization
As at March 31, 2010
Net carrying value as at March 31, 2010
Gross carrying value:
As at April 1, 2010
Translation adjustment
Additions
As at March 31, 2011
Accumulated amortization and impairment:
As at April 1, 2010
Translation adjustment
Amortization
As at March 31, 2011
Net carrying value as at March 31, 2011
Net carrying value of marketing-related intangibles includes
indefinite life intangible assets (brands and trade-marks) of
` 691 and ` 660 as of March 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively.
The assessment of marketing-related intangibles (brands
and trade-marks) that have an indefinite life were based on
a number of factors, including the competitive environment,
market share, brand history, product life cycles, operating plan
and macroeconomic environment of the geographies in which
these brands operate.
Amortization expense on intangible assets is included in selling
and marketing expenses in the statement of income.
As of March 31, 2011, the estimated remaining amortization
period for customer-related intangibles acquired on acquisition
of Citi Technology Services Limited is approximately 3.75 years
and the estimated remaining amortization period for customerrelated intangibles acquired on acquisition of Lornamead is
approximately 9 years.
Goodwill and Indefinite life intangible were tested for
impairment annually in accordance with the Company’s
procedure for determining the recoverable value of such assets.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
a CGU representing the lowest level within the Group at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes,
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`

`
`

`
`
`

`
`

1,629
(19)
322
1,932
91
301
392
1,540
1,932
11
1,943

392
341
`
733
` 1,210

`

`
`

`
`
`

`
`

`
`

Total

2,911
(174)
691
36
3,464

` 4,540
(193)
1,013
36
` 5,396

956
(48)
85
993
2,471

` 1,047
(48)
386
` 1,385
` 4,011

3,464
(105)
36
3,395

` 5,396
(94)
36
` 5,338

993
(48)
109
1,054
2,341

` 1,385
(48)
450
` 1,787
` 3,551

and which is not higher than the Group’s operating segment.
The useful life of the trademark and brand in respect of the
acquired Wipro Yardley FZE (Formerly known as Lornamead
FZE) and Wipro Yardley Consumer Care Private Limited (Formerly
known as Lornamead Personal Care Private Limited) has been
determined to be indefinite life intangible assets. For the purpose
of impairment testing, indefinite life intangible are allocated to
the Yardley businesses. The recoverable amount of the CGU is
the higher of its FVLCTS and its VIU. The FVLCTS of the CGU is
determined based on the market capitalization approach, using
the turnover and earnings multiples derived from observed
market data. The VIU is determined based on discounted cash
flow projections. Key assumptions on which the Company has
based its determination of VIUs include:
a) Estimated cash flows for five years based on formal/
approved internal management budgets with extrapolation for
the remaining period, wherever such budgets were shorter than
5 years period.
b) Terminal value arrived by extrapolating last forecasted year
cash flows to perpetuity using long-term growth rates: [2.5%-6%].
These long-term growth rates takes into consideration external
macroeconomic sources of data. Such long-term growth rate
considered does not exceed that of the relevant business and
industry sector.
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c) The discount rates used are based on the Company’s
weighted average cost of capital as an approximation of the
weighted average cost of capital of a comparable market
participant, which are adjusted for specific country risks
[10%-17%].
d) Value-in-use is calculated using after tax assumptions. The
use of after tax assumptions does not result in a value-in-use that
is materially different from the value-in-use that would result if
the calculation was performed using before tax assumptions.
The after tax discount rate used ranges from [10% - 17%]. The
before tax discount rate is determined based on the value-in-use
6.

derived from the use of after tax assumptions, and ranges from
[12.3% - 19.5%].
Based on the above, no impairment was identified as of March
31, 2011 as the recoverable value of the CGUs exceeded the
carrying value. Further, none of the CGU’s tested for impairment
as of March 31, 2011 were at risk of impairment. An analysis of
the calculation’s sensitivity to a change in the key parameters
(Revenue growth, operating margin, discount rate and long-term
growth rate) based on reasonably probable assumptions, did not
identify any probable scenarios where the CGU’s recoverable
amount would fall below its carrying amount.

Business combination

Science Applications International Corporation:
On April 1, 2011, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to acquire the global oil and gas information technology practice
of the Commercial Business Services Business Unit of Science Applications International Corporation (“SAIC”). SAIC‘s global oil
and gas practice provides consulting, system integration and outsourcing services to global oil majors with significant domain
capabilities in the areas of digital oil field, petro-technical data management and petroleum application services, addressing the
upstream segment. The business unit was acquired for cash consideration of approximately US$ 150 million. The Company believes
that the acquisition will further strengthen Wipro‘s presence in the Energy, Natural resources & Utilities domain.
The acquisition was completed on June 10, 2011(“acquisition date”), after receipt of regulatory approvals. The Company is in the
process of allocating the purchase consideration to identifiable assets and liabilities and therefore it is impracticable to provide
the other disclosures as required under IFRS 3, (2008) “Business Combinations” as of the date of filing of this Form 20-F for the year
ended March 31, 2011.
A summary of the acquisitions completed during the years ended March 31, 2009 and 2010 is given below
Name of entity and effective date Nature of business
of acquisition

Management’s assessment of business
rationale

Citi Technology Services Limited India based provider of information
(Subsequently renamed as Wipro technology services and solutions to Citi
Technology Services Limited — Group worldwide
WTS)
(January 2009)

Enhance Company’s capabilities to address
Technology Infrastructure Services (TIS) and
Application Development and Maintenance
Services (ADM) in the financial services industry.

Lornamead
(December 2009)

Operates in the personal care category Enhance Company’s strong brand portfolio of
marketing fragrance products, bath personal care products.
and shower products and skin care
products

The total purchase price has been allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities as follows:
Name of entity

WTS

Purchase
consideration
including earn-outs
`

Lornamead
Total

Wipro Limited

`

Net assets Deferred tax
liabilities

6,205

` 1,672

2,340

308

8,545

` 1,980

`
`

Intangible
assets

Goodwill

(461)

` 1,413

` 3,581

-

1,013

1,019

(461)

` 2,426

` 4,600
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7.

Available for sale investments

Available for sale investments consists of the following:
As at March 31, 2010
Cost

Investment in liquid and shortterm mutual funds and others

` 19,279

Certificate of deposits

8.

Gross loss
recognized
directly in
equity

`

`

11,088
` 30,367

Total

As at March 31, 2011

Gross gain
recognized
directly in
equity
52
5
`

57

`

Fair Value

Cost

(4)

` 19,327

` 37,013

-

11,093

12,189

(4)

` 30,420

` 49,202

As at March 31,
2010
2011
` 53,255 ` 64,221
(2,327)
(2,594)

`

Fair Value

126

` (49)

` 37,090

17

(14)

12,192

143

` (63)

` 49,282

(1)

These deposits can be withdrawn by the Company at any time
without prior notice and without any penalty on the principal.
Cash and cash equivalent consists of the following for the
purpose of the cash flow statement:

` 50,928 ` 61,627
The activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable
is given below:
Year ended March 31,
2010
2011
Balance at the beginning of the ` 1,919 ` 2,327
year
Additions during the year, net
566
399
Uncollectable receivables charged
against allowance
(158)
(132)
Balance at the end of the year
` 2,327 ` 2,594
Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

Stores and spare parts
Raw materials and components
Work in progress
Finished goods

As at March 31,
2010
2011
` 1,001 ` 1,125
2,212
3,217
776
1,109
3,937
4,256
` 7,926 ` 9,707

10. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011
consist of cash and balances on deposit with banks. Cash and
cash equivalents consist of the following:

Cash and bank balances
Demand deposits with
banks(1)
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`

Gross loss
recognized
directly in
equity

Trade receivables

Trade receivables
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable

9.

Gross gain
recognized
directly in
equity

As at March 31,
2009
2010
2011
` 22,944 ` 24,155 ` 27,628
26,173
` 49,117

40,723
` 64,878

33,513
` 61,141

Cash and cash equivalents
(as per above)
Bank overdrafts

As at March 31,
2009
2010
2011
` 49,117 ` 64,878 ` 61,141
(885)
` 48,232

(1,322)
` 63,556

(242)
` 60,899

11. Other assets
As at March 31,
2010
2011
Current
Interest bearing deposits with
corporates(1)
Prepaid expenses
Due from officers and employees
Finance lease receivables
Advance to suppliers
Deferred contract costs
Interest receivable
Deposits
Balance with excise and customs
Non-convertible debentures
Others
Non-current
Prepaid expenses including rentals
for leasehold land
Finance lease receivables
Deposits
Non-convertible debentures
Others
Total

` 10,050

` 4,240

2,923
1,244
632
1,194
943
822
1,057
917
155
1,169
` 21,106

4,620
1,110
2,411
1,407
1,503
393
603
1,570
815
1,072
` 19,744

`

`

3,059

3,810
724
1,159
32
` 8,784
` 29,890

2,423

4,839
1,680
41
` 8,983
` 28,727

(1)

Such deposits earn a fixed rate of interest and will be liquidated
within 12 months.
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Finance lease receivables:
Finance lease receivables consist of assets that are leased to customers, with lease payments due in monthly, quarterly or semiannual installments for periods ranging from 3 to 5 years. Details of finance lease receivables are given below:
Minimum lease payment
As at March 31,
2010
2011
` 774
` 2,523
4,652
6,129
190
199
5,616
8,851
(1,174)
(1,601)
` 4,442
` 7,250

Not later than one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Unguaranteed residual values
Gross investment in lease
Less: Unearned finance income
Present value of minimum lease payment receivable
Included in the financial statements as follows:
Current finance lease receivables
Non-current finance lease receivables

Present value of minimum
lease payment
As at March 31,
2010
2011
` 608
` 2,350
3,675
4,723
159
177
` 4,442
` 7,250
`

12. Loans and borrowings
Short-term loans and borrowings
The Company had short-term borrowings including bank
overdrafts amounting to ` 43,836 and ` 31,694 as at March
31, 2010 and 2011, respectively. Short-term borrowings from
banks as of March 31, 2011 primarily consist of lines of credit
of approximately ` 22,177, US$ 939 million, SEK 85 million,
SAR 90 million, Euro 20 million, GBP 21 million, IDR (Indonesian
Rupee) 5,005 million, MYR (Malaysian Ringgit) 25 million and RM
(Chinese Yuan) 28 million from bankers primarily for working
capital requirements. As of March 31, 2011, the Company has
unutilized lines of credit aggregating ` 16,584, US$ 393 million,
SEK 66 million, SAR 90 million, GBP 21 million, IDR 5,005 million,

632
3,810

` 2,411
4,839

and MYR 25 million, respectively. To utilize these unused
lines of credit, the Company requires consent of the lender
and compliance with certain financial covenants. Significant
portion of these lines of credit are revolving credit facilities and
floating rate foreign currency loans, renewable on a periodic
basis. Significant portion of these facilities bear floating rates of
interest, referenced to LIBOR and a spread, determined based
on market conditions.
The Company has non-fund based revolving credit facilities
in various currencies equivalent to ` 25,497 for operational
requirements that can be used for the issuance of letters of
credit and bank guarantees. As of March 31, 2011, an amount
of ` 5,656 was unutilized out of these non-fund based facilities.

Long-term loans and borrowings
A summary of long- term loans and borrowings is as follows:
Currency

Unsecured external commercial borrowing
Japanese Yen
Unsecured term loan
Indian Rupee
Saudi Riyals
Others
Other secured term loans
Obligations under finance leases
Current portion of long term loans and borrowings
Non-current portion of long term loans and
borrowings

Wipro Limited

As at March 31, 2010
Foreign
Indian
currency
Rupee
in millions

Foreign
currency
in
millions

35,016

` 16,844

35,016

NA
-

509
445
165
` 17,963
712
` 18,675
`
568
18,107

NA
66

As at March 31, 2011
Indian
Interest
Rupee
rate

` 18,861

2.04%

Final
maturity

2013

366
6.05%
2014
786
1.25%
2011
354
0 - 2% 2011 – 2017
106 1.46 - 4.5% 2011 – 2016
` 20,473
635
` 21,108
` 1,349
19,759
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The Company has entered into cross-currency interest rate swap
(CCIRS) in connection with the unsecured external commercial
borrowing and has designated a portion of these as hedge of
net investment in foreign operation.
The contract governing the Company’s unsecured external
commercial borrowing contains certain covenants that limit
future borrowings and payments towards acquisitions in a
financial year. The terms of the other secured and unsecured
loans and borrowings also contain certain restrictive covenants
primarily requiring the Company to maintain certain financial
ratios. As of March 31, 2011, the Company has met the covenants
under these arrangements.

A portion of the above short-term loans and borrowings,
other secured term loans and obligation under finance leases
aggregating to ` 2,119 and ` 2,067 as at March 31, 2010
and 2011, respectively, are secured by inventories, accounts
receivable, certain property, plant and equipment and
underlying assets.
Interest expense was ` 1,232 and ` 776 for the year ended March
31, 2010 and 2011, respectively.
The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments
under finance leases, together with the present value of
minimum lease payments as of March 31, 2010 and 2011:
Minimum lease payment
As at March 31,
2010
` 257
`
461
62
780
(68)
`
712
`

Not later than one year
Later than one year but not later than five year.
Later than five years
Total minimum lease payments
Less: Amount representing interest
Present value of minimum lease payments
Included in the financial statements as follows:
Current finance lease payables
Non-current finance lease payables

2011
242
396
63
701
(66)
635

Present value of minimum
lease payment
As at March 31,
2010
2011
`
228
` 203
425
372
59
60
`
712
` 635
`

13. Trade payables and accrued expenses

Trade payables
Accrued expenses
14. Other liabilities and provisions

As at March 31,
2010
2011
Other liabilities:
Current:
Statutory and other liabilities
Advance from customers
Others

`

`
Non-current:
Employee benefit obligations
Others
Total
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`
`
`

4,001
1,786
712
6,499

`

2,967
266
3,233
9,732

`

`

`
`

4,046
1,049
811
5,906

203
432

As at March 31,
2010
2011

Trade payables and accrued expenses consist of the following:
As at March 31,
2010
2011
` 19,133 ` 20,618
19,615
23,434
` 38,748 ` 44,052

`

228
484

Provisions:
Current:
Provision for warranty
Others
Non-current:
Provision for warranty
Total

`
`

511 `
1,763
2,274 `

467
1,857
2,324

`
`

100
2,374

`
`

81
2,405

Provision for warranty represents cost associated with
providing sales support services which are accrued at the time
of recognition of revenues and are expected to be utilized
over a period of 1 to 2 year. Other provisions primarily include
provisions for tax related contingencies and litigations. The
timing of cash outflows in respect of such provision cannot be
reasonably determined.

2,633
73
2,706
8,612
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A summary of activity for provision for warranty and other
provisions is as follows:

Balance at the beginning
of the year
Additional provision
during the year, net
Provision used during the
year
Balance at the end of the
year

Year ended March 31, 2011
Provision
Others
Total
for
warranty
` 611 ` 1,763 ` 2,374

`

532

149

681

(595)
548

(55)
` 1,857

(650)
` 2,405

15. Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities (carrying value/fair value):
As at March 31,
2010
2011
Assets:
Trade receivables
Unbilled revenues
Cash and cash equivalents
Available for sale financial
investments
Derivative assets
Other assets
Total
Liabilities:
Loans and borrowings
Trade payables and accrued
expenses
Derivative liabilities
Other liabilities
Total

` 50,928 ` 61,627
16,708
24,149
64,878
61,141
30,420
49,282
3,816
4,693
20,124
16,995
` 186,874 ` 217,887
` 62,511 ` 52,802
38,748
44,052

Fair Value
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,
unbilled revenues, trade payables, current financial liabilities and
borrowings approximate their carrying amount largely due to
the short-term nature of these instruments. A substantial portion
of the Company’s long-term debt has been contracted at floating
rates of interest, which are reset at short intervals. Accordingly,
the carrying value of such long-term debt approximates
fair value. Further, finance lease receivables are periodically
evaluated based on individual credit worthiness of customers.
Based on this evaluation, the Company records allowance for
expected losses on these receivables. As of March 31, 2010 and
2011, the carrying value of such receivables, net of allowances
approximates the fair value.
Investments in liquid and short-term mutual funds, which are
classified as available-for-sale are measured using quoted market
prices at the reporting date multiplied by the quantity held.
Fair value of investments in certificate of deposits, classified
as available for sale is determined using observable market
inputs.
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined
based on observable market inputs including currency spot and
forward rates, yield curves, currency volatility etc.
Fair value hierarchy
Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3 – Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

4,257
3,944
126
140
` 105,642 ` 100,938

By Category (Carrying value/Fair value):
As at March 31,
2010
2011
Assets:
Loans and receivables
Derivative assets
Available for sale financial assets
Total

` 152,638 ` 163,912
3,816
4,693
30,420
49,282
` 186,874 ` 217,887

Liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Trade and other payables
Derivative liabilities
Total

` 62,511 ` 52,802
38,874
44,192
4,257
3,944
` 105,642 ` 100,938

Wipro Limited
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The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
Particulars

As at March 31, 2010
Fair value measurements
Total
at reporting date using
Level 1
Level 2 Level 3

Assets
Derivative instruments
- Cash flow hedges
- Net investment hedges
- Others
Available for sale financial assets:
- Investment in liquid and short-term mutual
funds
- Investment in certificate of deposits and other
investments
Liabilities
Derivative instruments
- Cash flow hedges
- Net investment hedges
- Others
Derivatives assets and liabilities:

` 2,684
702
430

` -

` 2,684
702
430

19,157

19,157

-

-

25,246 25,246

11,263

-

11,263

-

24,036

1,818
1,578
861

The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations
on foreign currency assets/liabilities, forecasted cash flows
denominated in foreign currency and net investment in foreign
operations. The Company follows established risk management
policies, including the use of derivatives to hedge foreign currency
assets/liabilities, foreign currency forecasted cash flows and net
investment in foreign operations. The counter party in these
derivative instruments is a bank and the Company considers the
risks of non-performance by the counterparty as non-material.
The following table presents the aggregate contracted principal
amounts of the Company’s derivative contracts outstanding:
As at March 31,
2010
2011
Designated derivative instruments
Sell

$
1,518 $
901
€
- €
2
£
31 £
21
¥
4,578 ¥
3,026
AUD
7 AUD
4
CHF
- CHF
6

Net investment hedges in foreign
operations
Cross-currency swaps
¥ 26,014
Others
$
262
€
40
Non designated derivative
instruments
Sell
$
45
£
38
€
29
AUD
Buy
$
492
Cross currency swaps
¥
7,000
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As at March 31, 2011
Fair value measurements
Total
at reporting date using
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

¥
$
€

24,511
262
40

$
526
£
40
€
48
AUD
13
$
617
¥
7,000

` - ` 1,991
1,523
1,179

`

- ` 1,991
1,523
1,179

-

` -

-

-

24,036

-

1,818
1,504
1,504
1,578
1,701
1,701
861
739
739
The following table summarizes activity in the cash flow hedging
reserve within equity related to all derivative instruments
classified as cash flow hedges:

Balance as at the beginning of the
year
Net (gain)/loss reclassified into
statement of income on occurrence
of hedged transactions(1)
Deferred cancellation gains/(losses)
relating to roll - over hedging
Changes in fair value of effective
portion of derivatives
Gains/ (losses) on cash flow hedging
derivatives, net
Balance as at the end of the year

As at March 31,
2010
2011
` (16,886) ` (4,954)
5,201

4,041

551

222

6,180
` 11,932

`

(535)
3,728

` (4,954)

` (1,226)

(1)

On occurrence of hedge transactions, net (gain)/loss was
included as part of revenues.
The related hedge transactions for balance in cash flow hedging
reserve as of March 31, 2011 are expected to occur and reclassified
to the statement of income over a period of 2 years.
As at March 31, 2010 and 2011, there were no significant gains
or losses on derivative transactions or portions thereof that have
become ineffective as hedges, or associated with an underlying
exposure that did not occur.
Sale of financial assets
From time to time, in the normal course of business, the Company
transfers accounts receivables, net investment in finance lease
receivables and employee advances (financials assets) to banks.
Under the terms of the arrangements, the Company surrenders
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control over the financial assets and transfer is without recourse.
Accordingly, such transfers are recorded as sale of financial assets.
Gains and losses on sale of financial assets without recourse are
recorded at the time of sale based on the carrying value of the
financial assets and fair value of servicing liability.
In certain cases, transfer of financial assets may be with recourse.
Under arrangements with recourse, the Company is obligated
to repurchase the uncollected financial assets, subject to limits
specified in the agreement with the banks. The Company has
transferred trade receivables with recourse obligation (credit
risk) and accordingly, in such cases the amounts received are
recorded as borrowings in the statement of financial position
and cash flows from financing activities. As at March 31, 2010 and
2011, the maximum amount of recourse obligation in respect
of the transferred financial assets (recorded as borrowings) is `
657 and ` 1,085, respectively.
Financial risk management
General
Market risk is the risk of loss of future earnings, to fair values or
to future cash flows that may result from a change in the price
of a financial instrument. The value of a financial instrument
may change as a result of changes in the interest rates, foreign
currency exchange rates, equity prices and other market changes
that affect market risk sensitive instruments. Market risk is
attributable to all market risk sensitive financial instruments
including investments, foreign currency receivables, payables
and loans and borrowings.
The Company’s exposure to market risk is a function of
investment and borrowing activities and revenue generating
activities in foreign currency. The objective of market risk
management is to avoid excessive exposure of the Company’s
earnings and equity to losses.
Risk Management Procedures
The Company manages market risk through a corporate treasury
department, which evaluates and exercises independent control
over the entire process of market risk management. The corporate
treasury department recommends risk management objectives
and policies, which are approved by senior management and
Audit Committee. The activities of this department include
management of cash resources, implementing hedging

Wipro Limited

strategies for foreign currency exposures, borrowing strategies,
and ensuring compliance with market risk limits and policies.
Foreign currency risk
The Company operates internationally and a major portion of
the business is transacted in several currencies and consequently
the Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk through
its sales and services in the United States and elsewhere,
and purchases from overseas suppliers in various foreign
currencies. The exchange rate risk primarily arises from foreign
exchange revenue, receivables, cash balances, forecasted cash
flows, payables and foreign currency loans and borrowings. A
significant portion of revenue is in U.S. dollars, euro and pound
sterling, while a significant portion of costs are in Indian rupees.
The exchange rate between the rupee and U.S. dollar, euro and
pound sterling has fluctuated significantly in recent years and
may continue to fluctuate in the future. Appreciation of the rupee
against these currencies can adversely affect the Company’s
results of operations.
The Company evaluates exchange rate exposure arising from
these transactions and enters into foreign currency derivative
instruments to mitigate such exposure. The Company follows
established risk management policies, including the use of
derivatives like foreign exchange forward / option contracts to
hedge forecasted cash flows denominated in foreign currency.
The Company has designated certain derivative instruments
as cash flow hedge to mitigate the foreign exchange exposure
of forecasted highly probable cash flows. The Company has
also designated a combination of foreign currency borrowings
and related cross-currency swaps and other foreign currency
derivative instruments as hedge of its net investment in foreign
operations.
As at March 31, 2010 and 2011, ` 1 increase / decrease in the
exchange rate of Indian Rupee with U.S. dollar would result in
approximately ` 1,071 and ` 810 decrease / increase in the fair
value of the Company’s foreign currency dollar denominated
derivative instruments, respectively.
As at March 31, 2010 and 2011, 1% change in the exchange rate
between U.S. Dollar and Yen would result in approximately ` 160
and ` 170 increase/decrease in the fair value of cross-currency
interest rate swaps, respectively.
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The below table presents foreign currency risk from non derivative financial instruments as of March 31, 2010 and 2011:

US$

As at March 31, 2010
Euro
Pound
Japanese
Sterling
Yen
` 4,607
` 3,879
`
269
67
269
346
446
175
408
201
33

Trade receivables
Unbilled revenues
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets

` 20,639
4,986
14,709
705

Loans and borrowings
Trade payables and accrued
expenses
Other liabilities
Net assets/(liabilities)

` (34,856)
(14,442)

` (1,007)
(1,940)

` (341)
(1,530)

` (16,839)
(227)

(20)
` (8,279)

` 2,481

` 2,924

` (16,589)

US$

As at March 31, 2011
Euro
Pound
Japanese
Sterling
Yen
` 5,123
` 4,821
`
370
239
494
1,863
1,949
290
311
63
2

Trade receivables
Unbilled revenues
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets

` 24,408
13,605
22,463
187

Loans and borrowings
Trade payables and accrued
expenses
Other liabilities
Net assets/(liabilities)

` (27,544)
(10,770)

` (1,322)
(2,063)

`
(1,407)

` (18,861)
(357)

` 22,349

` 4,151

` 5,920

` (18,556)

Other
currencies#
`
343
4
77
2
`

Total
` 29,737
5,326
15,753
1,349

(361)
(196)

` (53,404)
(18,335)

(131)

(20)
` (19,594)

Other
currencies#
` 3,237
271
1,414
126

Total

`

`

`

` 37,959
14,609
27,979
689

(162)

` (47,727)
(14,759)

4,886

` 18,750

# Other currencies reflects currencies such as Singapore dollars, Saudi Arabian riyals etc.
As at March 31, 2010 and 2011 respectively, every 1% increase/
decrease of the respective foreign currencies compared to functional
currency of the Company would impact our result from operating
activities by approximately ` (196) and ` 187 respectively.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk primarily arises from floating rate borrowing,
including various revolving and other lines of credit. The
Company’s investments are primarily in short-term investments,
which do not expose it to significant interest rate risk. The
Company manages its net exposure to interest rate risk relating
to borrowings, by balancing the proportion of fixed rate
borrowing and floating rate borrowing in its total borrowing
portfolio. To manage this portfolio mix, the Company may enter
into interest rate swap agreements, which allows the Company
to exchange periodic payments based on a notional amount
and agreed upon fixed and floating interest rates. As of March
31, 2011, substantially all of the Company borrowings was
subject to floating interest rates, which reset at short intervals. If
interest rates were to increase by 100 bps from March 31, 2011,
additional annual interest expense on the Company’s floating
rate borrowing would amount to approximately ` 500.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that customers may not
be able to settle their obligations as agreed. To manage this,
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the Company periodically assesses the financial reliability of
customers, taking into account the financial condition, current
economic trends, analysis of historical bad debts and ageing of
accounts receivable. Individual risk limits are set accordingly. No
single customer accounted for more than 10% of the accounts
receivable as at March 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively and
revenues for the year ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011,
respectively. There is no significant concentration of credit risk.
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial assets,
investment in certificates of deposits and interest bearing
deposits with corporates are neither past due nor impaired.
Cash and cash equivalents with banks and interest-bearing
deposits are placed with corporate, which have high creditratings assigned by international and domestic credit-rating
agencies. Available-for-sale financial assets substantially
include investment in liquid mutual fund units. Certificates of
deposit represent funds deposited with banks or other financial
institutions for a specified time period.
Financial assets that are past due but not impaired
There is no other class of financial assets that is past due but not
impaired except for trade receivables and finance receivables of
` 2,327 and ` 2,594 as of March 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively.
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Of the total receivables, ` 34,608 and ` 41,146 as of March 31,
2010 and 2011, respectively, were neither past due nor impaired.
The company’s credit period generally ranges from 45-60 days.
The aging analysis of the receivables have been considered from
the date of the invoice. The age wise break up of receivables, net
of allowances that are past due, is given below:

Financial assets that are neither past
due nor impaired
Financial assets that are past due
but not impaired
Past due 0 – 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days
Past due over 90 days
Total past due and not impaired

As at March 31,
2010
2011
` 34,608 ` 41,146

risk is minimized by only buying securities which are at least
AA rated. Settlement and credit risk is reduced by the policy of
entering into transactions with counterparties that are usually
banks or financial institutions with acceptable credit ratings.
Exposure to these risks are closely monitored and maintained
within predetermined parameters. There are limits on credit
exposure to any financial institution. The limits are regularly
assessed and determined based upon credit analysis including
financial statements and capital adequacy ratio reviews. In
addition, net settlement agreements are contracted with
significant counterparties.
Liquidity risk

3,816
4,249
4,468
6,976
2,489
3,273
11,163
14,834
` 21,936 ` 29,332

Counterparty risk
Counterparty risk encompasses issuer risk on marketable
securities, settlement risk on derivative and money market
contracts and credit risk on demand and time deposits. Issuer

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will
not be able to settle or meet its obligations on time or at a
reasonable price. The Company’s corporate treasury department
is responsible for liquidity, funding as well as settlement
management. In addition, processes and policies related to
such risks are overseen by senior management. Management
monitors the Company’s net liquidity position through rolling
forecasts on the basis of expected cash flows. As of March 31,
2010 and 2011, cash and cash equivalents are held with major
banks and financial institutions.

The table below provided details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities.

Loans and borrowings
Trade payables and accrued expenses
Derivative liabilities

Less than 1
year
` 44,404
38,748
1,375

Loans and borrowings
Trade payables and accrued expenses
Derivative liabilities

Less than 1
year
` 33,043
44,052
1,358

As at March 31, 2010
1-2 years
2-4 years
4-7 years
` 544
487

122
-

` 62,511
38,748
4,257

As at March 31, 2011
1-2 years
2-4 years
4-7 years

Total

` 19,322
2,586

` 17,441
2,395

`

304
-

`

Total

`

133
-

` 52,802
44,052
3,944

The balanced view of liquidity and financial indebtedness is stated in the table below. This calculation of the net cash position is
used by the management for external communication with investors, analysts and rating agencies:

Cash and cash equivalents
Interest bearing deposits with
corporates
Available for sale investments
Loans and borrowings
Net cash position

Wipro Limited

As at March 31,
2010
2011
` 64,878 ` 61,141
10,050
4,240
30,420
49,282
(62,511)
(52,802)
` 42,837 ` 61,861

16. Investment in equity accounted investees
Wipro GE Medical Systems (Wipro GE)
The Company holds 49% interest in Wipro GE. Wipro GE is a
private entity that is not listed on any public exchange. The
carrying value of the investment in Wipro GE as at March 31, 2010
and 2011 was ` 2,345 and ` 2,993, respectively. The Company’s
share of profits of Wipro GE for the year ended March 31, 2009,
2010 and 2011 was ` 362, ` 530 and ` 648, respectively.
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The aggregate summarized financial information of Wipro GE
is as follows:

Revenue
Gross profit
Profit for the year

Total assets
Total liabilities
Total equity

Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
` 10,611 ` 12,567 ` 19,882
3,269
3,573
5,278
875
934
1,127
As at March 31,
2010
2011
` 11,518 ` 16,830
6,709
8,543
` 4,809 ` 8,287

In April 2010, Wipro GE acquired medical equipment and related
businesses from General Electric for a cash consideration of
approximately ` 3,728.
Wipro GE had received tax demands from the Indian income
tax authorities for the financial years ended March 31, 2001,
2002, 2003 and 2004 aggregating to ` 903, including interest.
The tax demands were primarily on account of transfer pricing
adjustments and the denial of export benefits and tax holiday
benefits claimed by Wipro GE under the Indian Income Tax Act,
1961 (the “Act”). Wipro GE appealed against the said demands
before the first appellate authority. The first appellate authority
has vacated the tax demands for the years ended March 31,
2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004. The income tax authorities have
filed an appeal for the years ended March 31, 2001, 2002, 2003
and 2004.
In December 2008, Wipro GE received, on similar grounds,
additional tax demand of ` 552 (including interest) for the
financial year ended March 31, 2005. Wipro GE had filed an
appeal against the said demand and in the month of February
2011, the appellate order has been received, setting aside the
entire TP adjustment and reducing the overall demand of ` 552
(including interest) to ` 220 (including interest). Wipro GE would
be seeking further relief in this regard.
In December 2009, Wipro GE received a draft assessment order,
on similar grounds, with a demand of ` 317 (including interest)
for the financial year ended March 31, 2006. The final assessment
order was issued in this regard demanding the same amount,
plus interest and Wipro GE has filed an appeal against the said
demand before the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal within the
time limit permitted under the statute.
In February 2011, Wipro GE received an assessment order, on
similar grounds, with a demand of ` 843 (including interest)
for the financial year ended March 31, 2007. In this regard,
Wipro GE has filed an appeal with the first appellate authority
against the said demand within the time limit permitted under
the statute.
Considering the facts and nature of disallowance and the order
of the appellate authority upholding the claims of Wipro GE,
Wipro GE believes that the final outcome of the disputes should
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be in its favour and will not have any material adverse effect on
its financial position and results of operations.
17. Foreign currency translation reserve
The movement in foreign currency translation reserve
attributable to equity holders of the Company is summarized
below:
As at March 31,
2010
Balance at the beginning of the
year

`

1,533

Translation difference related to
foreign operations
Change in effective portion of
hedges of net investment in foreign
operations

2011
`

258

(5,477)

1,246

4,202

20

Total change during the year

` (1,275)

`

1,266

Balance at the end of the year

`

`

1,524

258

18. Income taxes
Income tax expense has been allocated as follows:
Year ended March 31,
Income tax expense as
per the statement of
income

2009

2010

2011

` 6,035

` 9,294

` 9,714

(131)

(14)

2

Income tax included in
other comprehensive
income on:
unrealized gains/
(losses) on available
for sale investments
gains/(losses) on
cash flow hedging
derivatives
Total income taxes

(2,353)

2,091

44

` 3,551

` 11,371

` 9,760

Income tax expense from continuing operations consist of the
following:
Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
Current taxes
Domestic
Foreign
Deferred taxes
Domestic
Foreign
Total income tax expense

` 3,656
2,538
` 6,194

` 5,461
3,403
` 8,864

` 5,573
3,895
` 9,468

`

`

`

(24)
(135)
` (159)
` 6,035

40
390
`
430
` 9,294

292
(46)
` 246
` 9,714
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The reconciliation between the provision of income tax of
the Company and amounts computed by applying the Indian
statutory income tax rate to profit before taxes is as follows:

Profit before taxes
Enacted income tax rate
in India
Computed expected tax
expense
Effect of:
Income exempt from
tax
Basis differences that
will reverse during a tax
holiday period
Income taxed at higher/
(lower) rates
Income taxes relating to
prior years
Changes in unrecognized
deferred tax assets
Expenses disallowed for
tax purposes
Others, net
Total income tax expense

Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
` 44,895 ` 55,410 ` 63,035
33.99%
33.99% 33.218%
15,260

18,834

20,939

(10,368)

(10,802)

(10,458)

328

898

(217)

(166)

(475)

(566)

(370)

(442)

(590)

314

811

160

1,024

456

426

14
9,294

20
` 9,714

13
` 6,035 `

The tax rates under Indian Income Tax Act, for the year ended
March 31, 2011 is 33.218% as compared to 33.99% for the year
ended March 31, 2010. This change in tax rate is on account of
reduction in surcharge from 10% for the year ended March 31,
2010 to 7.5% for the year ended March 31, 2011, in the financial
annual budget by the Indian Government.
The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as
follows:
As at March 31,
2009
2010
2011
Carry-forward business
` 2,046 ` 1,851 ` 2,042
losses
Accrued expenses and
813
568
521
liabilities
Allowances for doubtful
322
328
716
accounts receivable
Cash flow hedges
2,353
262
218
Minimum alternate tax
126
363
488
Others
69
83
196
5,729
3,455
4,181
Property, plant and
` (365) ` (525) ` (1,107)
equipment
Amortizable goodwill
(348)
(458)
(659)
Intangible assets
(789)
(734)
(682)
Investment in equity
accounted investee
(332)
(432)
(567)
(1,834)
(2,149) (3,015)
Net deferred tax assets
` 3,895 ` 1,306 ` 1,166
Amounts presented in
statement of financial position:
Deferred tax assets
` 4,369 ` 1,686 ` 1,467
Deferred tax liabilities
` (474) ` (380) ` (301)
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Deferred taxes on unrealized foreign exchange gain / loss relating
to cash flow hedges is recognized in other comprehensive
income and presented within equity in the cash flow hedging
reserve. Deferred tax liability on the intangible assets identified
and recorded separately at the time of acquisition is recorded
by an adjustment to goodwill. Other than these, the change in
deferred tax assets and liabilities is primarily recorded in the
statement of income.
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company
considers the extent to which, it is probable that the deferred
tax asset will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax
assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable profits
during the periods in which those temporary differences and tax
loss carry-forwards become deductible. The Company considers
the expected reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected
future taxable income in making this assessment. Based on this,
the Company believes that it is probable that the Company will
realize the benefits of these deductible differences. The amount
of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could
be reduced in the near term if the estimates of future taxable
income during the carry-forward period are reduced. Deferred
tax asset in respect of unused tax losses amounting to ` 1,743
and ` 2,076 as of March 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively have
not been recognized by the Company.
The Company has recognized deferred tax assets of ` 1,851 and
` 2,043 in respect of carry forward losses of its U.S. subsidiary
during the year ended March 31, 2010 and 2011. Management’s
projections of future taxable income and tax planning strategies
support the assumption that it is probable that sufficient taxable
income will be available to utilize these deferred tax assets.
Pursuant to the changes in the Indian income tax laws in fiscal
2007, Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) has been extended to income
in respect of which deduction is claimed under section 10A and
10B of the Act; consequently, the Company has calculated its tax
liability for current domestic taxes after considering MAT. The
excess tax paid under MAT provisions over and above normal
tax liability can be carried forward and set-off against future tax
liabilities computed under normal tax provisions. The Company
was required to pay MAT and accordingly, a deferred tax asset
of ` 363 and ` 488 has been recognized in the statement of
financial position as of March 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively,
which can be carried forward for a period of ten years from the
year of recognition.
A substantial portion of the profits of the Company’s India
operations are exempt from Indian income taxes being profits
attributable to export operations and profits from undertakings
situated in Software Technology, Hardware Technology Parks
and Export Oriented units. Under the tax holiday, the taxpayer
can utilize an exemption from income taxes for a period of any
ten consecutive years. The tax holidays on all facilities under
Software Technology, Hardware Technology Parks and Export
oriented units has expired on March 31, 2011. Additionally,
under the Special Economic Zone Act, 2005 scheme, units in
designated special economic zones providing service on or after
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April 1, 2005 will be eligible for a deduction of 100 percent of
profits or gains derived from the export of services for the first
five years from commencement of provision of services and 50
percent of such profits and gains for a further five years. Certain
tax benefits are also available for a further five years subject to
the unit meeting defined conditions. Profits from certain other
undertakings are also eligible for preferential tax treatment. In
addition, dividend income from certain category of investments
is exempt from tax. The difference between the reported income
tax expense and income tax computed at statutory tax rate is
primarily attributable to income exempt from tax.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable
temporary differences except in respect of taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, deferred
income tax liabilities on cumulative earnings of subsidiaries
amounting to ` 8,436 and ` 12,969 as of March 31, 2010 and
2011, respectively has not been recognized. Further, it is not
practicable to estimate the amount of the unrecognized deferred
tax liabilities for these undistributed earnings.
The tax loss carry-forwards of ` 5,450 and ` 5,941 as of March
31, 2010 and 2011, respectively relates to certain subsidiaries
on which deferred tax asset has not been recognized by the
Company. Approximately, ` 4,531 and ` 4,644 as of March 31,
2010 and 2011 respectively, of these tax loss carry-forwards is
not currently subject to expiration dates. The remaining tax loss
carry forward of approximately ` 919 and ` 1,297 as of March
31, 2010 and 2011 respectively, expires in various years through
fiscal 2029.
We are subject to U.S. tax on income attributable to our
permanent establishment in the United States due to operation
of our U.S. branch. In addition, the Company is subject to a 15%
branch profit tax in the United States on the “dividend equivalent
amount” as that term is defined under U.S. tax law. The Company
has not triggered the branch profit tax until year ended March
31, 2011. The Company intends to maintain the current level of
net assets in the United States commensurate with its operation
and consistent with its business plan. The Company does not
intend to repatriate out of the United States any portion of its
current profits. Accordingly, the Company did not record current
and deferred tax provision for branch profit tax.
19. Dividends
The Company declares and pays dividend in Indian rupees.
According to the Indian law any dividend should be declared out
of accumulated distributable profits only after the transfer to a
general reserve of a specified percentage of net profit computed
in accordance with current regulations.
The cash dividends paid per equity share were ` 4, ` 4 and
` 6 during the years ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011,
respectively. The Company has also paid an interim dividend of
` 2 per equity share during the year ended March 31, 2011.
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During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company has also
paid stock dividend, commonly known as bonus shares in India,
comprised of two equity shares for every three equity shares
outstanding on the record date and two ADSs for every three
ADSs outstanding on the record date. The stock dividend did
not affect the ratio of ADSs to equity shares, such that each ADS
after the stock dividend continues to represent one equity share
of par value of ` 2 per share.
The Board of directors in their meeting on April 27, 2011
proposed a final dividend of ` 4 ($ 0.09) per equity share and
ADR. The proposal is subject to the approval of shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting to be held on July 19, 2011, and
if approved, would result in a cash outflow of approximately `
11,410, including corporate dividend tax thereon (` 1,593).
20. Additional capital disclosures
The key objective of the Company’s capital management is
to ensure that it maintains a stable capital structure with the
focus on total equity to uphold investor, creditor, and customer
confidence and to ensure future development of its business. The
Company focused on keeping strong total equity base to ensure
independence, security, as well as a high financial flexibility for
potential future borrowings, if required without impacting the
risk profile of the Company.
The Company’s goal is to continue to be able to return excess
liquidity to shareholders by continuing distributing annual
dividends in future periods. During the year ended March 31, 2010
and 2011, the Company distributed ` 4 and ` 6, respectively in
dividend per equity share. The Company has also distributed an
interim dividend of ` 2 per equity share during the year ended
March 31, 2011. The amount of future dividends will be balanced
with effort to continue to maintain an adequate liquidity status.
The capital structure as of March 31, 2010 and 2011 was as
follows:
As at March 31,
2010
Total equity attributable
to the equity
shareholders of the
Company
As percentage of total
capital
Current loans and
borrowings
Non-current loans and
borrowings
Total loans and
borrowings
As percentage of total
capital
Total capital (loans and
borrowings and equity)

2011 % Change

` 196,112 ` 239,680

76%

82%

44,404

33,043

18,107

19,759

62,511

52,802

24%

18%

` 258,623 ` 292,482

22.22%

(15.53)%

13.09%
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The Company is predominantly equity-financed. This is also
evident from the fact that loans and borrowings represented
only 24% and 18% of total capital as of March 31, 2010 and 2011,
respectively. Further, the Company has consistently been a net
cash company with cash and bank balance along with available
for sale investments being in excess of debt.
21. Revenues
Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
Rendering of services
Sale of products
Total revenues

` 193,009
63,882
` 256,891

` 202,990 ` 234,285
68,967
76,257
` 271,957 ` 310,542

22. Expenses by nature

Employee
compensation
Raw materials, finished
goods, process stocks
and stores and spares
consumed
Sub contracting/
technical fees/third
party application
Travel
Depreciation and
amortization
Repairs
Advertisement
Communication
Rent
Power and fuel
Legal and professional
fees
Rates, taxes and
insurance
Carriage and freight
Provision for doubtful
debt
Sales commission
Miscellaneous expenses
Total cost of revenues,
selling and marketing
expenses and general
and administrative
expenses

Wipro Limited

Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
` 107,266 ` 107,230 ` 126,867
47,179

51,813

50,166

23. Finance expense

Interest expense
Exchange fluctuation
on foreign currency
borrowings, net
Total

Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
` 2,333 ` 1,232 ` 776

1,491
` 3,824

92
` 1,324

1,157
` 1,933

24. Finance and other income

Interest income
Dividend income
Gain on sale of
investments
Others
Total

Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
` 1,964 ` 2,610 ` 4,057
2,265
1,442
2,403
681
308
192
147
` 5,057

` 4,360

` 6,652

25. Earnings per equity share
A reconciliation of profit for the year and equity shares used in
the computation of basic and diluted earnings per equity share
is set out below:

15,890

17,527

26,415

9,313
6,948

8,064
7,831

10,156
8,211

4,045
3,221
3,006
2,526
1,863
1,502

5,020
4,534
3,157
3,062
1,797
1,593

5,253
5,114
3,492
3,230
2,427
1,629

955

1,023

1,324

885
939

950
566

1,181
399

515
5,985

459
5,104

656
6,799

` 212,038

Basic: Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company by the
weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during
the period, excluding equity shares purchased by the Company
and held as treasury shares. Equity shares held by controlled
Wipro Equity Reward Trust (‘WERT’) and Wipro Inc Benefit Trust
(WIBT) have been reduced from the equity shares outstanding
for computing basic and diluted earnings per share.

` 219,730 ` 253,319
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Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
` 38,761
` 45,931
` 52,977
2,423,558,482 2,429,025,243 2,436,440,633
` 15.99
` 18.91
` 21.74

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding
Basic earnings per share

Diluted: Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during
the period for assumed conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares. Employee share options are dilutive potential equity
shares for the Company.
The calculation is performed in respect of share options to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average market price of the Company’s shares during the period). The number of shares calculated as
above is compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive equivalent share options
Weighted average number of equity shares for diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

Year ended March 31,
2011
2009
2010
` 38,761
` 45,931
` 52,977
2,423,558,482 2,429,025,243 2,436,440,633
13,905,921
20,633,289
14,713,521
2,437,464,403 2,449,658,532 2,451,154,154
`
15.90
`
18.75
` 21.61

Earnings per share and number of share outstanding for the year ended March 31, 2009 and 2010, have been adjusted for the two
equity shares for every three equity shares stock dividend approved by the shareholders on June 4, 2010.
26. Employee stock incentive plans
The stock compensation expense recognized for employee
services received during the year ended March 31, 2009, 2010
and 2011 is ` 1,868, ` 1,302 and ` 1,092, respectively.
Wipro Equity Reward Trust (WERT)
In 1984, the Company established a controlled trust called the
Wipro Equity Reward Trust (“WERT”). The WERT purchases shares
of the Company out of funds borrowed from the Company. The
Company’s compensation committee recommends to the WERT
certain officers and key employees, to whom the WERT grants
shares from its holdings at nominal price. Such shares are then
held by the employees subject to vesting conditions. The shares
held by the WERT are reported as a reduction in stockholders’
equity
The movement in the shares held by the WERT is given below:

Shares held at the
beginning of the
period(1)
Shares granted to
employees
Grants forfeited by
employees
Shares held at the end
of the period
(1)

Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
7,961,760 7,961,760 13,269,600

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,961,760

7,961,760 13,269,600

The opening balance as of April 1, 2010 has been adjusted
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for the two equity shares for every three equity shares stock
dividend approved by the shareholders on June 4, 2010.
Wipro Employee Stock Option Plan and Restricted Stock Unit
Option Plan
A summary of the general terms of grants under stock option
plans and restricted stock unit option plans are as follows:
Name of Plan

Authorized
Shares(1)

Range of
Exercise
Prices

Wipro Employee Stock Option
Plan 1999 (1999 Plan)

50,000,000

` 171 – 490

Wipro Employee Stock Option
Plan 2000 (2000 Plan)

250,000,000

` 171 – 490

Stock Option Plan (2000 ADS
Plan)

15,000,000

US$ 3 – 7

Wipro Restricted Stock Unit
Plan (WRSUP 2004 plan)

20,000,000

` 2

Wipro ADS Restricted Stock
Unit Plan (WARSUP 2004 plan)

20,000,000

US$ 0.04

Wipro Employee Restricted
Stock Unit Plan 2005 (WSRUP
2005 plan)

20,000,000

` 2

Wipro Employee Restricted
Stock Unit Plan 2007 (WSRUP
2007 plan)

16,666,667

` 2

(1)

adjusted for the two equity shares for every three equity shares
stock dividend approved by the shareholders on June 4, 2010.
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Employees covered under the stock option plans and restricted stock unit option plans (collectively “stock option plans”) are
granted an option to purchase shares of the Company at the respective exercise prices, subject to requirement of vesting conditions
(generally service conditions). These options generally vests in tranches over a period of five years from the date of grant. Upon
vesting, the employees can acquire one equity share for every option. The maximum contractual term for these stock option plans
is generally ten years.
The activity in these stock option plans is summarized below:

Range of
Exercise
Prices
Outstanding at the beginning
of the period(1)

` 229 – 265

`
489
US$
4– 6
`
2
US$
0.04
Granted
` 229 – 265
`
489
US$
4– 6
`
2
US$
0.04
Exercised
` 229 – 265
`
489
US$
4– 6
`
2
US$
0.04
Forfeited and lapsed
` 229 – 265
`
489
US$
4– 6
`
2
US$
0.04
Outstanding at the end of the ` 229 – 265
period
`
489
US$
4– 6
`
2
US$
0.04
Exercisable at the end of the ` 229 – 265
period
`
489
US$
4– 6
`
2
US$
0.04

2009
Number
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
1,219,926 `
264

Year ended March 31,
2010
Number
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
1,140 `
254

2011
Number Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
— `
—

`
US$
`
US$
`
`
US$
`
US$
`
`
US$
`
US$
`
`
US$
`
US$
`

—
5
2
0.04
—
489
—
2
0.04
263
—
4.7
2
0.04
264
—
5.82
2
0.04
254

120,000
1,606
13,799,549
2,470,641
—
—
—
5,000
137,100
—
—
—
(2,736,924)
(493,519)
(1,140)
—
—
(805,722)
(348,401)
—

`
US$
`
US$
`
`
US$
`
US$
`
`
US$
`
US$
`
`
US$
`
US$
`

489
200,000 ` 293.40
4.7
2,677 US$ 2.82
2 17,103,172 `
2
0.04 2,943,035 US$ 0.04
—
— `
—
—
— `
—
—
— US$
—
2 5,227,870 `
2
0.04 1,437,060 US$ 0.04
—
— `
—
—
(80,000) ` 293.40
—
— US$
—
2 (5,482,210) `
2
0.04 (870,622) US$ 0.04
254
— `
—
— (120,000) ` 293.40
—
(2,677) US$ 2.82
2 (1,466,071) `
2
0.04 (285,581) US$ 0.04
—
— `
—

120,000 `
1,606 US$
13,799,549 `
2,470,641 US$
1,140 `

489
4.7
2
0.04
254

120,000
1,606
10,261,903
1,765,821
—

`
US$
`
US$
`

489
— `
4.7
— US$
2 15,382,761 `
0.04 3,223,892 US$
—
— `

—
—
2
0.04
—

— `
1,606 US$
2,975,987 `
208,412 US$

—
4.7
2
0.04

—
1,606
4,719,739
645,341

`
US$
`
US$

—
4.7
2
0.04

`
US$
`
US$

—
—
2
0.04

—
8,706
9,700,163
1,885,236
—
120,000
—
6,882,415
1,484,261
(345,099)
—
(4,400)
(1,762,283)
(446,841)
(873,687)
—
(2,700)
(1,020,746)
(452,015)
1,140

—
—
7,533,984
1,147,391

(1)

The opening balance as of April 1, 2010 have been adjusted for the two equity shares for every three equity shares stock dividend
approved by the shareholders on June 4, 2010.
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The following table summarizes information about outstanding stock options:

Range of
Exercise price

Numbers

`
229 – 265
1,140
`
489
120,000
US$
4 –6
1,606
`
2 13,799,549
US$
0.04 2,470,641

2009
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Life
(Months)
3
61
12
44
51

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
`
`
US$
`
US$

254
489
4.70
2
0.04

As at March 31,
2010
2011
Weighted
Numbers Weighted Weighted Numbers Weighted
average
Average
Average Average
remaining
Exercise
Remaining Exercise
Price
Life
Price
Life
(Months)
(Months)
- `
- `
120,000
49 `
489
- `
1,606
1 US$ 4.70
- US$
35 `
2
10,261,903
37 `
2 15,382,761
48 US$
0.04
1,765,821
44 US$ 0.04 3,223,892

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the year ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 was ` 319,
` 814 and ` 417.65 for each option, respectively. The weighted average share price of options exercised during the year ended
March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011was ` 360.96, ` 557.52 and ` 424.28 for each option, respectively.
The fair value of 120,000 options granted during the year ended
March 31, 2009 (other than at nominal exercise price) has been
estimated on the date of grant using the Binomial option pricing
model. The fair value of share options has been determined using
the following assumptions:
Expected term
Risk free interest rates
Volatility
Dividend yield

5-7 years
7.36 – 7.42
35.81 – 36.21
1%

27. Employee benefits
a)

Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
` 102,661 ` 103,194 ` 122,399
310
2,427

1,868
` 107,266

276
2,458

469
2,907

1,302
1,092
` 107,230 ` 126,867

The employee benefit cost is recognized in the following line
items in the statement of income:

Cost of revenues
Selling and marketing
expenses
General and
administrative expenses
b)

Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
` 90,321 ` 90,350 ` 106,235
10,594
9,126
10,860

6,351
` 107,266

7,754
9,772
` 107,230 ` 126,867

Defined benefit plans:

Amount recognized in the statement of income in respect of
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Year ended March 31,
2009
Interest on obligation

`

135

2010
`

133

2011
`

161

Expected return on plan
assets

(92)

(122)

(164)

Actuarial losses/(gains)
recognized

(102)

(63)

(168)

Past service cost

Employee costs include:

Salaries and bonus
Employee benefit plans
Defined benefit plan
Contribution to
provident and other
funds
Share based
compensation

gratuity cost (defined benefit plan) is as follows:

Current service cost

-

-

254

369

328

386

Net gratuity cost/
(benefit)

`

310

`

276

`

469

Actual return on plan
assets

`

106

`

138

`

177

In May 2010, the Government of India amended the Payment of
Gratuity Act, 1972 to increase the limit of gratuity payment from
` 0.35 to ` 1. Consequently, during the year ended March 31,
2011, the Company has recognized ` 254 of vested past service
cost in the statement of income.
The principal assumptions used for the purpose of actuarial
valuation are as follows:
As at March 31,
2009

2010

2011

6.75%

7.15%

7.95%

Expected return on plan
assets

8%

8%

8%

Expected rate of salary
increase

5%

5%

5%

Discount rate

The expected return on plan assets is based on expectation of
the average long term rate of return expected on investments of
the fund during the estimated term of the obligations.
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Change in present value of defined benefit obligation is
summarized below:
As at March 31,
2009
2010
2011
Defined benefit
` 1,515
` 1,858
` 2,060
obligation at the
beginning of the year
Acquisitions
34
Current service cost
369
328
386
Past service cost
254
Interest on obligation
135
133
161
Benefits paid
(118)
(214)
(230)
Actuarial losses/(gains)
(77)
(45)
(155)
Defined benefit
obligation at the end of
the year
` 1,858
` 2,060 ` 2,476
Change in plan assets is summarized below:

` 1,244
19

` 1,416
-

2011

122
625
(214)
18

164
473
(230)
13

1,416

1,967

2,387

`
`

(93)
(93)

Difference between expected
and actual developments:
of fair value of the obligation
of fair value of plan assets

(59)
26

`
`

(89)
(89)

(84)
18

(32)
15

As at March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, 100% of the plan assets
were invested in insurer managed funds.
The expected future contribution and estimated future benefit
payments from the fund are as follows:
`

379

`

498

Estimated benefit payments from the fund for
the year ending March 31:
2012

` 1,967
-

92
154
(118)
25

` (442)
` (442)

As at March 31,
2009
2010
2011

Expected contribution to the fund during the
year ending March 31, 2012

As at March 31,
2009
2010
Fair value of plan assets
at the beginning of the
year
Acquisitions
Expected return on plan
assets
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Actuarial gains/(losses)
Fair value of plan assets
at the end of the year
Present value of
unfunded obligation
Recognized liability

The experience adjustments, meaning difference between
changes in plan assets and obligations expected on the basis
of actuarial assumption and actual changes in those assets and
obligations are as follows:

2013

538

2014

545

2015

558

2016

623

Thereafter

2,590
`

Total

5,352

The expected benefits are based on the same assumptions used
to measure the Company’s benefit obligations as of March 31,
2011.

28. Related party relationships and transactions
List of subsidiaries as of March 31, 2011 are provided in the table below.
Direct Subsidiaries

Step Subsidiaries

Wipro Inc.
Wipro Gallagher Solutions Inc
Enthink Inc.
Infocrossing Inc.
cMango Pte Limited
Wipro Japan KK
Wipro Shanghai Limited
Wipro Trademarks Holding Limited
Cygnus Negri Investments Private
Limited
Wipro Travel Services Limited
Wipro Consumer Care Limited
Wipro Holdings (Mauritius) Limited
Wipro Holdings UK Limited
Wipro Technologies UK Limited
Wipro Holding Austria GmbH(A)
Wipro Limited

Country of
Incorporation
U.S.
U.S.
U.S.
U.S.
Singapore
Japan
China
India
India
India
India
Mauritius
U.K.
U.K.
Austria
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Direct Subsidiaries

Step Subsidiaries
3D Networks (UK) Limited

Wipro Cyprus Private Limited
Wipro Technologies S.A DE C. V
Wipro BPO Philippines LTD. Inc
Wipro Holdings Hungary Korlátolt
Felelősségű Társaság
Wipro Technologies Argentina SA
Wipro Information Technology
Egypt SAE
Wipro Arabia Limited*
Wipro Poland Sp Zoo
Wipro Outsourcing Services UK
Limited
Wipro Technologies (South Africa)
Proprietary Limited
Wipro Information Technology
Netherlands BV
(formerly RetailBox BV)

Country of
Incorporation
U.K.
Cyprus
Mexico
Philippines
Hungary
Argentina
Egypt
Saudi Arabia
Poland
U.K.
South Africa
Netherland

Wipro Portugal S.A. (A) (Formerly Portugal
Enabler Informatica SA)
Wipro Technologies Limited, Russia Russia
Wipro Technologies Oy
Finland
Wipro Infrastructure Engineering
Sweden
AB
Wipro Infrastructure Engineering Finland
Oy
Hydrauto Celka San ve Tic
Turkey
Wipro Technologies SRL
Romania
Wipro Singapore Pte Limited
Singapore
PT WT Indonesia
Indonesia
Singapore
Wipro Unza Holdings Limited(A)
Wipro Technocentre (Singapore) Pte Singapore
Limited
Wipro (Thailand) Co Limited
Thailand
Wipro Bahrain Limited WLL
Bahrain
Wipro Yardley FZE
Dubai
Wipro Australia Pty Limited
Australia
Wipro Networks Pte Limited (formerly
Singapore
3D Networks Pte Limited)
Planet PSG Pte Limited
Singapore
Wipro Technologies SDN BHD
Malaysia
(Formerly Planet PSG SDN BHD)
Wipro Chengdu Limited
China
Wipro Chandrika Limited*
India
WMNETSERV Limited
Cyprus
WMNETSERV (U.K.) Limited.
U.K.
WMNETSERV INC
U.S.
Wipro Technology Services Limited
India
Wipro Airport IT Services Limited*
India
Wipro Infrastructure Engineering
China
Machinery (Changzhou) Co., Ltd.
*All the above direct subsidiaries are 100% held by the Company except that the Company hold 66.67% of the equity securities of
Wipro Arabia Limited, 90% of the equity securities of Wipro Chandrika Limited and 74% of the equity securities of Wipro Airport
IT Services Limited.
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(A)

Step Subsidiary details of Wipro Unza Holdings Limited, Wipro Holding Austria GmbH and Wipro Portugal S.A, are as follows :

Step Subsidiaries

Step Subsidiaries

Country of
Incorporation

Wipro Unza Singapore Pte Limited

Singapore

Wipro Unza Indochina Pte Limited

Singapore
Wipro Unza Vietnam Co., Limited

Vietnam

Wipro Unza Cathay Limited

Hong Kong

Wipro Unza (China) Limited

Hong Kong
Wipro Unza (Guangdong)
Consumer Products Limited.

China

PT Unza Vitalis

Indonesia

Wipro Unza (Thailand) Limited

Thailand
British virgin
islands

Unza Overseas Limited
Unzafrica Limited

Unza International Limited

Nigeria
British virgin
islands
British virgin
islands

Unza Nusantara Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

Wipro Unza Middle East Limited

Unza Holdings Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

Unza (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Malaysia
UAA (M) Sdn Bhd

Manufacturing Services Sdn Bhd

Malaysia
Malaysia

Shubido Pacific Sdn Bhd(a)

Malaysia

Gervas (B) Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

Gervas Corporation Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

Formapac Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

Wipro Holding Austria GmbH

Austria
New Logic Technologies GmbH

Austria

New Logic Technologies SARL

France

SAS Wipro France

France

(formerly Enabler France SAS)
Wipro Retail UK Limited

U.K.

Wipro Portugal S.A.

(formerly Enabler UK Limited)
Wipro do Brasil Technologia Ltda
(formerly Enabler Brazil Ltda)
Wipro Technologies Gmbh (formerly
Enabler & Retail Consult GmbH)

Brazil
Germany

a) All the above subsidiaries are 100% held by the Company except Shubido Pacific Sdn Bhd in which the Company holds 62.55%
of the equity securities.
The list of controlled trusts are:
Name of entity
Wipro Equity Reward Trust
Wipro Inc Benefit Trust

Wipro Limited

Nature
Trust
Trust

Country of Incorporation
India
USA
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The other related parties are:
Name of entity

Nature

Wipro GE Healthcare Private Limited
Azim Premji Foundation
Azim Premji Trust
Hasham Premji (partnership firm)
Prazim Traders (partnership firm)
Zash Traders (partnership firm)
Regal Investment Trading Company Private Limited
Vidya Investment Trading Company Private Limited
Napean Trading Investment Company Private Limited
Key management personnel
Azim Premji
Suresh C Senapaty
Suresh Vaswani
Girish S Paranjpe
T K Kurien
Dr. Ashok Ganguly
Narayan Vaghul
Dr. Jagdish N Sheth
P.M Sinha
B.C. Prabhakar
Bill Owens
Dr. Henning Kagermann
Shyam Saran
Relative of Key management personnel
Rishad Premji

Associate
Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director
Entity controlled by Director

(1)
(2)

% of
holding
49%

Country of
Incorporation
India

Chairman and Managing Director
Chief Financial Officer and Director
Jt CEO, IT Business and Director(1)
Jt CEO, IT Business and Director(1)
CEO, IT Business and Director(2)
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Relative of the Key management personnel

Upto January 31, 2011
W.e.f February 01,2011

The Company has the following related party transactions:
Transaction/ Balances

Sale of goods and services
Dividend
Royalty income
Key management personnel#
Remuneration and short-term benefits
Other benefits
Remuneration to relative of key
management personnel
Balances as on March 31,
Receivables
Payables

Associate

Entities controlled by
Directors
2009
2010
2011
1
1
4,418
4,418 10,362
-

Key Management
Personnel
2009
2010
2011
230
234
536##
-

2009
15
36

2010
7
32

2011
18
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

85
32
3

175
34
4

260
30
5

-

1
-

7
-

-

2

-

4

44

8

#
Post employment benefit comprising gratuity, and compensated absences are not disclosed as these are determined for the
Company as a whole.
##
including relative of key management personnel.

29. Commitments and contingencies
Operating leases: The Company has taken office and residential
facilities under cancelable and non-cancelable operating lease
agreements that are renewable on a periodic basis at the option
of both the lessor and the lessee. The operating lease agreements
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extend up to a maximum of fifteen years from their respective
dates of inception and some of these lease agreements have
price escalation clause. Rental payments under such leases were
` 2,526, ` 3,062 and ` 3,230, for the year ended March 31, 2009,
2010 and 2011, respectively.
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Details of contractual payments under non-cancelable leases
are given below:

Not later than one year
Later than one year but not later
than five years
Later than five years

As at March 31,
2010
2011
` 1,396
` 1,828
4,319
5,143
2,554
` 8,269

3,294
` 10,265

Capital commitments: As at March 31, 2010 and 2011, the
Company had committed to spend approximately ` 2,782 and
` 2,071, respectively, under agreements to purchase property
and equipment. These amounts are net of capital advances paid
in respect of these purchases.
Guarantees: As at March 31, 2010 and 2011, performance
and financial guarantees provided by banks on behalf of the
Company to the Indian Government, customers and certain
other agencies amount to approximately ` 14,526 and ` 19,841,
respectively, as part of the bank line of credit.
Contingencies and lawsuits: The Company had received tax
demands from the Indian income tax authorities for the financial
years ended March 31, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004 aggregating
to ` 11,127 (including interest of ` 1,503). The tax demands
were primarily on account of the Indian income tax authority’s
denial of deductions claimed by the Company under Section
10A of the Income Tax Act 1961, in respect of profits earned
by the Company’s undertakings in Software Technology Park
at Bangalore. The appeals filed by the Company for the above
years to the first appellate authority were allowed in favor of the
Company, thus deleting a substantial portion of the demands
raised by the Income tax authorities. On further appeal filed
by the income tax authorities, the second appellate authority
upheld the claims of the Company for the years ended March
31, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004. In December 2008, the Company
received, on similar grounds, an additional tax demand of
` 5,388 (including interest of ` 1,615) for the financial year
ended March 31, 2005. The appeal filed before the first appellate
authority against the said order has been allowed in favour of
the Company thus deleting substantial demand raised by the
Income tax authorities.
In December 2009, the Company received the draft assessment
order, on similar grounds, with a demand of ` 6,757 (including
interest of ` 2,050) for the financial year ended March 31, 2006.
The Company had filed its objections against the said demand
before the Dispute Resolution Panel, which later issued directions
confirming the position of the assessing officer. Subsequently, the
assessing officer passed the final assessment order in October
2010 raising a tax demand of ` 7,218 (including interest of `
2,510). The Company has filed an appeal against the said order
before the tribunal within the time limit permitted under the
statute.

Wipro Limited

In December 2010, the Company received the draft assessment
order, on similar grounds, with a demand of ` 7,747 (including
interest of ` 2,307) for the financial year ended March 31, 2007.
The Company has filed an objection against the said demand
before the Dispute Resolution Panel, within the time limit
permitted under the statute.
Considering the facts and nature of disallowance and the order
of the appellate authority upholding the claims of the Company
for earlier years, the Company believes that the final outcome
of the above disputes should be in favor of the Company and
there should not be any material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
The Contingent liability in respect of disputed demands for
excise duty, custom duty, income tax, sales tax and other matters
amounts to ` 872, ` 1,384 and ` 1,472 as of March 31, 2009,
2010 and 2011, respectively.
The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims which
have arisen in the ordinary course of its business. The resolution
of these legal proceedings is not likely to have a material and
adverse effect on the results of operations or the financial
position of the Company.
Other commitments: The Company’s Indian operations have
been established as unit in Special Economic Zone and Software
Technology Park Unit under plans formulated by the Government
of India. As per the plan, the Company’s India operations have
export obligations to the extent of foreign exchane net positive
(i.e. foreign exchange inflow – foreign exchange outflow should
be positive) over a five year period. The consequence of not
meeting this commitment in the future would be a retroactive
levy of import duties on certain hardware previously imported
duty free. As at March 31, 2011, the Company has met all
commitments required under the plan.
30. Segment Information
The Company is currently organized by segments, which includes
IT Services (comprising of IT Services and BPO Services), IT
Products, Consumer Care and Lighting and ‘Others’.
The Chairman of the Company has been identified as the
Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) as defined by IFRS 8,
Operating Segments. The Chairman of the Company evaluates
the segments based on their revenue growth, operating income
and return on capital employed. The management believes
that return on capital employed is considered appropriate for
evaluating the performance of its operating segments. Return
on capital employed is calculated as operating income divided
by the average of the capital employed at the beginning and at
the end of the period. Capital employed includes total assets of
the respective segments less all liabilities, excluding loans and
borrowings.
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Information on reportable segments is as follows:
Year ended March 31, 2009
IT Services and Products

Consumer
Total Care and
Lighting

Others Reconciling
Items

IT
Services

IT
Products

191,613

34,277

225,890

19,249

8,995

(128,473)

(30,886)

(159,359)

(10,782)

(8,679)

Selling and marketing expenses

(10,581)

(1,361)

(11,942)

(4,750)

(294)

General and administrative expenses

(12,271)

(667)

(12,938)

(1,125)

40,288

1,363

41,651

2,592

Revenues
Cost of revenues

Operating income of segment

1,204

Entity
Total
255,338

(1,395) (180,215)
(327)

(17,313)

(316)

(131)

(14,510)

(294)

(649)

43,300

Finance expense

(3,824)

Finance and other income

5,057

Share of profits of equity accounted
investees

362

Profit before tax

44,895

Income tax expense

(6,035)

Profit for the year

38,860

Depreciation and amortization expense
Total assets

6,192

377

268

111

6,948

181,303

22,862

6,748

73,342

284,255

Total liabilities

70,869

5,803

2,465

57,737

136,874

Opening capital employed

93,845

17,359

6,149

53,080

170,433

Closing capital employed

115,089

18,782

5,638

64,763

204,272

Average capital employed

104,467

18,070

5,893

58,923

187,353

40%

14%

(5)%

-

23%

Goodwill

5,437

-

-

-

5,437

Intangible assets

1,629

124

-

-

1,753

14,463

726

445

646

16,280

Return on capital employed
Additions to:

Property, plant and equipment
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Year ended March 31, 2010
IT Services and Products
IT
Services
Revenues

IT
Products

Consumer
Total Care and
Lighting

Others Reconciling
Items

202,490

38,205

240,695

22,584

7,143

(132,144)

(34,151)

(166,295)

(11,805)

(7,446)

Selling and marketing expenses

(10,213)

(1,275)

(11,488)

(6,470)

(323)

(327)

(18,608)

General and administrative expenses

(12,446)

(1,015)

(13,461)

(1,207)

(210)

55

(14,823)

47,687

1,764

49,451

3,102

(836)

127

51,844

Cost of revenues

Operating income of segment

1,152

Entity
Total
271,574

(753) (186,299)

Finance expense

(1,324)

Finance and other income

4,360

Share of profits of equity accounted
investees

530

Profit before tax

55,410

Income tax expense

(9,294)

Profit for the year

46,116

Depreciation and amortization expense

6,816

402

294

319

7,831

191,535

25,233

8,779

104,381

329,928

61,009

5,707

4,284

62,379

133,379

Opening capital employed

115,089

18,782

5,638

64,763

204,272

Closing capital employed

135,829

20,074

7,068

96,092

259,063

Average capital employed

125,459

19,428

6,353

80,427

231,667

39%

16%

(13)%

-

22%

1,557

1,019

-

-

2,576

18

1,031

-

-

1,049

12,223

627

538

11

13,399

Total assets
Total liabilities

Return on capital employed
Additions to:
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

Wipro Limited
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Year ended March 31, 2011
IT Services and Products
Consumer
IT
IT
Reconciling
Care and
Services Products
Total Lighting Others
Items
Revenues

234,850

Cost of revenues

(153,446)

36,910

271,760

(32,843) (186,289)

27,258

Entity
Total

10,896

1,073

310,987

(15,142) (10,160)

(1,217)

(212,808)

Selling and marketing expenses

(12,642)

(1,284)

(13,926)

(7,514)

(491)

(241)

(22,172)

General and administrative expenses

(15,355)

(1,174)

(16,529)

(1,152)

(342)

(316)

(18,339)

53,407

1,609

55,016

3,450

(97)

(701)

57,668

Operating income of segment
Finance expense

(1,933)

Finance and other income

6,652

Share of profits of equity accounted
investees

648

Profit before tax

63,035

Income tax expense

(9,714)

Profit for the year

53,321

Depreciation and amortization expense

7,088

433

328

362

8,211

216,511

27,829

10,475

116,628

371,443

60,998

5,726

5,343

59,005

131,072

Opening capital employed

135,829

20,074

7,068

96,092

259,063

Closing capital employed

159,480

22,249

7,418

104,029

293,176

Average capital employed

147,654

21,161

7,243

100,061

276,119

37%

16%

(1)%

-

21%

Goodwill

54

-

-

-

54

Intangible assets

28

8

-

-

36

12,647

400

707

891

14,645

Total assets
Total liabilities

Return on capital employed
Additions to:

Property, plant and equipment
The Company has four geographic segments: India, the United
States, Europe and Rest of the world. Revenues from the
geographic segments based on domicile of the customer are
as follows:

India
United States
Europe
Rest of the world

Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
` 54,945 ` 62,179 ` 67,904
115,022
119,870
129,217
57,109
56,780
68,159
28,262
32,745
45,707
` 255,338 ` 271,574 ` 310,987

No client individually accounted for more than 10% of the
revenues during the year ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and
2011.
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Notes:
a)

The company has the following reportable segments:

i)
IT Services: The IT Services segment provides IT and IT
enabled services to customers. Key service offering includes
software application development, application maintenance,
research and development services for hardware and software
design, data center outsourcing services and business process
outsourcing services.
ii) IT Products: The IT Products segment sells a range of
Wipro personal desktop computers, Wipro servers and Wipro
notebooks. The Company is also a value added reseller of
desktops, servers, notebooks, storage products, networking
solutions and packaged software for leading international
brands. In certain total outsourcing contracts of the IT Services
segment, the Company delivers hardware, software products
and other related deliverables. Revenue relating to these items
is reported as revenue from the sale of IT Products.
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iii) Consumer care and lighting: The Consumer Care and
Lighting segment manufactures, distributes and sells personal
care products, baby care products, lighting products and
hydrogenated cooking oils in the Indian and Asian markets.
iv) The Others’ segment consists of business segments that do
not meet the requirements individually for a reportable segment
as defined in IFRS 8.
v) Corporate activities such as treasury, legal and accounting,
which do not qualify as operating segments under IFRS 8, and
elimination of inter-segment transactions have been considered
within ‘reconciling items’.
b) Revenues include excise duty of ` 1,054, ` 842 and ` 1,007
for the year ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively.
For the purpose of segment reporting, the segment revenues are
net of excise duty. Excise duty is reported in reconciling items.
c) For the purpose of segment reporting only, the Company
has included the impact of ‘foreign exchange gains / (losses),
net in revenues (which is reported as a part of operating profit
in the statement of income).
d) For evaluating performance of the individual business
segments, stock compensation expense is allocated on the
basis of straight line amortization. The incremental impact of
accelerated amortization of stock compensation expense over
stock compensation expense allocated to the individual business
segments is reported in reconciling items.
e) For evaluating the performance of the individual business
segments, amortization of intangibles acquired through business

Wipro Limited

combinations are reported in reconciling items. Accordingly,
comparative period information has been reclassified.
f)
The Company generally offers multi-year payment
terms in certain total outsourcing contracts. These payment
terms primarily relate to IT hardware, software and certain
transformation services in outsourcing contracts. Corporate
treasury provides internal financing to the business units offering
multi-year payment terms. Accordingly, such receivables are
reflected in capital employed in reconciling items. As of March
31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, capital employed in reconciling items
includes ` 5,549, ` 8,516 and ` 12,255, respectively, of such
receivables on extended collection terms.
g) Operating income of segments is after recognition of stock
compensation expense arising from the grant of options:
Segments
IT Services
IT Products
Consumer Care and
Lighting
Others
Reconciling items
Total

`

`

Year ended March 31,
2009
2010
2011
1,523 ` 1,159 ` 1,214
112
93
90
76
71
112
21
136
1,868

`

18
(39)
1,302

`

31
(355)
1,092

h) Management believes that it is currently not practicable
to provide disclosure of geographical location wise assets,
since the meaningful segregation of the available information
is onerous.
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Glossary

A&D

Aerospace & Defence

FPP

Fixed Price Projects

ADM

Application Development & Maintenance

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

ADR

American Depository Receipt

IP

Intellectual Property

APAC

Asia Pacific

IT Products

Information Technology Products

ASEAN

Association of Southeast Asian Nations

IT Services

Information Technology Services

BFSI

Banking & Financial Services

ITES

Information Technology Enabled Services

BPO

Business Process Outsourcing

LAN

Local Area Network

BPS

Basis Point

LATAM

Latin America

CAGR

Compounded Annual Growth Rate

LED

Light Emitting Diode

CCLG

Consumer Care & Lighting

LEED

Leadership in Energy and Environmental Designs

CEM

Client Engagement Manager

M2M

Machine to Machine

CFL

Compact Fluorescent Lamps

NASSCOM

CMSP

Communication & Service Provider

National Association of Software and Services
Companies

COSO

Company of Sponsoring Trade way Organisation

NUI

Natural User Interface

CPG

Consumer Packaged Goods

OEM

Original Equipment Manufacturer

RSU

Restricted Stock Unit

WAN

Wide Area Network

WIN

Wipro Infrastructure Engineering

CSAT

Customer Satisfaction

CTI

Computer Telephony Interface

FMCG
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